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Foreword

This is the eighth volume in a planned 10-volume operational and chronological series
covering the Marine Corps’ participation in the Vietnam War. A separate topical series
will complement the operational histories. This particular volume details the gradual with-
drawal in 1970-1971 of Marine combat forces from South Vietnam'’s northernmost corps
area, I Corps, as part of an overall American strategy of turning the ground war against
the North Vietnamese and Viet Cong over to the Armed Forces of the Republic of Vietnam.

Marines in this period accomplished a number of difficult tasks. The III Marine Am-
phibious Force transferred most of its tesponsibilities in I Corps to the Army XXIV Corps,
which became the sentor U.S. command in that military region. III MAF continued a
full range of military and pacification activities within Quang Nam Province, its remain-
ing area of responsibility. Developing its combat and counterinsurgency techniques to
their fullest extent, the force continued to protect the city of Da Nang, root out the ene-
my guertillas and infrastructure from the country, and prevent enemy main forces from
disrupting pacification. At the same time, its strength steadily diminished as Marines
redeployed in a series of inctements until, in April 1971, the III Marine Amphibious Force
Headquarters itself departed and was replaced for the last month of Marine ground com-
bat by the 3d Marine Amphibious Brigade. During the redeployments, Marine logisti-
cians successfully withdrew huge quantities of equipment and dismantled installations
or turned them over to the South Vietnamese. Yet this was also a time of troubles for
Marines. The strains on the Armed Services of a lengthy, inconclusive war and the social
and racial conflicts tormenting American society adversely affected Marine discipline and
cohesion, posing complex, intractable problems of leadership and command. Marines
departed Vietnam with a sense that they had done their duty, but also that they were
leaving behind many problems unsolved and tasks not completed.

Although written from the perspective of III MAF and the ground war in I Corps,
the volume treats the activities of Marine advisors to the South Vietnamese Armed Forces,
the Seventh Fleet Special Landing Force, and Matines on the staff of the US. Military
Assistance Command, Vietnam, in Saigon. There are separate chapters on Marine air,
artillery, and logistics. An attempt has been made to place the Marine role in relation
to the overall effort.

Dr. Graham A. Cosmas was with the Histoty and Museums Division from December
1973 through April 1979 and is now on the staff of the US. Army’s Center of Military
History. Previously, he had taught at the University of Texas and the University of Guam.
He is a graduate of Oberlin College, Oberlin, Ohio, and received his doctorate in history
from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, in 1969. Dr. Cosmas has published several
articles on military history and An Army for Empire: The United States Army in the
Spanish-American War (Columbia, Mo.: University of Missouti Press, 1971) and is co-author
of Marines in the Dominican Republic, 1916-1924 (Washington: Hist&MusDiv, HQMC,
1975).

The co-author, Lieutenant Colonel Terrence P. Murray, served with the History and
Museums Division from August 1983 until July 1984. He is a graduate of the U.S. Naval

i



Academy, Annapolis, Maryland, and of the Armed Forces Staff College. Lieutenant Colonel
Murray served a combat tour in Vietnam as an infantry officer duting 1969 and 1970.
He is now assigned to the Navy-Matine Cotps Senate Liaison Office in Washington, D.C.

U S rens

E. H. SIMMONS
Brigadier General, U.S. Marine Corps (Ret)
Director of Marine Corps History and Museums



Preface

US. Marines in Vietnam: Vietnamization and Redeployment, 19701971, is latgely based
on the holdings of the Marine Corps Historical Center. These include the official unit
monthly command chronologies, Marine Corps messages and journal files, the Oral His-
tory and Personal Papers Collections of the History and Museums Division, and the refer-
ence files of the division.

The authots have supplemented the above sources with research in the records of the
other Services and pertinent published primary and secondaty soutces. Although none
of the information in this history is classified, some of the documentation on which it
is based still has a classified designation. More than 250 reviewers, most of whom partici-
pated in the events depicted in the history, read a comment edition of the manuscript.
Their comments, where applicable, have been incorporated into the text. A list of those
who commented is included in the appendices. All ranks used in the body of the text
are those held by the individual in 1970-1971.

The production of this volume, like its predecessors, has been a cooperative effort. Dr.
Graham A. Cosmas researched and wrote the first draft of the history with the exception
of the last chapter. Lieutenant Colonel Tettence P. Murray completed the revision of the
manuscript and incorporated the comments, assisted by Major William R. Melton. Mr.
Jack Shulimson, Head, Histories Section and Senior Vietnam Historian, edited the final
version and prepared the volume for publication. All of the Vietnam historians, past and
present, in the Histories Section, History and Museums Division, especially Mr. Shulim-
son and Mr. Chatles R. Smith, and former members Lieutenant Colonel Lane Rogers,
Lieutenant Colonel Gary Parker, and Lieutenant Colonel David Buckner, reviewed the
draft manuscript and provided invaluable comments and criticism.

Access to Marine Corps documents was facilitated by Mrs. Joyce Bonnett of the divi-
sion’s Archives Section. Miss Evelyn Englander, head librarian, and her assistant, Mrs.
Pat Morgan, were most helpful in obtaining needed references. The Reference Section,
headed by Danny J. Crawford, made its files available and answeted numerous queties
cheerfully and professionally. Mrs. Regina Strother of the Reference Section assisted in
photographic research. The Head, Oral Histories Section, Mr. Benis M. Frank, was equally
supportive in making his collection available.

Mt. Frank prepared the index with the assistance of Mr. Smith and Major Arthur E
Elzy, both of the Histories Section.

M. Robert E. Struder, head of Publications Production Section, adeptly guided the
manuscript through the various production phases. Maps were produced by Mr, W, Stephen
Hill, who also contributed the design and makeup of the book. The manuscript was typeset
first for the comment edition by Corporals Paul W. Gibson, Joseph J. Hynes, and Mark
J. Zigante. Corporals Stanley W. Crowl and James W. Rodriguez 11, with the guidance
and substantial additional contribution of Mrs. Catherine A. Kerns, accomplished the
final typesetting.

Special thanks are due Brigadier General Edwin H. Simmons, Director of Marine Corps
History and Museums, who established the guidelines for the Vietnam series and made
available to the author his personal notebooks for 1970-1971, when he was assistant divi-
sion commander of the Ist Marine Division and assistant brigade commander of the 3d
Marine Amphibious Brigade; Colonels John E. Greenwood, Jr., Oliver M. Whipple, Jr.,



vi

and John G. Miller, successively the History and Museum Division’s Deputy Directors
for History, who provided continuing support; and Mr. Henry I. Shaw, Jr., Chief Histoti-
an, who provided the benefit of long experience in writing Marine Cotps histoty, as well
as encouragement, wise counsel, and general editorial ditection.

The authors also are indebted to their colleagues in the historical offices of the Army,
Navy, and Air Force, who freely exchanged information and made documents available
for their examination.

They must express their gratitude also to all those who reviewed the comment edition
and provided corrections, personal photographs, and insight available only to those who
took part in the events. In the end, however, the authors alone are responsible for the
contents of the text, including opinions expressed and any etrors in fact.

Deahans A Lot 2 /’)/M?/

GRAHAM A. COSMAS TERRENCE P. MURRAY
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PART I
A CONTRACTING WAR



CHAPTER 1
The War in I Corps, Early 1970

I MAF in January 1970 — Allied and Enemy Strategy, 1969-1970
The IIl MAF/ICTZ Combined Plan for 1970—Troop Redeployment: Keystone Bluejay
The Change of Command in I Corps

HI MAF in January 1970

In January 1970, the III Marine Amphibious Force
(III MAF) was responsible for defense of the five nor-
thernmost provinces of South Vietnam. Constituting
I Corps Tactical Zone (I CTZ), these provinces wete
from north to south Quang Tri, Thua Thien, Quang
Nam, Quang Tin, and Quang Ngai. Marines had
operated in these provinces since 1965 and had taken
a valiant and costly part in some of the war's heaviest
fighting, including the sieges of Con Thien and Khe
Sanh and the house-to-house battle of Hue City. By
eatly 1970, Marine operations were focused on the Da
Nang tactical area of responsibility (TAOR) where
large-scale combat had become infrequent, although
the enemy constantly engaged the troops of III MAF
in an unspectacular but deadly war of ambushes, small
skirmishes, rocket and mortar attacks and boobytraps.
These latter devices inflicted the most ravaging toll
upon Marines in terms of casualties.

At the beginning of 1970, Lieutenant General Het-
man Nickerson, Jr., commanded III MAF, which in-
cluded about 55,000 Marines. The previous January,
before redeployment began, III MAF numbered over
79,000. Major General Edwin B. Wheeler's reinforced
1st Marine Division, 28,000 strong, had its headquart-
ers just outside Da Nang and operated in Quang Nam
Province. The 1st Marine Aircraft Wing (1st
MAW)—12,000 men with over 400 aircraft under
Major General William G. Thrash—had fixed-wing
squadrons flying from fields at Da Nang, Chu Lai,
and Phu Bai and helicopter squadrons stationed at
Marble Mountain east of Da Nang and at Phu Bai.
At Da Nang, the 7,600 officers and men of Brigadier
General Mauro J. Padalino’s Force Logistic Command
(FLC) supplied the division and wing and kept their
equipment operating. Scattered in platoon-size
detachments throughout the villages of I CTZ, the
2,000 officers and men of the Combined Action Force
(CAF) under Colonel Theodore E. Metzger continued
the Marines’ most ambitious experiment in pacifi-
cation!

Besides the Matrines, III MAF included about 50,000
United States Army troops. In Quang Tri Province, the

2

6,000 officers and men of Army Brigadier General
William A. Burke’s 1st Brigade, 5th Infantry Diviston
(Mechanized) helped guatd the invasion and infiltra-
tion routes across the Demilitarized Zone. In Thua
Thien just to the south, the 101st Airborne Division
(Airmobile), commanded by Major General John M.
Wright, USA, deployed 20,800 men in three brigades
to protect Hue, These two Army formations, which
had moved into I Cotps eatly in 1968 to counter the
enemy's Tet offensive, constituted the XXIV Corps,
commanded by Lieutenant General Melvin Zais, USA.
Located at Phu Bai, Zais’ headquarters was under the
operational control of III MAFE In Quang Tin and
Quang Ngai Provinces in southern I Corps, the 23,800
ttoops of the 23d (Americal) Division, commanded
by Major General Lloyd B. Ramsey, USA, operated un-
der II1 MAF’s direct control from their headquarters
in Chu Lai. General Nickerson, in his capacity as senior
U.S. advisor to I Corps, also commanded the 222
officers and 305 enlisted men of the U. S. Army Ad-
visory Group (USAAG) in I Corps2

A civilian deputy for Civil Operations and Revolu-
tionary Development Support (CORDS) was also a
member of the III MAF staff and was charged with
coordinating through his province and district
representatives U.S. civilian and military resources
which directly supported the pacification program in
I Corps. Formed under the single manager concept and
directly controlled by MACV, CORDS was created in
an effort to integrate totally country-wide pacification,

[ Corps also had operating within it important al-
lied contingents which were neither attached to nor
controlled by Il MAFE About 28,000 U. S. Army,
Navy, and Air Force personnel were stationed in [
Corps with the Naval Support Activity (NSA), Da
Nang; the U. S. Army Support Command, Da Nang;
the 45th Army Engineering Group; and the Air Force’s
366th Tactical Fighter Wing. While these organiza-
tions cooperated closely with III MAF for many put-
poses, they were directed by their service component
commanders, I MAF did not control but did super-
vise the operations of the 6,000-man 2d Republic of
Kotea Marine Brigade, which protected an enclave
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south of Da Nang carved out of the 1st Marine Divi-
ston’s territory?

In I CTZ, as elsewhere in South Vietnam, the At-
my of the Republic of Vietnam (ARVN) and its local
and regional militia were gradually assuming a larger
share of the fighting. The Vietnamese commander of
I Cotps,* Lieutenant General Hoan Xuan Lam, con-
trolled a force which included about 41,000 ARVN
regulars. His corps included two divisions— the 1st sta-
tioned in Quang Tri and Thua Thien and the 2d in
Quang Tin and Quang Ngai. An independent regi-
ment, the 51st, and the 1st Armored Brigade operat-
ed in Quang Nam to protect Da Nang while the 1st
Ranger Group, normally located near Da Nang, act-
ed as corps reserve.

Reinforcing the regulars, 65,000 troops of the
Regional Fotces and Popular Forces (RFs and PFs) and
about 80,000 members of the newly organized part-
time People’s Self-Defense Force (PSDF) were availa-
ble to combat small guerrilla bands and root out the
Viet Cong political underground ** Some 5,300 men
of the Civilian Irregular Defense Groups (CIDGs),
recruited and trained by the South Vietnamese Spe-
cial Forces and advised and assisted by the U. S. Ar-
my’s Company C, 5th Special Forces Group
(Airborne), occupied camps deep in the mountains.
The CIDGs collected information about enemy activi-
ties and tried to block infiltration into the lowlands:

From III MAF Headquatters at Da Nang, General
Nickerson had to coordinate the activities of these

*The Republic of Vietnam was divided into four corps tactical
zones, each of which was a political as well as military jurisdiction.
Each corps commander thus acted as political and military chief
of his region. Under him province chiefs conducted both civil and
military administration, and under the province chiefs in turn were
district chiefs. Villages and hamlets were beginning to clect their
own local governments. Autonomous cities, including Hue and Da
Nang in I Corps and Saigon and Cam Ranh elsewhere in the coun-
try, were administered by mayors who reported directly to the govern-
ment in Saigon. MACV ComdHist 70, I, ch. V, p. 1.

**The RFs and PFs were full-time soldiers. They usually operat-
ed in company-sized or smaller units charged with the close-in
defense of important government and milicary installations, bridges,
villages, and hamlets. At this time they had a separate administra-
tion from the regular army, being under the Ministry of the Interi-
or while the regulars were under the Ministry of Defense. In
mid-1970, the RFs and PFs would be incorporated into the regular
armed forces. The PSDF, established in 1969, had both the mili-
tary purpose of organizing the people to protect themselves and
the political mission of strengthening grass-roots support of the
South Vietnamese Government. See Chapters 7 and 8 for more de-
tails on these forces.

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

diverse forces. Like his predecessors who headed III
MAF, he functioned within a complex chain of com-
mand. His force was under the operational control of
General Creighton W. Abrams, USA, Commander,
U.S. Militaty Assistance Command, Vietnam (Com-
USMACYV), but on administtative matters affecting the
Marines under his command, Nickerson took orders
from and reported to Lieutenant General Henry W.
Buse, Jr., Commanding General, Fleet Marine Force
Pacific (CGFMFPac). As commanding general of 111
MAF, Nickerson directed the operations of all United
States combat units in I Corps. As sentor U. S. advi-
sor for I Corps, he was responsible for coordinating
plans and activities with Lieutenant General Lam’s
ARVN forces but had no authority over them. Nick-
erson also provided “operational guidance” to the com-
mander of the Korean Marine Brigade, which was
under the authority of the commanding general of
Korean Forces in Vietnam, headquartered in Saigon.
With both the South Vietnamese and Koreans, Nick-
erson had to rely on negotiations and persuasion to
secure concerted action$

Nickerson’s previous Marine Corps experience had
helped to prepare him for his complex assignments.
Born in Massachusetts in 1913, he took pride in his
part-Indian ancestry and claimed descent from the
tribe of Massasoit, the chief who helped the Pilgrims
through their first hard winter at Plymouth. Nicker-
son joined the Marine Corps in 1935 as a second lieu-
tenant after graduating from Boston University. He
spent two and one-half years in China with the 4th
Marines before World War I1. After the war, in which
he commanded a defense battalion, an antiaircraft
group, and was executive officer of the 25th Marines,
he returned to China as a staff officer of the III Ma-
rine Amphibious Corps and later of the 1st Marine
Division during the occupation of Tientsin. With the
United Nations peacekeeping mission to Palestine in
1949, he witnessed another area of international and
cultural conflict. Combat command of the 7th Ma-
rines in Korea followed, where Nickerson, now a
colonel, won both the Army Distinguished Service
Cross and the Silver Star Medal.

Having briefly visited Da Nang in 1964, Nickerson
began his fitst tour in Vietnam in October 1966. As
a major general, he commanded the 1st Marine Divi-
sion and then spent five months as deputy com-
manding general of IIl MAE After a tour at Marine
Corps Headquarters in Washington during which he
received his third star, he returned to Vietnam in
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March 1969 to succeed Lieutenant General Robert E.
Cushman, Jr., in command of 11l MAFS

Nickerson was responsible for the defense of the
10,000 square miles of I CTZ. The location and ter-
rain of this region made it both strategically impor-
tant and hard to protect. In the north, I Corps
bordered the Demilitarized Zone (DMZ) which sepa-
rated South Vietnam from its northern enemy and in
fact was far from demilitatized. On the west, I Corps
abutted Laos and the enemy bases supplied by the Ho
Chi Minh Trail. North Vietnamese troops could easi-
ly invade the region from either direction, and their
long-range artillery could shell northern Quang Tri
from the relative safety of North Vietnam and Laos.

The terrain within I Corps favored the enemy. The
rugged, jungle-blanketed mountains that cover the
western part of the region hid Communist supply
bases and the camps of main force units and facilitat-
ed the infiltration of North Vietnamese replacements
and reinforcements. East of the mountains, a narrow
rolling piedmont quickly gives way to a flat, wet coastal
plain much of which is covered by rice paddies and
beyond which lie beaches of the South China Sea.
Most of the Vietnamese inhabitants of I Corps live in
the flatlands, either in the thousands of villages and
hamlets interspersed among the rice fields or in the
large cities of Hue and Da Nang. Concealed among
the civilians were the enemy’s political agents and
guerrillas, and from the populated areas the enemy
drew recruits and supplies?

An estimated 78,000 enemy troops operated in I
Corps. According to allied intelligence, the Com-
munist order of battle included about 49,000 North
Vietnamese Army (NVA) regulars, perhaps 6,000 main
force Viet Cong (VC), over 12,000 VC guetrillas, and
about 11,000 supply and administrative personnel.
Almost half of these troops, some 42 infantry and 11
support battalions, were believed to be massed along
or near the DMZ, while the second largest
concentration—16 combat and 4 support bat-
talions—threatened Da Nang in Quang Nam
Province.

Three different headquarters directed enemy oper-
ations in ICTZ. The B5 Front controlled the troops
along the DMZ; Mi/itary Region (MR) Tri Thien Hue
had charge of Quang Tri and Thua Thien Provinces;
and MR 5 oversaw the campaign in the rest of I Corps,
assisted by a separate headquartets subordinated to
it, Front 4, which was responsible for Quang Nam.,
American and South Vietnamese intelligence officers
believed that all three of these commands received ord-

ers directly from Hanol, rather than through the Cen-
tral Office for South Vietnam (COSVN)? which
commanded the enemy troops in the other three corps
afeas.

A year of heavy and constant allied pressure, guid-
ed by improved intelligence and by an increasingly
sophisticated understanding of the enemy’s methods
and weaknesses, had left the NVA and VC in I Corps
battered and exhausted at the end of 1969. Here, as
elsewhere in South Vietnam, the allied war effort at
last seemed to be moving forward steadily and syste-
matically. Throughout the year, American, ARVN, and
Korean troops had driven deep into well-established
enemy base areas. They had inflicted heavy losses on
main force units, seized or destroyed tons of supplies,
and wrecked carefully constructed fortifications,
bunkers, and tunnel complexes. At the same time, an
intensified pacification campaign had reduced ene-
my guerrilla strength. By the end of the year, accord-
ing to the statistical hamlet evaluation system then
being used, about 90 percent of the civilians in I Corps
lived in secure localities.

Especially impressive to American commanders in
1 Corps was the improvement of the South Vietnamese
regular and militia forces. The ARVN, benefiting from
intensive American efforts to improve its equipment,
training, and leadership, had displayed increasing will-
ingness and ability to seek out and engage the ene-
my. While still short of heavy artillery, aircraft, and
good small-unit commanders, the ARVN divisions
were steadily moving closer to assuming the burden
of combat. The RFs and PFs, in the words of Major
General Ormond R. Simpson, who finished a tour in
command of the 1st Marine Division late in 1969, “are
coming on strong. They have a long way to go, but
they're coming . . . "® Rearmed with M16 rifles and
often reinforced by combined action Marines* these
once unreliable troops were fighting with increasing
effectiveness against the small enemy units that
prowled the populated lowlands.

The North Vietnamese and Viet Cong were still able
to mount heavy attacks, especially in northern I Corps,
but supply shortages and growing allied combat ef-
fectiveness were increasingly forcing them to revert to
harassing tactics. During late 1969, the number of en-
gagements with major enemy units steadily declined
while the number of rocket and mortar attacks and
sapper raids on allied installations and civilian targets

*For dertails on the Combined Action Program, see Chapter 8.
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MajGen Edwin B. Wheeler, left, and MayGen Ormond R. Simpson take the salute from
a Marine honor guard at Da Nang Airbase on 15 December 1969. Gen Wheeler relieved
Gen Simpson as commanding general of the 15t Marine Dividon on this date.

increased. In many parts of I CTZ, intelligence repotts
indicated severe shortages of food and medicine
among the enemy. General Simpson declared in De-
cember 1969 that in Quang Nam “The enemy . . .
is in very bad shape at the moment. He is very hun-
gry; he is ridden with malaria. Hunger is an over-riding
thing with him; he is trying to find rice almost to the
exclusion of anything else. He is moving to avoid con-
tact rather than seek it.”1° While the North Viet-
namese and Viet Cong in I Cotps and throughout
South Vietnam temained determined to carry on the
fight, their capacity to do so effectively showed every
sign of declining.

Allied and Enemy Strategy, 1969-1970

Since the first large United States commitment of
infantty units to the war in 1965, American civilian
and military leaders had realized that they faced two
different but interrelated enemy threats. The first was
that posed by North Vietnamese and Viet Cong main
forces— units of battalion or larger size that could en-
gage and destory allied troops in conventional battle.
The second threat came from guerrillas who operat-
ed in small groups within the populated areas and
sought to maintain and extend Communist control
of the villagers. The guerrillas furnished the main

forces with recruits, supplies, and intelligence while
the main forces protected the guerrillas by overrun-
ning minor government garsisons and forcing larger
government units to concentrate against them rather
than against the guerrillas.

The Americans realized that to win the war they
would have to defeat both enemy components at the
same time — the main forces by large-scale attacks on
the units and their bases and the guerrillas by a pacifi-
cation campaign to root out the enemy’s political and
military underground while providing security and
economic and social improvement for the people.
Throughout the war, however, American commanders
differed in the degree of emphasis they placed on each
element of the strategy. Many, including General Wil-
liam C. Westmoreland, General Abram’s predecessor
as ComUSMACYV, gave priority to the big-unit war and
were willing to divert troops from pacification to
mount multi-battalion sweeps into remote enemy base
areas. Others, including most of the senior Marine
commanderts in Vietnam, preferred to concentrate on
protecting population centers against attack, defeat-
ing the local guetrillas, and eradicating the VC polit-
ical cadre. They urged that large-scale operations be
undertaken only when they cleatly supported pacifi-
cation, for example, by driving enemy main forces away
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from major cities ot heavily populated areas. They con-
tended that if the guerrillas were defeated, the main
forces—deprived of information, replacements, and
supplies—would be reduced to a minor and easily
countered threat.!! Still others, like Major General
Lloyd B. Ramsey, commander of the Americal Divi-
sion, saw no reason to draw the line between pacifi-
cation and big-unit war, arguing that “the enemy
sttuation and the terrain dictated the priorities.”!2

In practice, the choice between these approaches in-
volved variations in emphasis rather than an absolute
rejection of one element in favor of the other. Dur-
ing 1967, especially, when military support of pacifi-
cation had been largely turned over to the Vietnamese,
the “big-unit war” had received priority in the Ameri-
can effort. Then the savage enemy Tet offenstve of
January-February 1968 dramatized the fact that pacifi-
cation and population secutity could be neglected only
at the risk of political and military disaster. At the
same time, increasing opposition to the wat in the
United States, the opening of peace talks in Patts, and
the commitment of the new Nixon administration to
reduce the Ametican combat role without abandon-
ing the objective of a secute non-Communist South
Vietnam created further pressure for a change in pri-
orities.

In General Westmoreland’s view, the decisive vic-
toty in January-February 1968, which destroyed the
enemy’s main force Tet offensive, “enabled MACV to
concentrate a lot more on the guertillas and local forces
as opposed to the main force’1® General Abrams, who
took over as ComUSMACYV after the Tet offensive in
1968, at once began moving toward a more evenly
balanced strategy. Late in 1968 he promulgated what
he called the “One War” concept as the guiding prin-
ciple for Allied operations. The “One War” slogan ex-
pressed Abrams’ belief that the big-unit and
pacification wats had to be waged as interdependent
and mutually supporting parts of the same struggle.
Large-unit attacks on enemy main forces and bases,
improved hamlet and village defense, political and
economic development, and improvement of the Viet-
namese Armed Forces were to be combined into a
balanced effort. This effort was aimed at protecting
the civilian population, eliminating VC political and
military influence, and expanding the authority of the
South Vietnamese Government.!4

Guided by the “One War” principle, the allies in
1969 pressed the war simultaneously on several fronts.
United States troops continued their assaults on ene-
my main forces, but their operations were based on

more precise intelligence and were usually aimed at
forestalling enemy attacks on populated areas. Instead
of being relegated to static territorial defense as they
had been in previous yeats, the ARVN regulars were
assigned the same missions as the allied troops and
increasingly joined with American units in major
offensives. Accelerated efforts to improve their
weapons, supply, training, and leadership helped
equip them for this role. To replace the regular troops
guarding cities, military installations, lines of commu-
nication, and villages and hamlets, the South Viet-
namese Government, aided by MACYV, added 72,000
more men to the RF and PF and rearmed these troops
with the M16. Providing still another line of local
defense, the government began organizing and arm-
ing the People’s Self-Defense Force. The Saigon
Government also launched a mote vigorous police ac-
tion against the Viet Cong underground and in-
troduced new programs of economic aid and social
development. By the end of the year, in the words of
the MACV command histoty, “In practically every
phase of the ‘One War’ concept, the successes were on
the allied side1®

As the allies increased their emphasis on pacifica-
tion in 1969, the enemy all but abandoned large-scale
combat against American and ARVN regulars and
reverted to small-unit hit-and-run attacks, terrorism,
and political subversion. The Viet Cong and North
Vietnamese did this for several reasons. Repeated
bloody defeats had evidently convinced them that they
could not win a conventional war against American
firepower and mobility. They feared and wanted to
counter the allied pacification campaign, and they saw
low-level warfare as the most economical way to main-
tain their military and political position until the Unit-
ed States withdrew her forces from Vietnam or the
Paris talks produced an agreement.

The Central Office for South Vietnam, which
directed enemy operations in most of the Republic of
Vietnam (RVN), formally proclaimed the new strate-
gy in its Resolutions 9 and 14, adopted respectively
in July and October 1969. Both resolutions stressed
the same themes: that major conventional attacks had
proven costly and unsuccessful and the VC and NVA
must intensify guerrilla warfare in order to defeat
pacification and weaken allied forces in preparation
for a possible later resumption of the main force war.
The resolutions ordered enemy main forces to avoid
combat except under the most favorable conditions.
Guerrilla and sapper units, reinforced when necessary
by soldiers from regular battalions, were to increase



their attacks on Regional and Popular Force troops,
the PSDF, and Vietnamese Government installations
and personnel. By late 1969, enemy troops through-
out South Vietnam were following these orders. Al-
lied commanders reported a steady reduction in the
number of large-unit contacts. The incidence of com-
pany and platoon or smaller-size engagements
declined also, but more slowly, while acts of terrorism,
sabotage, and assassination increased in frequency.1®

The allies’ Combined Campaign Plan for 1970, pre-
pared by representatives of MACV and the South Viet-
namese Joint General Staff (JGS) late in October 1969,
was designed to counter the enemy’s tactics and to
build upon the previous year's progress. The plan again
emphasized pacification and protection of populated
areas. It also declared that during the next year Ameri-
can forces in Vietnam would be reduced at a rate “con-
sistent with progress of RVNAF [Republic of Vietnam
Armed Forces] improvement and modernization,

Typical of the counterinsurgency war, a Marine patrol
from the 15t Marine Division searches a carefully con-
cealed enemy position after a firefight in June 1970.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A372848
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pacification and development, and the level of ene-
my activity.”

Under the plan United States and ARVN troops
were to continue their mobile operations against ene-
my forces and bases, while screening the population
against attack and infiltration. They were to push the
enemy away from food-producing regions and deny
them use of base areas closest to major cities, impor-
tant roads and railroads, and centers of government
and economic activity. The regulars were to maneu-
ver outside the inhabited regions while the Regional
and Popular Forces, the People’s Self-Defense Force,
and the national police combated guerrillas and eradi-
cated the underground in villages and hamlets.

‘Two other plans supplemented the Combined Cam-
paign Plan. MACV and the JCS in March 1970 adopt-
ed the Consolidated RVNAF Improvement and
Modernization Plan (CRIMP). The latest in a series
of such plans, this one emphasized improvement in
the quality rather than increases in the size of the Viet-
namese Army, Navy and Air Force. The plan called
for continued effort to create a military system able
to defend the country after the Americans left and in-
cluded provisions for further modernization of equip-
ment, improvement of living conditions for military
men and their families, and simplification of the chain
of command.

At about the same time, President Nguyen Van
Thieu’s government proclaimed adoption of its second
annual Pacification and Development Plan. This plan,
the government’s authoritative statement of pacifica-
tion policy, set the goal of providing at least a meas-
ure of security for 100 percent of the South Vietnamese
population by the end of 1970. It also contained
renewed commitments to sttengthen local govern-
ments and self-defense forces, assist refugees, veterans,
and war victims, combat tetrorism, and promote eco-
nomic development. Thus, as the allies envisioned it,
the “One War” was to continue on all fronts in 1970,
with the American share of responsibility gradually
diminishing and the Vietnamese share increasing.17*

The Il MAFICTZ Combined Plan for 1970

On 13 December 1969, the American, Korean, and
South Vietnamese commanders in I CTZ issued their
Combined Campaign Plan for 1970, designed to im-
plement the principles of MACV’s nationwide plan.
This document would guide the operations of the Ma-

*The P&D Plan and allied efforts to carry it out are discussed
in detail in Chapter 7.
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rines and other allied forces throughout the year.

The writers of the plan assumed that the NVA and
VC in I Cotps, while not directly commanded by
COSVN, would continue to follow the strategy out-
lined in COSVN Resolutions 9 and 14. The planners
declared that “The enemy no longer seeks a complete
military victory. . . . The enemy’s overall objective now
is to repel or witness the withdrawal of friendly forces
by waging limited watfare designed to demoralize
friendly fotces.” In pursuit of this goal, the NVA and
VC would tty to “demoralize ARVN and FWMAF
[Free World Military Assistance Forces) by attacks by
fire, sapper atracks, and limited ground probes” to “in-
flict maximum casualties.” The enemy would also in-
crease political propaganda, subversion, and tetrorism
to discredit the Vietnamese government and distupt
pacification.

The planners defined the enemy threat in terms of
the “One War” doctrine:

In his efforts to achieve political control of RVN, the enemy
attempts to demonstrate that the GVN [Government of Viet-
nam]) is not capable of governing the country ot of provid-
ing credible security to the people. His offensive operations
and the resultant reaction operations by friendly forces
produce advetse effects on security of the people. The most
effective way of assuring security . . . is to keep enemy forces
away from [the people] and by neutralizing the VC in-
frastructure. Without the VCI, enemy main forces cannot
obtain intelligence, manpower, or food, prepare the bat-
tlefield or move. . . . Providing security to the Vietnamese
people is the major objective of RVNAF/FWMAE"18*

The campaign plan divided the opposing forces into
two categories: the VC/NVA main forces, “often lo-
cated in remote ateas, ot entering RVN from safe
havens across the border,” and the VC guerrilla units,
terrorist groups, and underground, “located closer to
and often intermingled with the people.” American,
Korean, and ARVN regulars were to engage and des-
troy the main forces, neutralize their bases, and keep
them away from populated areas. The Regional and
Popular Forces, People’s Self-Defense Force, and na-
tional police would concentrate on the guerrillas. They
would “prevent enemy infiltration, attacks, and harass-
ment of villages, hamlets, cities, province and district
capitals, industrial centers, military bases, populated
areas and vital LOC [lines of communication].”

For the regular forces, a major task under the plan
would be destruction (“neutralization”) of the enemy’s

*Free World Military Armed Forces (FWMAF) consisted of all al-
lied nations providing military forces to South Vietnam.

base areas— complexes of tunnels, caves, and bunkers,
usually located deep in the mountain regions, which
housed headquartets, communications centers, sup-
ply dumps, training and rest camps, and hospitals.
Allied troops were to attack these areas on a priority
system wotked out by province chiefs and military
commanders, concentrating most of their effort on
“those bases which directly affect the areas undergo-
ing pacification and consolidation, key population and
economic centers, and vital communications arteries.
More remote bases would receive continued unpat-
terned air strikes and harassment fire,” while small al-
lied units blocked the routes between them and the
populated districts. The writers of the plan believed
that:

Locating and isolating the enemy’s command, conttol and
logistics facilities will contribute to his eventual defeat. Res-
tricting and constraining VC/NVA units in base areas will
force a separation between the VCI and the enemy’s main
military forces. As this separation becomes more complete,
and our air and artillery harassment continues, the enemy
will be forced to leave his base area sanctuaries and expose
himself to our supetior firepower and mobility. The enemy
will come to fight on our terms, either in locations of out
choosing or at least not in areas of his choosing. . . . As
long as the enemy is restricted to remote, relatively unin-
habitable areas, under constant surveillance and harassment,
he is defensive and a less setious threat to the achievement
of our objectives.!®

The Combined Campaign Plan repeatedly stress-
ed “territorial security”—the separation of the Viet
Cong and North Vietnamese from the civilian
population —as the central objective of all allied ac-
tivity. Every type of allied unit was assigned security
functions. American, Korean, and ARVN regulars, for
example, when not engaged in mobile operations
against bases and main force units, wete to patrol cons-
tantly to block infiltration “into the fringes of cities,
towns and areas adjacent to population centers.” They
would also reinforce RF and PF units against large-scale
attacks, furnish air and arullery support to the militia,
and cooperate with them in antiguertilla operations.
RF and PF patrols within and on the outskirts of in-
habited areas would keep pressute on local guerrillas
and infiltratots while the national police and PSDF
maintained order and eradicated the VC underground
inside the urban areas.

In an effort to fix precisely the pacification respon-
sibilities of the many and sometimes conflicting al-
lied and Vietnamese political and military authorities
in I Cotps, the campaign plan required classifying ev-
ety locality in one of four security categories. Secure
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Areas, the first category, were regions, usually heavily
populated, where regular civil government was func-
tioning, where people could move freely by day and
night, and whete enemy activity had been reduced to
occasional acts of terrorism or rocket and mortar
attacks.

In Consolidation Zones, the second category, ene-
my main forces had been expelled and the government
was in the ptocess of destroying guetrillas and under-
ground cadre, Here terrotism and fire attacks would
occut frequently, and the government would impose
strict curfews and other population control measutes.
In both Secure Areas and Consolidation Zones, the
Vietnamese province chiefs and under them sector and
village authorities, had responsibility for defense and
public order, using RF and PF, the PSDEF, and the na-
tional police as their principal armed forces.

Beyond the Secure Areas and Consolidation Zones
lay the Clearing Zone, consisting of thinly populated
and Viet Cong-controlled tertitory, often containing
enemy main fotces and their bases. In these areas,
ARVN division and regimental commanders, in
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cooperation with their allied counterparts, controlled
operations. Here allied regular forces would maneu-
ver “to engage or drive the enemy therefrom and to
prevent enemy forces from entering Consolidation
Zones.” As enemy bases in the Clearing Zone were iso-
lated or abandoned and main fotce units pushed out,
portions of the Clearing Zone could be incorporated
into the Consolidation Zone, thus enlarging the range
of government control.

Beyond the Clearing Zone, the Border Surveillance
Zone encompassed the terrain just within the national
frontiets. In this zone, regular units and CIDGs un-
der the direction of tactical commanders sought to
“detect, engage and deter” North Vietnamese forces
trying to infiltrate South Vietnam.,

Each province in I Corps contained a mixture of all
four categories of tetritory in varying propottions.
While the areas rarely grouped themselves into neat
concentric belts, most of the Secure Areas and Con-
solidation Zones lay in the eastern piedmont and
coastal plain while the Clearing and Border Surveil-
lance Zones encompassed most of the mountainous

LtGen Herman Nickerson, Jr., left, Commanding General, Ill Marine Amp hibious Force
talks with 15tSgt James L. Langford, Company G, 2d Battalion, 9th Marines and with
LtGen Hoang Xuan Lam, Commanding General, I Corps as the battalion leaves Vietnam.

Abel Papers, Marine Corps Historical Collection
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hinterland. The putpose of this elaborate division, as
indeed of the whole Combined Campaign Plan, was
to unify all allied military operations for successful
prosecution of the “One War.”

Troop Redeployment: Keystone Bluejay

Withdrawal of Marines from I Corps had begun in
mid-1969. The I Corps Combined Campaign Plan for
1970 assumed that American forces in Vietnam “will
be reduced to a level consistent with progress of
RVNAF improvement and modernization, pacification
and development, and the level of enemy activity.’20
The first months of 1970 witnessed a further major
reduction in Marine strength followed by a fundamen-
tal change in Il MAF's command role.

President Richard M. Nixon, who took office eatly
in January 1969, almost immediately committed him-
self and his administration to reduction of American
troop sttength in Vietnam at a rate determined by
petiodic assessment of three variables—the level of
Nortth Vietnamese infiltration and enemy battlefield
activity, the ability of the South Vietnamese to fight
their own war, and progress in the Paris negotiations.
In support of this policy, the Joint Chiefs of Staff pre-
pated a plan during the first half of 1969 for remov-
ing United States combat forces from Vietnam in six
separate redeployments. At the end of this gradual
withdrawal, about 280,000 Americans, most of them
in aviation and support units, would remain in-
countty, These troops would depart as the Vietnamese
technical services improved until only a military advi-
sory group was left. The timing, size, and composi-
tion of each redeployment would depend on the
variables defined by the President. Under the plan,
removal of combat troops could be completed as ear-
ly as December 1970 or as late as December 197221

Beginning in June 1969, the first two redeploy-
ments, codenamed Keystone Eagle and Keystone
Cardinal, took out of Vietnam about 65,000 Ameri-
can military personnel including over 26,800 Marines.
The entire 3d Marine Division redeployed, as did one
attack squadron, one observation squadron, and two
medium and one heavy helicoptet squadrons from the
1st MAW and propottional contingents of support and
service troops.>22

These first withdrawals brought with them changes
in Marine organizations in the Western Pacific. On 7
November, a new headquarters, the [ Marine Expedi-
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tionary Force (I MEF)* began operations on Okinawa
under Major General William K. Jones, who also com-
manded the 3d Division which was now based there.
This headquarters would control all air and ground
units of the Fleet Matine Force in the Western Pacific
not committed to Vietnam. On the same date, a
subordinate command, the 1st Marine Aircraft Wing
(Rear) under Brigadier General William G. Johnson,
was activated at Iwakuni, Japan, with the mission of
overseeing Marine aviation units in Japan and
Okinawa 23

With Keystone Cardinal, the Special Landing Force
(SLF) of the Seventh Fleet ended its long participation
in the Vietnam Wart. Composed of one and later two
Marine bartalion landing teams (BLI5), each paired
with a helicopter squadron, the SLFs had landed
tepeatedly up and down the coast of South Vietnam,
sometimes in independent operations, at other times
to reinforce heavily engaged ground forces. The last
SLF operation in Vietnam, Operation Defiant Stand,
took place south of Da Nang in September 1969. The
SLF was then reconstituted from units of the 3d Ma-
tine Division and 1st MAW (Rear). Wiile it often
cruised offshote during the remaining years of the war,
it could no longer land in Vietnam without special
permission from the Joint Chiefs of Staff?2¢

In October and November 1969, planning began
in Washington and Saigon for the third phase of the
American withdrawal. It was expected that the size of
this increment would be announced to the public af-
ter the scheduled completion of Keystone Cardinal on
15 December and that the actual troop movements
would occur eatly in 1970. As in the other redeploy-
ment phases, determining how many troops would
come out and how many of those would be Marines
involved complex negotiations among the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, MACV, III MAF, FMFPac, and Headquarters
Marine Corps (HQMC). Brigadier General Leo J.
Dulacki, Chief of Staff of III MAF, later recalled the
interweaving considerations:

Thete were numerous factots which came into play in the
development of plans for each tedeployment phase. Initial
overall numerical goals would be established by MACV for

*“Marine Expeditionaty Force” was the proper name for an ait-
ground command formed of a division and wing. III MAF should
have been called III MEF, but the title was changed in deference
to Vietnamese association of the word “expeditionary” with French
colonialism. During 1970, in Matine Corps Order 3120.3A dtd 18
August 1970, the title was changed permanently to Marine Am-
phibious Force for all MEFs.
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111 MAF; those raw numerical goals would then have to be
translated into coherent troop lists by 111 MAF planners in
consultation with MACV planners and finite numbers then
determined on the basis of the troop lists2s

Many things were considered by III MAF in
redeployment planning. Forces remaining in Vietnam
had to maintain tactical integrity, especially when
redisposition of forces expanded areas of responsibili-
ty. The possibility of the enemy exploiting an advan-
tage caused by redeployment had to be anticipated.
Ground combat forces remaining required proportion-
ate combat support and logisitic support. Units
deploying to Western Pacific bases needed to retain
organizational and tactical integrity in the event that
they might be reintroduced into Vietnam. Recogniz-
ing that the redeployment of major ground combat
units had an immediate impact on ARVN forces, the
negative impacts of IIl MAF redeployments had to be
kept to 2 minimum. As General Dulacki noted, “there
had to be . . . a lot of give and take between not only
III MAF, but the other corps commanders as well as
MACV2e

While redeployment deliberations were going on
between MACV and the JCS and between MACV and
III MAF, Colonel Floyd H. Waldrop, G-3 of the 1st
Marine Division, was wrestling with the tactical ques-
tions of how to control the TAOR with fewer units and
personnel while recognizing the need to have suffi-
cient flexibility to respond to a serious enemy incur-
sion. There were a host of considerations: what bridges
will Marine units need to maintain security of and
what bridges will need to be turned over to the ARVN?
What fixed installations must be given up? What bat-
talion and regimental boundaries will need to be real-
ligned between Marine units and between Marines and
the ARVIN?27

Planning for the early 1970 withdrawal, codenamed
Keystone Bluejay, developed into a two-level dialogue.
On the first level General Abrams, working in con-
junction with Ambassador Ellsworth Bunker, had to
settle with the JCS and the White House the total
number of men to be pulled out. In this process
MACV’s concern for maintaining adequate forces on
the battlefield had to be balanced against the adminis-
tration’s desire to ease domestic political tension by
getting the troops out quickly. Second, a tug-of-war
occurred between MACV and the Army on one side
and III MAF and the Marine Corps on the other over
the size of the Marine portion of the withdrawal.
Although original III MAF plans called for the early
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withdrawal of all Marine forces and III MAF proceed-
ed accordingly, HQMC appeared to question the wis-
dom of the early withdrawal of all Marines from
Vietnam 28 This turned into an argument about how
rapidly Marine participation in the war should come
to an end.

During October and November, the JCS instruct-
ed MACV to consider the feasibility of withdrawing
100,000 men by the end of June 1970 or, as an alter-
native, 50,000 by late March or early April. General
Abrams late in November advised against either of
these withdrawals. He argued that both proposals
would impose on the ARVN too sudden an increase
of responsibility and that it would be militarily un-
wise in the face of many indications that the enemy
planned another Tet offensive for early 1970. If more
troops had to be withdrawn, he urged that no more
than 35,000 be taken until after the period of maxi-
mum danger in late January and February2e,

If 100,000 men did have to come out in the first
half of 1970, MACYV preferred that about half of them
be Marines. During October MACV developed two al-
ternative compositions for an immediate 100,000-man
withdrawal, called the “Marine Heavy” and the
“Marine Light” Under the first plan all 55,000 Ma-
rines of IIIl MAF would leave Vietnam in Phase Three,
while in the second only one regimental landing team
(RIT) would go* Unable to slow the withdrawals
directed by Washington, General Abrams initially fa-
vored the “Marine Heavy” plan because it would al-
low MACV to substitute Marine aviation units in the
next deployment for Army ground combat units which
he felt were more urgently needed in South Vietnam.
MACV wanted to apply the “Marine Heavy” plan
proportionally whatever the size of the redeployment.

Headquarters Marine Corps authorities in Washing-
ton strongly objected to this proposal, which depart-
ed radically from earlier JCS plans for a more gradual
Marine redeployment. HQMC pointed out that so
rapid a withdrawal would overload the Marines’ bases
and supply facilities in the Pacific and cause severe
problems of personnel administration. HQMC also
recognized that such a quick withdrawal would leave
the Marine Corps, as the only Service not involved in
Vietnam, a vety vulnerable target for budget reduc-

*A regimental landing team normally consists of a Marine regi-
ment with the attached support forces needed to conduct an am-
phibious landing. It includes about 6,000 officers and men.
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tions.* Elaborating further on Marine Corps opposi-
tion to a rapid withdrawal, General Dulacki observed
years later that “although there were several reasons
for the HQMC position, the most compelling was the
fact that the Marine Corps deemed it incongruous
that, after some five years of combat in Vietnam, with
the war still continuing, the Marines would no longer
be participants.” In General Dulacki’s view as Chief
of Staff, IIl MAF, MACV more so than the JCS was
responsible for determining the size force respective
Services would send home with each redeployment.

On 15 December, in an address to the nation, Presi-
dent Nixon resolved the question of the total size of
the withdrawal. He announced that 50,000 more
troops would leave Vietnam by 15 Aprl 1970.
However, to guard against a possible Communist Tet
offensive, the troop movement would not begin until
carly February, and none of the combat units involved
would cease active operations until mid-February3?

The composition of the 50,000-man reduction re-
mained unresolved. MACV still wanted a large Ma-
rine contingent and ordered III MAF to plan to
withdraw over 19,000 Marines. This would require the
removal of two full RLTs under the Marine system of
translating each increment into tactical units of the
proper size. III MAF designated the 26th Marines (the
only regiment of the war-activated 5th Marine Divi-
sion still in Vietnam) and the 7th Marines for Keystone
Bluejay, heading a long list of aviation and support
units.

Plans were changing, however, even as III MAF
finished this troop list. The Department of the Army
discovered that it would lack the men to maintain the
Army strength in Vietnam envisioned in the Marine-
Heavy option. To assure what MACV considered ade-
quate ground forces during the first half of 1970, more
Marines would have to stay in Vietnam. This consider-
ation and continuing Marine Cortps opposition to a
too-rapid pullout of IIl MAF led the Joint Chiefs of
Staff late in December to reduce the Marine share of
Keystone Bluejay to 12,900 men—one regimental
landing team with aviation and support units32

“The slowdown of the Matines’ withdrawal created

*Colonel Don H. Blanchard, who was Head, Joint and Special
Plans, Joint Planning Group, HQMC was privy to much of the de-
bate within HQMC and the Pentagon over this sensitive issue. He
satd he stressed this fear to the Commandant “in the initial go-
around on this Inter-Service squabble really with a future roles and
missions connotation!” Col Don H. Blanchard, Comments on draft
ms, dtd 2Jun83 (Vietnam Comment File).
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a sertous complication in ICTZ,” said General Dulacki.
“The Naval Support Activity had drafted plans for
withdrawal concurrent with the rapid and early
redeployment of the Marines. Although the Marine
withdrawal was slowed, the Navy continued with their
original plans”” Thus the remaining Marines were faced
with the prospect of losing support of the Naval Con-
struction Battalion, the closure of the Naval Hospital
at Da Nang, and the end of logistic support provided
by NSA. For Marines these were all imminent con-
cerns, but the most critical was the impending loss of
the hospital ship from northern ICTZ to the Da Nang
area. Urgent pleas of III MAF and FMFPac were to no
avail and the hospital closed. Ultimately, General
Abrams promised to provide Army hospital support
if necessary, and the Army Support Command as-
sumed logistic supportt functions of NSA. Redeploy-
ment moved inexorably forward 33

III MAF selected Colonel James E. Harrell’s 26th
Marines as the regiment to redeploy. The regiment’s
supporting artillery, the st Battalion, 13th Marines,
would go out with it. Other artillery units designated
for Keystone Bluejay included the 5th 175mm Gun
Battery, a platoon of 8-inch howitzers, and Battery K,
4th Battalion, 13th Marines. Since operations around
Da Nang required few tracked vehicles, III MAF desig-
nated for withdrawal all but one company of the 1st
Tank Battalion and the 3d Amphibian Tractor (Am-
Trac) Battalion. The 1Ist Anti-Tank Battalion would
leave with the armor. The 1st Shore Party and the 7th
Motor Transport Battalions headed the roster of sup-
port units, which included numerous engineer, mili-
tary police, communications, reconnaissance,
headquarters, and medical detachments34

The 1st Marine Aircraft Wing would relinquish one
of its group headquarters— Colonel James R. Weaver's
Marine Aircraft Group (MAG) 12, which would move
from Chu Lai to the Marine air station at Iwakuni,
Japan, with its housekeeping squadrons, Marine Air
Base Squadron (MABS) 12 and Headquarters and
Maintainance Squadron (H&MS) 12. Three jet
squadrons— Marine Attack Squadrons (VMAs) 211 and
223 and Marine Fighter/Attack Squadron (VMFA)
542 —and Marine Heavy Helicopter Squadron (HMH)
361, with detachments from other units, rounded out
the aviation component of Keystone Bluejay.

Late in January, these units began preparing to leave
Vietnam. They did so under III MAF Operation Plan
(OPlan) 183-69, issued in September 1969, which
prescribed procedures for withdrawing units during
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Marines from Company 1, 3d Battalion, 26th Marines brought into Elephant Valley by
@ CH-46 helicopter move out of the landing zone in one of the battalion’s last opera-
tions. The battalion was scheduled to redeploy with the 26th Marines in Keystone Robin.

continuing hostilities. Under this plan, each redeploy-
ing organization ceased active operations or “stood
down” well before its actual date of departure and
moved to a designated base camp to prepare its men

and equipment for sea or air transpottation out of the -

country. Its mission and area of operations would im-
mediately be assumed by other units according to
prearranged plans. “There were tremendous logistic
problems as well as the tactical ones in breaking con-
tact with the enemy,” recalled Major General William
K. Jones, who had redeployed his 3d Marine Division
to Okinawa the previous November* The Marines not
only had to prepare “equipment and vehicles for ship-
ping” but sort out “equipment to be left or turned
over to RVN or Korean forces,” and also level bunkers,
and clean up camp sites3s

While preparing for embarkation, the redeploying
organization was to “retain sufficient combat ability

*On redeployment of his division to Okinawa, Major General
Jones also became Commanding General, 1st Marine Expeditionary
Force and Commander, TF 79 of the Seventh Fleet.

for secutity and self-defense” Marine units were to
leave Vietnam as fully otganized and equipped for-
mations, but in fact they rarely left with the same men
who had served in them in combat. Instead, with each
redeployment, a system of personnel transfers went
into operation appropriately nicknamed the “Mix-
master.” In this process, the departing unit would be
filled with Marines from all elements of Il MAF who
had spent the most time in Vietnam in their current
one-year tours while those membets of the redeploy-
ing unit who had the most time left to serve in-country
would transfer to organizations not designated to
redeploy. For the 26th Marines, this meant that mem-
bers of the regiment with most of their tours still to
serve wete reassigned to the three infantry regiments
left in the 1st Division while the battalions of the 26th
Marines were filled with men from other units whose
tours were nearing an end. Upon return to the Unit-
ed States, the regiment would be deactivated.*38

*For details on the procedures and policies for redeploying men
and equipment, see Chapter 19.
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The troop movements of Keystone Bluejay started
on 28 January and continued until late March. Most
of the combat units, in accordance with the Prestdent’s
announcement, left Vietnam near the end of the peri-
od. Between 28 and 31 January, the 3d AmTrac Bat-
talion (-), the cadre of the 1st Anti-Tank Battalion, and
numerous detachments of aviation, engineer, commu-
nications, headquarters, and Force Logistic Command
personnel left Da Nang by ship and airplane. They
were followed in middle and late February by the 7th
Motor Transport Battalion and more headquarters and
support detachments. Between 11 and 19 March units
redeployed included: the 26th Marines; the 1st Bat-
talion, 13th Marines; the 1st Shore Party Battalion (-);
the 5th 175Smm Gun Battety; a platoon of 8-inch
howitzers;, and the 1st Tank Battalion (-)37

The aviation redeployments of Keystone Bluejay in-
cluded what the FMFPac historian called “the largest
tactical trans-Pacific . . . air movement yet recorded
by Marine aviation units.” In this operation, code-
named Key Wallop, the 20 A-4E Skyhawks of
VMA-223 and the 15 F-4B Phantoms of VMFA-542
took off late in January from their respective bases at
Chu Lai and Da Nang and flew to the Naval Air Sta-
tion (NAS), Cubi Point in the Philippines. From there
the two squadrons headed out across the Pacific to
their new base at Marine Corps Air Station (MCAS),
El Toro, California. They stopped over on the way at
Guam, Wake Island, and Hawaii and refuelled in the
air several times. By 11 February, they had completed
their movement. Meanwhile, late in January,
HMH-361 embarked its 14 CH-53 Sikorsky Sea Stal-
lions for shipment to MCAS Santa Ana, California.
In February, the 12 A-4Es of VMA-211 and MAG-12
with its headquarters and service squadrons moved to
Iwakuni2®

By the end of Match, all the units of III MAF sched-
uled for Keystone Bluejay had left Vietnam. III MAF
now consisted of 42,672 Marine officers and men, in-
cluding the 23,186-man 1st Marine Division. The 1st
Marine Aircraft Wing now had 174 fixed-wing aircraft
and 212 helicopters flown and maintained by 1,267
officers and 8,976 enlisted men. The strength of Force
Logistic Command had fallen to 348 officets and 5,512
men. The Combined Action Force, which underwent
no major teductions in Keystone Bluejay, contained
52 Marine officers and 1,885 enlisted men3®

The Change of Command in I Corps

Since 1965, the Commanding General, III Marine
Amphibious Force had commanded all United States
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forces in I Cotps Tactical Zone. Constituting a
“separate command directly subordinate to Com-
USMACYV,” III MAF directed all American military
operations in I Corps and coordinated combined Unit-
ed States-South Vietnamese activities. The com-
manding general of III MAF represented
ComUSMACYV as United States atea coordinator for
I CTZ, and as Senior U.S. Advisor, he had operation-
al control over the US. Army Advisory Group
(USAAG) and US. Army Special Forces in the nor-
thern five provinces. He thus exercised the same
authority as the Army field force commanders in the
other three corps areas, and in addition he directed
the operations of his own air wing#°

With the entry of Army units into I CTZ, III MAF
had grown into an Inter-Service headquarters. In Janu-
ary 1970, the III MAF staff included 219 Marines, 5
Navy, and 39 Army officers. The headquarters had at-
tached to it the 1st Marine Radio Battalion and two
Army units— the 29th Civil Affairs Company and the
7th Psychological Operations Company#!

Since the NVA/VC Tet offensive of 1968, a second
major U.S. headquarters had existed in I Corps. This
was the Army’s XXIV Corps, which occupied the form-
et 3d Marine Division Headquarters compound at Phu
Bai, just south of Hue. Subotdinate to III MAF and
controlling American troops in Quang Tri and Thua
Thien provinces, XXIV Corps had evolved from the
MACYV Forward command post set up in January 1968
just after the start of the Tet offensive. At its peak
strength in March 1968, XXIV Cotps (then known as
Provisional Corps, Vietnam) had consisted of the 3d
Marine Division, the 101st Airborne Division (Airmo-
bile), and the 1st Cavalry Division (Airmobile). At the
end of 1969, the corps, then commanded by Lieu-
tenant General Melvin Zais, USA, contained the 1st
Brigade, 5th Infantry Division (Mechanized) and the
101st Airborne Division. Its headquarters staff num-
bered over 500 Army and Marine personnel*2

As troop withdrawals began, General Abrams on
3 August 1969 directed his commanders throughout
South Vietnam to suggest ways to reduce manpower
without redeploying more combat units. Elimination
of superfluous headquarters, Abrams suggested, was
a logical starting point in this process#? His words
seemed to apply especially to I Corps with its two
cotps-level American headquarters. With Marine
strength in the northern provinces dwindling more
rapidly than Army strength and with Marine opera-
tions increasingly limited to Quang Nam Province, the
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trend of events pointed toward amalgamation of I1I
MAF and XXIV Corps with the Army gradually
dominating the new headquartets.

Marines approached such a merger with caution.
From their point of view, more was at stake than ad-
ministrative efficiency; the proposed change of com-
mand could threaten the existence in Vietnam of an
operating Marine air-ground team. III MAF, con-
trolling both the 1st Marine Division and the 1st MAW
under a single Marine headquatters, constituted such
a team, although for some purposes III MAF had had
to surrender a measure of command over the wing to
the Seventh Air Force. Elimination of III MAF Head-
quarters or its absorption by XXIV Corps could result
in the division passing under Army command while
the wing would be taken over by the Air Force—an
eventuality which Marines believed would reduce oper-
ational efficiency and set undesirable precedents. Thus
throughout the discussions of command reorganiza-
tion in I Corps, both Headquarters Marine Corps and
III MAF insisted that as long as the Marine division
and wing remained in Vietnam they must have a Ma-
tine headquarters over them.

In mid-August, General Nickerson proposed to
General Abrams that the XXIV Corps Headquarters
be eliminated and that additional Army officers and
enlisted men be incorporated into the 11l MAF Head-
quarters. At the same time, the number of Marines
on the III MAF staff would be reduced so that the new
joint headquarters would contain 518 fewer people
than the total of the old III MAF and XXIV Corps
staffs. The Army-Marine headquarters thus formed
would command all United States forces in I Corps
and would take over all the duties now petformed by
1] MAF and XXIV Corps. As Marine units redeployed,
Nickerson pointed out, Marine strength in the new
headquarters could be reduced and the Army
representation increased. General Nickerson argued
that this reorganization would achieve three goals at
once: it would reduce headquarters manpower in I
Corps; it would retain the Marine air-ground team as
long as Marines remained in Vietnam; and it would
provide the framework for a smooth Army takeover of
I CTZ as the Marines left. On 25 August, General
Abrams accepted this proposal in principle and in-
structed 11 MAF to submit detailed plans for its im-
plementation#4

By 30 October, III MAF had developed a plan for
reducing the total headquarters personnel of III MAF
and XXIV Cotps by 518 officers and enlisted men,
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closing down XXIV Cotps Headquarters, and estab-
lishing a new joint Army-Marine headquarters under
the suggested title of “Joint Field Force Vietnam.” The
proposed new staff would consist of 126 Marine and
99 Army officers and 465 Marine and 251 Army en-
listed men. All general and most special staff sections
would contain both Marine and Army personnel. The
commanding general of the joint force would remain
a Marine lieutenant general until most of the 1st Ma-
rine Diviston and 1st Marine Aircraft Wing had
redeployed, at which time an Army lieutenant gener-
al would replace him. A Marine major general would
act as deputy commanding general until all Marines
had left I CTZ. After 15 December, when the tour
of duty of the current III MAF chief of staff ended,
an Army brigadier general would assume that post in
the new headquarters. Lieutenant General Zais, the
XXIV Corps commander, expressed general approval
of this plan but wanted an Army general put in com-
mand of the new headquarters on 15 December on
grounds the Army already outnumbered the Marines
in I Corps?s

During November and December, the prospective
acceleration of Marine redeployments, by shortening
the time Marines would remain in Vietnam, eliminat-
ed the need for the planned joint headquarters. In-
stead, both MACV and III MAF began thinking in
terms of a simple exchange of roles between III MAF
and XXIV Corps. Under this arrangement, the Army
headquarters would take over command of all United
States forces in I Corps while a reduced III MAF un-
der operational control of XXIV Cotps commanded
the Marine division and wing.

Early in February, Colonel George C. Fox, Deputy
Chief of Staff, G-3 for Plans/Operations of III MAF,
drafted a set of proposed “Terms of Reference” defin-
ing the powers of a force headquarters subordinate to
XXIV Corps. Approved by Lieutenant General Nick-
erson and by Lieutenant General Buse (Command-
ing General, Fleet Marine Force, Pacific), the Terms
of Reference declared that IIl MAF Headquarters was
the command and control element of a solely Marine
Corps force composed of ground, air, and service ele-
ments. Its mission was to “exercise command of Ma-
tine Cotps forces assigned by higher authority to
perform missions and tasks as directed by Commander,
U.S. Military Assistance Command, Vietnam.” III MAF
would continue to ditect the operations of the 1st Di-
vision and the 1st Wing. It would remain in charge
of Marine supply and administration, and it would
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plan and conduct Marine redeployments. It would stay
under the administrative control of FMFPac 26

Meanwhile, independent of the III MAF plannets,
members of the MACV staff in Saigon had been work-
ing along parallel lines. In mid-February, General
Abrams’ headquarters sent to III MAF for comment
a set of proposed changes in MACV’s Directive 10-11,
which defined the command relationships among
American forces in Vietnam. The revised directive
placed XXIV Corps in command of all United States
troops in I Cotps and appointed Commanding Gener-
al, XXIV Cotps as the Senior U.S. Advisor for the
region. It defined I MAF as “a separate command
subordinate to and under the operational control of
CG, XXIV Corps,” exercising control of all Marine
units, both ground and air in I Corps, and conduct-
ing military operations within its area of responsi-
bility?

Marines greeted MACV'’s proposed directive with
approval and relief. Colonel Fox recalled that “1 was
dreading that when they brought up a draft copy [of
the revised directive], I thought well, here we go for
a real fight. . . . I couldn’t believe my eyes when I
found out that theirs was . . . completely acceptable
to us."48

On 19 February, General Abrams came to Da Nang
for a final briefing on the plans for the change of com-
mand. The btiefing produced a heated confrontation
between General Nickerson and General Zais. It be-
gan when General Zais objected to having to pass ord-
ets to the Marine division and wing through III MAF
Headquarters. General Nickerson replied with a
vigorous defense of the Marine air-ground team. Then,
as General Dulacki, the III MAF Chief of Staff
recalled:

... You had two three-star generals going at it in the
presence of General Abrams . . . rather vociferously. I mean
both of them. [ wouldn't say that each lost his temper, but
you knew how they felt and it was emotional and
vocal. . . . | remember General Abrams sitting back and
smoking a cigar and listening to all of this. . . . I guess in
time . . . he decided he'd heard enough of it. And his com-
ments were to this effect: “I am not about to become in-
volved in trying to distupt ot change Marine Corps doctrine.
Marine Corps doctrine is that they have an air-ground team.
The wing and the division are integral parts of a MAF head-
quarters. This is theit concept of operations. This is the way
they've opetated. And as far as I'm concerned I'm not go-
ing to do anything to change it at this point in time. . . ."4?

Viewing the confrontation years later, Dulacki ad-
ded that “General Zais’ position [objecting to the in-
terposition of IIl MAF Headquarters between XXIV
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Corps and the 1st Marine Division] was somewhat iron-
ic. At that point in time, he commanded the XXIV
Corps which consisted of an Army division and a
brigade; and his was a large headquarters interposed
between IIT MAF and those two Army units, an ar-
rangement quite comparable to what III MAF pro-
posed upon transfer of command.’s°

With the new command arrangement thus con-
firmed by ComUSMACYV, Marine and Army staffs set
9 March 1970 as the date for the formal exchange of
roles between III MAF and XXIV Corps. On 6 March,
General Nickerson instructed all United States units
in ICTZ except the Marines to submit operation
reports to XXIV Corps Headquarters after 9 March.
Marine units would continue to report to the com-
manding general of Il MAF At the same time, III
MATF transferred operational control of the Americal
Division and its attached aviation and support units
to XXIV Corps. The Army headquarters also received
operational control of the U.S. Army Advisory Group
in ICTZ and of Company G, 5th Special Forces Group
(Airborne), and took over the direction of naval gun-
fire support for units in I Cotps*s!

Control of the Combined Action Force constituted
a special problem. Entirely composed of Marines with
attached Navy personnel, the force operated under I1I
MAF Headquarters and had platoons in hamlets scat-
tered throughout I Corps. These units had to cooper-
ate closely both with Vietnamese forces and with Army
elements that soon would cease to be controlled by
111 MAFE. On 26 March, IIT MAF resolved the problem
by placing the CAF under the operational control of
XXIV Cotps while retaining administrative control.
Later in the year, as the CAF's field of activity was
reduced to Quang Nam Province, it would return to
11T MAF operational control 52

Within III MAF iself, the change of command

*This change meant that Sub-Unit One, 1st Air and Naval Gun-
fite Liaison Company (ANGLICO), now cootdinated naval gunfire
support throughout the Republic of Vietnam. ANGLICO units rare-
ly operate under Marine commands; their mission is to coordinate
naval gunfire support for non-Marine forces. Hence until 9 March
naval gunfire support in I Corps was controlled by the Fite Sup-
port Coordination Centet (FSCC) at III MAF Headquarters while
the ANGLICO subunit, under opetational control of MACV Head-
quarters, provided naval gunfire liaison teams for the other three
corps arteas. After 9 March, the ANGLICO team at XXIV Corps
Headquaters took responsibility for calling in naval gunfire mis-
sions for both U.S. and ARVN forces in [ Corps. Sub-Unit 1, 1st
ANGLICO, ComdC, Mar 70. For further details of ANGLICO oper-
ations, see Chapter 21.
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brought a few organizational rearrangements. The
most important of these was the transfer early in March
of the 1st and 3d Force Reconnaissance Companies
from the direct operational control of III MAF to that
of the 1st Marine Division. Like the platoons of the
CAF, these units had ranged throughout I CTZ, and
the change of their command relations reflected the
reduction of their sphere of operations to Quang Nam
and to support of the 1st Marine Division 53
Besides reassigning control of many units, the
change of command involved the movement of III
MAF and XXIV Corps Headquarters, with their hun-
dreds of personnel and tons of equipment, to new lo-
cations. Both Marine and Army planners agreed that
XXIV Corps should take over the III MAF compound
at Camp Horn just east of Da Nang City. There the
Army headquarters would have the communications
and other facilities needed to direct operations
throughout I Cotps, and there it would be able to
maintain closer contact with Lieutenant General Lam,
the ARVN I Corps commander, who had his head-
quarters in Da Nang. Thus the change of American
command would require transfer of the XXIV Corps
Headquarters from Phu Bai to Camp Horn and the
simultaneous movement of Il MAF Headquarters to
a new site, in each case without interrupting for any
length of time the continuing direction of operations.
Preparations for this movement, codenamed Oper-
ation Cavalier Beach, began on 30 January, On that
date, III MAF and XXIV Corps organized a joint plan-
ning group representing the G-1, G-2, G-3, G-4, and
G-6 sections of each staff* The group, under the over-
all supervision of Brigadier General Dulacki, the III
MATF Chief of Staff, was to plan, coordinate, and su-
pervise the move. Throughout the complex prepara-
tions, which involved the interchange of facilities,
equipment, and personnel along with the concurrent
requirement for both Army and Marine headquarters
to maintain operational continuity, the Services worked

*In February 1968 at the urging of Colonel Sanford B. Hunt,
Communications-Electronics Officer (CEO), III MAF, Lieutenant
General Robert E. Cushman, Jr., Commanding General, III MAF
redesignated the CEO Section, the G-6 Section. This was done in
recognition of the increased coordination and technical control
demanded of an expanded cotps-level tactical situation brought on
by the Tet offensive. This was the first time in Marine Cortps histo-
ty that communications-electronics was elevated to “G” section sta-
tus, and it continued for the remainder of the war, Col Sanford
B. Hunt and Maj James Connell, Comments on draft MS, 12Dec83
(Vietnam Comment File). See also III MAF Directories, Jan-Feb68
in III MAF ComdCs, Jan-FebG8.
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harmoniously. As General Dulacki noted, “there were
many opportunities for parochial bickering on the part
of the various staff sections but, instead, like true
professionals they wotked together to make the trans-
fer as efficient as possible.” General Zais’ guidance to
the III MAF Chief of Staff was direct: “You've got a
functioning headquarters here. You know what has to
be done. You work it out as you see best, and we'll
move down when you say you are ready to take us”
General Zais gave similar guidance to his staff, and
the shift of headquarters was begun54

IIT MAF first had to find a new headquarters loca-
tion. Consideration was given to having III MAF and
XXIV Corps remain in their present locations with a
transfer of functions, but the idea was shelved because
of the difficulties cteated for XXIV Corps in their new
role as senior command in ICTZ. General Dulacki
remembered commenting to General Abrams after
both headquarters had been relocated that “it would
have been so much simpler if we had stayed where
we were and merely transferred the command func-
tions.” He was stunned by Abrams reply, “ . . I was
somewhat surprised that was not what you recom-
mended.” The option of satelliting III MAF Head-
quarters on the 1st Marine Division or 1st Marine
Aircraft Wing was considered but discounted in part
because of Dulacki’s recollection of the undesirable
aspects of a similar arrangement he experienced on
the III MAF staff in 1965, when that scaff was satellic-
ed on the wing. The impracticality of constructing a
new headquarters site was recognized from the out-
setss

Once again the Seabees came to the rescue, as they
had so often in the past. “Since they were phasing
down operations due to redeployment of their units,
the Seabees volunteered to vacate their headquarters
site at Camp Haskins,” which was on Red Beach
northwest of the city of Da Nang about five miles from
Camp Horn. The Seabees moved to a smaller site in
the same vicinity. Dulacki observed that it was some-
what ironic that Red Beach is whete the Marines first
landed in Vietnam in March 1965. Camp Haskins con-
tained barracks and office buildings which could be
adapted readily to III MAF's requirements, and it was
close to the Force Logistic Command with its existing
communications facilities. On 6 February, Marine en-
gineers and Seabees of the 3d Naval Construction Bat-
talion moved into Camp Haskins and began prepating
for its new tenant 38

Throughout February, at Phu Bai, Camp Horn, and
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Camp Haskins, the preparations continued. III MAF
prepared tables of organization for a much reduced
headquarters establishment and drew up lists of func-
tions to be transferred to XXIV Corps. Recognizing
that III MAF's staff could aid XXIV Corps with their
expanded staff responsibilties, III MAF also selected
Marine officers and men for assignment to the XXIV
Corps staff. According to General Dulacki, “when we
were phasing down, we just let them go through the
list of the people and decide what key billets or what
key functions they wanted to fill with Marines, and
that’s exactly how we left the people there.’5? This as-
sisted XXIV Corps greatly and enabled selected Ma-
rines to remain in their billets until end of tour, when
they were replaced by Army officers. Advance parties
of Army officers and men moved into Camp Horn to
ptepare for movement of the main body of XXIV
Cortps Headquarters from Phu Bai3®

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A193462
Marine Commandant Gen Leonard F. Chapman, Jr., obscured by another officer, greets
LtGen Melvin Zais, USA, Commanding General, XXIV Corps, while medal-bedecked
LtGen Hoang Xuan Lam, Commanding General, 1 Corps Tactical Zone, looks on.

For the headquarters staff of III MAF, it was a time
of hard wotk and some confusion. Colonel Herbert
L. Wilkerson, Deputy Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3,
who joined the staff at this time summed up the sit-
uation:

The way I like to desctibe this is you cut your force into
one-fourth, you reassign practically every person —enlisted
and officer— to a new billet within that force, not necessari-
ly doing what he was doing before, and displace the CP, all
simultaneously . . . . Every officer in the 3 shop, practically,
changed some responsibility one way or the other and as-
sumed other people’s responsibilities, and then displacement
of the CP alone is a traumatic experience for a corps level
function, and you try to do all this . . . while everybody
changes jobs . . . . %°

In spite of the inevitable difficulties, Operation
Cavalier Beach progressed more of less on schedule.
On 5 March, III MAF began moving into Camp
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Depattment of Defense Photo (USMC) A700390
LtGen Keith B. McCutcheon is seen in a formal pose.

Gen McCutcheon relieved LtGen Nickerson as Come-
manding General, Il Marine Amphibious Force.

Haskins. The next day, XXIV Corps Headquarters with
its aviation, artillery, military police, and other sup-
port detachments, started its joutney to Camp Horn.
By 9 March, the day set for the change of command,
both headquarters were installed and operating in
their new compounds.

The ceremony at Camp Hortn on 9 March formally
acknowledged two simultaneous transfers of com-
mand. Lieutenant General Nickerson turned over
operational control of all United States forces in I
Cortps to Lieutenant General Zais. At the same time,
Nickerson passed command of III MAF to his own suc-
cessor, Lieutenant General Keith B. McCutcheon 80

The new commanding general of Il MAF was born
in Ohio in 1915. An honor graduate of the Army
ROTC course at Carnegie Institute of Technology,
McCutcheon in 1937 resigned his Army Reserve com-
mission to accept a second lieutenancy in the Marine
Corps. His reason for doing so forecast the focus of
his Marine career: frustrated in efforts to enter Army
aviation, he knew the Marines had airplanes, and he
wanted to fly. McCutcheon received his naval aviator's
wings in 1940. Theteafter his assignments and activi-
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ties paralleled and contributed much to the growth
of Marine aviation. In 1944, as operations officer of
MAG-24 during the invasion of the Philippines,
McCutcheon perfected a basic system for command
and control of close air support. He also was awarded
the Silver Star Medal, the Distinguished Flying Cross,
and six Air Medals for gallantsy in action. During the
1950s, he played a leading part in Marine helicopter
development, commanding HMR-161 in Korean com-
bat. Later, as commander of MAG-26, he continued
to improve helicopter tactics and organization.

McCutcheon’s involvement with Vietnam began in
1963 where, as a brigadier general and assistant chief
of staff for operations on the staff of the Commander
in Chief, Pacific (CinCPac), he spent two years help-
ing to plan and direct the introduction of American
forces into the war. From June 1965 to June 1966, he
commanded the 1st MAW in Vietnam, receiving his
promotion to major general in January 1966. Then,
as deputy chief of staff for air at Headquarters Ma-
rine Cotps, McCutcheon directed further expansion
of the Marine aviation effort in Vietnam and super-
vised the introduction to combat of new and improved
helicopters. He was promoted to lieutenant general
in February 19708!

A slightly-built, soft-spoken officer, General Mc-
Cutcheon approached his new task with the same con-
fidence and determination he had expressed long ago
as a young man writing to a prospective employer;

I particularly pride myself in the fact that I can carefully
and meticulously plan and otganize my work in a most ef-
ficient manner; and not only plan the work, but to execute
it with rapidity and accuracy.

The ability to do these things lies in my will-power and
conscience. Anything I have been made responsible for, or
anything I have undertaken, I have always endeavored to
complete.

It also seems that my capacity increases with the pressure;
that is, the more work there is for me to do, the more effi-
ciently I perform ité2

General McCutcheon took over a 1l MAF whose
headquarters was about half the size of the one Nick-
erson had commanded at the beginning of the year.
In contrast to 219 Marine, 5 Navy, and 39 Army officers
and 509 Marine, 12 Navy, 19 Army, and 2 Air Force
enlisted men in January, the force staff in April con-
sisted of 105 Marine and 6 Navy officers and 204 Ma-
rine and 6 Navy enlisted men®? The total size of 111
MAF following initial redeployments was approach-
ing 40,000 Marines, down close to 15,000 from the
start of 1970.
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During and after the move to Camp Haskins, III
MAF Headquarters was plagued with communications
difficulties. Just before 9 March, the automated tele-
type machines at Camp Horn stopped working, creat-
ing a pileup of paper and tape. The staff hauled bags
of this material with them to Camp Haskins. On 9
and 10 March, the teletypes at Force Logistic Com-
mand Headquarters, which were to serve III MAF at
Camp Haskins, also broke down. Compounding the
problem, the ditto machines which reproduced mes-
sages for distribution failed at the same time. Hur-
ried repairs restored all the machines to operation by
12 March, and personnel from III MAF, FLC, and the
5th Communictions Battalion cleared up the message
backlog and established notmal communications. Even
then, the system proved cumbetsome, with couriers
running back and forth between FLC and Camp
Haskins every 30 minutes or so. General Dulacki,
recalling the experience, hoped that “next time we're
a little bit closer to communications.”84

The reduction in the size of the III MAF staff was
a reflection of its reduced role. The difficult question
was, how lean a staff could be organized to satisfac-
torily perform the mission? III MAF realized that the
old “Marine Corps Schools concept,” in which a skele-
ton III MAF staff would parasite off division and wing
staffs, just wouldn’t work. On the other hand, the ar-
gument made by some to keep the large existing I11
MAF staff intact was equally impactical 85

The decision was ultimately made to develop an
austere T/O with no fat. “It was to be a lean organiza-
tion, adequate to perform the new III MAF mission
with no frills, and one which recognized the inexora-
bly continuing redeployment. Although, at times,
seemingly draconian measures were necessaty to
achieve that goal, in the end it was accomplished and
accomplished successfully.’68 When General Chapman
visited III MAF in early 1970, he was pleasantly sur-
prised to see the realistic approach that III MAF had
taken in sizing the staff.

The reduced III MAF staff had barely enough per-
sonnel to carry out its command functions. Colonel
Wilkerson commented in July that III MAF Head-
quarters “ . .strictly maintains a command center for
monitoring what's going on. . . . The command center
. . . has a watch of one staff officer and one staff NCO
and one general clerk, and that’s the extent of our par-
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ticipation. . . . [CG, IIl MAF] can't really participate
other than to advise people and try to keep up to date
on what's going on. . . ."87

XXIV Corps Headquartets had its problems, also.
From concentrating primarily on tactical control of
troops, General Zais and his staff had to assume the
many logistic, administrative, and political respon-
sibilities formerly discharged by III MAF. They had
to adjust their thinking to deal with all of I Corps
rather than only the two northern provinces, and they
had to establish a relationship of trust and coopera-
tion with General Lam, who had worked closely with
III MAE XXI1V Corps Headquarers, like III MAF, dis-
covered that it had underestimated the number of
men required for its job. The Army staff expanded
to meet its new responsibilities and by June was over-
flowing the old Marine compound at Camp Horn.$8

By mid-1970, both XXIV Corps and III MAF had
recovered from the confusion of their alteration of
roles. The small-unit war being waged required no
large transfers of troops between division TAORs, and
XXIV Corps usually left direction of day-to-day oper-
ations in Quang Nam Province to the 1st Marine Di-
vision. In June, General Dulacki said:

In general I think the relationship between I MAF and
XXIV Corps is very good. There ate no setious problems.
... I think a lot of the staff sections in XXIV Corps couldn’t
quite understand that III MAF was the senior headquarters
insofar as the division and wing was concerned. It took them
a little while to understand that if they have any otders and
directions for the wing or the division they had to come
through us, and in general there are no problems in this
regard #°

Although he initially had objected to IIIl MAF's con-
tinued control of the division and wing, Lieutenant
General Zais proved “very understanding, very con-
siderate” in his dealings with the Marines. “At the low-
er staff levels, occasionally, Service parochialism or
jealousy (on both sides) would rear its ugly head, due
to a failure to understand the other Setvices’ normal
modus operandi. But the longer the two headquart-
ers worked together, the trust, confidence and respect
between the two grew and solidified.” As General
Dulacki observed mote than a decade later, “Neither
General Zais nor General McCutcheon would have had
it otherwise.”7°
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The 7th Marines: The Que Son Mountains— Results

Overview and the Defense of Da Nang

For the American, ARVN, and Korean infanttymen
patrolling the hamlets, rice paddies, and mountains,
and for the aviators, artillerymen, and others who sup-
ported them, command changes brought little varia-
tion to the daily routine of war. Throughout the first
half of 1970, both sides in I Corps adhered to the pat-
terns of operation established during the previous year.
The NVA and VC continued their small-unit attacks,
terrorism, and infiltration. Seeming to threaten a
resumption of large-unit warfare, they massed troops
and supplies along the DMZ in the first months of
the year and opened new bases along the Laotian bord-
er in northwestern Quang Tri. They also appeared to
be building new bases and reopening or enlarging old
ones in Quang Nam, Quang Tin, and Quang Ngai!

Throughout I Corps, allied troops took the offen-
sive to protect the population and disrupt the enemy
buildup. In northern Quang Tri, the 1st Brigade, 5th
Infantry Division (Mechanized), in cooperation with
regiments of the 1st ARVN Division, launched Oper-
ation Greene River on 19 January. Greene River co-
vered a long series of large and small-scale operations
which lasted until 22 July, accounting for almost 400
enemy dead at a cost to the allies of 68 killed and 967
wounded.

To the south, in Thua Thien, the 101st Airborne
Division began the year with Operation Randolph
Glen. Like Greene River, and like most named opet-
ations in this period, Randolph Glen was the title for
a mixture of pacification and search and clear activi-
ties. In Randolph Glen, pacification predominated.
The 101st Airborne Division committed all three of
its brigades to protection of the coastal lowlands. On
1 April, the division began Operation Texas Star, in
which one of its brigades continued to patrol the
populated areas while the other two kept in constant
motion in the piedmont, pursuing enemy main force
units and seeking out and destroying base areas. Con-
tinued until 5 September, Operation Texas Star result-
ed in over 1,700 NVA and VC killed while costing the
101st Airborne and the ARVN units working with it
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over 350 killed in action (KIA), many from boobytraps
and small ambushes?

In southern I Corps, the Americal Division was en-
gaged in Operations Pennsylvania Square, Iron Moun-
tain, Geneva Park, Frederick Hill, and Nantucket
Beach. As was true elsewhere, these operations were,
in reality, an unbroken series of patrols on the fringes
of populated areas and forays into back-country sanc-
tuaries. Month after month, the Americal troops whit-
tled away at the enemy in unspectacular but deadly
contacts3

In the first months of 1970, the ARVN regulars of
I Corps concentrated on forestalling enemy incursions
into towns and villages. Both in conjunction with
American units and on their own, the ARVN troops
supplemented constant small-unit patrolling with
larger sweeps against major Communist formations.
One of the most successful independent ARVN oper-
ations, Operation Duong Son 3/70, began on 11
February when elements of the 1st Armoted Brigade
and the 37th and 39th Ranger Battalions attacked into
an area near the coast south of the Korean enclave at
Hoi An. On the fourth day of this operation, they en-
gaged two VC main force units, the V2524 Infantry
Bastalion and the T-89th Sapper Battalion. The ARVN
troops, assisted by artillery and helicopter gunships,
killed over 140 of the enemy, including a battalion
commander, and drove the survivors into blocking po-
sitions established by two Regional Force companies,
which took a further toll of the fleeing Communists 4

While the regular units sought out enemy main
force formations, the Regional and Popular Forces in-
tensified their patrolling around villages, hamlets, and
government installations. Displaying increased confi-
dence and aggressiveness as a result of improved train-
ing and weapons, the RFs and PFs set increasingly more
night ambushes. In the first two months of 1970, the
territorial troops claimed to have killed over 1,300
North Vietnamese and Viet Cong while taking 77
prisoners and capturing over 600 weaponsS

Both regulars and militia paid for their successes.
In the first three months of 1970, the ARVN in I Corps
lost 303 men KIA and 984 wounded, while the RFs
and PFs lost 195 killed and over 700 wounded. In
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return, they accounted for over 4,400 enemy killed,
took over 1,100 prisoners, and captured almost 2,000
weapons.8

The remaining Marines in I Corps contributed their
share to the ongoing effort. The jets and helicopters
of the 1st Marine Aircraft Wing flew missions through-
out the five northern provinces, and the fixed-wing
attack and reconnaissance aircraft ranged into Laos and
Cambodia. On the ground in Quang Nam Province,
the 1st Marine Division continued to aggressively seek
out the VC and NVA.

After the redeployment of the 3d Marine Division
late in 1969, Marine ground operations were limited
largely to Quang Nam Province, whete the 1st Ma-
rine Division conducted continuous small-scale com-
bat in defense of Da Nang. During the first half of
1970, the 1st Marine Division, unlike the U.S. Army
divisions operating in I Corps, did not name its oper-
ations, but its complex activities were typical of the
way the war was being waged there.

Major General Edwin B. Wheeler commanded the
1st Marine Division at the beginning of the year. Born
in New York State in 1918, Wheeler entered the Ma-
rine Corps in 1941 and served in the Pacific with the
1st Marine Raider Battalion. In 1943, while command-
ing a rifle company, he won the Silver Star Medal dur-
ing the New Georgia campaign. Wheeler again led
Marines in combat in Korea. Commanding the 3d Ma-
rines in 1965, he spent his first Vietnam tour in the
Da Nang area. After duty as commanding officer of
the Basic School and Assistant Division Commander,
2d Marine Division, Wheeler, who had been promot-
ed to brigadier general in 1966 and major general two
years later, returned to Vietnam in June 1969 as deputy
commanding general of XXIV Corps. He took over
the 1st Marine Division from Major General Ormond
R. Simpson on 15 December 19697

An accident cut short General Wheeler's tenure as
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division commander. On 18 April, the helicopter car-
rying Wheeler, members of his staff, and Colonel Ed-
ward A. Wilcox of the 1st Marines on an inspection
of a search and destroy operation crashed on approach
to a jungle landing zone southwest of Da Nang.
Wheeler suffered a broken leg and had to relinquish
command ®

Wheeler's replacement, Major General Charles F
Widdecke, arrived on 27 April. A year younger than
Wheeler, Widdecke had entered the Marine Corps af-
ter graduating from the University of Texas at Austin.
He fought in the Pacific with the 22d Marines, win-
ning the Silver Star Medal at Eniwetok and the Navy
Cross at Guam, where he was severely wounded. Like
Wheeler, Widdecke had served in Vietnam before. He
entered the country early in 1966 as commanding
officer of the 5th Marines. Later, while still command-
ing his regiment, he also served as chief of staff of Task
Force X-Ray at Chu Lai. Promoted to brigadier gener-
al while in Vietnam, he went from there to a tour as
Chief of Staff, FMFPac. He came to the 1st Division
from a two-year assignment in Washington as Direc-
tor, Marine Corps Reserve, during which he had
received his second star. He would command the di-
vision until its redeployment in April 1971*®

Under both Wheeler and Widdecke, the division
performed the missions specified in its operation order
during late 1969. Under this order, the division, in
cootdination with South Vietnamese and other allied
forces, “locates, interdicts, and destroys enemy forces,
bases, logistical installations, infiltration routes and
LOC [lines of communication] within the assigned
TAOR/RZ."** The division was to provide security for
the city of Da Nang and assist Vietnamese forces “as
requested” in support of pacification, while continu-
ing surveillance, reconnaissance, and psychological
warfare within its TAOR “and such other areas as may
be assigned.” The order also required the division to

*After his return from Vietnam, Major General Widdecke com-
manded the I MAF at Camp Pendleton until his retirement on 1
July 1971. He died on 13 May 1973.

*#*The various terms used in delineating the tetritorial respon-
sibility of units were defined at this time as follows:

Division TAOR: “The atea assigned to the 1st Marine Division in
which the responsibility and authority for the development and
maintenance of installations, control of movement and the control
of tactical operations involving troops under division control is vested
in the Commanding General, 1st Marine Division. All fire and
maneuver conducted within the TAOR, or the effects of which im-

pinge upon the TAOR, must be coordinated with the Command-
ing General, 1st Marine Division.”

Reconnaissance Zone (RZ): “The land area adjacent to the 1st Ma-
rine Division TAOR, over which the Division Commander has the
tesponsibility for surveillance and reconnaissance operations. All fire
and maneuver within this atea must be coordinated with the Com-
manding General, 1st Marine Division . . .

Atea of Operation (AO): “An area whete forces conduct operations
during a specific period of time. These operations are coordinated
with, and advance agreement obtained from, appropriate
GVN/FWMAF representatives. An AO is normally assigned for a
specific operation which may be within ot outside of a TAOR.” 1st
MarDiv OpO 301AYR, Anx C, ded 10 Dec69.
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furnish relief and support for combined action pla-
toons (CAPs), Special Forces camps, and GVN district
headquarters within its area of responsibility. Finally,
the division was to be ready to send up to three rein-
forced battalions with a command group to assist al-
lied forces anywhere in South Vietnam !°

In conformity with countrywide allied strategy, the
division concentrated its efforts on keeping the ene-
my away from the city of Da Nang and its heavily
populated environs. Division infantry units and sup-
porting arms were “disposed to provide maximum
security for the Da Nang vital area, installations and
LOC:s of greatest political, economic, and military im-
portance in the division TAOR."1! The division direct-
ed its offensives against enemy forces and base areas
which posed the most immediate threat to the centers
of government, population, and economic activity or
to allied military installations.

A collection of Vietnamese forces was loosely formed
into a roughly division-level organization also tasked
to defend the Da Nang TAOR. Known as Quang Da
Special Zone (QDSZ), this headquarters, while not
staffed sufficiently to perform division-level command
and control, did exercise command by the summer of
1970 over 12 infantry battalions with attendant artillery
and armor support.* Originally formed to coordinate
security of the city of Da Nang, QDSZ in the spring
of 1970 established a field command post southwest
of Da Nang on Hill 34. Weekly conferences were held
between commanders of QDSZ, 1st Marine Division,
and the 2d Republic of Korea Matine Brigade from
which combined staff action originated. While QDSZ
never matured to the level desired by the Marines, un-
der the guidance of the 1st Marine Division the South
Vietnamese headquarters was able to provide a meas-
urable contribution to the defense of the Da Nang
TAOR 12

The 1st Marine Division's TAOR encompassed about
1,050 square miles of tetritory. Beginning above the
vital Hai Van Pass in the north, it extended into the
Que Son Valley in the south and included all of Quang
Nam Province and portions of Thua Thien and Quang
Tin. Almost 1,000,000 Vietnamese lived in this region,

*At the end of July 1970, QDSZ had operational control of the
257th Vietnamese Marine Corps Brigade (2d, 5th, and 6th Battalions
and a battalion of light artillery), the 1st Ranger Group (21st, 37th,
and 39th Battalions), the 5th Mobile Strike Group, and the 44th
and 64th Artillery Battalions. FMFPac, MarOps, Jul70, p.22; The
Marines in Vietnam, 1954-1973, An Anthology and Annotated Bib-
liography (Washington: Hist&MusDiv, HQMC, 1974), p. 141.
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over 400,000 of them in Da Nang and most of the
rest in the coastal lowlands and river valleys south and
southwest of the city.!?

During five years of bitter warfare, Marines had be-
come familiar with the tetrain of Quang Nam. In the
northern portion of the TAOR, rugged mountains of
the Annamite Chain thrust down into the South Chi-
na Sea to form the Hai Van Peninsula, restricting over-
land movement northward from Da Nang through the
Hai Van Pass to the old imperial city of Hue. Extend-
ing westward and southward, these mountains form
an arc around the rolling hills and lowlands of Da
Nang. The eastern boundary of the Da Nang TAOR
is the South China Sea.

Just south of Da Nang’s wide bay in the heart of
Da Nang was the 1st Marine Aircraft Wing's facility
from which military installations sprawled westward
about four miles to the hill mass of Division Ridge.
To the immediate south and southwest of Da Nang,
rice paddies dominate the landscape, broken only by
intermittent hills with thick treelines and patches of
brush dotted with hamlets and villages. Throughout
the lowlands thousands of grave mounds furnished the
enemy cover and concealment, and numerous low hills
provided sites for cantonments, outposts, and defen-
sive positions.

Innumerable streams and waterways intersect the
coastal lowlands. They include several major rivers
which flow out of the mountains to the west and run
into the South China Sea. The Cu De River empties
into the bay of Da Nang north of the city. The Cau
Do River and the Han River encircle the city on the
south and east and separate it from Tien Sha Penin-
sula (called Da Nang East by Marines) and the helicop-
ter base at Marble Mountain which is actually located
on the flat seashore just north of the rock outcrop-
pings that gave it its name. Still farther south the Vu
Gia and Thu Bon Rivers run through broad valleys
which cut deep into the mountains.

On the western edge of the TAOR, the heights of
the Annamite Chain wall in the coastal plain, exten-
ding the entire length of the western boundary from
north to south. Steep, jungle-covered, their peaks
hanging with mist and fog during the monsoon sea-
son, these mountains are penetrable on foot or by
helicopter. In the far southern part of the 1st Marine
Division’s TAOR, a spur of the Annamites projects
northeastward toward the coast. Known as the Que
Son Mountains, the range ovetlooks the Que Son Val-
ley to the south of it, and its hills, ravines, jungles,
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and many caves offered the enemy a ready-made
stronghold close to the populated regions.

From the outskirts of Da Nang to the remote moun-
tain valleys, North Vietnamese and Viet Cong troops
infested the 1st Marine Division’s TAOR. According
to allied intelligence, a North Vietnamese general,
Major General Nguyen Chanh Binh, commanded
these enemy forces. His headquarters, the identity of
which was obscured by the enemy’s use of multiple
names, was known to allied intelligence as Fronz 4,
Group 44, and Quang Da Special Zone Unit. As senior
military commander, General Binh apparently con-
trolled Front 4's NVA regulars and VC main force and
local force units. The hamlet and village guerrillas took
their orders from the local VCI, who in turn were
directed by the provincial party committee which
worked closely with General Binh. Under Fronz 4,
three tactical wings directed field operations—a
Northern Wing in the Hai Van area, a Central Wing
west of Da Nang, and a Sowzhern Wing believed head-
quartered in the Que Sons.

In early 1970, allied intelligence estimated that
Front 4 had 12,000-13,000 troops under its command,
including a possible 16 NVA and VC infantry battal-
ions, two NVA rocket artillery battalions, and an in-
determinate number of VC local force and guerrilla
units. The enemy in Quang Nam, as elsewhere in
South Vietnam, was using North Vietnamese replace-
ments to rebuild VC main force and even local force
units which had suffered heavy losses in the fighting
of the last two years. Thus the enemy’s Sowzbern Wing,
according to allied intelligence reports, had disband-
ed one of its NVA infantry regiments, the 3624, to
reinforce hard-hit VC elements in the lowlands.

In accordance with their nationwide strategy, the
enemy in Quang Nam had reverted to low-intensity
guerrilla warfare. Front 4's NVA regiments rarely en-
gaged in combat. They spent most of their time train-
ing and refitting in their mountain base camps while
VC main and local forces and guerrillas, assisted by
small NVA detachments, kept limited but constant
pressure on the allies. Against allied regular troops,
the enemy usually relied on ambushes, rocket and
mortar attacks, and occasional sapper assaults on bases
to inflict as much damage as possible with minimal
forces. During the year, these small-scale attacks were
made against Regional and Popular Force units in an
effort to disrupt the pacification program. To the same
end, the VC and NVA kept up a continuing campaign
of terrorism against civilians, ranging from kidnap-
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pings and assassinations of individual anti-
Communists to full-scale mortar and ground assaults
on pro-government hamlets. To further terrorize the
population, the enemy fired rockets into built-up
areas, concentrating on Da Nang where their inac-
curate missiles could inflict the most casualties and
damage.

Against both civilian and militaty targets, most
rocket, mortar, and sapper attacks came during peri-
odic offensive surges or “high points,” interspersed with
weeks of relative inactivity during which the enemy
repositioned troops and replenished supplies. High
points in 1970 occurred in January, April-May, and
August-October. At all times throughout the division’s
TAOR, the enemy’s mines and boobytraps took their
daily toll of Marine, ARVN, and civilian lives and
limbs.14

Small detachments of NVA and VC regulars mov-
ed continually throughont the 1st Marine Division’s
TAOR, enemy rocket and mortar teams positioned
themselves for attacks, and local VC planted mines and
boobytraps. While these combat actions were carried
on, replacements, medical units, and supply parties
upon whom depended the enemy’s elaborate and flex-
ible logistics system, operated continuously. Accord-
ing to allied estimates, about 90 percent of the enemy’s
arms and ammunition in Quang Nam Province, 30
percent of his food, and about 25 percent of his other
supplies in early 1970 were trucked down the Ho Chi
Minh Trail from North Vietnam and then moved by
porters into mountain base areas 20-30 miles south
and southwest of Da Nang. These base areas also har-
bored camps, training installations, and headquart-
ers. The rest of the enemy’s supplies, including most
of the food and the material for boobytraps, came from
the populated lowlands, where it was procured by the
VCI through purchase, contribution, or forced requi-
sition and then cached for movement to the base areas.

Within Quang Nam Province, most enemy supplies
travelled on the backs of porters. These porters were
members of transport battalions and sometimes regu-
lar frontline troops, reinforced when necessaty with
civilians conscripted in VC-controlled hamlets. They
customarily operated in teams of three to 10 persons
each carrying a 30- to 70-pound pack. Usually pro-
tected by armed escorts and moving by night or
through covering terrain, the supply parties often fol-
lowed rivers or streams in and out of the mountains.
The waterways also allowed them to move rockets and
other heavy equipment by sampan. The porter, mov-
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ing ahead of attacking units instead of behind them
as do the supply troops of conventional armies,
prepositioned ammunition and weapons for assaults
and collected cached rice and other stores for move-
ment back to their mountain bases. By the beginn-
ing of 1970, American and Vietnamese intelligence
agencies had traced most of the enemy’s principal in-
filtration routes, located the major base areas, and de-
veloped a detailed picture of the Communist supply
system. Many of the 1st Division’s operations during
the year were aimed at the disruption of that system.!5

The 1st Marine Division had to coordinate its oper-
ations continuously with South Vietnamese and
Korean forces. The four battalions of the Republic of
Korea 2d Marine Brigade, containing about 6,000
officers and men, were based at Hoi An, about 15
miles south-southeast of Da Nang. They defended a
roughly semi-circular TAOR which extended from the
South China Sea inland to a point just northeast of
the coastward end of the Que Son Range. Under their
special command relationship with MACYV, the
Koreans were supposed to receive “operational
guidance” but not ordets from III MAF and in fact
possessed almost complete autonomy within their
TAOR .18

Quang Nam contained substantial South Viet-
namese regular and territorial forces. The ARVN con-
tingent consisted of the four-battalion 51st Regiment,
a veteran unit highly regarded by American advisors;
the 1st Ranger Group of three battalions; the 1st Ar-
mored Brigade; the 17th Armored Cavalry Squadron;
and units of artillery and support troops. Civilian Ir-
regular Defense Groups (CIDG) based at Thuong Duc
deep in the mountains along the Song Thu Bon
blocked important enemy infiltration routes. Protect-
ing the populated areas wete 52 Regional Force com-
panies (now being organized into RF groups of four
to seven companies), 177 Popular Force platoons, and
3,000 men of the national police force.

At the beginning of 1970, the effectiveness of these
forces continued to be reduced by a complicated chain
of command. The 51st Regiment operated under
Quang Da Special Zone while the other ARVN regu-
lar formations in Quang Nam remained under direct
control of General Lam, the I Corps commander. Lam
occasionally placed one or more of them under QDSZ
for a particular operation. General Lam also command-
ed the CIDGs and through the province chief con-
trolled the RFs and PFs. Since the creation of QDSZ,
the commanderts and staffs of IIl MAF and the 1st Ma-
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tine Division had worked to build it into a full-fledged
tactical headquarters with a balanced combat force of
all arms under its permanent control, capable of
directing the defense of the province. Progress had
been slow, retarded by the labyrinthine complexities
of ARVN internal politics and by the Vietnamese
shortage of qualified divisional staff officers.”

In conformity with overall allied strategy, the ARVN
regulats in Quang Nam Province had as their primary
mission attacks on enemy main forces, base camps, and
lines of communication while the RF/PF and police
units concentrated on local defense and the eradica-
tion of the VC infrastructure. At the beginning of
1970, Marine commanders were discussing with
General Lam the deployment of the province’s ARVN
units, The Marines, anticipating the redeployment of
one of their own regiments, wanted the Vietnamese
troops to take charge of their own area of operations
within the 1st Marine Division’s TAOR, while Gener-
al Lam preferred to have each of his units share an area
of operations with one of the Marine regiments. Ear-
ly in March, the 51st Regiment established such a joint
TAOR with the Sth Marines, but the other ARVN
units continued to operate throughout the 1st Marine
Division area.!®

The 1st Marine Division deployed its own four in-
fantry regiments—the 1st, 5th, 7th, and 26th
Marines—in a series of concentric belts centering on
Da Nang. A reinforced artillery regiment, the 11th Ma-
rines, provided fire support for the infantty. The 1st
Reconnaissance Battalion and the 1st Tank Battalion
supplemented and reinforced the efforts of the infan-
try regiments, as did strong contingents of engineers,
transportation, and service troops.

With the division as its defensive shield, the city
of Da Nang, the airfield to the west of it, and Tien
Sha Peninsula and Marble Mountain Air Facility to
the east of it constituted the Da Nang Vital Area. This
area was not included in the 1st Marine Division’s
TAOR. Instead, III MAF in conjunction with South
Vietnamese authotities supervised its defense. The di-
vision’s responsibility began just outside the Da Nang
Vital Area with the Northern and Southern Sector
Defense Commands (NSDC and SSDC). These com-
mands consisted of vatious headquarters and support
units organized for mutual defense. Between them
they guarded Division Ridge, the high ground west
of the Da Nang Airbase.

Beyond the defense commands lay the Rocket Belt,
its main defensive purpose implicit in its name, guard-
ed by the 26th Marines with its battalions spread out
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Marines from Headquarters Battalion, 15t Marine Division patrol valley just three miles
west of Da Nang. The incongruity of war and peace is vividly demonstrated as the seem-
ingly unconcerned farmer employs both a crude plow and a water buffalo to work his plot.

north and west of Da Nang and the 1st Marines
deployed to the southwest, south, and southeast.
Southwest of the 1st Marines, the 5th Marines operat-
ed in a TAOR which encompassed the An Hoa Com-
bat Base and industrial area and the infiltration routes
along the Song Thu Bon and Song Vu Gia. Still fur-
ther south, the 7th Marines’ TAOR stretched from the
coastal plain westward to include the Que Son Moun-
tains and about half of the Que Son Valley. The
southern boundary of the 7th Marines’ TAOR also con-
stituted the boundary between the TAORs of the 1st
Marine Division and the Army’s Americal Division.!®

As part of the Keystone Bluejay redeployment, the
26th Marines stood down for deactivation during late
February and eartly March, and the division realigned
its regimental TAORs to fill the resulting gap. Eatly
in March, the 1st Marines extended its TAOR to the
northward and took over most of the 26th Marines’
portion of the Rocket Belt. At the same time, it turned
over the southwestern portion of its TAOR, including
Hills 37 and 55, to the 51st ARVN Regiment. The 5th
Marines redeployed its Ist Battalion to the SSDC to
assume the function of division reserve while continu-
ing to cover its TAOR with its remaining battalions.

The 7th Marines slightly enlarged the boundaries of
its existing TAOR. This deployment remained in ef-
fect throughout the first half of 197020

With the 3d Marine Division withdrawn from Viet-
nam, Marines no longer stood guard along the DMZ,
but the 1st Marine Division retained responsibility for
reinforcing northern I Corps with a regiment if a new
escalation of the war there required it. To meet this.
responsibility with the reduced forces left by Keystone
Bluejay, the division staff duting March and Aprtil
drafted Operation Plan 2-70. Under this plan, a rein-
forced regiment was to deploy to northern I CTZ wi-
thin 36 hours of the order being given. The 7th
Marines was to provide two infantry battalions and the
command group, leaving one battalion to protect a
reduced TAOR. The 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, in di-
vision reserve, less one company, would constitute the
third battalion of the regiment, which would have at-
tached to it an artillery battalion and companies of
engineers and other support troops. The plan charged
the responsible commands with being ready to move
one battalion northward within eight hours’ notice,
the second battalion with the command group within
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18 hours, and the third bartalion and the balance of
the fotce within 36 hours?2!

Operation Plan 2-70 never had to be executed, as
the war continued at low intensity throughout I CTZ
during the first six months of 1970. Month after
month, IIIl MAF summed up the 1st Division’s activi-
ties in the same words: “In Quang Nam Province, the
1st Marine Division emphasized secutity and pacifi-
cation operations. . . .'22

To deal with the varied and pervasive enemy ac-
tivities, Marine operations wete divided into three
categories. Category I focused on populated areas
where the VC and NVA had direct contact with the
populace, often on a daily basis. Hete cordon and
search operations were executed to seal the enemy in
the hamlets and villages where he conducted his bus-
iness, then to root him out and kill or capture him.
The activities of the Combined Action Program and
Combined Unit Pacification Program (CUPP)* were
also included in this category.

Category II covered small-unit day patrols and night
ambushes on the edges of the villages and hamlets.
In these operations, the Marines tried to engage and
destroy NVA/VC main force detachments maneuver-
ing in the lowlands or at least to sever the contact be-
tween these enemy forces and the guerrillas and
political cadres among the people. Category II includ-
ed reconnaissance in force operations of generally com-
pany scale designed to distupt enemy supply
movement and prevent the launching of sustained
rocket and mortar attacks. The largest percentage of
1st Marine Division activities fell into Category II.

Category III applied to multi-company and occa-
sionally multi-battalion operations against NVA and
VC main force units and their headquarters and bases.
These were not aimed at permanent occupation or
pacification, but instead sought to inflict casualties,
destroy or capture stores and equipment, and prevent
the enemy from reinforcing units operating in inhabit-
ed areas. Category III operations usually took place
in thinly populated mountain and jungle regions23

In each regiment’s TAOR, the size of combat ac-
tivities varied, with mostly fireteam and squad oper-
ations in the Rocket Belt and platoon-, company-, or
battalion-size maneuvets in the 5th and 7th Marines’
areas, which were closer to enemy bases. The daily rou-
tine of Categoty I and II activities was altered occa-
sionally by regiments and battalions to execute a

*For details on the CAP and CUPP programs, see Chapter 8.
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Category 11l operation. Petiodically, in response to in-
telligence forecasts of intensified enemy pressure, the
division would direct increased day and night activi-
ties, inspection and improvement of fortifications, and
often temporary reassignments or redeployments of
platoons, companies, or battalions to reinforce vital
areas. While the broad tactical features of the war were
similar throughout the division's TAOR, each regiment
conducted combat operations with relative in-
dependence, tailoring small-unit and larger scale
maneuvers to meet the vatying threat of local guer-
rillas, NVA, or VC main force units.

The Inner Defenses: Northern Sector Defense
Command and Southern Sector Defense Command

The Da Nang Vital Area extended south from the
city to the Cau Do River and to a point on the seashore
just below MAG-16's base at the Marble Mountain Air
Facility. On the west, the Vital Area’s border lay just
beyond the edge of the Da Nang airfield complex*
To the south, the Vital Area bordered the TAOR of
the 1st Marines, and on the west it adjoined the NSDC
and the SSDC.

Each of these sector defense commands coordinated
the secutity activities of the American units and in-
stallations and Vietnamese local forces within its
boundaries. Each was under the command of the
senior officer of a tenant American unit, who carried
out this assignment in addition to his regular duties.

Colonel Don D. Ezell, commanding officer of the
1st Marine Division’s artillery regiment, the 11th Ma-
rines, also commanded the NSDC, until 25 March,
when he was relieved by Colonel Ernest R. Reid, Jr.
The TAOR of the NSDC, a 35,000 grid square**
stretch of hills, scrub, and rice paddies, extended north
almost to the Cu De River and included the sand flats
of Red Beach where elements of the 9¢th MEB had
come ashore in 1965. In April 1970, NSDC included
17 Marine, Army, and Navy units and facilities, among
them the 1st Marine Division Command Post, the
Northern Artillery Cantonment, and Force Logistic
Command, along with 31 Vietnamese villages and
hamlets. Also among the tenant units tesponsible for
providing personnel to man the lines of NSDC was
Headquartets Battalion, 1st Marine Division. Colonel

*For details of the defense of the Da Nang Vital Area, see Chapter
14.

**A grid square is 1,000 meters square on a standard tactical map.
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Two Marines, part of a provisional rifle company from

the Force Logistic Command, search a stream eight
miles west of Da Nang for Viet Cong hiding places.

William C. Patton, who commanded the battalion
during the first few months of 1970, recalled the secu-
rity role of his command which numbered over 3,200
men:

The personnel of HQBN accomplished their normal work-
day requirements and then manned almost two miles of di-
vision perimeter at night. The band members, for example,
toured the division on a daily basis playing for troop ceremo-
nies and morale, and at night did an exceptional job of
perimeter security. Several were wounded during the peri-
od. The security for division headquarters was maintained
with no breaches of the lines during the period August 1969
to March 197024

The commander of NSDC supervised the main-
tenance and improvement of the fixed defenses of
NSDC units. Using personnel from the tenant organi-
zations, he sent out daily and nightly patrols and am-
bushes to find and eliminate enemy infiltrators who
worked their way past the 1st and 26th Marines. Troops
of each sector defense command regularly cooperated
with local Vietnamese forces in pacification activities
and in cordon and search operations which targeted
specific hamlets and villages. During March, a moder-
ately active month, NSDC units conducted 526 patrols
and ambushes, 361 of them at night. NSDC forces
reported nine enemy sightings, engaging the enemy
four times, while killing one and taking three
detainees*, and capturing two AK-47s25

*A person suspected of being a Viet Cong soldier or agent but
not yet positively identified as such.
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From its border with NSDC, the TAOR of the SSDC
extended south to the Cau Do River and lapped
around the western side of NSDC’s TAOR. Containing
the Hill 34 complex and two important highway
bridges, the Cobb Bridge and the Cau Do Bridge, the
SSDC covered the southern and southwestern ap-
proaches to Da Nang. In January 1970, the command-
ing officer of the 1st Tank Battalion, Major Joseph J.
Louder, commanded SSDC, using troops from his bat-
talion and from the 26th Marines as his principal
patrol and reaction forces.

Louder’s units conducted daily and nightly patrols
and ambushes, averaging between 1,300 and 1,400 per
month during early 1970. SSDC patrols had sporadic
contact with small groups of enemy, and occasional
larger clashes occurred. On the night of 3-4 January,
for example, Outpost Piranha, some one and one-half
miles south-southwest of the 1st Marine Division CP,
repelled an attack by seven grenade-throwing VC who
rushed the defenses under cover of mortar and rocket-
propelled grenade (RPG) fire. The Marines on the out-
post killed one of the attackers but had four of their
own men seriously wounded. To better meet such at-
tacks, in February Major Louder constituted a mobile
reaction force of 2 officers and 75 enlisted Marines
drawn from the 1st Tank Battalion and the 26th
Marines2é

When both the 1st Tank Battalion and the 26th Ma-
rines redeployed in Keystone Bluejay, the new divi-
sion reserve, the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, assumed
primary responsibility for the security of SSDC. To as-
sure a smooth turnover, Major Louder worked closely
with the 1st Battalion’s commander, Lieutenant
Colonel Cornelius E (*Doc”) Savage, Jt. On 28 Febru-
ary, Company C of Savage’s battalion, under opera-
tional control of the tank battalion, took over
perimeter defense of Hill 34. Company B joined Com-
pany C in sector defense during the first days of March,
and, after 3 March these two companies took over
patrolling responsibilities from the tank battalion.
Meanwhile, Lieutenant Colonel Savage and his S-3
visited all SSDC units with Major Louder. On 5 March,
as all but one company of the 1st Tank Battalion stood
down for redeployment, Savage’s battalion assumed
full responsibility for the SSDC. From that time
through the end of June, the battalion, with its CP
at Hill 34, kept two companies in rotation in the
northern and central sectors of the SSDC to block in-
filtration while two more platoons guarded the Cobb
and Cau Do Bridges?2?
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The 1st and 26th Marines: The Rocket Belt

Beyond the NSDC and the SSDC lay the Rocket
Belt, a block of territory roughly delimited by a semi-
circle with a 12,000 meter radius centered on the Da
Nang airfield. This area, its radius determined by the
range of the enemy’s 122mm and 140mm rockets, con-
tained most of the sites from which the NVA/VC could
launch rockets to harass American military forces and
further terrorize Vietnamese civilians in American oc-
cupied areas.

Since June 1968, the 1st Marine Division, at the
direction of Il MAF, had been building a physical bar-
tier along the outer edges of the Rocket Belt. Called
the Da Nang Barrier and later the Da Nang Anti-
Infiltration System (DAIS), the project would, when
completed, consist of a cleared belt of land 500 meters
wide running the entire length of the Rocket Belt. Wi-
thin the cleared strip, two parallel barbed wire fences,
wite entanglements, and minefields wete designed to
halt or at least delay infiltrators. An elaborate array
of sensors and observation devices (many of them
leftovers from the ill-fated “McNamara Line” along the
DMZ), installed in or just behind the batrier, would
alert allied troops and artillery to counter enemy
probes. Under a plan prepared by General Simpson
in March 1969, the barrier would be guarded by fire
of Marine rifle companies and a supporting artillery
group of two 105mm howitzer batteries, the entire
force under direct operational control of the Ist Ma-
rine Division. According to General Simpson’s esti-
mate, the system would ultimately require no more
than 1,800 Marines to keep the enemy out of the Rock-
et Belt, freeing about 5,000 Marines for offensive
operations28

In January 1970, the DAIS existed largely on paper.
Marine, ARVN, and Korean engineers had cleared
most of the land, erected the barbed wire fences and
23 wooden watchtowers, and laid a few minefields. Un-
fortunately, divided responsibility, adverse weather and
terrain (much of the barrier ran at right angles to the
natural drainage system of the Da Nang area, caus-
ing washouts during the monsoon season), and lack
of manpower and materials had prevented completion
of the system. Most of the sensors had never been em-
placed, and the forces to monitor them and guard the
barrier had not been assembled or positioned. Those
portions of the system that had been built were now
deteriorating. Brush, in places up to 18 feet high, had
covered parts of the cleared strip, and both VC infiltra-
tots and civilian farmers bound for their rice paddies
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had cut passages through the unguarded wire. At the
end of his tour in command of the 26th Marines in
mid-December 1969, Colonel Ralph A. Heywood said:
“The wire that was constructed on both sides of the
barrier . . . [has] been breached in a thousand places.
This is going to take —a conservative estimate would
take —about 200 people one month given the neces-
sary equipment to get that wire back in shape.”2¢

The worth of the DAIS was the subject of much de-
bate within the Ist Marine Division in 1970. Lieu-
tenant Colonel Pieter L. Hogaboom, then operations
officer of the 26th Marines, said that the officers and
men of the 26th Marines from the regimental com-
mander (Colonel James E. Harrell) on down lacked
any enthusiasm for the efficacy of the system.
Nevertheless, they tried to make it work. Their efforts
fell into two areas, said Hogaboom, “an attempt to
evaluate the reliability of the sensor readings as indi-
cators of enemy activity, and an attempt to improve
tactical response to the readings, assuming that they
actually indicated movement across or along the trace
of the DAIS”

To test and improve the system, Hogaboom said that
the regiment “even went to the extent of having fire
teams, squads and entire platoons from Captain
George [V.] Best’s [J1.] Company G crawl, walk, and
run across and along the line of sensors, only to get
readings that were inconsistent with the size and rela-
tive stealth or activity of the the crossing unit . . . .
At other times units got readings “from points on the
trace that were under observation in good visibility
conditions,” where monitoring units were pretty cet-
tain there wasn’t any activity. 26th Marines conclud-
ed that at best the sensors were right only part of the
time.

“To improve response time,” explained Hogaboom,
“26th Marines saturated both sides of the trace of the
DAIS with patrols and ambushes and covered as much
of the trace as possible with direct fite weapons. Crews
prepared range cards for their segments of the trace,
using sensot locations as targets.” To increase the pos-
sibility of making contact with the enemy “patrols,
primarily of fire team and squad size, were routed to
cover points on the trace of sensots with a history of
frequent activations. The patrols were in contact with
readout stations in the company CPs . . . and were
tasked to tespond to activations.”

Direct fire weapons, including M60 and .50 caliber
machine guns, 106mm recoilless rifles, and tank main
guns, were brought to bear on targeted sections of the
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DAIS when readout stations radioed sensor numbers
to gun crews. “For the 106s and main guns, fleshette
rounds with fuses cut in advance for each target on
a specific range card . . . were used. Claymores were
employed to augment direct fire weapons.” Incorporat-
ing live fire training into these elaborate procedures,
the response time between sensor activation and get-
ting well-aimed fire on target was compressed to a few
seconds, but as the 26th Marines’ operations officer
observed, “Rarely was the enemy, his remains, or his
equipment found.”30

Because of the inadequacies of the DAIS, protec-
tion of the Rocket Belt continued to require the con-
stant efforts of large numbers of Marine infantrymen,
and in January 1970 the 1st and 26th Marines shared
this task. The 26th Marines, under Colonel Harrell,
Heywood’s rteplacement, already designated for
Keystone Bluejay redeployment, held the notthern
half of the Rocket Belt and guarded Hai Van Pass,
through which Route 1, South Vietnam’s only north-
south highway, and the railroad parallelling it run to
connect Da Nang with Hue. The regiment’s 2d Bat-
talion, in the northernmost TAOR of the Division, had
companies positioned at the Lien Chieu Esso Depot,
Hai Van Pass, and Lang Co Bridge and Hill 88 north
of the pass. The Marines of this battalion operated
mostly in the steep, jungled mountains and left close-
in protection of the road and railroad largely to the
Vietnamese RFs.
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Next in line to the south and southwest of the 2d
Battalion, 26th Marines, the companies of the 3d Bat-
talion protected Nam O Bridge, where Route 1 cross-
es the Cu De River, and held positions on Hills 190
and 124 and Outpost Reno. From these points, they
could observe and block enemy infiltration routes
along the Cu De, through the villages and rice pad-
dies just south of it, and in the rolling, brush-covered
country still further south. The 1st Battalion, 26th Ma-
rines, with its CP on Hill 10 southwest of Da Nang,
patrolled a TAOR of rice paddies, hamlets, and patches
of woods that lay directly below Charlie Ridge, a hill
mass that projected from the Annamite Mountains
and constituted a much-used enemy harboring place
close to Da Nang3!

Throughout January and Februaty, each battalion
conducted patrols and ambushes around-the-clock.
Marines of the battalions also manned observation
posts and sensor readout stations and launched occa-
sional company-size reconnaissance in force operations
along known infiltration routes or cooperated with
Regional and Popular Forces to cordon and search vil-
lages. In January, for example, the 1st Battalion, 26th
Marines, conducted 2 company operations, 26 platoon
combat patrols, and 180 squad combat patrols. Ma-
rines of the battalion set up 61 listening and observa-
tion posts and 338 night ambushes32

South and east of the 26th Marines, the battalions
of Colonel Hetbert L. Wilkerson’s 1st Marines, which

Enemy 122mm rockets uncovered by the 2d Battalion, 15t Marines after an attack on
the Da Nang Airbase are lined up for display. Members of a Marine engineer demolition
team seen in the background were assigned the dangerous task of disarming the rockets.
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Men of the 2d Battalion, 26th Marines rush to board a waiting CH-46 from Marine Med;-
um Helicopter Squadron 364. Responsible for the protection of the northern half of the
Da Nang Rocket Belt, the Marines are responding to a possible enemy sighting.

had its headquarters at Hill 55, controlled the por-
tion of the Rocket Belt extending from the foot of
Charlie Ridge to the coastal flats south of Marble
Mountain. This area of operations contained a larger
civilian population than did that of the 26th Marines,
and in its villages and hamlets the Marines had learned
some of their first hard lessons about the difficulties
of pacification. The countryside was infested with lo-
cal guerrillas, as well as with small groups of main force
VC/NVA.

Adjacent to the TAOR of the 1st Battalion, 26th Ma-
rines, the 3d Battalion, 1st Marines, operated from
Hills 22 and 37 in an atea of flooded paddies and scat-
tered treelines to cover its portion of the Rocket Belt,
defend several important bridges, and halt infiltration
eastward from Charlie Ridge and northward from ene-
my refuges in the heavily populated country south of
the Cau Do River. The battalion had one company
on CUPP duty and during January had temporary
operational control of Company G from the 2d Bat-
talion to cover the base of Charlie Ridge. Further to

the east, the 1st Bactalion protected another segment
of the Rocket Belt, helped guard the railroad and high-
way bridges over the Cau Do, and acted as regimen-
tal mobile reserve. Guarding from the Rocket Belt to
the beaches of the South China Sea, the 2d Battalion
contested the coastal infiltration routes to Marble
Mountain. During January and most of February, the
2d Battalion, 7th Marines took over the southern por-
tion of the battalion’s TAOR to reinforce the area
against an expected enemy Tet offensive.

The 1st Marines saturated its TAOR with fire team
and squad-size patrols and ambushes just like 26¢th
Marines did. With Vietnamese RFs and PFs and police,
they cordoned and searched villages for guerrillas and
conducted occasional company-size sweeps. During
Januaty, the 2d Battalion cooperated with the Korean
Marines to the south to support a land-clearing oper-
ation. In this heavily populated region, with its many
VC and VC sympathizers, mines and boobytraps cons-
tantly plagued the Matines, causing casualties almost
daily. During two months of operations around Hills
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22 and 37, for instance, Marines of the 3d Battalion
found 99 boobytraps and detonated 22. In contrast,
after they moved north into the former 26th Marines
TAOR in March, in four months they found only eight
boobytraps and set off none33

In January, to supplement the usual ground patrols
and ambushes, both the 1st and 26th Marines partic-
ipated in a new system of heliborne combat patrols
codenamed Kingfisher* This was the latest variant in
a long series of quick-reaction heliborne assaults which
the Marines had experimented with since 1965. King-
fisher differed from eatlier efforts since it was an offen-
sive patrol, intended to seek out the enemy and initiate
contact rather than exploit engagements begun by
ground units. As Colonel Wilkerson put it, “This is
an offensive weapon that goes out and hunt[s] them
... . They actually invite trouble3

The ground component of the Kingfisher patrol was
a reinforced rifle platoon embartked on board three
Boeing CH-46D Sea Knight helicoptets. Accompanied
by four Bell UH-1G Huey Cobra gunships, a Notth
American OV-10 Bronco catrying an aerial observer,
and with fixed-wing air support on call, the Marines
would patrol the regimental TAOR by air. Usually air-
borne at first light, when night activities were ending
and daytime patrols were preparing to depart, the
Kingfisher patrol would search the area of operation
for signs of the enemy. The platoon would be landed
if the enemy were sighted o if an atea bore some signs
of enemy presence. When contact was made, the
Cobras would provide close air supportt and the aerial
obsetver would call in fixed-wing air strikes and ar-
tillery fire if necessary. While one platoon flew the
day’s mission, the rest of the Kingfisher company was
equipped and ready to move by air to reinforce it,
often with extra ammunition placed on the landing
pad for quick loading. When the Kingfisher platoon
was inserted, the CH-46s would immediately return
to the company area, pick up a second platoon, and
take off to assist the first platoon or exploit a new
contact3s

Kingfisher operations required careful coordination.
In the 1st Marines, for example, the company assigned
to Kingfisher came under direct operational control
of the regiment. Each patrol flight included a UH-1E

*On 26 December 1969, the 1st Marines conducted its first King-
fisher patrol of the regimental TAOR. The platoon was landed on
a target in the Ngan Cau area but no contact was made. A debrief
was conducted and notes were taken on lessons learned in prepara-
tion for future patrols which began in January 1970.
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Huey command helicopter. This aircraft carried the
company commander, a regimental staff officer in ra-
dio contact with the 1st Marines’ CP, and the air com-
mander. These officers together would decide when
and where to land the troops. Once the platoon was
on the ground, the company commander, who re-
mained aloft, directed its movements. Each time a
Kingfisher patrol went out, regimental headquarters
informed the battalions of the areas within their
TAORSs that were likely to be investigated, so that the
battalions’ own patrols could avoid them. The regi-
ment also informed the artillery, which would then
suspend all fire at those coordinates unless called upon
to support the Kingfisher platoon3é

While both the 1st and 26th Marines flew King-
fisher patrols, the first and most spectacularly success-
ful use of the tactic was made by the 1st Marines. Late
in December 1969, First Lieutenant William R. Pur-
dy received orders to prepare his Company A of Lieu-
tenant Colonel Godfrey S. Delcuze’s Ist Battalion, 1st
Marines, for “a special mission . . . doing something
entirely different from the normal day-to-day walk-
ing through rice paddies, seeing no enemy,” and hit-
ting boobytraps, an activity to which they had grown
too accustomed. The new mission was Kingfisher,
Lieutenant Purdy carefully prepared his Marines. He
refreshed their training in squad and platoon assault
tactics, including squad and fire team rushes, which
few of the men had employed since coming to Viet-
nam. He also drilled them in quick loading and un-
loading from helicopters, first with chalk outlines of
the CH-46D on the company’s landing pad and then
at Marble Mountain with actual CH-46Ds of Lieu-
tenant Colonel Walter R. Ledbetter, Jr’s HMM-263,
which would furnish the air transport3?

Company A ran its first Kingfisher on 2 January.
Its assault platoon landed twice, encounteting no ene-
my while experiencing problems with communications
and coordination which it and the helicopter crews
quickly solved. Lieutenant Purdy also learned anew
that terrain seen from the air often was not what it
appeared to be. “On our first landing,” he recalled,
“we landed in what we thought was a large green field;
it turned out to be a large green rice paddy with water
up to waist deep.”38

The company launched its second Kingfisher on 6
January. About 0730, five miles or so south of Marble
Mountain in a flat, sandy portion of the 2d Battalion’s
TAOR, the airborne patrol saw some men sitting next
to a hut. The smoke that was also observed turned out
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to be from cooking fires. The men reacted with ap-
prehension when the Huey in which Lieutenant Pur-
dy was riding came down for a closer look. After
talking the situation over, Purdy and the air com-
mander, Lieutenant Colonel Kermit W. Andrus, S-3
of MAG-16, decided to land the platoon and check
the suspects’ identities.

As the three CH-46Ds came into the hastily mark-
ed landing zone, a heavy volume of small arms fire
from the ground removed all questions about who the
men were. In fact, the Marines were landing almost
in the middle of a sizeable group of armed VC. As
Corporal James D. Dalton, a squad leader, put it, “We
dropped right down in on 'em —actually we dropped
right down on their breakfast table.”3® The VC seemed
to be completely surprised, the platoon commander
observed:

.. . We landed right directly on top of people, and . . .
they were running right beside the windows of the chop-
pers, and we got a couple of kills right out of the choppers.
We were almost within distance to bayonet them as they
were running along the windows of the chopperss®

Under fire which damaged the hydraulic system of
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the CH-46D piloted by Lieutenant Colonel Ledbet-
ter, the Marines, benefiting from their many rehear-
sals, deplaned, quickly organized, and attacked by fire
team and squad rushes. Caught completely off
balance, the VC began running in all directions. They
had strong defenses against a conventional ground at-
tack, but in the words of one Marine “we had dropped
inside their perimeter, and they were having to sky
[flee] and we were fighting from their positions, ev-
ety berm we came to all we had to do was drop our
rifles on it and start firing.’4! As they scattered across
the flats to escape the infantry’s grenade and rifle as-
sault, the VC came under fire from the Cobra gun-
ships which, as Corporal Dalton put it, “were tearing
them up.’42 When the fight ended about 0855, Com-
pany A had counted 15 enemy killed by its own and
the Cobras’ fire, and the Cobra crews claimed nine
more in an area that the infantry did not sweep be-
cause of enemy mine and boobytrap markers. The Ma-
rines, who had suffered no casualties, also took one
prisoner and captured 2 weapons, 17 grenades, and
assorted documents and equipment.*3

By mid-February, the 1st Battalion, 1st Marines, had

Infantrymen of Company A, 15t Battalion, 1st Marines are seen watting for a helicopter
to pick them up. The Marines are taking part in the Kingfisher operations, which began
in January 1970 as heliborne combat patrols to seck out dispersed enemy units.
Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A372554
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launched 18 Kingfisher patrols, 13 by Company A and
5 by Company D. The first three or four Kingfishers
produced contacts comparable to that of 6 January,
but as ttme went on the patrols found fewer and few-
er targets. The same proved true of the 26th Marines’
Kingfishers. Evidently the enemy, after suffering heav-
ily a few times, had reduced his early morning move-
ment and learned to take cover at the sight of
helicopters aloft at that time of day. Kingfishers, other
than at first light, proved ineffective because the num-
ber of civilians in the fields prevented ready identifi-
cation of and rapid attack upon enemy groups.
Nevertheless, Lieutenant Colonel Delcuze, Lieutenant
Purdy, and most other officers and men involved in
Kingfisher believed it a valuable tactic, especially
against the small enemy detachments that operated
in the Rocket Belt. Kingfisher had demonstrated that
it could inflict significant enemy losses, and even
patrols that found no contact reduced the VC's free-
dom of movement and produced useful intelligence 44

While the Kingfisher concept enjoyed much suc-
cess in the early months of 1970, Lieutenant Colonel
William V. H. White, commanding officer of 2d Bat-
talion, 1st Marines, said that too much emphasis was
placed on the Kingfisher operation. He felt that since
it tied up a dedicated rifle company, which could have
been used more constructively, Kingfisher “should
have been dropped much sooner than it was or con-
ducted periodically from within one of the battalion
combat bases.” He said it was an excellent tactical in-
novation, but the enemy quickly diagnosed the con-
cept of employment and adjusted his activities
accordingly:s

In mid-February the 1st Marines began the complex
process of relieving the 26th Marines so that the lat-
ter could stand down from combat for redeployment
and deactivation. The operation began on 15 Febru-
ary when the companies of the 2d Battalion, 26th Ma-
rines, stationed at Hill 88 and Lang Co Bridge,
returned to the battalion rear area on Division Ridge.
Elements of the Army’s 101st Airborne Division as-
sumed control of that part of the Marines’ area of oper-
ations. On 1 March, the 3d Battalion, 1st Marines,
temporarily under the operational control of the 26th
Marines, relieved the 3d Battalion and elements of the
2d Bartalion, 26th Marines in their arc of positions
ranging from Outpost Reno in the south to the Esso
Depot and Hai Van Pass in the north. On 6 March,
the 1st Battalion, 1st Marines, extended itself to cover
the TAOR of the 1st Battalion, 26th Marines, includ-
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ing Hills 10 and 41 and the outpost on Hill 270. Mean-
while, the 1st Marines gave up much of the far
southwestern portion of its old TAOR, turning over
security of the Cau Do Bridge to the 1st Battalion,
5th Marines, and its former headquarters cantonment
on Hill 55 to the 51st ARVN Regiment*®

The replacement of elements of one regiment with
elements of another without major interruption of the
continuous combat operations needed to protect the
Rocket Belt required careful planning and coordina-
tion at both regimental and battalion levels. An ex-
ample of this process was the relief of the 3d Battalion,
26th Marines, by the 3d Battalion, 1st Marines. Plan-
ning began on 10 February with an orientation visit
by Lieutenant Colonel Frank M. Boyd, commanding
officer of the 1st Marines battalion, to Lieutenant
Colonel John J. Unterkofler of the 26th Marines unit.
The visit included a tour of the departing battalion'’s
fixed positions. Three days later, the executive officers
of the two battalions together surveyed the positions
and began detailed planning of the relief. On 21
February, the §-3 of Boyd’s battalion arrived with an
advance party of 46 Marines, some of whom began
familtarizing themselves with defenses and terrain
while others went for an orientation to the sensor
readout sites on Nam O Bridge, Hill 190, and OP
Reno. Key staff officers of the relieving battalion es-
tablished themselves during the same period at Un-
terkofler’'s CP and began a round of visits to the
Vietnamese district headquarters in the TAOR. Begin-
ning on 24 February, staff officers of the two batral-
tons held daily meetings to hammer out final
arangements, while the Headquarters and Service
Company of the 26th Marines battalion prepared to
move that unit's CP and redeploying personnel to the
1st Shore Party Battalion camp. That movement took
place during the last two days of February. On 1 March,
riflemen of the 3d Battalion, 1st Marines occupied
their new forward positions without incident and
quickly resumed the routine of patrols and am-
bushes*?

As the 26th Marines stood down, its battalions
transferred most of their men to other units of the 1st
Marine Division. Many Marines of the 3d battalion,
for example, went by truck or helicopter to units of
the 1st Marines the day the battalion was relieved. The
26th Marines conducted its last combat patrol in Viet-
nam on 6 March. On 18 March, after almost two weeks
spent tying up administrative and logistic loose ends,
representatives of the regiment, which had arrived in
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Vietnam in 1967 and received a Presidential Unit Ci-
tation for its defense of Khe Sanh in 1968, participat-
ed in a farewell ceremony at Da Nang airfield. The
following day, 350 remaining personnel, including
Colonel Harrell with the regimental colors, boarded
aircraft for the flight to El Toto, where they were wel-
comed home by the Commandant of the Marine
Corps, General Leonard F. Chapman, Jr28

The departure of the 26th Marines left the 1st Ma-
rines in charge of the entire Rocket Belt, an area of
about 534 square kilometers. The 1st Marines moved
its headquarters from Hill 55 to Camp Perdue behind
Division Ridge near the center of its enlarged TAOR.
The regiment had undergone a change of command
in Februaty, when Colonel Edward A. Wilcox, who
had served in Korea with the 7th Marines and had just
completed a tour as G-2 on the staff of the 1st Ma-
tine Division, replaced Colonel Wilkerson. Wilkerson
joined the staff of III MAF as Deputy Assistant Chief
of Staff, G-3.

After the redeployment, the 3d Battalion, 1st Ma-
rines held the northern portion of the arc around Da
Nang, with one company on CUPP duty and the
others on Hill 190, at the Esso Depot, and at Nam
O Bridge. The battalion stationed a reinforced pla-
toon at the top of Hai Van Pass. The 1st Battalion held
the central sectot from Outpost Reno — taken over from
the 3d Battalion on 28 March—to a boundary line
southeast of Hill 41. The eastern TAOR, now nearly
doubled in area, remained the responsibility of the
2d Battalion. These dispositions would continue un-
changed for the rest of the year.

The 1st Marines kept tight security of the Rocket
Belt, conducting patrols and ambushes and manning
lines 24 houts a day. Companies protected command
posts, firebases, cantonments, bridges, and observa-
tion posts; patrols probed infiltration routes and
potential rocket launching sites; and ambushes were
set in during the hours of darkness. Battalions occa-
sionally rotated company positions within their
TAORs, conducted company-size sweeps, or cordon-
ed off hamlets for searches by PFs and police. High
threat periods brought shifts of companies between
batralions to strengthen key positions and increased
numbers of night patrols and ambushes?

At times, battalions varied their tactics. In June, for
instance, the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines, operating in
heavily boobytrapped countty, reduced the number
of its daytime patrols and instead began setting up
observation posts at strategic points manned by rifle
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squads and sniper teams. According to the battalion’s
report, “This change not only increased cognizance of
many densely vegetated areas but also decreased the
number of Marine boobytrap casualties.”*50

In brief fire fights, the Marines inflicted losses on
small enemy units infiltrating the populated areas and
the VC’s political and administrative cadre. On 10
February, for example, a patrol from Company E, 2d
Battalion, 1st Marines, on its way to a night ambush
site about three miles south of Marble Mountain, col-
lided unexpectedly with a “large . . . VC/NVA force”
The point man, Corporal Ronald J. Schiattone, im-
mediately opened fire and the rest of the unit
deployed and attacked. A short fire fight followed,
with the enemy trying to break contact while another
patrol from Company E moved into blocking posi-
tions. The firing died down, and a sweep of the area
disclosed four VC/NVA bodies, three AK-47 assault
tifles, three M16s, and assorted other weapons and
equipment. Drag marks and blood trails indicated that
the enemy had suffered more casualties than they had
left behind 5!

A few weeks later, a squad from Company K, 3d
Battalion, 1st Marines, while patrolling in brushwood
country west of Da Nang, “heard movement in thick
vegetation and assaulted with grenades and small arms
fire” Searching the area, they found a dead enemy
with a pistol, grenades, medical gear, rice, and docu-
ments. When translated, the documents identified the
dead man as a VC district paymaster52

Not all patrol encounters were with the enemy, as
a squad of Company B of the 1st Battalion found out.
Returning from a patrol west of Hill 10 on the morn-
ing of 23 March, the Marines came upon three bull
water buffaloes attended by a Vietnamese child. Some-
thing about the Marines irritated the animals and, in
the words of the battalion spot report:

All 3 bulls started to charge the point man at a slow pace.

VN child was able to retain 2 of the bulls and the 3td bull
kept charging the squad. Sqd leader gave ordets to back up

*The tactics that were employed to best control activity in areas
of operation often varied based on the judgments of commanders.
Colonel William V. H. White, who as a lieutenant colonel com-
manded the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines from January to May 1970,
challenged the view that increased cognizance could be maintained
over the battalion’s TAOR from strategically placed observation posts.
In his opinion the size and nature of the tetrain and the thousands
of people in it—civilians, VC, RFs, PFs, ARVNs—made it neces-
sary to get out among them to know what was going on.” Col Wil-
liam V. H. White, Comments on draft ms, 6Jul83 (Vietnam
Comment File).
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Marines from Company A, 1st Battalion, 15t Marines emerge from a heavy-lift CH-53
helicopter in a search and destroy mission in a long-time enemy base area known to the
Marines as Charlie Ridge, located 12 miles southwest of the Da Nang Airbase.

and not shoot unless necessary. Bull kept charging and was
shot 4 times by a member of the squad. Checked bull out
and [it] was found dead. Brought VN child in charge of bull
in. S-5 [civic action officer] will fill out reports on the inci-
dent and file VN request for payment53

In the many small, violent clashes with the enemy,
the young Matines often demonstrated exceptional
valor. On 11 April, for instance, a squad of Company
E, 2d Battalion, st Marines, was teturning from a
night ambush about four miles south of Da Nang
when it spotted two enemy soldiers carrying an RPG
rocket launcher. The Marines fired at them, killing one
who fell into a flooded rice paddy. His companion
dived into the water and hid in the reeds and brush
while the Marines threw grenades into the paddy to
flush him out. Lance Corporal Emilio A. De la Gar-
za, Jr., a 20-year-old machine gunner from East Chica-
go, Indiana, who had enlisted in 1969 and transferred
into the battalion from Marine Corps Exchange duty
in Da Nang only the previous December, spotted the
fugitive. With the aid of his platoon commander and
another Marine, De la Garza started to drag the strug-
gling soldier from the paddy. The enemy soldier
reached for a grenade and pulled the pin. De la Gar-
za saw the movement and shouted a warning. He
pushed the platoon leader and the other Marine aside

and himself took the full force of the explosion, suffer-
ing mortal wounds. The second VC/NVA was killed
and the RPG launcher with two rounds was captured.
Lance Corporal De la Garza, the only Marine casual-
ty, received a posthumous Medal of Honor®4

The 1st Marines launched an occasional Category
I1I operation. Typical of these and relatively success-
ful was the reconnaissance in force on Charlie Ridge
conducted by the 1st Battalion, now commanded by
Lieutenant Colonel Charles G. Little, from 15 to 27
April. The operation took place in conjunction with
the 51st ARVN’s Operation Hung Quang 1/32, a two-
battalion sweep in an adjacent area, and was based
on intelligence reports which located the headquart-
ets of the Q-842h Main Force Battalion and other sig-
nificant enemy units in the jungled hills and ravines
of the Charlie Ridge area.

Charlie Ridge was the name given by allied forces
to a complex of brush-covered foothills and jungle-
blanketed mountains which overlooked the coastal
plain some 12-15 miles southwest of Da Nang. Its large
area, rough and broken terrain, and thick vegetation
made Charlie Ridge an ideal enemy base camp loca-
tion, and from it infiltratots could easily enter popu-
lated areas to the northeast, east, and south or move
to convenient rocket launching sites. Since Operation
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Oklahoma Hills in early 1969, major allied units had
left Charlie Ridge alone except for air strikes, artillery
harrassment and interdiction, and the insertion of
reconnaissance teams which confirmed continued
heavy enemy use of the area. The NVA and VC had
honeycombed the hills with headquarters, supply
caches, and base camps protected by bunkers, tunnels,
and natural caves. In fact, they had developed a sut-
plus of camps so that if Marine or ARVN units invad-
ed one base complex, the enemy easily could move
his men and materiel to another. In the words of a
defector:

The people in the base camp do not worry about allied oper-
ations. Forewarning of an attack is obvious at the base camp
when FWMAF [Free World Military Armed Forces] conduct
air strikes, artillery fire, aerial reconnaissance, and when
helicopters fly in the area. When an operation takes place
in the vicinity of the base camp, the people simply go fur-
ther back into the mountains and return when the opera-
tion is overss

The 3d Battalion, 5th Marines, which normally
operated along the Vu Gia River just south of Charlie
Ridge, had conducted a multi-company reconnaissance
in force there in February with meager results. Now
Little’s battalion, aided by a Hoi Chanh* who
promised to lead them to the base camp of the
Q-84th, would test the enemy’s defenses again.

The operation began on 14 April when Company
C accompanied by the Hoi Chanh left Hill 41 and
marched westward into the hills along a known VC
trail. Two days later, a provisional battery of four
4.2-inch mortars drawn from the 1st and 2d Battal-
ions of the 11th Marines, with a security detachment
from Company C, landed by helicopter on Hill 502,
about 14 miles southwest of Da Nang and established
Fire Support Base Crawford. On 17 April, three
companies—A and B of the 1st Battalion, Sth Marines
and L of the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines (temporarily
attached to the 1st Battalion for this operation) —were
lifted by helicoptets into three separate landing zones
south and west of the firebase. The Marines began a
careful meter-by-meter search of previously assigned
areas for base camps and supply caches**

*A VC who voluntarily surrendered and agreed to aid the GVN,
actively or passively. The enemy were encouraged to surrender un-
der the “Chieu Hoi” program. English translation is “Open Arms.”
The program guaranteed enemy soldiers fair treatment and a place
in South Vietnamese society.

**QOn the 18th, while observing the opening phases of this oper-
ation, General Wheeler was injured in the crash of his helicopter
in one of the 1st Battalion’s LZs.
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As the Marines had expected, the enemy chose not
to fight for the area. Although they took several casual-
ties from booby traps, the patrols met only light op-
position from snipers and two- or three-man groups
of enemy soldiers. The enemy mortared Company B’s
CP on the night of the 18th with no effect and four
days later made a ground probe of Company A’s night
position. This ended after an exchange of grenades
with no casualties on either side. Company C joined
the main body around noon on the 22d, after a march
during which it caught and killed several individual
VC/NVA.

Soon after landing, the Marine patrols began un-
covering the bunkers, huts, tunnels, and weapon
caches of several extensive base camps, including one
which the Hoi Chanh claimed was the headquarters
of the Q-84th Battalion. On 24 Aptil, a patrol of Com-
pany B, following an enemy communications wire un-
earthed the previous day, walked into the largest camp
yet uncovered in the operation and came under fire
from about 30 NVA, evidently the rear guard of a size-
able force trying to evade the Marines. The rest of the
company teinforced the patrol and assaulted the camp.
One Marine was killed as were two NVA, one of whom
was identified from papets on his body as the execu-
tive officer of the 1024 Battalion, 31st NVA Regiment.

After the fight on the 24th, the operation continued
without major incident. On 27 April, the infantry
companies left the area by helicopter, and the follow-
ing day the mottar detachment razed and abandoned
FSB Crawford. During the operation, the 1st Battal-
ion had uncovered 10 base camp sites with large quan-
tities of equipment, including 91 individual and 17
crew-served weapons. It had also found significant
caches of documents, including a file from the ene-
my's Hoa Vang District Headgquarters which contained
lists of members of the VC infrastructure in that dis-
trict. In 11 contacts with an estimated total of 48 VC
and NVA, the Marines had killed 13 while losing two
of their own men killed and five wounded, mostly by
boobytraps. They had been unable to exploit fully
their potentially most significant discovery, the base
camp entered by Company B on the 24th, because it
lay within the AO of the 51st ARVN Regiment. This
frustration was experienced all too often in this com-
plex war with its delicate problems of command and
control of allied but independent forces5®

Each battalion of the 1st Marines regularly called
on the fixed-wing and helicoptet squadrons of the 1st
Marine Aircraft Wing for the full range of support
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available to a Marine unit. During April 1970, for ex-
ample, Marine fixed-wing squadrons flew 71 missions
at request of the 3d Battalion, including 16 close air
support strikes. Attack aircraft supporting the battal-
ton expended 197 tons of bombs and napalm during
the month. Helicopters of MAG-16 flew 26 medical
evacuations for the battalion and 21 visual reconnais-
sance missions, besides transporting a total of 526 pas-
sengers5? The other battalions called for comparable
quantities of air support, although the 2d Battalion,
operating in a densely populated TAOR, requested few
fixed-wing strikes. Instead, during April, it began us-
ing a night helicopter patrol, codenamed Night Hawk,
which performed a function similar to the daytime
Kingfisher. Consisting of a CH-46D equipped with
a night observation device and two .50-caliber machine
guns and accompanied by two Cobras, the Night
Hawk patrolled the TAOR during the hours of dark-
ness hunting targets of opportunity. Unlike Kingfisher
the Night Hawk did not include air assault infantry58

The 1st Battalion, 11th Marines, provided direct ar-
tillery support for the 1st Marines, with one or mote
batteries usually assigned in direct support of each bat-
talion. When necessaty, other Marine batteries could
add their fire, as could warships stationed off the coast.
Since the enemy in the 1st Marines’ TAOR rarely
massed in large groups or maintained contact with the
Marines for any length of time, the batteries support-
ing the regiment delivered mostly harassing and in-
terdiction fire or shelled pre-selected and pre-cleared
grids in response to sensor activations or sighting
reports from observation posts. The 3d Battalion, 1st
Marines whose TAOR consisted mostly of unpopulat-
ed mountains and foothills, made the most use of at-
tillery. In April, for instance, artillery supporting this
battalion fired 15,914 rounds at harassing and intet-
diction targets. In addition, naval gunfire provided
2,440 supporting rounds. The 2d Battalion, on the
other hand, could use artillery in only a few portions
of its heavily populated TAOR 5°

For the artillery batteries supporting the 1st Marines,
and indeed for the regiment itself, a primary mission
was the prevention of or quick reaction to VC/NVA
rocket attacks on Da Nang. Since 1967, when the rock-
et attacks began, the Martines had gradually developed
a system of prevention and response in which infan-
try and artillery worked in close coordination and
mutual support. To prevent launchings, the regiments
guarding the Rocket Belt saturated it with patrols and

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

ambushes; most of the day and night small-unit ac-
tivities of the 1st and 26th Marines had this as a major
objective. The infantty manned or furnished security
for observation posts which tried to spot infiltrators
coming into the area or, failing that, the flashes of
rockets being fired. By carefully plotting the sites of
past firings, the Marines had pinpointed many of the
enemy’s most likely launching positions. They inter-
dicted these each night, either by infantry patrols or
by artillery bombardment, sometimes using both
against the same artea at different times. In the words
of Colonel Ralph A. Heywood, Colonel Harrell's
predecessor in command of the 26th Marines:

We protected the Rocket Belt with artillery. We fired
... some 1100 to 2100 rounds a night, at known . . . rocket
launching sites, and every time we'd get a piece of intelli-
gence that would tell us that 100 people are carrying rock-
ets over the hill, why we'd shoort at that also . . . . When
we get a sensor reading, we shoot 1t®

In spite of patrols and artillery fire, the enemy still
managed to slip in from the mountains, set up their
rockets, and fire, but they did so at their increasing
peril. As soon as installations reported impacts or
patrols ot outposts reported rocket flashes, fire direc-
tion centers would order counterbattery fire against
previously designated launch sites. The batteries kept
their guns aimed at these coordinates when not as-
signed other targets. Observation posts would then
plot from the flashes the estimated firing position,
clearance would be requested for the area from Viet-
namese authorities, and usually within two to four
minutes of the first launching, rounds would begin
falling on the launch site and likely enemy escape
routes from it. If infantry patrols or ambushes were
too close to the plotted position for safe artillery en-
gagement, the nearest patrol would attack at once
toward the site.

As soon as possible after the attack, infantry would
secure the launching site while a rocket investigating
team from the 11th Marines examined it and report-
ed on evety aspect of the incident— rocket positions
and lauching devices, evidence of advance preparation
of the site, estimated number of missiles fired, equip-
ment left on the scene, enemy casualties found, and
any other information which might help the Marines
prevent future attacks. By mid-1970, this program sub-
stantially had reduced both the number of rocket in-
cidents and the number of missiles discharged. At
times, quick reaction forced the enemy to leave un-
fired rockets behind as they fled a site under infantry
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ot artillery counterattack. Nevertheless, in the first six
months of 1970, the VC/NVA still managed to fire
85 rockets into the Da Nang area in 12 separate at-
tacks. These missiles caused allied civilian and mili-
tary casualties of 28 killed and 60 wounded 8!

The S5th Marines: Thuong Duc, An Hoa,
and Arizona Territory

South of the 1st Marines’ TAOR and west of that
of the Korean Marines, the Sth Marines defended a
TAOR dominated by the confluence of two major
rivers. The first of these, the Vu Gia, flows out of the
mountains in a generally west-to-east direction
through a valley dotted with villages and rice paddies,
and overlooked to the north by Charlie Ridge. The
major east-west highway, Route 4 (also known as Route
14), runs from Route 1 in the east to the western ex-
tremity of the Thuong Duc corridor, which was named
after the town and Vietnamese Special Forces camp
which guarded its western approaches.

In the flatlands about 10 miles east of Thuong Duc,
the Vu Gia River flows into the second major river,
the Thu Bon. This river is formed in the western Que
Son Valley by the convergence of several smaller
streams and bends northwestward and then northeast-

Weary Marines from Company H, 2d Battalion, 5th
Marines patrol boobytrap-infested Go Not Island. The
Marine wearing the cross carries an MGO machine gun.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A374037
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ward to meet the Vu Gia. East of their confluence,
the two rivers take on a new name, the Ky Lam. Con-
tinuing eastward, the name of the river changes a few
more times until it finally meandets past Hoi An
through a maze of channels and islets into the South
China Sea.

The Vu Gia and Thu Bon come together in the
midst of a broad plain bounded on the northwest by
the foothills of Chatlie Ridge, on the west by the
mountains of the enemy’s Base Area 112, and on the
southeast by hills rising into the Que Son Range. Ma-
rines called the portion of the plain between the Vu
Gia and the Thu Bon the Arizona Tetritory. South and
east of the Thu Bon lies the An Hoa Basin, site of a -
once-promising industrial project and in 1970 of the
5th Matines’ combat base. Northeast of the An Hoa
Basin and just south of the Ky Lam River, Go Noi Is-
land, a fertile but enemy infested stretch of hamlets
and paddies girdled and cut up by streams, extended
from the 5th Marines’ TAOR into that of the Korean
Marines. From late May to early November 1969, in
Operation Pipestone Canyon, the Koreans, along with
elements of the 1st Marines and the 51st ARVN Regi-
ment, had scouted Go Noi Island. They rooted the
VC and NVA out of tunnels, caves, and trenches from
which they had operated for years, killing some 800.
Marine engineers and an Army land-cleating platoon
then bulldozed the vegetation and crushed bunkers
and fortifications. In spite of this and other allied
pacification efforts, the VC guerrillas and political in-
frastructure remained strong in villages throughout the
5th Marines’ TAOR, and parties of infiltrators crossed
and recrossed it constantly.

The 5th Marines, commanded by Colonel Noble
L. Beck until 11 February, then by Colonel Ralph E
Estey, began the year with the 1st Battalion covering
the Thuong Duc corridor, the 2d Battalion protect-
ing Liberty Road and Bridge* and conducting recon-
naissance in force operations of westetn Go Noi Island,
and the 3d Battalion operating in the Arizona Terri-
tory. Late in January, the 3d Battalion exchanged areas

*Liberty Road and Liberty Bridge had been worked on for sevet-
al years by Marines and Seabees. They provided a direct road link
between An Hoa and Hill 55 and Da Nang, vital both for military
putposes and for the eventual and still hoped for development of
the An Hoa industrial complex. Liberty Bridge, an 825-foot
monsoon-proof span actoss the Thu Bon had been built by the Sea-
bees to replace an earlier bridge washed away by a flood in 1967.
It had been open to traffic since 30 March 1969. Simmons, “Ma-
rine Operations in Vietnam, 1969-72,” p. 129.
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of operation with the 1st Battalion, taking over the
defense of the Thuong Duc corridor, while the 1st Bat-
talion moved to the Arizona.

The pattern of battalion activities vatied in the
different areas of operation. In the Thuong Duc cor-
ridor, the 1st and then the 3d Battalion guarded the
valley and Route 4 from strongpoints on Hills 65, 25,
and 52. They saturated the counttyside with patrols
and ambushes, supported the CUPPs and CAPs work-
ing in the hamlets along the highway, and occasion-
ally conducted a Category III operation on Charlie
Ridge. The companies of the 2d Battalion manned an
outpost at Liberty Bridge and cooperated with Viet-
namese RFs, to guard the highway, while launching
company-size sweeps into western Go Noi Island, In
the Arizona Tertitory, the battalions defended no fixed
positions, since this was and long had been hard-core
enemy country. Instead, companies moved continu-
ally from place to place, patrolling, setting up night
ambushes, and searching for food and supply caches.
They conducted frequent multi-company sweeps and
set up blocking forces for sweeps by battalions of the
51st ARVN £2

In January, the 5th Marines began using Kingfish-
er patrols, and, as was the case with the 1st Marines,
the first few of these operations caught the enemy off
balance and produced significant contact. On 13 Janu-
ary, for example, an OV-10 and a ground outpost on
the hills west of the Arizona Territory sighted armed
enemy near the south bank of the Vu Gia River. An
airborne platoon from Captain William M. Kay’s
Company I, 3d Battalion, landed under fire and en-
gaged them. Captain Kay decided to reinforce the pla-
toon, which seemed to have encountered a large force.
Helicopters of Lieutenant Colonel Charles R. Dun-
baugh’s HMM-364 picked up a second platoon of the
Kingfisher company and landed it about two kilome-
ters west of the engaged element. The two platoons
then swept toward each other while the OV-10 direct-
ed fixed-wing air strikes and the Cobras hunted tar-
gets of opportunity. A CH-46D pilot reported that
“the enemy on the ground had been caught complete-
ly off guard and completely unprepared, and they were
.. . just running in every direction.”® The two-platoon
action lasted over two hours. At the end of it, at a cost
of two wounded, the Marines had killed 10 enemy and
taken one prisoner. They had captured two AK-47s
and assorted equipment84

In March, the regiment realigned its battalions in
response to the Keysone Bluejay withdrawals. Lieu-
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tenant Colonel Johan S. Gestson’s 3d Battalion extend-
ed its TAOR to the northeast to a point east of Route
1. It defended this enlarged TAOR, which included
the strongpoints at Hills 37 and 55, as a combined
area of operations with the 51st ARVN Regiment
which placed its command post on Hill 55 and oc-
cupied Hill 37 with its 3d Battalion. On 6 March,
Gestson’s battalion also took command of the 1st Ma-
rines’ CUPP company, Company M, the platoons of
which operated in hamlets around Hills 37 and 55.
Meanwhile, Lieutenant Colonel Savage’s 1st Battalion,
moved its companies by helicopter to positions in the
SSDC where the battalion, now directly responsible
to 1st Marine Division Headquarters, assumed the
function of division reserve. To compensate for its
departure, the 2d Battalion, under Lieutenant Colonel
Frederick D. Leder, enlarged its atea of operations to
cover the Arizona Territoty as well as western Go Noi
Island, Liberty Bridge, and the An Hoa Basin. These
deployments continued in effect until the next troop
withdrawal in late August and September®s

From its new positions at Hill 34 and Dai La Pass,
the 1st Battalion for the next several months protect-
ed the SSDC while providing one or two of its com-
panies in rotation for the division’s Pacifier operation.
Offictally defined as “a swift striking, highly mobile
heliborne task force which is able to react to any situ-
ation on very short notice,” Pacifier consisted of an in-
fantry company and four flights of aircraft each capable
of lifting a platoon and almost identical in composi-
tion to the Kingfisher package*®8 Instituted in March,
the Pacifier infantry force could go into action on 10
minutes’ notice at any time. Its aircraft were kept on
standby for takeoff within 15 minutes of the order be-
ing given.

While it used a similar aircraft package, the Pacifi-
er differed from Kingfisher in several important
respects. The Pacifier functioned more as a reaction
force than as a patrol, either striking predetermined
targets or responding to ground contacts. Usually a
lenger time elapsed between the selection of the ob-
jective and the actual launching of the mission. Most
important, in contrast to Kingfisher, which almost al-
ways went into unprepared landing zones, Pacifier mis-
sions generally started with air and artillery preparation

*Each Pacifier flight was composed of one UHIE command and
control ship, two OV-10s cartying forward ait conttollers (airborne),
three CH-46s for troop transport, two F-4Hs for LZ preparation,
two F-4Hs for combat air patrol, and four Cobra gunships.
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of the landing site a2 minimum of 5-10 minutes be-
fore the troop catriets atrived. This reduced the danger
of ambushes in the landing zone, but, in the opinion
of some Marine participants, sactificed the element
of surprise that Kingfisher often gained.*s7

Between 15 March and 21 June, the 1st Battalion
conducted 51 Pacifier operations, usually against pre-
planned objectives but sometimes to reinforce ground
units in contact with the enemy. For example, on 31
May, elements of Company H, 2d Battalion, 5th Ma-
rines, operating northeast of An Hoa, sighted 18 ene-
my moving southward. The company at once
established a blocking position and called for a Paci-
fier. Company A of the 1st Battalion, on Pacifier duty
that day, responded. With Cobra gunfire and a ground
assault, the Pacifier company and Company H killed
five VC/NVA, took one prisoner, and captured an
AK-4788

On 12 June, the division enlarged Pacifier by ad-
ding to it a second rifle company from the reserve bat-
talion with the same aviation support as the first. Later
in the month, the battalion began experimenting with
multi-company operations in which Pacifier compa-
nies and companies from other battalions worked
together, directed by a skeleton battalion command
post. The first of these took place on 20-21 June in
the northern Arizona Tetritory. Companies B and C
of the 1st Battalion cooperated with Company G, 2d
Battalion, 5th Matines, in a foray which killed several
enemy and uncovered caches of corn and weapons.
From 23-26 June, the same units launched a second
sweep northeast of Liberty Bridge along the Thu Bon
River in an area where intelligence indicated the ene-
my might be massing to attack Hill 55. Although
hampered by heat casualties and boobytraps, the com-
panies, supported by four tanks, saturated the area

*Lieutenant General Bernard E. Trainor, who as a lieutenant
colonel commanded the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines in the late sum-
mer and fall of 1970, observed, however, that the “Pacifier opera-
tions were sufficiently successful in keeping the VC/NVA off balance
. .. " Based on the best available intelligence, a Pacifier element
would swoop down upon a selected target: “If a target turned out
to be unproductive (a ‘dry-hole’ in the parlance of the time), little
time was wasted beating the bush. The troops would be picked up
and a strike would be made on a pre-briefed lower priority alter-
nate target from the list of such targets maintained by the Pacifi-
er” General Trainor concluded that “Over time, the air/ground
Pacifier team operated like a well-oiled machine. Detailed orders
were nevet necessary. All hands knew what they were to do—even
with the sketchiest intelligence. Common sense proved more use-
ful than the five-paragraph combat order.” LtGen Bernard E. Trainor,
Comments on draft ms, 22Nov85 (Vietnam Comment File).
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with night ambushes and daylight helicopter opera-
tions. Their efforts netted only one NVA/VC killed

and one detainee®?
While Pacifiets never matched the dramatic surprise

contacts of the early Kingfishers, they did reduce the
enemy’s ability to mass forces within the division
TAOR and inflicted substantial casualties. In the peri-
od from March to June, Pacifier operations killed 156
North Vietnamese and Viet Cong and captured 18
prisoners and 39 weapons, as well as large quantities
of food, ordnance, and documents. Marine casualties
in these operations totaled two killed and 21 wound-

ed.”0

While the 5th Marines’ 1st Battalion ran its Pacifi-
ets, Lieutenant Colonel Leder’s 2d Battalion putsued
the enemy from the Atizona Tetritory to Go Noi Is-
land. The battalion rotated its companies between
relatively static secutity operations at Liberty Bridge
and reconnaissance in force and search and destroy
missions. In April, for instance, Company E began the
month guarding Liberty Bridge while Company H
protected Liberty Road; Company F conducted a
reconnaissance in force in the Arizona Territory and
Company G acted as regimental reserve with one of
its squads positioned at the 1st Reconnaissance Bat-
talion’s obsetvation post on Hill 119 northeast of An
Hoa. On 8 April, Company G took over protection
of Liberty Bridge while Company E switched to guard-
ing Liberty Road. Four days later, Company H began
a reconnaissance in force in the Atizona Tertitoty. From
16-20 April, Companies F and H and a battalion com-
mand group, supported by an RF platoon from Duc
Duc District and four Marine tanks, conducted a search
and clear operation in the Arizona area. After the end
of this operation, Company F continued patrolling the
Arizona until the 27th, when it moved to An Hoa to
act as regimental reserve. During the month, some of
the companies in turn were helicoptered to Da Nang
for 48 hours of rest and recreation!

On 8 May at 0145, Company G while guarding
Liberty Bridge came under fire from 60mm and 80mm
mottars, B-40 rockets, and small arms, followed by a
ground assault by an enemy force of undetermined
size. The company drove off the attackers, who wound-
ed 21 Marines and RFs. Anticipating that the enemy
would retreat southward from the bridge toward the
foothills of the Que Sons, the battalion moved a pla-
toon from Company E to block the route and called
in a Pacifier platoon. The Marine units located the
withdrawing enemy, engaged them, and killed 1072

During the weeks following the fight at Liberty
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Bridge, the 2d Battalion conducted a series of multi-
company cordon and search operattons. In coopera-
tion with RF/PF elements and units of the National
Police Field Force, the battalion tried to move suddenly
on hamlets or villages known to be occupied by
VC/NVA ot enemy sympathizers. On 13 May at first
light, the battalion command post with Companies
H and F, a RF reconnaissance platoon, and four Ma-
rine tanks (often used by the 2d Battalion in these
operations to break down vegetation and explode ene-
my mines in heavily boobytrapped hamlets) cordoned
Le Nam (1), a hamlet about two miles southeast of
Liberty Bridge. After the Marines surrounded the
hamlet, a Marine platoon and the RF platoon together
conducted a systematic search. In the words of the bat-
talion report, “The VC/NVA were routed from numer-
ous well concealed spider holes which laced the
village” In sporadic fighting, the Marines and RFs
killed two enemy and captured 24, three of them NVA
doctors, while detaining 65 suspects. They also cap-
tured weapons, documents, and large amounts of
hospital equipment. As the VC/NVA fled the ham-
let, a Pacifier platoon called in by the battalion killed
eight more of them.

Four days later, acting on information gained from
interrogation of prisonets taken at Le Nam (1), the bat-
talion cordoned and searched the neighboring ham-
let of Le Nam (2), again using two of its own
companies and this time a PF platoon. Again, they
achieved sutprise, routing the enemy from his holes
and tunnels, killing six and capturing 18 along with
rifles, grenades, a radio, documents, and medical
gear.’®

In June, the battalion shifted its cordon and search
activities to the Arizona Territory. In an operation last-
ing from 14-16 June, the battalion command post,
with Companies E and G and a National Police Field
Fotce unit, cordoned and searched My Hiep (1) in the
northwestern Arizona while a company of the 3d Bat-
talion blocked enemy escape routes north across the
Vu Gia River. Lifting into their cordon positions by
helicopter just after dawn, the Marines started a care-
ful search of the hedgerows and dense bamboo thick-
ets. In 48 hours, they flushed out and killed three
VC/NVA and captuted 22, along with a haul of ri-
fles, grenades, and documents. The prisonets taken
included four soldiers of the Q-834 Main Force Bat-
talion and a number of ranking members of the VC.

On 30 June, the same two companies with an
Armed Propaganda Team from Duc Duc District
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moved in by helicopter to search Football Island, a
favorite enemy hatboting and food storage area on the
west bank of the Thu Bon River about three miles
north of An Hoa. After air strikes to prepare the land-
ing area, the command helicopter and the gunships
supporting the operation sighted about 20 enemy
troops trying to escape across the Thu Bon, some
swimming and the ftest in a boat. According to the
battalion report, “The command and control helicop-
ter immediately took them under fire and then direct-
ed the gunships to the target area. In echelons the
Cobras directed devastating fire from miniguns and
automatic grenade launchers on the helpless and
floundering enemy,” killing an estimated 15.74

In the Thuong Duc cotridor and south of Hill 55,
Lieutenant Colonel Gestson’s 3d Battalion, 5th Ma-
rines carried on an unspectacular but steady campaign
to keep enemy infiltratots out of the villages and pro-
tect Route 4. From fortified positions on Hills 52, 25,
65, and 37, the companies of the battalion saturated
the valley daily with squad- and platoon-size ambush-
es and patrols. They supported daily minesweeps by
the engineets along Route 540 (Liberty Road) where
it ran southward through the battalion’s TAOR past
Hill 37, and petiodically covered engineer road sweeps
westward along Route 4, opening the highway for
ARVN truck convoys resupplying the Thuong Duc
CIDG camp. In cooperation with CUPP units of both
the 1st and 5th Marines, the battalion conducted fre-
quent company-size cordon and search operations of
targeted hamlets and villages.

The battalion’s contact with the enemy consisted
largely of brief, inconclusive exchanges of fire and the
discovery or detonation of boobytraps. The boobytrap
plague reached such proportions that on 19 April bat-
talion headquarters designated four areas within the
TAOR, all of them located east of Hill 65, as too heav-
ily mined for penetration by routine small-unit activi-
ties. Operations in these areas were to be conducted
only in daylight and with specific authorization from
the battalion or a higher headquarters?s

The steady routine of small operations inflicted cu-
mulative losses, both friendly and enemy, which over
time added up to signifuicant figures. During April,
for example, a month typical of the first half of 1970,
the battalion claimed a total of 15 VC and NVA killed
by its own fire and five more killed by supporting arms.
The battalion also captured five AK-47s, eight pounds
of documents, and 720 pounds of rice, along with
other enemy ordnance and equipment. Its patrols
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found 11 boobytraps and detonated seven. Duting the
same period, the battalion lost two Marines killed in
action, one dead of wounds, and 37 wounded.®

The 3d Battalion shared its area of operations with
the ARVN 51st Regiment. The battalions of this regi-
ment were in the field constantly, conducting cordon
and search operations, sweeping the hills around the
Thuong Duc CIDG camp, and supporting American
and ARVN engineer units in clearing and improving
the highways. Elements of the 3d Battalion regularly
worked in cooperation with the ARVN units. On 7
June, in an unusually successful example of such
cooperation, a reinforced Company K took up block-
ing positions in the Chau Son area about a mile south-
west of Hill 55 while three companies of the 51st,
supported by armored personnel cartiers, swept toward
them. At about 1000, the South Vietnamese collided
with an estimated platoon of VC. In the ensuing fire-
fight, the ARVN claimed 15 enemy killed and 9 cap-
tured along with 5 weapons. Marines of Company K
accounted for three more VC uying to escape the
ARVN sweep.’™?

Aviation and artillery played important roles in the
5th Marines’ operations. Maneuvering in the Arizona
Tetritory in February, the Ist Battalion had attached
to it forward air controllers from both fixed wing and
helicopter squadrons so that they could “enlighten
each other and more readily advise the Battalion about
all phases of air support.”78 The battalions employed
artillety fire, mostly from the batteries of the 2d Bat-
talion, 11th Marines, primatily for harassment and in-
terdiction. In the Thuong Duc cotridor, the 1Ist and
later the 3d Battalion coordinated steady shelling of
infileration trails and rocket launching sites on Chatlie
Ridge, selecting targets from sensor readings and from
daily analysis of intelligence reports. Patrols on Charlie
Ridge often discovered fresh enemy graves along the
trails—mute testimony to the effectiveness of this
fire®

Even in this period of low-intensity watfare, the Ma-
rines made extensive use of their supporting arms. In
April 1970, for example, the 2d Battalion, 5th Ma-
rines, had 17 close air support missions flown for it,
which dropped 76 tons of ordnance and called upon
aerial observers and gunships on “numerous” occa-
sions. In the same period, artillery expended 3,051
rounds in fire missions in support of the battalion and
8,927 rounds for harassment and interdiction. In the
same month, the 3d Battalion employed 19 tactical
air strikes, while the artillery fired over 2,800 rounds
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in its area of operations. Most artillery missions were
fired in response to intelligence reports concerning
enemy locations or to interdict movement on trails
habitually used by the enemy?°

The 7th Marines: The Que Son Mounitains

Southeast of the An Hoa Basin, the land rises into
the Que Son Mountains. In 1970, this rugged, jungle-
covered range began the southwestern portion of the
Ist Marine Division TAOR and extended northeast-
ward toward Hoi An. To the south it overlooks the vil-
lages and fertile farm land of the Que Son Valley, also
known as the Nui Loc Son Basin. From its beginnings
at Hiep Duc in the southwest, this valley opens north-
eastward into the coastal plain. Running through the
valley in an easterly and then northeasterly direction,
a small river, the Ly Ly, marked the boundary between
Quang Nam and Quang Tin Provinces and also be-
tween the TAORs of the 1st Marine Division and the
Americal Division,

This region had expetienced much watfare. The ra-
vines, gorges, and caves of the Que Son Mountains
hid extensive enemy base camps and headquarters
complexes within easy striking range of the coast. The
Que Son Valley, with many of its villages and hamlets
controlled by the VC, constituted a major enemy food
source. Detachments of VC/NVA combat and supply
troops infested the atea, and, particularly in its far
southwestern reaches, Communist main force elements
were to be encountered in substantial strength and
willing to fight.

Marines had fought their first battle in the Que Son
Valley back in December 1965 in Operation Harvest
Moon. They returned in 1966 in Operation Double
Eagle and Colorado and again in 1967 in Operation
Union, but the area was not part of the 1st Division’s
TAOR at this time. As North Vietnamese pressure
along the DMZ pulled the Marines northward, the
Army took over responsibility for it. In August 1969
the Army handed defense of the northern portion of
the Que Son Valley back to the Marines, with the Ly
Ly River as the new boundary between the 7th Ma-
rines and the Americal Division.

Before the boundary between the 7th Marines and
Americal Division was moved south from the foothills
of the Que Sons to the Ly Ly River, the Marines and
Army units encountered many problems controlling
enemy movement through the foothills. Major General
Lloyd B. Ramsey, who commanded the Americal at
the time, recalled why the change was made:
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Because of the problems we were having due to the bound-
ary being in the hiils, I made a recommendation to Gener-
al Nickerson that either ] move north and control the
mountains and the valley or the Marines move south. General
Nickerson made the decision to move the Marines south.
Based on what he told me I believe he was concerned about
giving me any more area because I was already
overextended —it was just a matter of degree?!

The 7th Marines moved into the valley. In January
of the following year, the regiment’s TAOR included
the Que Son Mountains, the northern Que Son Val-
ley, and a portion of the coastal plain sandwiched be-
tween the Korean Marines on the north and the
Americal Division to the south 82

The 7th Marines had inherited three combat bases
from the Army, all located on or near Route 535, a
highway which runs westward from Route 1 to Que
Son District Headquarters. There the road branches,
with Route 535 continuing southward into the Amer-
ical sector while the northern fork, Route 536, actual-
ly little more than a foot path, climbs over a pass
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A374051
Marine $Sgt J. W. Sedberry from Company F, 2d Batialion, 7th Marines examines a
primitive handcrafted enemy explosive device in a village in “Happy Valley,” some 20
miles from Da Nang. Since 1965, Marines found the valley anything but happy.

through the Que Son Mountains into Antenna Valley*
which in turn opens out northwestward into the val-
ley of the Thu Bon River. LZ Baldy, the easternmost
of the three bases, located at the intersection of Route
535 with Route 1 about 20 miles south of Da Nang,
could accommodate a brigade and was the 7th Ma-
rines’ Headquarters. Firebase Ross, just west of Que
Son District Town, commanded the Que Son Valley
while beyond it, FSB Ryder, on its hilltop in the Que
Sons, covered both the Que Son Valley and Antenna
Valley.

The 7th Marines began the year under the com-
mand of Colonel Gildo S. Codispoti. A combat vete-
ran of World War II and Kotea who had taken over
the regiment eatly in July 1969, Colonel Codispoti

*How the valley, an ordinaty stretch of hamlets and paddies,
received this name is not definitely known. According to one story,
Matrine units operating there had to extend the antennas of their
radios in order to communicate with their bases across the high
ridges.
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continued in command until 1 March 1970. His
replacement, Colonel Edmund G. Derning, Jr., a
World War II Marine Raidet, came to the regiment
after tours as Assistant Chief of Staff, G-4, of IIl MAF
and Deputy Chief of Staff, G-1, of the 1st Marine Di-

vision.

Throughout the first half of 1970, the regiment
deployed its battalions to block the enemy’s infiltra-
tion routes, deny access to the sources of food in the
Que Son Valley, engage and destroy combat forces, and
find and neutralize base camps. Unlike the Ist and
5th Marines, which assigned each of their battalions
a permanent area of operations, each containing a
number of fixed installations to be protected, the 7th
Marines permanently gatrisoned only its three main
bases—LZ Baldy and FSBs Ross and Ryder. It divided
its TAOR into three large areas of operation. The first
of these consisted of the flatlands around LZ Baldy.
The Que Son Valley with Firebases Ross and Ryder con-
stituted the second while the third encompassed the
Que Son Mountains and the Phu Loc Valley along their
northern slope. Operations varied in the three areas
of operations dependent upon the terrain and nature
of the threat. The 7th Matines rotated barttalions be-
tween areas, while periodically moving individual com-
panies to the rear for 48 hours’ rehabilitation before
returning them to the field.

Thus the 2d Battalion protected LZ Baldy and the
hamlets around it until the end of January when the
3d Battalion replaced it. In early April, the 1st Bat-
talion took over the area, staying until the end of June.
In the Que Son Valley, the 1st Battalion guarded Ross
and Ryder until early March when the 2d Battalion
came in to remain through June. The Que Son Moun-
tains and the Phu Loc Valley received repeated atten-
tion from all three battalions, culminating in late May
and early June in a major seatch and destroy opera-
tion by the 3d Battalion.

Under orders from the division, the 7th Marines
twice sent units to reinforce the Rocket Belt against
predicted enemy offensives. On 24 January, the 2d Bat-
talion redeployed from the Phu Loc Valley to the
southern part of the TAOR of the 2d Bartalion, Ist
Marines. It remained therte until the end of February.
On 27 Aptil, two companies of the 3d Battalion went
to the same area, staying for about a month83

In the eastern flats around Baldy and in the Que
Son Valley, the battalions concentrated on Categoty
IT operations, small-unit pattols and ambushes, to
keep the enemy out of the villages and hamlets and
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to thwart mortar, rocket, and sapper attacks on allied
bases. In the Que Son Mountains, the batralions con-
ducted Category III searches for base camps and sup-
ply caches to prevent the VC and NVA from massing
men and equipment for offensives. In each of these
areas of operation, elements of the 7th Marines had
frequent and sometimes costly contact with the enemy.

Significant actions occutted quite close to LZ Baldy.
About noon on 14 January, for example, a squad from
Company F, 2d Battalion, sighted 15 enemy soldiers
in an area of tice paddies and treelines two and one-
half miles northwest of the base. The Communists
were about 100 meters away from the patrol, moving
toward the northwest. They wore green uniforms and
carried weapons. The Marines fired at them, killing
three, and pursued the rest as they fled. Then other
enemy opened up on the patrol from three sides with
automatic weapons. The fight rapidly expanded. Two
other Marine patrols maneuvered to join the action,
and came under fire from automatic rifles, machine
guns, and grenade launchers. They replied with their
own weapons. Company F's commander, First Lieu-
tenant Charles M. Lohman, brought the rest of his
company into the fight and called in artillery and air
support. Before the action ended, three OV-10s, four
helicopter gunships, two E4 jets, and a Shadow AC-119
gunship had blasted the enemy with machine guns,
high explosive and white phosphorous rockets, and
napalm. Late in the afternoon, the enemy broke con-
tact and dispersed, leaving behind 10 dead and two
AK-47s. Company F had two Marines killed and three
wounded 84

Smaller contacts around Baldy also took their toll
of Marines. In a single day, 26 June, the 1st Battalion
had five men killed in supposedly routine patrols and
ambushes. One died in a grenade explosion while
wrestling with an enemy he was trying to capture; three
morte were lost in a grenade and machine gun attack
on their squad’s night position, and another was killed
when enemy sappers made a grenade attack on a pla-
toon command post8s

In the Que Son Valley, the enemy kept even heavi-
er pressure on the 7th Marines. Here terrain and mili-
tary/political boundaties favored the Viet Cong and
North Vietnamese. About three and one-half miles
south of Firebase Ross, a range of hills marks the low-
er edge of the Que Son Valley. The range includes Nui
Loc Son, the ridge that gives the valley its alternate
name. Although the boundary between the 7th Ma-
rines and the Americal Division had been moved south
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to the Ly Ly River, the enemy continued to use foothills
along the boundaty and areas between Marine and
Army operating units to assemble men and supplies
for attacks on Firebase Ross and Marines operating in
the Que Son Valley.

On 6 Januaty, sappers of the 40924 Loca! Force VC
Battation, suppotted by a mortar detachment from an
unidentified VC or NVA unit, came out of the
southern hills to attack Firebase Ross#¢ American and
South Vietnamese intelligence agencies had tracked
the sappers’ movement northward from their usual
area of operation in Quang Tin Province and had
warned Ross that an attack might be imminent. On
the night of 6 January, the defenders of the base num-
bered about 560 Marines: Headquarters and Service
Company and Companies A and B of the 1st Battal-
ion, 7th Marines; Battery K, 4th Battalion, 13th Ma-
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tines; elements of Battery G, 3d Battalion, Ilth
Matines; the 2d Platoon, 1st 8-Inch Howitzer Battety,
and small detachments of support troops. Although
tifle companies normally were not stationed at Ross,
Company A had come in from the field to prepare
for CUPP duty, and two platoons of Company B had
been called in on 5 January in tesponse to the report-
ed enemy threat. The Matines of Company B were to
attack southward with two platoons of PFs from Que
Son District on the morning of the 6th in an effort
to forestall the enemy’s anticipated blows?

The enemy struck first. Duting heavy monsoon rains
which masked their approach, between 20 and 30 NVA
and VC regulass in five-man teams crept up to the out-
er perimeter wite and quietly cut their way through
at several points. Dressed in black or green shorts and
bandannas, barefooted, and laden with grenades and

LCpl Ron ]. Barrett rests bis feet on a sandbag at Firebase Ross. Barrett, a member of
a helicopter support team, is waiting for the resupply helicopter to appear. Marine hu-
mor is reflected on the signs above. One reads “LZ Ross, The House of the Rising Sun.”

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A372976
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satchel charges, they entered the perimeter without
alerting the defenders. At 0130, the first rounds of a
supporting mortar barrage® exploded on the base and
sappets outside the perimeter opened fire with RPGs
and small arms. The infiltrators went into action,
hurling explosives into bunkers, Southeast Asia huts,
offices, and vehicles. They concentrated on the coun-
termortar radar, the battalion combat operations
center, and the artillery positions.

The first mortar shells, grenades, and satchel charges
caught many Marines asleep in their tents and huts.
Some first learned of the attack when explosions
hurled them from their bunks or brought roofs and
walls down on top of them. Scrambling to collect
weapons, helmets, and flak jackets, the Marines—
officers, headquarters clerks, radar technicians, ar-
tillerymen, and riflemen alike—bolted for bunkers
and fighting holes. They began trying to collect and
care for their wounded while firing rifles and throw-
ing grenades at sappers who seemed to be everywhere.
In the initial confusion, the attackets put the coun-
termortar radar out of action with a grenade in the
generator. Perhaps five of them penetrated into the
battalion headquarters area. One, spotted near the S-4
hut, shot a Marine sergeant and fled into the showers
where other Marines cut him down. Two more walked
in the front entrance of the Company A office as the
company commander and his chief clerk went out the
back door. Immediately thereafter, the office blew up
taking the sappers with it, either hit by a mortar shell
or destroyed by a charge planted by the sappers.

The defenders rallied rapidly. After clearing out in-
filtrators of their own living areas, the rifle compa-
nies deployed around the perimeter to block further
penetrations. Captain Edward T. Clark I1I, command-
ing the 1st Battalion's Headquarters and Service Com-
pany, ordered his telephone operators and runners to
check the perimeter positions and locate any break-
throughs. Then he requested authority from the bat-
talion to send infantry to close the gaps. First
Lieutenant Louis R. Ambort, commander of Compa-
ny B which furnished most of the reaction forces,
recalled: “We reacted by pulling squads off the more
secure part of our sector of the perimeter and push-
ing them down head-on into the penetration area and

*According to prisoners interrogated after the action, the sap-
pers had not been told a mortar barrage was planned and were
thrown into confusion when it began. Marines saw several enemy
inside the perimeter killed by shells from their own mortats. Petets
Intvw.
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getung it secured and then purtsuing with small teams
out into the wire to actually kill the enemy as he was
running.’88 The quick reaction of the infantry and
other units stopped the enemy short of the artillery
posttions.

Within minutes of the first mortar burst, Marine
supporting arms had joined in the action. The gun
and mortar batteries at Ross, assisted by batteries at
FSB Ryder and 1Z Baldy, opened fire on pre-cleared
and pre-selected countermortar and other defensive
targets, firing hundreds of high explosive, white phos-
phorous, and illumination rounds. Responding to a
report from the PFs at Que Son District Headquart-
ets that enemy reinforcements were massing about 150
meters north of the firebase, Captain Clark “request-
ed a fire mission—81 fire mission—on this position
and worked it up and down . . . adjusting i.’8°
Preemptive fires of this sort kept the enemy from fol-
lowing up the sappers’ initial penetration of the
American lines. The low ceiling and the close prox-
imity of friendly villages prevented the defenders from
calling in air strikes, but a flareship circled overhead

to supplement the artillery in illuminating the bat-
tlefield.

After 0330, the fighting diminished. By this time,
most of the sappers who had infiltrated the base had
been killed and the enemy had not reinforced them.
Marines began combing the firebase for hidden sur-
vivors while helicopters landed to pick up the wound-
ed. Throughout the rest of the night, Marines in
bunkers on the perimeter continued to spot and fire
at movement, but the attack was over. Shortly after
dawn, around 0700, two platoons of Company B swept
the outer defenses, finding a total of 38 enemy bod-
ies and bringing in three prisoners. The enemy had
left behind large amounts of weapons and ordnance,
including 11 AK-47s, 5 RPG launchers and 6 rockets,
30 satchel charges, over 200 grenades (most of them
homemade from soft drink and fruit juice cans), and
4 bangalore torpedoes. The Marines also counted their
own losses —13 killed, 40 wounded and evacuated, and
23 slightly wounded. Material losses included the
countermortar radar disabled, two trucks heavily
damaged, a 106mm recoilless rifle put out of action,
and a number of tents, huts, and other structures
demolished. The poor quality of the enemy’s ord-
nance, much of which had failed to explode, and con-
fusion among the attackers after the initial penetration
had prevented worse destruction ¢

The day after the attack, the Marines at Ross began
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strengthening their defenses, their efforts spurred by
intelligence reports that the enemy planned to actack
again. They sttung more wire, installed new sensors
and radars, and set up a 40-foot tower equipped with
a night obsetvation device and a 106mm recoilless ri-
fle. Although the enemy did not repeat the attack,
it had left a vivid impression on many Marines at the
base, A crewman on the countermortar radar summed
up the lesson learned: “that no matter where you are
and no matter how secure you may feel, . . . you have
to retain the capability of actually fighting hand-to-
hand right in front of you.”®!

This lesson was reemphasized a little over a2 month
later, on 12 Februaty, when one of the units that had
repelled the attack on FSB Ross again encountered
enemy troops in the southern Que Son Valley. On that
day, Lieutenant Ambort’s Company B, 1st Battalion,
was conducting a sweep along the Ly Ly River south-
southeast of Ross in a temporaty extension of the Ma-
rine TAOR into the Americal area, searching for the
sites from which enemy .50-caliber machine guns had

been firing at allied aircraft. The Marines of Compa-

ny B were also trying to verify intelligence reports that
located the the 31s# NVA Regiment in the region.

At 0935 on the 12th, about five miles from the fire-
base, Company B's 2d Platoon was moving in column
toward the east along a trail close to the south bank
of the Ly Ly. The Marines came under fire from an
enemy light machine gun to their front?2 The gun
crew fired a couple of bursts which hit no Marines but
knocked out the lead squad’s radio, then picked up
their weapon and disappeated into the brush. Then
the Marines began receiving automatic weapon fire
from their right. Four or five men pushed through the
bushes beside the trail in an effore to locate and si-
lence the new attackers. Coming out into a small pad-
dy no more than 25 meters square and bordered by
treelines, these Marines met deadly accurate small
arms fire which quickly killed two of them and wound-
ed another. The sutvivors, flat on the ground, could
not move and could not see where the fire was com-
ing from. Other members of the platoon, including
a staff sergeant and two Navy corpsmen, ran into the
paddy to aid the first group and were themselves cut
down. The rest of the Marines took cover at the edge
of the trail and tried to bring rifle, M60 machine gun,
and an M79 grenade launcher fire to bear on the at-
tackers.

Company B had collided with an estimated platoon
of 20-40 NVA regulars in carefully ptepared and con-
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_ Marine Corps Historical Collection
A Marine resupply helicopter is about to land at Fire

Support Base Ryder. A member of the helicopter sup-
port team is in communication with the aircraft.

cealed positions. The NVA had caught the company
in flat ground with the Ly Ly River to the Marines’ left
(north) and a brush-covered hill mass to their right
(south). A light machine gun north of the river with
perhaps a squad of riflemen blocked flanking maneu-
vers to that side while snipers on the slopes of the
southern hill mass closed off another line of advance.
The enemy’s main fighting position consisted of a set-
ies of deep, well-hidden holes in the treelines border-
ing the small paddy, many of which were no more than
20 feet from the Marines. The holes were connected
underground by tunnels through which the NVA
could shift position or flee the area as they chose. They
were arranged in the form of a2 “T” with the crossbar
perpendicular to the company’s line of march and with
the vertical bar so placed that NVA could fire from
it either into the small paddy where the Marines ini-
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tially were caught or into other paddies to the south
between their position and the hills. The 2d Platoon
had entered the “T” from the bottom. As Lieutenant
Ambort later summed it up: “It was beautifully set
up and very, very well executed. They held and fought
and stayed there."®3

Lieutenant Ambort formed his other available pla-
toon in a north-south line along the western edge of
the paddy where his forward elements were fighting
with the intention of outflanking and driving off the
NVA. The fire from the enemy’s flanking positions
blocked these efforts. The NVA in their fighting holes
fired only when a Marine tried to move out into the
paddy or otherwise broke cover, making it difficult for
either platoon to find targets,

Reinforcements and supporting arms broke the
deadlock. The battalion commander, Lieutenant
Colonel Chatles G. Coopet, informed of the situation
by Lieutenant Ambort, ordered First Lieutenant James
D. Deare’s Company C to land by helicopter west of
Company B’s position and attack eastward along the
north bank of the Ly Ly while two companies of the
Americal Division’s 3d Battalion, 21st Infantry, 196th
Brigade, would move in from the southeast and east
to envelop the enemy. The 2d Platoon commander
called for artillery, and within minutes of the start of
the fight, the shells fell in the treelines to the front
and flanks. A tactical observer arrived overhead soon
afterward and directed Cobra gunships and flight af-
ter flight of jets against suspected NVA positions. The
enemy in the treelines were too close to the Marines
for bombing or napalming, so the jets concentrated
on the hill mass to the south and silenced the snipers
there while the Cobras strafed the treelines as near the
Marines as safety would allow. The air strikes and gun-
ships suppressed enemy fire enough for the 2d Pla-
toon to pull its dead and wounded out of the paddy
and recover their weapons and ammunition. The pla-
toon then withdrew about 200 yards to the west to
await helicopters which had been called in to evacu-
ate the casualties.

Around 1300, helicopters, still under sporadic fire
in the landing zone, began lifting out Company B'’s
dead and wounded. A few minutes later, Company
C arrived and started its attack north of the river. The
enemy broke contact, slipping off the battlefield
through their tunnels and then probably withdraw-
ing eastward. They left behind four dead. Company
B's 3d Platoon now advanced into the hill mass to fol-
low up the air strikes. They found and killed two more
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NVA. The enemy then struck at the Marines one last
time. Company C, after sweeping for a distance along
the north side of the Ly Ly, turned and attempted to
cross to the south bank, only to receive automatic
weapons fire from the east. The fite killed two more
Marines and wounded several. The company returned
fire, called for air strikes on the suspected enemy po-
sitions, and pulled back to the north bank. At the day’s
end, the Marines counted 13 killed and 13 more
wounded, nine of the dead and eight of the wound-
ed in Company B.

The following day, 13 February, Companies B and
C and two companies of the 3d Battalion, 21st In-
fantry, 196th Brigade swept the battle area along the
Ly Ly. They shot two enemy stragglers, but the main
NVA units clearly had made good their withdrawal.
About a month later, from 9 to 16 March, the 1st Bat-
talion returned to the banks of the Ly Ly. With three
of its own companies, a company from the 2d Battal-
1on, 7th Marines, two Army companies, and a RF unit,
the battalion conducted another search for elements
of the 3152 NVA Regiment. The troops uncovered sevet-
al bunkets and ordnance caches, had a few small fire-
fights, and lost some men wounded by boobytraps but
encountered no major enemy force?®*

Firebase Ross and the valley and hills south of it con-
tinued to feel enemy pressute after the 7th Marines’
2d Battalion took over responsibility for the area ear-
ly in March. Significant enemy units at times ap-
proached close to the base. On 24 April, for example,
Company H of the 2d Battalion encountered an esti-
mated company of NVA troops only two miles south-
west of the firebase and between it and the Marines.
In an engagement that lasted for about five hours,
Company H, aided by artillery fire, airstrikes, and a
Pacifier reinforcement, forced the NVA to flee in
groups to the northeast and southeast, leaving six dead
behind. The Marines had six wounded and an accom-
panying RF unit lost two more wounded #s

In an effort to reduce civilian support for the ene-
my in the Que Son Valley, the 2d Battalion in mid-
April committed three of its rifle companies to an am-
bitious pacification program. Each company, support-
ed by a RF platoon and a few National Policemen, was
assigned one or more target hamlets, most of them
VC-controlled, in the countryside north, west, and
south of Firebase Ross. By day, the companies were
to surround their target localities, allowing only per-
manent residents, who were identified by a special cen-
sus and issued passes, to enter or leave. At night, the
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companies would saturate the approaches with patrols
and ambushes. While these measures were geared to
prevent the enemy from moving in and out of the
hamlets, the South Vietnamese Government, with
American assistance, would try to win the people away
from the VC through medical aid, propaganda, and
the other well-tried methods of pacification. The bat-
talion continued this program through the end of June
with indications of progress but, as so often in the
complex process of pacification, no dramatic or defini-
tive results*6

During Aptil, May, and June, the enemy repeated-
ly hit Firebase Ross and the neighboring Que Son Dis-
trict Town with rocket and mortar fire. On 3 May, for
instance, they fired five 122mm rockets and 28 82mm
mortar rounds into the area, killing eight Vietnamese
and wounding 12 Vietnamese and five Marines. The
Marines replied with artillery cannon and mortar fire
on suspected attack positions and withdrawal routes.
Recalling the attack of 6 January, the 2d Battalion’s
commanders— Lieutenant Colonel Arthur E. Folsom
until 9 April and then Lieutenant Colonel Vincent
A. Albers, Jr.—carefully maintained and strengthened
the fortifications of Ross. Beginning in March, they
required all off-duty Marines at the firebase to sleep
at their night defensive positions rather than in tents
ot huts. This measure at once increased readiness to
repel ground assaults and reduced the number of
casualties from rocket and mortar fire??

Enemy sappers did not try a second attack on Fire-
base Ross, instead around 0300 on 6 May they struck
Que Son District Headquarters. At the same time, they
fired a diversionary mortar and rocket barrage and
made a light ground probe at Ross. The diversion
failed. While the RFs and headquarters personne] at
Que Son battled the attackers, a reaction force of 20
Marines from the 2d Battalion’s Headquarters and
Service Company supported by two tanks left the fire-
base at 0345 to assist them. Later in the night, Com-
pany H also moved into Que Son. In about two hours
of skirmishing, the Marine and Air Force fixed-wing
strikes killed 20 VC and NVA at a cost of five Marines
wounded. Que Son’s South Vietnamese defenders
claimed another seven enemy killed. The attack,
however, had been costly. Besides the wounded Ma-
rines, U.S. Army personnel at Que Son had suffered
one dead and nine injured while the Vietnamese had

*For further details on this effort in the general context of pacifi-
cation, see Chapter 9.
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14 soldiers and 74 civilians wounded and an
“unknown” number of civilians killed 28

Besides mortar, rocket, and sapper attacks, the ene-
my in the hills south of Ross continually harassed the
Marines with accurate sniper fire. The snipers’ favorite
positions were on the slopes of Hills 270 and 441
tespectively, about two and one-half and four miles
southwest of the firebase. Here, hidden by rocks, caves,
and brush, they made operations on the valley floot
hazardous for allied troops. The Marines used infan-
try sweeps, artillery fire, and air strikes to suppress the
snipers, but they proved “very skillful and tenacious,”
and operations against them were hindered because
Hill 441 was outside the Marine division’s TAOR.

The 7th Marines established Outpost Lion on top
of Hill 270, but even this did not end the sniper threat,
as the events of 9 June demonstrated. Around 0910
on that day, a CH-53D from HMH-463, on a routine
supply mission to the outpost, received four rounds
of small arms fire from snipers on the southwestern
slopes of Hill 270. The 3d Platoon of Company E,
operating in the area, replied with machine guns and
recoiless rifles. About an hour later, the platoon again
exchanged shots with the snipers. In the afternoon,
a squad from Company E on a sweep of the snipers’
suspected morning location called for medical evacu-
ation for two heat casualties. Reaching the Marines’
position around 1330, the medevac helicopter, a
CH-46D from HMM-161, came under heavy automatic
weapons fire in the landing zone and took a number
of hits, one of which severed a hydraulic line and forced
the helicopter to land. Infantry from Company E set
up security around the downed helicopter while gun-
ships raked the suspected hiding places of four or five
snipers still clinging to the slopes of Hill 270.

The gunships’ fire kept the snipers’ heads down long
enough for another helicopter to come in and pick
up the heat casualties, but later in the afternoon they
surfaced again. At about 1600, a CH-46D, again from
HMM-161, brought in a team to prepare the downed
helicopter to be lifted out by a CH-53. As the team
landed, their helicopter drew fire and lifted away with
two hits. Two and one-half hours later, when the
CH-53D from HMH-463 came in to complete the
recovery, the snipers drove it off with fire, wounding
the crew chief and the gunner. The day ended with
Marine jets dropping napalm on the slopes of the hill
and Company E planning to sweep the area at first
light. They made the sweep early the next morning,
but that afternoon, the snipers opened up again, this
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time at an infantry platoon, and wounded one Ma-
rine. Thus the frustrating, deadly struggle went on2®

In the Que Son Mountains, the 7th Marines kept
offensive pressure on the enemy, seeking to deny them
use of this well established refuge. Typical of this kind
of operation was the search and destroy mission con-
ducted by Lieutenant Colonel Gerald C. Thomas, Jt's,
3d Battalion from 26 May through 12 June. The regi-
ment ordered this movement in response to informa-
tion from an enemy defector who pinpointed the
locations of several hospitals and base camps. On D-
Day, 26 May, Company I of the battalion flew by
helicopter from Baldy to Landing Zone Crow on top
of Hill 800 about five miles northwest of Fitebase Ross.
At the same time, the rest of the battalion with two
platoons and a fire direction center from the mortar
battery of the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines, landed by
helicopter upon Landing Zone Buzzard on Hill 845
about one mile northeast of LZ Crow. Both landing
zones had been secured the day before by teams from
the 1st Reconnaissance Battalion. While elements of
one company and the mortar platoons set up a fire
support base at LZ Buzzard, the other rifle compa-
nies began searching the hills for enemy troops and
installations. If they needed it, they could request ar-
tillery support from the mortars at Buzzard and from
Battery G, 3d Battalion, 11th Marines, located at FSB
Ryder. Besides providing fire to assist the infantry, this
battery coordinated all artillery support for the oper-
ation. Tactical air observers were also on station to
direct fixed-wing strikes if necessary!00

The rifle companies established patrol bases and
from them dispatched platoons and squads to comb
the area. Usually in single file, the Marines toiled
through the rough terrain. They found movement up
and down the sides of the steep ridges almost impos-
sible and often had to follow the contours of the land
along ridge tops or the bottoms of ravines, In many
places, they had to use ropes to hoist their mortars
and other heavy equipment up and down almost ver-
tical slopes. Extreme heat aggravated conditions, caus-
ing most of the casualties during the first few days of
the operation.to

As they struggled through the mountains, the Ma-
tines began to find what they were looking for. First
Lieutenant Wallace L. Wilson Jr., commanding Com-
pany Is 1st Platoon, described the trials and successes
of his men:

. After we landed on Hill 800 and walked down on the
southeast side, we stayed down there for a couple of days

53

checking out the area. We didn't find anything of
significance —found a couple of bodies that had been bu-
ried approximately a month. Then we got word to move out
in search of a comm center and having almost reached this
comm center we found that the Chieu Hoi had decided that
it wasn't in this place and he gave us another coordinate on
the other side of the mountain. So my platoon was placed
in the lead to go back and find our way over the mountain.
As we started moving over the mountain we came to an ene-
my base camp, started seeing bunkers, well fortified, well
positioned; moved on and up, found this cave complex,
checked it out, found a considerable amount of ordnance,
gear, no weapons— only documents, gear, chow . . . . Next
day we moved on over Hill 845, started down on the rorth-
west side. After staying there for a couple of days [we] start-
ed to move out. My platoon again found another complex.
This time they found 12 SKS’s, several light submachine
guns, one light machine gun, approximately 1,000 pounds
of corn, 750 pounds of poratoes, lots of documents . . . .
There was also some graves in this area. We found some mor-
tar rounds that were booby trapped in these caves.
We . . . destroyed all this as we left.102

Another company found the communications
centet, and daily the Marines unearthed additional
camps with caches of ordnance, food, and equipment.
Most of these installations were so well camouflaged
that the Marines were unaware of their existence un-
til they walked into them. The enemy had usually built
their camps at the bottoms of ravines or the bases of
cliffs. In these locations, stteams provided water; the
jungle concealment; and caves and clustets of boul-
ders protection against American artillery and air-
strikes. Some of the camps “even had running water
coming in from bamboo water devices to bring water
down from the higher ground.”1°3 The camps were
often protected by cleverly concealed and mutually
supporting bunkers from which, a platoon leader
reported, “12 men can chew a whole battalion up.”104

Early in June, the battalion, which had had its com-
panies working generally northwest of its initial land-
ing zones, began shifting them southward through the
hills by foot and helicopter. On 2 June, Company I
was lifted out of the mountains altogether, moving
to the Rocket Belt to reinforce the 1st Battalion, Ist
Marines, against a possible enemy offensive. A week
later, the company returned to the Que Sons, land-
ing from helicopters on Hill 848 just southeast of LZ
Crow then working its way overland to Hill 953 a mile
ot so further south. The same day, the battalion com-

- mand post and Company L were airlifted to another

hilltop a mile or so south of LZ Buzzard while Com-
pany K continued to operate around Buzzard. On 9
June, the battalion dispatched Company M to Fire-
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base Ross to reinforce its defenders against a threatened
attack. The rest of the battalion, in the final phase
of the operation, marched southeast down the ravines
toward the valley floor northwest of Ross.105

Up to this point, the enemy had offered little
resistance to the Marines other than to boobytrap
campsites and trails. One of these early in the opera-
tion disabled the battalion’s Hoi Chanh guide. As the
companies moved down the slopes toward the valley
floor, however, the enemy struck at them, concentrat-
ing on Captain John C. Williams's Company 1. On
11 June, a patrol from the company ran into two NVA
in bunkers near Hill 953. The enemy’s opening bursts
of automatic fire killed the point man and wounded
the Marine behind him. Moving to assist the patrol,
the company’s reaction force also took fire. The Ma-
rines worked their way around the flanks of the
bunkers, threw grenades, and managed to pull their
casualties to safety. Then they called in air strikes and
artillery which silenced the bunkers. After the fight,
Marines searching the bunkers found one dead NVA
with an AK-47.

The following day, as the company moved down the
mountain with each of its platoons following a separate
ridge line or stream bed, the 1st Platoon twice came
under sniper and automatic weapon fire, losing three
men wounded. In the second and more severe con-
tact, the enemy pouted in automatic and RPG fire
from both front and flank of the Marines. In each en-
counter, the platoon’s own fire plus shelling and
bombing by the supporting arms fotced the enemy
to withdraw, but after the second action the platoon
shifted to a less sharply contested line of march into
the valley.196 The commander of another platoon com-
mented: “They're pretty weak at this time. If you move
into an area with a battalion or a company intact, they
won't fight, but anything less than a company and they
feel pretty free and easy about continuing contact."107

As the companies reached the valley floor late in
the day on 12 June, Company I's 2d Platoon set up
its night perimeter within 50 meters of a company-
size enemy base camp occupied at the time by about
50 VC or NVA. The Marines had moved in quietly,
and the thick undergrowth prevented either side from
immediately discovering the other. Within a few
minutes, however, three of the enemy blundered into
the Marine position and a fire-fight erupted. The ene-
my fled and the platoon pursued them while calling
for air strikes. Three flights attacked the scattering ene-
my, but most of them had reached cover before the
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aircraft arrived, and some of the aircraft by accident
almost hit the putsuing Marines.108

On 13 June, the battalion assembled in the Que
Son Valley and the operation ended. It had netted
nine VC/NVA killed, while capturing four prisoners,
44 weapons, and over two tons of food and medical
supplies. The battalion moved back to LZ Baldy and
began Categoty II activities in the region southeast of
it. On 22 June, Company I, reinforced with an addi-
tional rifle platoon, an engineer team, and a forward
air controller, returned to LZ Buzzatd to resume seatch
and destroy operations under a plan to keep one com-
pany in rotation continually in action in the Que
Sons.109

Throughout the first half of 1970, the 3d Battal-
ion, 11th Marines, provided most of the artillery sup-
port for the 7th Marines. With its headquarters and
usually one or two batteries at Baldy, the battalion kept
one battery each at Ross and Ryder. Reinforcing the
3d Battalion, Battery K of the 4th Battalion, 13th Ma-
rines (redesignated in January Battery K, 4th Battal-
ion, 11th Marines) operated from Firebase Ross, and
the 1st 8 inch Howitzer Battery had a platoon stationed
at Ross and a second at Baldy. Occasionally, the bat-
talion displaced a unit to a temporary firebase, as it
did in May in sending two mortar platoons from Baldy
to LZ Buzzard. The battalion also regularly rotated
its gun batteries between Baldy, Ross, and Ryder1t0

Early in May, in order to support the infantry more
effectively, the 3d Battalion altered its firing policy.
When firing in aid of troops in contact with the ene-
my, the battalion’s batteries, as standard procedure,
had used a first volley of white phosporous (WP) shells
to register on the target. This practice, 7th Marines
infantrymen complained, warned the VC or NVA that
shells were on the way and gave them time to escape.
The 3d Battalion, thetefore, instructed its gunners to
begin firing first volleys of high explosive unless spe-
cifically asked to use WP by the forward observer. Ac-
cording to the artillery battalion, “the new procedure
worked well in practice, and the change was en-
thusiastically received by the infantry unies.”111

Like the other regiments, the 7th Marines employed
the full range of Marine air support, from jet air strikes
to helicopter troop transport, medical evacuation, and
resupply. The 2d Battalion, while defending Firebase
Ross and the Que Son Valley, called for and received
numerous close air support sttikes. In June, for exam-
ple, aircraft of the 1st MAW flew 31 attack missions
for the 2d Battalion, dropping over 450,000 pounds
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of ordnance.!'2 During May and June, the period of
its Que Son Mountains operation, the 3d Battalion
requested and received 23 fixed-wing close air support
missions. Helicopters of MAG-16 airlifted each mem-
ber of the battalion an average of three times, carried
out 95 medical evacuations, and delivered over 250,000
pounds of cargo.!'?

Throughout the first half of 1970, the 7th Marines
regularly accounted for about half of the division’s
monthly totals of contacts with the enemy and of
claimed VC and NVA killed. At the end of June, af-
ter six months of operations in the lowlands around
Baldy, in the Que Son Valley, and in the enemy’s
mountain sanctuaries, the 7th Marines reported a to-
tal of over 1,100 engagements with VC or NVA units.
In these actions, the regiment had killed an estimat-
ed 1,160 enemy, taken 44 prisoners, and captured 291
weapons. These accomplishments had cost the 7th Ma-
rines over 950 combat casualties, including 120 Ma-
rines killed in action or dead of wounds.i14

Results

Measurement of the results of six months of small-
unit action in relation to the overall progress of the
war was not an easy task. The war as the Marines were
fighting it had become a slow contest in attrition,
seemingly to be won o lost by accumulated tiny incre-
ments. By the mid-point of 1970, the 1st Marine Di-
vision could point to many indications that it was
hurting the enemy worse than it was being hurt.
Casualty statistics offered an indication: a claimed
3,955 VC and NVA killed within the Marines’ TAOR
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as against 225 Marines killed in action, 58 more dead
of wounds, and 2,537 wounded, to which, however,
had to be added ARVN and Korean casualties. The
Marines could also point to captured enemy materiel:
826 individual and 76 crew-served weapons, tons of
rice and foodstuffs, countless rounds of assorted am-
munition, rockets, medical supplies, and communi-
cations equipment.'5 They could add the count of
base camps, hospitals, and other installations des-
troyed, installations the enemy would have to replace
instead of building more to increase his capabilities.
Captured documents, taken a few at a time from the
bodies of enemy dead and prisoners or seized in larg-
er quantities in camps and caves, would often add to
the mosaic allied intelligence was trying to build of
enemy strength and intentions, and also would expand
the list of hidden VC terrorists and operatives in the
hamlets.

An operations summary prepated late in June by
the 1st Marine Division’s G-3 suggested another and
pethaps mote reliable indication of progress:

.. . Unlike other wars, and even other areas in South Viet-
nam, the success of combat action in Quang-Nam Province
cannot be measured in terms of numbers of enemy killed.
Rather, effectiveness of 1st Marine Division operations must
be considered in light of the relative safety of Da Nang City
and the security of the surrounding populace. Some indi-
cation of this security is evidenced by the fact that for the
past two years the enemy has made no serious attempt to
inflict major damage on the Da Nang Vital Area. Even the
occasional enemy massacte of [the inhabitants of] a village,
as horrible and regrettable as it may be, must be viewed in
perspective of the relatively secure position of the total civilian
populace in the lowlands of the Division TAOR . . . 118
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The Cambodia Invasion and
Continued Redeployment Planning, April-July 1970

The War Spreads Into Cambodia— Redeployment Planning Accelerates: Keystone Robin Alpha
Plans for the 3d MAB

The War Spreads into Cambodia

While the day-to-day war absorbed the full atten-
tion of most of the officers and men of 11l MAF, com-
manders and staff officers at MAF, division, and wing
headquarters, besides ditecting curtent operations, had
to keep track of developments elsewhere in the war
and plan for events and contingencies as much as a
year away. During the spring and early summer of
1970, the attention of these officers centered on three
problems: the probable effects in I Corps of the al-
lied invasion of Cambodia; plans and preparations for
major new troop withdrawals; and the organization
of the Marine air and ground forces that would be left
in Vietnam after most of 111 MAF redeployed.

During the spring, the allies opened a new theater
of war in Cambodia, South Vietnam’s neighbor to the
west. They acted in response to the collapse of Cam-
bodia’s long maintained but increasingly precarious
neutrality. In March, the Cambodian premier, General
Lon Nol, led a successtul coup detat against the coun-
try’s ruler, Prince Norodom Sihanouk. When the new
government tried to expel the North Vietnamese and
Viet Cong from the extensive base areas they had built
up on the Cambodian-Vietnamese border, fighting
broke out between government troops and the NVA
and VC, who were assisted by the growing forces of
the Communist-inspired Khmer Rouge movement.

The American and South Vietnamese high com-
mands had long wanted to strike at the border base
areas only 35 miles from Saigon. Taking advantage of
the Cambodian upheaval, the allies, beginning on 29
April, sent division and brigade-size task forces slash-
ing into what had been enemy sanctuaries. During
May, the US. Army and the ARVN carried on search
and destroy operations in 2 dozen base areas adjoin-
ing the II, 111, and IV Corps areas of South Vietnam.
A US.-Vietnamese naval task force* commanded by
Rear Admiral Herbert S. Matthews, Deputy Com-
mander Naval Forces Vietnam (ComNavForV) at the

*According to Admiral Matthews, the supply line up the Mekong
River to Pnomh Penh remained open until January 1971 when heavy
interdiction by the VC necessitated a second Vietnamese task force
to reopen it. RAdm Herbert S. Matthews, Comments on draft ms,
3Mar83 (Vietnam Comment Files).
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same time swept up the Mekong River to open a sup-
ply line to Cambodia’s besieged capital, Pnomh Penh.
The fighting continued through June. At the end of
that month, in accord with a promise by President
Nixon that this would be a limited attack for the sole
purpose of preventing enemy offensives against South
Vietnam, all US. ground troops left Cambodia. ARVN
units continued to range the base areas, however, and
American arms and supplies flowed to the ill-trained
and hard-pressed forces of General Lon Nol.

While bitterly controversial in American politics, the
invasion of Cambodia seriously weakened the enemy.
By early July, MACV estimated that the Communists
had lost as a result of the invasion 10,000 men, over
22,000 weapons, 1,700 tons of munitions, and 6,800
tons of rice. According to allied intelligence, the at-
tack had forced COSVN Headguarters to displace,
causing the enemy to lose command and control of
many of their units in South Vietnam. Destruction
of the base areas combined with Lon Nol’s ctackdown
on pro-Communist elements in Cambodia had left
the NVA and VC in southern South Vietnam tem-
porarily without sufficient supplies for 2 major offen-
sive. Replenishment of the Cambodian caches with
material brought down the Ho Chi Minh Trail through
Laos would require much time and the commitment
to supply operations of thousands of additional troops
and laborers. Further weakening their position, the
NVA now had to use their own soldiers to control a
large portion of northeastern Cambodia as well as to
support Khmer Rouge units!

The invasion of Cambodia had little immediate im-
pact on conditions in I Corps. Of the allied forces
there, only Marine aviation units participated in the
invasion. During May and June, jets from MAGs-11
and -13 flew 26 missions over Cambodia, most of them
in support of the US. Army’s 4th Division and the
ARVN 22d Division as they swept an enemy base area
about 40 miles west of Pleiku. Other Marines, advi-
sots to the Vietnamese Marine brigades, accompanied
the Mekong River task force*2

*For details of air operations, see Chapter 15, and for the Ma-
rine advisory role see Chapter 21.
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While Marine forces took only a limited patt in the
invasion, officers on the XXIV Corps and III MAF
staffs closely scanned the intelligence reports for in-
dications of what effect the opening of this new front
would have within their own area of responsibility.
Colonel George C. Fox, a member of the III MAF
Staff, early in May summed up the staff’s thinking in
these words:

The question I think that most of us have in I Corps,
whether we've stated it openly or whether we haven't, is
. supposing the enemy isn't willing to take this thing
laying down, he can’t react in IIl Corps and he sure can’t
react in IV Corps, so where does he have to go? He’s got
to go to 11 Corps where he’s got nothing or I Corps where
he has a lot. So thete’s a feeling amongst us that we could
see a pickup of activity in I Cotps, if he wants to do it, and

I'm talking particularly of notthern I Corps, across the D{MZ]
and in through the A Shau Valley . . . 3

Estimates of enemy strength in northern and cen-
tral I Cotps gave the allies cause for concern. By early
summer, 19 Communist battalions were reported in
Quang Tt Province, 20 in Thua Thien, and 16 in
Quang Nam. Many of the units in Quang Tri and
Thua Thien had moved in since the beginning of the
year and remained in mountain base areas for train-
ing, refitting, and stockpiling of supplies. Supported
from North Vietnam via the Ho Chi Minh Trail, they
retained the ability to launch large-scale atracks?

True to their pattern, however, the NVA seemed
content metely to maintain the threat. While they dis-
played occasional instances of aggressiveness during

President Richard M. Nixon prepares to board Marine 1, the Presidential Helicopter from
Marine Helicopter Squadron (HMX) 1. The President ordered the accelerated redeploy-
ment of U.S. forces from Vietnam simultaneously with the incursion into Cambodia.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A419542

S - - N - !
BT -l T L e - .
)—&“” -"-\‘v . . \ '_. -




the spring, such as harassment of the new allied Fire
Support Base Ripcord 35 miles west of Hue and at-
tacks on the villages of Hiep Duc and Thuong Duc
in Quang Tin and Quang Nam Provinces respective-
ly, the Communists mounted no major offensives
Nevertheless, the possibility of such an offensive re-
mained and had to be taken into account as the com-
manders in Vietnam entered into a new discussion of
troop redeployments with the authorities in
Washington.

Redeployment Planning Accelerates:
Keystone Robin Alpha

On 30 April, in his speech announcing the raids
into Cambodia, President Nixon told the American
people that the operation would pave the way for con-
tinued and accelerated U.S. troop withdrawals from
Vietnam. In fact, planning for additional redeploy-
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Marine Corps Historical Collection
Gen Creighton Abrams, USA, Commander, United States Military Assistance Command,
Vietnam is seen in a formal ceremony at XXIV Corps Headgquarters. Gen Abrams, in
overall command, oversaw the planning of the withdrawal of U.S. forces in Vietnam.

ments had begun in Washington and Saigon even be-
fore the last personnel of Keystone Bluejay boarded
homebound ships and planes.

Throughout the first months of 1970, the now
familiar dialogue recurred between General Abrams
and the authorities in Washington, the latter press-
ing for early additional withdrawals and Abrams urg-
ing delay. Abrams asked that no more American units
be scheduled for removal until late summer or early
fall. The allies, he insisted, still needed reserves to de-
ter or counter a major offensive, which the enemy re-
mained capable of launching. The South Vietnamese
needed time to enlarge and reposition their forces to
replace the Americans removed in Keystone Bluejay,
and it would take several months to embark all of the
equipment which was to accompany the personnel of
Keystone Bluejay.
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In anticipation of new withdrawals, MACV in
Februaty prepared plans for redeploying 150,000 men
during 1970 in three increments of 50,000 each, with
the scheduling of each increment to be decided later.
If implemented, these plans would leave about
260,000 Americans—mainly service and supportt
troops—in Vietnam at the year's end.®

Under MACV’s plans, the first 50,000 men to go
would include most of the Marines of IIl MAE As be-
fore, MACYV preferred a “Martine-heavy” first increment
because it would allow them to send aviation units
home eatly while retaining more Army ground troops
until the very last stages of redeployment. Marine plan-
ners now assumed that the Marines’ combat role in
Vietnam probably would end late in 1970. They in-
tended to organize the 10,000 ot so Marines remain-
ing after the next withdrawal into a Marine
amphibious brigade (MAB)—a balanced air-ground
force built around a reinforced infantry regiment and
two air groups, one of fixed-wing aircraft and one of
helicopters?

On 20 April, only 10 days before the invasion of
Cambodia, President Nixon established the framework
for withdrawal planning for the rest of the year. In a
nationally broadcast Vietnam “Progress Report” to the
American people, Nixon declared that while negoti-
ations at Paris remained deadlocked, encouraging ad-
vances had been made in training and equipping the
ARVN and in pacification. Therefore, he said, the
United States could safely adopt a longer-range and
larger-scale withdrawal program. He announced that
150,000 Americans would leave Vietnam before 1 May
1971. The President made no mention of a schedule
for this redeployment, but on 27 April Secretary of
Defense Melvin Laird ordered the withdrawal of 50,000
men by Octobet. The 150,000-man redeployment soon
received the codename Keystone Robin, and its first
increment was called Keystone Robin Alpha8

During May and early June, MACV and the Joint
Chiefs of Staff debated various ways to apportion the
150,000 troops into withdrawal inctements. Through-
out, they remained committed to a pull-out of 50,000
by 15 October. MACY, still in favor of a Marine-heavy
withdrawal, suggested eatly in May that almost 30,000
Marines (two full regimental landing teams and a
proportional slice of the wing) be included in the first
50,000 troops. To retain adequate combat power in
1 Corps, neither RLT was to begin preparations for em-
barkation until eatly September. Lieutenant General
McCutcheon objected that this plan would not per-

mit the necessary balanced removal from action of
combat and support units and that it could not be
executed with the available shipping. If two RLTs were
to leave by 15 October, he insisted, one must stand
down as early as 15 July. By the end of May, MACV
had tentatively decided to remove only 20,000 Ma-
tines, including one RIT, in Keystone Robin Alpha
and to redeploy 9,400 more (a second RIT) in the ex-
pected second Keystone Robin withdrawal (Keystone
Robin Bravo) between 15 October and 1 January. This
would leave in-countty about 12,600 Matines of the
MAB and a logistic cleanup force which would prob-
ably stay untl mid-19712

By 30 May, the III MAF staff had drafted tentative
troop lists for two withdrawal increments, the first to
be completed by 15 October and the second by 1 Janu-
aty. The first list included the 7th Marines; 1ts sup-
port artillety, the 3d Battalion, 11th Matines; and three
fixed-wing and two medium helicopter squadrons.

" The 5th Marines headed the second list, which includ-

ed the 2d Battalion, 11th Matines; two fixed-wing
squadrons; and three helicopter squadrons.!©

On 3 June, President Nixon publicly announced the
initial withdrawal of 50,000 men. MACV then in-
formed III MAF that 19,800 Marines— as expected, a
regimental landing team with aviation and support
units—would be included in this increment. In
tesponse, III MAF submitted a proposed roster in mid-
June of units for Keystone Robin Alpha. As already
decided, the 7th Marines would depart in this
redeployment, with the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines,
elements of the 4th Battalion, 11th Marines, and an
assortment of support units and detachments. The avi-
ation contingent would include Marine Composite
Reconnaissance Squadron (VMCJ) 1, Marine (All-
Weather) Attack Squadron (VMA[AW]) 242, Marine
Fighter/Attack Squadrons (VMFAs) 122 and 314, and
two medium helicopter squadrons, HMMs -161 and
-262. III MAF also proposed to redeploy the Marines
of three of the four combined action groups (CAGs),
which were to be deactivated, leaving only one, the
2d CAG, operating in Quang Nam. In order to re-
tain as many troops as possible for the summer cam-
paign, the 7th Marines and the aircraft squadrons
would delay their stand-down until well into Septem-
ber. The CAGs would cease operations, a few platoons
at a time, between 1 August and 1 October.'!

Hardly had III MAF developed this list of units
when XXIV Corps, supported by MACV, demanded
changes in it. As Lieutenant General Leo Dulacki, then



60

IIT MAF Chief of Staff, would later evaluate XXIV
Corps reaction: “The continuing withdrawal of forces
dictated that, in structuring the remaining forces, em-
phasis must be placed on fully integrated combat
units. The Marine task-organized air-gtound teams,
whatever the size, provided a ready solution to this
requirement.”'2

In particular, the XXIV Corps staff had realized the
full impact of the loss of the Matine helicopter and
attack squadrons. Lieutenant General Zais and his
officets feared that the departure of these squadrons
would leave the allies in I Corps dangerously short of
tactical air support and transport helicopters. XXIV
Corps also wanted to keep VMCJ-1 for its photographic
reconnaissance capability and the 1st Radio Battalion,
one of the support units scheduled for redeployment,
which provided itreplaceable intelligence by intercept-
ing enemy radio messages. At a Saigon meeting on
15 June, MACV and III MAF agreed to postpone the
redeployment of most of the 1st Radio Battalion and
of one squadron each of jet attack aircraft and medi-
um helicopters. The MACV staff officets also argued
for retention of VMCJ-1, but gave way on this issue
when the IIT MAF representives pointed out that keep-
ing this unit would overcrowd Da Nang Airbase and
force continued operation of the base at Chu Lai which
the Marines planned to close during Keystone Robin
Alpha. To provide adequate control for the addition-
al aircraft that would remain in-country, MACV at 11
MAF's request cancelled withdrawal orders for Marine
Air Control Squadron (MACS) 4, another support unit
supposed to leave in Keystone Robin Alpha. The
changes decided upon would reduce the Marines’ share
of the coming redeployment by about 1,200 men who
would be taken instead from Army, Navy, and Air
Force elements, while the retained Marine units would
probably leave after 15 October in the second Keystone
Robin withdrawal 13

11T MAF's revised trooplist, issued in late June, in-
corporated the changes agreed upon. Besides the 7th
Marines and the artillery battalions already provided
for, the list included the 1st 8-inch Howitzer Battery
and 3d 175mm Gun Battery. The two remaining force
engineer battalions with III MAF, the 7th and 9th,
were scheduled to leave, as were more than 400 men
of the 1st Marine Division’s organic 1st Engineer Bat-
talion. Il MAF's reconnaissance strength would be
reduced by redeployment or deactivation of the 1st and
3d Force Reconaissance Companies and by withdraw-
al of a large detachment from the 1st Reconnaissance
Battalion. Most of the Marines of the 1st and 3d MP
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Battalions, which had defended the Da Nang Vital
Area, would also redeploy. VMFA-314 and HMM-262
had been dropped from the aviation contingent,
which still included VMFA-122, HMM-161,
VMA(AW)-242, and over 2,300 personnel from head-
quarters and maintenance squadrons. Detachments
from division and wing headquarters, from Force
Logistic Command, from vatious transport and serv-
ice units, and over 1,300 CAP Marines completed the
roster of withdrawing troops.!4

With the size and composition of Keystone Robin
Alpha apparently set, planning began for execution
of the complex movement of men and equipment.
From 6-10 July, staff officets of FMFPac and 11 MAF
attended a Keystone Robin Alpha movement plan-
ning conference at CinCPac Headquarters in Hawaii.
There, with representatives of other Pacific-area com-
mands, they began working out stand-down, embar-
kation, and movement schedules.!s

At Da Nang during June and July, the III MAF,
division, and wing staffs completed plans for reposi-
tioning their forces to fill in for the departing units.
As the 7th Marines left its TAOR around LZ Baldy
and in the Que Son Mountains, the 5th Marines
(which was expected soon to follow the 7th Marines
out of Vietnam) would evacute its combat base at An
Hoa and probably also its positions covering the high-
way to Thuong Duc and shift its battalions to LZ Baldy
and the Que Son Valley.'é Colonel Floyd H. Waldrop,
Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3, 1st Marine Division ex-
plained:

We have made a point to strive to get rid of An Hoa pti-

or to the [fall monsoon] rains, because . . . once the mon-

soons start and Liberty Bridge gets about nine feet under

water, nothing moves to An Hoa* except by air until the

rains subside, which could be several months. So we are trying

to turn over An Hoa and get our forces—at least all of the

non-helicopter-transportable forces—north of the river
. priot to the monsoon.!”

*Reducing a base like An Hoa was no small order. “Not only did
the area in question have to be immaculate, all equipment left in
place must be functioning propetly,” recalled Colonel Miller M. Blue,
then Assistant Chief of Staff, G-4, 1st Marine Division. “Eatly lia-
son between USMC/SVN forces was essential; joint inspections were
required, in some cases by the Division Commander and Quang
Da atea commander.” Blue explained further that “the requirement
to reduce bases to their pre-war appearance caused the expendi-
tute of vast amounts of diminishing engineer resoutces.” Reducing
or turning over a base at times requited a weapons transfer, and
the weapons had to be in perfect order. All of this “was a time-
consuming process at an inconvenient time.” An Hoa was, neverthe-
less, tutned over within the tatgeted time schedule. Col Miller M.
Blue, Comments on draft ms, 5Apt83 (Vietnam Comment File).



THE CAMBODIA INVASION AND CONTINUED REDEPLOYMENT PLANNING, APRILJULY 1970 61

As the aviation units redeployed, almost five years

of Marine air operations would come to an end at Chu

Lai. There in 1965, on a lightly inhabited stretch of
land along the South China Sea about 57 miles south
of Da Nang, Marines had proved the workability of
their experimental Short Airfield for Tactical Support
(SATS). Since then, Chu Lai'had ranked with Da Nang
and Marble Mountain as a major Marine air facility.
Now, with the number of Marine squadrons in I Cotps
being reduced, the III MAF staff dectded to end oper-
ations at Chu Lai around 1 October. Da Nang and
Marble Mountain could accommodate all the remain-
ing aircraft of the 1st MAW, and the closing of Chu
Lai would reduce the demands upon the aircraft wing’s
diminishing force of ground security, maintenance,
and supply personnel.!8

Plans for the 3d MAB

As the selection of troops for Keystone Robin Al-
pha and the planning for relocation of the units to
remain in-country went forward, the Marine staffs also
began preparations for replacing Il MAF with a MAB.
By mid-July, Colonel Noble L. Beck, just finishing a
tour of duty as Chief of Staff, 1st Marine Division,
could report that “There’s a lot of thrashing around
[at Da Nang] cuttently to get a MAB established and
to get a MAB headquarters going and to get the MAB
shaken down so they can assume control . . . "1°

Planning for the MAB had begun late in 1969 as
the troop lists for Keystone Bluejay were being com-
pleted. By that time, two related sets of facts had be-
come appatent to'the Marine Corps. First, given
MACV'’s commitment to a Marine-heavy withdrawal,
most elements of the 1st Marine Division and 1st MAW
would probably leave Vietnam during 1970 in
redeployment Inctement Four. Second, under the
plans of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, all the Services were
to keep units in Vietnam as long as the American com-
bat role continued.

While most Marines would redeploy during 1970,
not all would, and the composition of the force to re-
main had to be determined eatly to assure the reten-
tion in-country of the units required for it. Marine
Corps leadets from the Commandant on down want-
ed the last Marine force in Vietnam, whatever its size,
to be an air-ground team. As Lieutenant General Wil-
liam J. Van Ryzin, Chief of Staff, HQMC, later
recalled, the Marine Corps’ main concetn “was in keep-
ing that balanced force in there and keeping the Ma-

rine command entity out there, regardless of the level
of forces, starting from 11l MAF down . . . . We didn’t
want to get into [a] Wotld War I type of organization
where we just became another brigade of an Army Di-
vision . . . 20

Marine Cotps doctrine prescribed standard organi-
zations for air-ground task forces from the division-
wing size MAF through the battalion-squadron size
Marine amphibious unit (MAU). Among 'these, the
Marine amphibious brigade seemed ideally suited to
the probable numbers and mission of the residual Ma-
tine combat force in Vietnam. According to the offi-
cial Marine Corps definition:

The MAB, normally commanded by a brigadier general,
is capable of conducting air-ground amphibious assault oper-
ations in low- and mid-conflict environments. The ground
element of the MAB is normally equivalent to a regimental
combat team (RCT). The air element is usually a MAG with
varied aviation capabilities. The combat service support ele-
ment includes significant resources from force troops, in-
cluding the FSR (Force Service Regiment), division and wing
combat service support units, and the Navy support units2!

In mid-December 1969, the Commandant of the
Matine Corps otdered the headquarters of FMFPac and
IIT MAF to begin planning for the organization of a
MAB in Vietnam of about 10,800 men built around
a regimental landing team and two aircraft groups—
one fixed-wing and one helicopters. In addition to the
MAB, FMFPac and 11Tl MAF wete to plan on retaining
after Increment Four between 600 and 1,200 CAP Ma-
rines and a logistic “rollup” force of about 1,200 sup-
portt and setvice troops who would finish packing and
shipping the equipment of the units leaving in Incre-
ment Four.

FMFPac then drafted a more detailed plan of or-
ganization for the MAB, proposing a ground element
consisting of an infantry regiment, an artillery battal-
ion, a platoon of 8-inch howitzers, and a battety of
175mm guns supported by reinforced companies of
reconnaissance Marines, engineets, and tanks. For the
aviation component FMFPac suggested a single com-
posite aircraft group of two fixed-wing squadrons, a
light helicopter squadron, and a medium helicopter
squadron. FMFPac sent this plan to Il MAF for its
comments and for the designation of specific units for
the brigade 22

On 6 January 1970, Lieutenant General Nickerson,
still Commanding General, IIl MAF, sent FMFPac his
proposals for a 10,800-man MAB. III MAF based its
plan on the assumption that the brigade would oper-
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ate around Da Nang or in the lowlands of Quang Nam
and that it would remain in Vietnam for about one
year. Both of these assumptions would govern discus-
sions of the MAB throughout most of 1970. Il MAF’s
proposals for the ground element of the MAB followed
those of FMFPac with the 1st Marines designated as
the infantry regiment and the 1st Battalion, 11th Ma-
rines, as the principal areillery unit. For the aviation
element, III MAF favored two aircraft groups—
MAG-11 (fixed-wing) and MAG-16 (helicopter)—
rather than a single composite MAG on the grounds
that two groups were needed to control eight differ-
ent aircraft types flying from two separate airfields.
11 MAF also provided a tentative list of jet and
helicopter squadrons and heavy artillery, armor, recon-
naissance, support, headquarters, and maintenance
units. Many of these designations would change dur-
ing the next several months, but throughout the plan-
ning process the major elements—the ist Marines and
MAGs -11 and -16—would remain the same?23

FMFPac quickly approved III MAF’s proposal. The
next step was to persuade MACV which thus far had
envisioned a post-Increment Four Marine force of one
RLT (about 7,500 men with no aviation component),
to incotporate the MAB in its planning. Early in Febru-
ary, General Abrams asked his corps area and compo-
nent commandets for comments on the next
redeployment. General Nickerson took the occasion
to request approval for planning putposes of the for-
mation of a 10,800-man MAB from the Marines not
removed in Inctement Four. Nickerson pointed out
that the MAB, with its own air, artillery, and logisti-
cal support, would provide MACV with a reserve force
in I Corps of greater mobility and firepower than
would the smaller RIT. He stressed also the greater
ability of the MAB to assist the ARVN with artillery,
helicopter transport, and tactical air support. Uncer-
tain whether MACV would accept the MAB and with
the overall size and composition of the 1970 redeploy-
ments undetermined, FMFPac and 111 MAF during the
next two months developed fall-back proposals for
MABs of 9,400 and 8,900 men. These plans involved
removal from the 10,800-man MAB of various com-
binations of aviation, artillery, and support units. All
the plans, however, maintained the MAB as an air-
ground task force24

During March and April, while they waited for
MACV'’s approval of the MAB concept and for deci-
sions from Washington on new redeployments, staff
officers of the MAF, division, and wing, in close con-
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sultation with FMFPac Headquarters, refined their
plans for the 10,800-man brigade. With the overall
structure of the force already set, discussion centered
on two issues—the organization of the aviation ele-
ment, and the size and organization of the MAB head-
quarters.

From the start of planning for the brigade, Major
General William G. Thrash, commander of the 1st
Marine Aircraft Wing, insisted that as long as both
fixed-wing and rotary-wing squadrons stayed in Viet-
nam, it was “absolutely essential” that they be of-
ganized in two separate aircraft groups. Thrash argued
that the different support requirements of jets and
helicopters would necessitate retention of most of the
headquarters, maintenance, and housekeeping squa-
drons of two groups even under a single composite
structure. He pointed out also that with Marine fixed-
wing squadrons operating under single-management
arrangements with the Air Force* a full Marine avia-
tion staff was needed to assure proper coordination
with the other Setvices. Finally, Thrash contended a
single MAG could not direct operations effectively
from the two separate fields at Da Nang and Marble
Mountain. General McCutcheon, an experienced avi-
ator, agreed with Thrash on this point after he took
command of III MAF in March?23

Nevertheless, late in February, Lieutenant General
Henry W. Buse, Jr., commanding FMFPac, directed
furcher study of the feasibility of a composite MAG
in the hope of meeting the air support needs of the
brigade with a force requiring fewer scarce headquart-
ers and maintenance personnel. McCutcheon and
Thrash reexamined the problem, but reached the same
conclusion as before. In mid-March, they informed
FMFPac that a composite group could operate with
fewer men than two groups only if all of its squadrons,
both fixed and rotary wing, could fly from the same
base. This would mean operating helicopters from Da
Nang, already crowded with aircraft of the Marines and
of the U.S. and Vietnamese air forces. Such an effort,
McCutcheon and Thrash pointed out, would cause
major air traffic control and safety problems and would
meet strong opposition from the US. Air Force.
McCutcheon and Thrash, therefore, reiterated their
preference for separate MAGs on separate fields2¢

With the issue still unsettled, the 1st MAW staff

*For details of the complicated and controvessial question of “sin-
gle management” of aircraft, which involved the placing of Marine
aircraft under Air Fotce control for some purposes, see Chapter 15.
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MayGen William G. Thrash, Commanding General, 15t Marine Aircraft Wing, greets
Adm John S. McCain, Jr., Commander-in-Chief, Pacific, who is visiting Da Nang.
Redeployment would be a topic of concern for senior U.S. commanders in 1970-1971.

submitted troop lists on 19 March for both single-
MAG and two-MAG organizations. Each list contained
two jet attack squadrons, an observation detachment
of OV-10As, and two helicopter squadrons—one medi-
um and one light. The two-MAG list provided for
MAG-11 and the fixed-wing squadrons to be based at
Da Nang while MAG-16 and the helicopter units re-
mained at Marble Mountain. In the composite group,

all units would be based at Da Nang under MAG-11,
which would have its headquarttets and maintenance
squadrons reinforced with personnel from counterpart
units of MAG-1627

While FMFPac, III MAF, and the 1st MAW debat-
ed aviation organization, the size and composition of
the MAB headquarters came under discussion. Dur-
ing March, a committee of officers representing all sec-
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tions of the III MAF staff, under the chairmanship of
Lieutenant Colonel Thomas P. Ganey of the G-3 sec-
tion, drafted a proposed table of organization for the
btigade headquarters. The committee’s plan called for
an “austere” staff of 88 officers and 171 enlisted men
supported by a small headquarters company. To keep
the entire establishment under a previously set limit
of 380 officers and men in Headquarters and Head-
quartets Company, the drafting committee proposed
that a number of key brigade staff jobs, such as that
of engineer officer, be taken over by commanders of
the brigade’s component units?28

On 26 March, the committee sent its plan to the
various staff sections for review and comment. The
staff sections responded with an almost unanimous
demand for more headquarters manpower and with
protests against imposing brigade administrative duties
on unit commanders. Such a doubling of functions,
many of the sections pointed out, might be possible
in a MAB engaged only in normal combat missions,
but the brigade in Vietnam would have much larger
responsibilities. As the senior Marine command in-
countty, it would have to maintain relations with
MACV, XXIV Cotps, the ARVN, and the other U.S.
Services, and this would involve much complicated
staff work. Colonel Wilbur F. Simlik, Assistant Chief
of Staff, G-4, IIl MAF, objecting to the plan to make
the commander of the engineer battalion the brigade
engineer officer, summed up the probable results of
such “double-hatting” in the MAB:

To depend on the harried commander of a bobtailed far
flung Engineer Battalion to: (a) be available when required;
(b) have the time to spate from his command to sit in on
endless conferences and briefings, compose immediate,
detailed action briefs, to attend conferences at XXIV Corps,
Okinawa, [and] Hawait away from his command, and (c)
demand from his separated staff the necessaty research for
meaningful recommendations, is . . . courting failure2®

The committee revised the table of organization,
submitted it for additional staff comment, and by the
end of April had created a version which incorporat-
ed many of the staff sections’ demands for more men
and eliminated most of the extra duty for unit com-
manders. By reducing the strength of the headquart-
ers company, the committee increased the number of
headquarters staff personnel to 321 while keeping the
combined total within the 380 ceiling. Lieutenant
General Leo Dulacki, who was then Chief of Staff of
II1 MAF, later remembered the frustration of tailot-
ing the MAB headquarterss, “incongruously, the pro-
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posed MAB Headquarters actually would contain more
officers and men than did the much reduced III MAF
Headquarters."3°

While the MAF, division, and wing staffs refined
the details of the brigade’s organization, General
McCutcheon sought approval of the overall concept
from XXIV Corps and MACV. Early in April, Mc-
Cutcheon suggested, and Lieutenant General Melvin
Zais, Commanding General, XXIV Corps, approved
as a basis for planning, creation of a Marine brigade
under the operational control of XXIV Corps to opet-
ate around Da Nang. Also during April, without fot-
mal announcement, the 10,800-man MAB replaced
the 7,500-man RLT in MACV’s discussions of Incre-
ment Four and its aftermath. Colonel George C. Fox,
Deputy Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3, III MAF, report-
ed on 6 May that “MACYV started out loud and clear
for 7,500 Marines to stay in-countty, and we have
brought him up, and he has bought this 13.2 [thou-
sand]* I haven't seen a figure come out of him with
anything less than 13.2 in some time.3!

Colonel Fox recalled the process which brought the
MACV staff to accept the MAB:

There was a lot of shoe work going on . . . . We never
told them specifically what was in that thing except that
it had artillery, and it had tanks, and it had this and so,
... and we never gave them any specific figures of so much
artillery, and so much this and so on. We kept it pretty broad
... And I know there was some working going on back
here [at FMFPac]. There was some work going on in
Washington along the same lines, too, but it all jelled, and

. that's the important thing.32

By mid-April, both XXIV Corps and MACV had
given tentative apptoval to the MAB, and at III MAF
Headquarters the list of units composing the MAB was
taking permanent form. The ground element con-
tinued to be built atound the 1st Marines and the 1st
Battalion, 11th Marines, an 8-inch howitzer battery,
a 175mm gun battery, and a tank company. The avia-
tion component, now set at two aircraft groups, con-
sisted of MAG-11 (VMA-311, VMA[AW]-225, and a
detachment of four OV-10s) and MAG-16 (HMM-262,

*The 13,200 figure to which Fox referred consisted of the MAB
(10,800); the 2d Combined Action Group (600 men who by previ-
ous agreement between General Abrams and Lieutenant General
Nickerson would remain after Inctement Four in addition to the
MAB); the logistic cleanup force of 1,200; and 600 more Marines
of ANGLICO, the advisory group, the Embassy security detach-
ment, the MACV staff, and other detachments not under III MAF.
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HML-367, and a detachment of six CH-53s from
HMH-463). The brigade would have a logistic sup-
port group of about 900 officers and men and would
have attached to it companies of engineers, shore party,
military police, medical and dental personnel, a
detachment from the 1st Radio Battalion, and Com-
munications Support Company, 7th Communications
Battalion* which would replace 5th Communications
Battalion 32

As the troop list for the brigade began to take shape,
so did its mission and area of operations. Early in
April, III MAF proposed that the MAB take charge
of the present Ist Marines TAOR in the Rocket Belt
while retaining the ability to conduct mobile opera-
tions of short duration anywhere in Quang Nam. This
concept became the starting point for further discus-
sion of the brigade’s mission 34

By early June, Marine staff officers involved in MAB
planning were facing without enthusiasm the likeli-
hood that much of the MAB’s infantry would be im-
mobilized defending Da Nang airfield. III MAF had
been long charged with protecting the airbase and had
employed the 1st and 3d Military Police Battalions for
that purpose. These battalions were scheduled to
redeploy in Keystone Robin Alpha. XXIV Corps, while
it issued no formal directives on the subject, indicat-
ed that the MAB would inherit Il MAF's base defense
task and that neither U.S. Army nor ARVN troops
would be provided to replace the MPs. Thus, in the
words of Colonel Beck, the 1st Marine Division Chief
of Staff, “obviously somebody is going to be tied to
that dad-blamed airfield, and it looks as if inevitably
this is going to fall on the MAB. The circles in which
I operated . . . were very fearful of this happening,
but we were braced to accept it . . . '35

With the MAB likely to be responsible for both the

*Reorganization often required organizational redesignation that
had an effect on command relations. For example, 5th Com-
munications Battalion, which included four companies, was redesig-
nated to Communications Support Company, 7th Communications
Battalion, and was organized into seven platoons. The mission as-
signed the company was identical to that of the battalion. To effect
the change, officers, staff noncommissioned officers, and adminis-
trative and other enlisted personnel were transferred to the newly
designated units. Major Robert T. Himmerich, who commanded
Communications Support Company, recalled that he “was autho-
rized almost twice the men and equipment as was the parent bat-
talion in Okinawa and had half the officers and staff NCOs. Ours
was not the only Force Troops unit to experience this anomaly” Maj
Robert T. Himmerich, Comments on draft ms, 28Ap183 (Vietnam
Comment File).

Rocket Belt and the Da Nang Airbase and city, late
in June Marine planners began reconsidering the com-
position of the brigade’s ground element. At IIl MAF
and 1st Division Headquarters, staff officers suggest-
ed that the heavy artillery and armored units of the
MAB, which probably would find little use in a
brigade committed to defense of populated areas in
a period of diminishing combat, be dropped and
replaced with a fourth infantry battalion. This bat-
talion could protect the airfield, freeing the three bat-
talions of the 1st Marines for mobile operations. On
29 June, at a III MAF generals’ conference, Brigadier
General Edwin H. Simmons, the new assistant divi-
sion commander of the 1st Marine Division, who had
assumed his duties 13 days before and had been made
the division’s principal spokesman on MAB planning,
endorsed the proposal for a fourth infantry battalion.
Lieutenant General McCutcheon initially doubted
that another battalion could be squeezed into the
MAB under existing manpower ceilings, but finally
he also gave the idea his support. By mid-July, the sub-
stitution of more infantry for the brigade’s tanks, heavy
guns, and howitzers appeared to be on the way to
adoption.®®

Although the final details of otganization for what
now was designated the 3d MAB remained unsettled,
by late July the staffs of IIl MAF and FMFPac had de-
veloped a schedule for activating the brigade head-
quarters as the MAF, division, and wing headquarters
left Vietnam with the redeploying troops. The plans
were based on the assumption that all Marine units
except those designated for 3d MAB and the other
restdual forces would have withdrawn by 31 Decem-
ber. According to the schedule approved by Lieutenant
General McCutcheon and by Lieutenant General Wil-
liam K. Jones, who replaced Lieutenant General Buse
in July as Commanding General, FMFPac, a small
MAB planning staff would begin operations on 15
September. About a month later, 3d MAB would start
directing ground operations of the 1st Marines under
operational control of the division, and about 15
November, the brigade would take charge of the ac-
tivities of MAGs-11 and -16. In late November and De-
cember, the division and wing headquarters would
leave, and toward the end of December, III MAF
would turn over all of its functions as senior in-country
Marine command to 3d MAB. Then the MAF head-
quarters itself would redeploy??

As the Marines entered their last summer of com-
bat in Vietnam, the end of their participation in the
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war seemed close at hand. III MAF was expected to
redeploy two-thirds of its strength by the end of the
year. Plans were well advanced for reorganization of

the remainder into a smaller air-ground task force. The
Marines still had time, however, for a final offensive,
and by mid-July that attack was getting under way.
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CHAPTER 4
The Summer Campaign in Quang Nam, July-September 1970

New Campaign Plans — Summer Offensive: The 7th Marines in Pickens Forest
The 1st and Sth Marines Continue the Small-Unit War— Combat Declines, But the Threat Continues
Deployment Plans Change: More Marines Stay Longer

New Campaign Plans

On 10 June, MACYV issued orders for an aggressive
summer campaign to exploit the Communist reverses
caused by the allied invasion of Cambodia. The ord-
ers directed allied regular forces to attack enemy bases
and main force units. The Americans and other non-
Vietnamese contingents would operate only within
South Vietnam while the Vietnamese, besides taking
patt in the in-country offensive, would also continue
limited operations in Cambodia. RFs and PFs were to
speed up their takeover of local defense responsibili-
ties to free more regulats for mobile warfare in the back
country. The MACV directive enjoined continued con-
cetn for pacification and population security, but for
the US. and ARVN units, at least, the emphasis for
the summer was to be on wide-ranging attacks to drive
the enemy still further from the populated regions.

The announcement of the summer campaign was
followed by a reorganization of the South Vietnamese
Armed Forces (RVNAF) command structure. On 2
July, President Nguyen Van Thieu issued decrees in-
corporating the RFs and PFs into the Vietnamese Army
and redesignating Cotps Tactical Zones as Military
Regions (MRs).* Under the new arrangement, 1 Corps,
for example, became Military Region 1 (MR 1). Each
corps commander now received two deputies—a cotps
deputy commander and a military region deputy com-
mander. The corps deputy commander would conduct
major offensive operations and furnish artillery, air,
and other support to the MR, while the MR deputy
commander, in charge of territotial defense and pacifi-
cation, would command the RFs and PFs and super-
vise their training and administration. Concurrent
with these decrees, MACV and the Vietnamese Joint
General Seaff (JGS) completed plans for incorporat-
ing the Civilian Irregular Defense Groups into the
ARVN as Border Defense Ranger Battalions. As the

*These decrees, and another issued on 7 July, also reorganized
the JGS in Saigon by, among other changes, abolishing the posts
of the separate RF/PF commander and Special Forces Command
and placing the inspector general of the RF/PF under the Inspec-
tor General Directorate of the JGS. MACV Comd Hist 70, 11, chap.
VII, pp. 16-20.
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summet campaign opened, many American and Viet-
namese officets expressed uncertainty about how much
change in day-to-day activities and working relation-
ships these dectees would actually bring about. The
overall purpose seemed clear: 1o unify command and
strengthen the administration of the RVNAF?2

In I Corps, or MR 1 as it was now called, the frui-
tion of III MAF's effort to build up Quang Da Spe-
cial Zone (QDSZ) into an effective tactical
headquarters coincided in time with the larger RVNAF
reorganization, During the spring, the able com-
mander of QDSZ, Colonel Nguyen Van Thien, moved
his command post from downtown Da Nang to Hill
34, about five miles south of the city, 2 more suitable
site from which to direct field operations. In the same
period, QDSZ'’s combat operations and fire support
direction centers finally reached the stage of develop-
ment where they could support multibattalion oper-
ations.

General Lam, the commander of MR 1, turned over
tactical direction of the ARVN summer campaign in
Quang Nam to QDSZ. By early July, besides the 51st
Regiment, QDSZ had received from General Lam
operational conttol of the 1st Ranger Group, the CIDG
5th Mobile Strike Group, the 1st Armored Brigade,
the 17th Armored Cavalry Squadron, and the 44th and
64th Artillery Battalions. On 11 July, when the 258th
Vietnamese Marine Brigade — three infantty and one
light artillery battalions—artived to reinforce I Corps
for the summer campaign* General Lam placed it un-
der control of QDSZ3 When the Vietnamese Marines
reached Quang Nam, a III MAF staff officer recalled
that QDSZ:

. . . [was] given the full responsibility for receiving [them]
from Saigon and getting them staged . . . and they took
hold of this job in comparable fashion to how a Marine di-
vision headquartets would respond. They moved them in,
got them bivouaced, got them squared away . . . *

*Discussion of bringing in a Vietnamese Marine Brigade to
strengthen I Cotps had gone on since the beginning of the year,
but its arrival was delayed until July. Col Floyd H. Waldrop, Debrief-
ing at FMFPac, 19 Aug 70, Tape 4926 OralHistColl, MCHC,
Washington, D.C.
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LtGen James W. Sutherland, USA, center, Commanding General, XXIV Corps, looks
out from FSB Ryder with Col Edmund G. Derning, ]r., left, Commanding Officer, 7th
Marines, and MajGen Charles F. Widdecke, Commanding General, 15t Marine Division.

This Quang Da Special Zone troop reinforcement
was part of the preparations for the XXIV Corps/MR
1 joint summer campaign. Lieutenant General James
W. Sutherland, USA, who in June had succeeded
General Zais as XXIV Cotps commandet, had work-
ed out an ambitious plan with General Lam to im-
plement MACV’s call for a summer offensive. In Thua
Thien, the 101st Airborne and 1st ARVN Divisions
would strike toward the Da Krong and A Shau Val-
leys, base areas from which the NVA threatened Hue.
(The establishment of FSB Ripcord in March and April
had been a preliminary to this operation). In Quang
Tin, elements of the Americal and 2d ARVN divisions
would reopen an abandoned airstrip at Kham Duc,
deep in the mountains, and from there fan out, hunt-
ing enemy troops, supply caches, and lines of com-
munication. In Quang Nam, QDSZ, controlling a
division-size force for the first time and supported by
two battalions of the 7th Marines, would attack Base
Areas 112 and 127 west and southwest of Da Nang5

Summer Offensive: the 7th Marines in Pickens Forest

In early July, as preparations began for the summer

offensive, the 7th Marines had two of its battalions
deployed in what its commander, Colonel Edmund
G. Derning, called “pacification mode,” the 1st Bat-
talion covering the eastern part of the regiment’s TAOR
around LZ Baldy and the 3d Battalion guarding the
Que Son Valley. The 2d Battalion also operated from
LZ Baldy. It functioned as the regiment’s “Swing Bat-
talion,” or mobile reserve, providing companies to rein-
force the Rocket Belt during threatened enemy
offensive “high points” and conducting multi-
company operations where intelligence found profita-
ble targets, usually in the Que Son Mountains or their
foothills,

By early July, the 7th Marines faced what seemed
to be a diminishing enemy threat. Colonel Derning’s
Marines now rarely encountered enemy soldiers in
groups of more than 10, and the North Vietnamese
and Viet Cong usually avoided sustained combat, rely-
ing on sniper fire and boobytraps to inflict Marine
casualties. Derning, who had commanded the regi-
ment since February, had gradually altered tactics in
response to this decline in combat intensity. A gradu-
ate of the Army Special Warfare School at Fort Bragg,
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North Carolina, he was well versed in counterguerril-
la tactics and regarded pacification as his main mis-
sion. His training with the 1st Marine Raider Battalion
in World War II provided him with an excellent un-
derstanding of night combat. Derning’s new plan drew
heavily on both of these elements of his experience.

Fundamental to Derning’s “pacification mode,” was
the substantial abandonment of daytime patrols,
sweeps, and searches by the 7th Matines’ battalions
around Baldy and in the Que Son Valley. Daytime
maneuvers at the level of combat then prevailing,

. Derning believed, physically exhausted the troops
without achieving significant results. Extensive day-
time patrolling also increased the risk of boobytrap
casualties with little probability of seriously hurting
the enemy in the lowlands since the VC/NVA usually
did not move much in the daylight. Instead of maneu-
vering, Derning’s battalions by day surrounded known
Viet Cong-controlled hamlets. Manning checkpoints,
the Marines supervised the movement of the people
between their houses and the fields, to prevent sup-
plies from going out of the hamlets and VC from in-
filtrating* The cordons, which consisted of static
observation posts and firing positions, could be main-
tained with relatively few Marines. The rest could
sleep, repair equipment, or train while company and
platoon commanders planned extensive night am-
bushes and patrols to intercept small enemy units dur-
ing the VC’s preferred time for movement. Derning
was convinced that these tactics both weakened the
enemy by denying them supplies and mobility and
reduced allied losses®

While two of the battalions followed Derning’s
scheme of operations, the “Swing Battalion” continued
daytime search and destroy maneuvers, usually in the
Que Son Mountains. These operations at times proved
productive. On 13 July, for instance, Company H of
the 2d Battalion pursued a wounded Viet Cong into
a cave in the Que Son foothills west of Baldy and dis-
covered that it had trapped almost 30 VC.

A night-long siege ensued during which seven of
the Viet Cong were killed, some of them by Marines
who crawled into the cave and shot them at close range
with pistols. A total of 20 VC, most of them the Com-
munist leaders of a village, eventually surrendered.
Colonel Derning considered this mass surrender and
other defections by guetrillas an indication that his
pacification strategy was succeeding?

*For more detail on the pacification aspect of this strategy, see
Chapter 9.
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373325
Marines from the 2d Platoon, Company B, 15t Bat-
talion, 7th Marines ford the Thu Bon River. Note

many of the Marines are wearing soft floppy hats.

In mid-July, Colonel Derning and his staff put aside
pacification plans and, instead, took up preparations
for Operation Pickens Forest * This, the 1st Marine Di-
vision's first operation of the year outside its regular
TAOR, would form part of the general allied summer
incursion into Base Areas (BAs) 112 and 127, the ene-
my'’s two principal mountain refuges in Quang Nam.

Each of these areas was a quadrangle of mountain
and jungle which served as a collection point for sup-
plies brought from Laos or the Quang Nam lowlands.
Each contained cleverly hidden and fortified head-
quartets, communications centers, and training and
rest camps. Here enemy main force units normally
spent most of their time between operations. Com-
mand groups, including, it was believed, the Fronz 4

*In July the division staff resumed the practice of assigning names
to operations of battalion or larger size.
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Headguarters, directed enemy military and political
activity from both bases. BA 127 extended north from
Thuong Duc and eastward into Charlie Ridge. BA 112,
larger in area and considered by allied staffs to be the
more important of the two, was bounded on the north
by the Vu Gia River. It stretched eastward to the
western fringes of the Atizona Territory, southward into
Quang Ngai Province, and westward to the Song Cai,
a river which runs northeastward to enter the Vu Gia
five miles west of Thuong Duc.

Allied reconnaissance teams had conducted almost
250 separate patrols in these two base areas since Janu-
ary, killing about 300 enemy and confirming the
presence of many more. Hundreds of air attacks, in-
cluding 22 Arc Light B-52 strikes, had showered bombs
and napalm on suspected campsites and supply
depots, and artillery had pounded still other targets.
Now ground forces were scheduled to go in and stay
long enough and in sufficient strength to deny the
enemy use of these areas for the summer, find hid-

Marines of Company B, 15t Battalion, 7th Marines are
seen on the march in the Thu Bon River Valley in
Operation Pickens Forest southwest of Da Nang.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373921

den supplies, and clear out any surviving enemy for-
mations8®

Under'the plan worked out by Quang Da Special
Zone and the 1st Marine Division, South Vietnamese
forces would penetrate deep into the western reaches
of the base areas while the Marines swept an area closer
to the populated regions. In July, continuing activi-
ties begun in May to relieve Thuong Duc, the 51st
ARVN Regiment launched Operation Hung Quang
1/32B in southern BA 127. Southwest of Thuong Duc,
in northwestern BA 112, the 1st Ranger Group con-
tinued Operation Vu Ninh 12, which it had started
on 16 June. This operation expanded on 13 July when
the 256th Vietnamese Marine Brigade began search-
ing an area of operation south of that of the Rangers.
By mid-July, Quang Da Special Zone, which had es-
tablished its forward command post at An Hoa, had
11 battalions under its control scouting the base
areas— three of the Vietnamese Marine battalions, two
of the 51st Regiment, three of the 1st Ranger Group,
and three of the Civilian Irregular Defense Group Mo-
bile Strike Force?

The block of terrain selected for Operation Pickens
Forest was southwest of the Vietnamese Marines’ area
of operations. Encompassing the southeastern portion
of BA 112, the area straddled the Thu Bon River. Its
center lay about nine miles southwest of An Hoa where
a small stream flowing northeastward out of the moun-
tains of BA 112 empties into the Thu Bon. Here several
major infiltration routes to and from Base Area 112
came together. To the west, a complex of stream beds
and trails led into the mountains. To the south, ene-
my units could follow the Thu Bon into the Americal
Division’s TAOR while northward the same river
offered access to the Arizona Territoty, the An Hoa
Region and, where the Thu Bon branched eastward
into Antenna Valley, to the Que Son Mountains. Aerial
and ground reconnaissance had obsetved continual
enemy use of the area, which was known to be pock-
ed with bunkers, caves, fighting holes, and probably
large supply caches. In late 1969 and eatly 1970, the
Ist Marine Division had made tentative plans for a
drive into the region by the Sth Marines, but the opet-
ation had never been launched. Now, in Pickens Forest,
the 7th Marines would take up the task.©

In the western part of their operating area, the Ma-
rines would encounter typical Vietnamese mountain
terrain—a tangle of ridges cut up by steep-sided gul-
lies and stream beds, and overgrown with dense jun-
gle, underbrush, and in many places bamboo. Near
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the Thu Bon, they would find a few hamlets where
Viet Cong-controlled farmers grew rice and corn for
the enemy. Surrounding the hamlets, level paddy and
farm land was interspersed with treelines, palm and
rubbertree groves, and stretches of elephant grass. Im-
mediately east of the Thu Bon, the ground is hilly,
but less densely forested than the terrain west of the
tiver, Near the southern boundaty of the area of oper-
ations, jungled hills close in on the Thu Bon, confin-
ing it to a series of natrow, steep-sided gorges.

According to allied intelligence estimates, this ter-
rain probably concealed about 400 enemy troops.
These included elements of Front 4 Headguarters and
headquarters and supply units of the 3825 NVA and
Ist VC Regiments and the 490th Sapper Battalion.
Should they choose to counterattack the Marines, the
North Vietnamese and Viet Cong could bring into the
atea perhaps 1,500 combat troops of the 15z and 384
Regiments, but allied officets considered this a most
unlikely course of action for the enemy, who proba-
bly would evade the Marines while harassing them
with sniper fire and boobytraps. In fact, all the esti-
mates of enemy strength and capabilities were only
tentative. As Colonel Derning put it, “The real
problem was what was the enemy, where was he, or
was he really there at all?”1!

Pickens Forest would be what the 1st Marine Divi-
sion defined as a Category III operation, “designed
to locate and destroy NVA forces, supplies and in-
stallations in the highlands before they can interfere
with pacification . . . . Maintenance of a personnel
presence in these areas is not envisioned.” Because the
enemy’s strength and disposition were uncertain, the
operation plan emphasized deployment of a substan-
tial Marine force at the start, able to envelop any hostile
units encountered and positioned to bring all of its
men and firepower quickly into action in the event
of a major engagement.

The scheme of maneuver centered around a trian-
gle of hilleop fire support bases (FSBs): Defiant, just
west of the Thu Bon at what Colonel Detning labelled
“the hub of the whole AQ”; Mace, about three and
one-half miles northwest of Defiant; and Dart, five
miles southwest of Defiant. The latter two FSBs had
been used in eatlier Army and Marine operations, so
they could be reopened quickly. In the first phase of
the operation, one rifle company would land from
helicopters to secure FSB Defiant, followed closely by
a battery of 105mm howitzers. Two more rifle com-
panies would then land along the banks of the Thu
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Bon to search that area and to provide a blocking force
for units driving toward them from Mace and Dart.
In the second phase, Mace and Dart would each be
occupied by a battalion command post with two rifle
companies and a 4.2-inch mortar battery. The rifle
companies from each of the western firebases would
work their way toward FSB Defiant, along the hill trails
and stream beds, carefully searching the ground and,
it was hoped, driving groups of enemy before them
into the blocking fotce on the Thu Bon. As the com-
panies reached the river valley, the reunited force
would begin the third phase, a thorough search on
both sides of the river.

The 7th Marines committed two of its battalions
to the operation, the Ist under Lieutenant Colonel
Charles G. Cooper and the 2d under Lieutenant Col-
onel Vincent A. Albers, Jr. Cooper’s battalion, con-
trolling three of its own rifle companies* and one from
Albers’ battalion, would establish the blocking force
east of the Thu Bon and FSB Mace. Albers’ battalion
with two companies would secure FSB Dart. A Pacifi-
er company from the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, tem-
porarily under control of the 7th Marines, would
protect the main artillery position at FSB Defiant. The
artillery contingent would consist of Battery G (six
105mm howitzers) and Battery W (six 4.2-inch mot-
tars) from Lieutenant Colonel David K. Dickey’s 3d
Battalion, 11th Marines, reinforced by two 4.2 mor-
tars and their crews from Battery W, 1st Battalion, 11th
Marines. While these forces conducted the operation,
the 3d Battalion, 7th Marines, commanded by Lieu-
tenant Colonel Kenneth L. Robinson, Jr., would pro-
tect the regiment’s TAOR with its four rifle companies,
the regimental CUPP company, and one company
from Alberts’ battalion, aided by the RFs and PFs.12

Early in the motning of 16 July, D-Day for Pickens
Forest, CH-46s and CH-53s of MAG-16 loaded with
Marines, artillery, and supplies descended on their in-
itial objectives. At about 0800, the Pacifier unit, Com-
pany C, 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, took position on
FSB Defiant. Thirty minutes later, the first three
howitzers of Battery G were landed, followed shortly
by the rest of the battery and Colonel Derning’s
regimental command post. About at the same time,
Company B of the 1st Battalion dropped into LZ Blue-
jay just north of Defiant on the west bank of the Thu
Bon, and Company E, 2d Battalion, deployed at LZ

*Company A, of the 1st Battalion was serving as the 7th Marines’
Combined Unit Pacification Program (CUPP) company. See Chapter
9.
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Three Marines of Company B, 1st Battalion, 7th Marines search the high grass in the
Thu Bor River Valley southwest of Da Nang for the enemy during Operation Pickens
Forest. Starting in early July 1970, Pickens Forest was the first named operation of the year.

Starling, about two miles south of Defiant on the east
side of the river.

About 0930, the 1st Battalion command group with
Companies C and D and four mortars of Battery W
began landing at FSB Mace, while the 2d Battalion
CP and four more mortars of Battery W occupied Dart,
and Companies F and G landed just to the south in
LZ Robin to achieve surprise. The Matines had not pre-
pared Mace and Dart with air strikes or artillery fire.
Instead, patrols from the 1st Reconnaissance Battal-
ion, aitlifted into the vicinity the previous day, deter-
mined that the landing zones were safe, and on
D-Day, guided in the troop-carrying helicopters.!® By
1500 on the 16th, the entire attack force, brought in
by helicopters, had moved into its planned positions.
Colonel Derning, who spent much of the day aloft
with the airborne helicopter commander, called the
initial insertion “a beautiful example of air-ground
team wotk . . . I've never seen school solutions work
quite that well”14

As the Marines had expected, the enemy offered no
opposition to their landings. The rifle companies
quickly began searching the areas into which they had
been inserted. The artillery used air-transported minia-
ture bulldozers (“mini-dozers”) to clear undergrowth
from the fire support bases and to scoop out gun em-
placements and ammunition storage pits. Each of the
three fire bases had its own fire direction center, and

Lieutenant Colonel Dickey set up a small artillery bat-
talion CP and communications center at FSB Defiant
to coordinate the batteries’ efforts.!s

For the next ten days, the operation went forward
as planned. Company E gradually worked its way
southward up the Thu Bon while Company B and the
Pacifier company searched the river valley north of FSB
Defiant. The units from FSBs Mace and Dart, mean-
while, pushed across country toward the river. In the
extremely rough and overgrown mountains, Cooper’s
and Albers’ Marines followed the major trails and
stteambeds on the assumption that this was where the
enemy should be. The assumption proved correct, but
the channelling of the Marines’ approach into predic-
table routes often allowed Communist troops to es-
cape before the Marines advanced into their base
camps.

The enemy in the area avoided sustained combat,
but small parties occasionally harassed the Marines
with sniper fire and grenades, usually to cover the
evacuation of base camps or the escape of a larger
group. Until late in the operation, the North Viet-
namese and Viet Cong, presumably for lack of time,
set few boobytraps. By atracking aggressively when the
enemy showed themselves, the Marines killed a few
NVA and VC, and they often forced the Communists
to leave food and equipment behind when they fled.
In the southern part of the operational area, night am-
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bushes on the trails produced several significant con-
tacts with the enemy. During the most important of
these skirmishes on the night of 26 July, elements of
Company E ambushed about 30 NVA in an exchange
of gunfire and grenades that wounded six Marines.
Searching the area of the fight the next morning, the
Marines found 5 dead Notth Vietnamese soldiers, 3
weapons, and 24 packs, evidently abandoned by the
retreating enemy sutvivors. Documents taken from the
packs identified the ambushed men as members of
a naval sapper group which had started south from
Hanoi in February!e

Spreading out in squad and platoon patrols, the
companies uncovered bunkets, camps, and caches of
food, ordnance, and medical supplies. Many of these
discoveries resulted from the careful search of target
areas identified by intelligence sources. On 27 July,
for example, a patrol from Company E, working with
Vietnamese province officials and RF troops and guid-
ed by a Viet Cong defector, located a cache of 139 SKS
rifles in the hills east of the Thu Bon. Colonel Dern-
ing later commented that “Most of . . . our scoring
was done with intelligence. Intelligence targets are the
key."17

As the companies that landed at Mace and Dart
moved toward the Thu Bon, the artillery shifted posi-
tion to support them. On 22 July, the mortar battery
from Mace and the 1st Battalion CP were lifted by
helicopters to a new position near the Thu Bon about
two miles north-northeast of Fire Support Base Defi-
ant. The next day, the other mortar battery moved
from FSB Dart to Defiant, completing the concentra-
tion of the artillery to cover the Thu Bon Valley.

While most of the Pickens Forest area of operation
contained few civilians, FSB Defiant overlooked several
hamlets and a rice and corn growing area. Colonel
Derning, in the first couple of days of the operation,
had over 200 inhabitants of the hamlets collected and
temporarily resettled in friendly villages to the north.
He did this to screen the civilians for enemy soldiers
and agents and to clear the area for Marine fire and
maneuver. On the second day of the operation, Dern-
ing’s Marines used helicopter-borne loudspeakers to
order all civilians to move towards the Thu Bon, warn-
ing them that anyone moving away from the river
would be considered hostile and fired upon by sup-
porting gunships. The technique proved effective, but
failure to use it immediately after insertion of the
troops, in Colonel Derning’s opinion, probably al-
lowed most of the enemy hidden among the people
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to slip away into the hills. “I wish,” Derning said later,
“I had been able to use that technique to begin with,
and I think I would have scored better."18

In the fields near FSB Defiant, acres of corn were
ripe for harvesting. To deny this food to the enemy,
Colonel Derning persuaded 1st Marine Division Head-
quarters to give him 50,000 piastres with which to hire
friendly Vietnamese civilians to pick the corn. He
offered the corn to the local Duc Duc District Chief,
who did not think his people could use it. Derning
then turned to the authorities in Que Son District,
back in the 7th Marines’ regular TAOR, who respond-
ed favorably.

Beginning on 24 July, CH-53s roared into LZ Baldy
each morning to pick up loads of eager peasants, many
of whom had assembled at the base gate at daybreak
so as not to miss the trip. Loaded with people and with
two and one-half-ton trailets slung underneath them,
the big helicoptets then flew to selected corn fields,
set down the trailers, and disgorged the pickers who
fanned out and went to work. By 1100 or 1130 each
day, the trailers would be full, and the helicopters
would fly them and the people back to Baldy. The
50,000 piasters ran out quickly, but, according to
Derning, “it was just like taking a very small cup of
water and priming the well.” The peasants continued
working for the corn itself, turning part in to their dis-
trict authorities and keeping the rest to feed them-
selves and their animals. By 8 August, when the
harvest ended, the Vietnamese had taken over 42,000
pounds of the enemy’s cotn, much of which could be
seen laid out to dry on the paving of Route 1 “from
Ba Ren River . . . to . . . just outside of Baldy”

Colonel Derning was “delighted” with the harvest
he had set in motion. “I thought that every day we
pulled that out we were really dealing old Charlie a
good blow . . . and it was a good morale factor. It
was good to be a member of the GVN."1®

During the corn harvest, the 7th Marines began
realigning and reducing its forces in Pickens Forest.
All the infantry companies were now operating in the
hills near the Thu Bon.

On 26 July, the 1st Battalion command group and
Company B returned to LZ Baldy. The next day Com-
pany C followed them, leaving Company D to con-
tinue operations attached to Lieutenant Colonel
Albers’ 2d Battalion. Albers’ battalion had resumed
control of Company E on the 22d, and on the 27th,
Company H, which had been under operational con-
trol of the 3d Battalion, arrived in the Thu Bon Val-
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ley and began combing the hills north of FSB Defiant.
On 28 July, the Pacifier company boarded helicopters
to return to Division Ridge and control of the 1st Bat-
talion, Sth Marines. That same day, the 7th Marines
command group moved back to LZ Baldy, and a
regimental order assigned the 1st Battalion to defense
of the eastern AO around Baldy and the 3d to pro-
tection of the Ross-Ryder area, The 2d Bartalion, its
CP now located on Hill 110 about three-quarters of
a mile northeast of Defiant, would continue Pickens
Forest.

The artillery also reduced and realigned forces. On
25 July, the mortar battery located north of FSB De-
fiant was broken up. Two of its weapons and their crews
went from the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines, to Baldy,
and two more from the 1st Battalion, 11th Marines
returned to their parent unit near Da Nang. Two days
later four howitzers of Battery G and the artillery bat-
talion command group moved to LZ Ross. The other
two howitzers and their crews displaced to Hill 110.
There they joined the four remaining mortars and
crews of Battery W to form a provisional battery which
continued to support Operation Pickens Forest 20

The Marines of the 2d Battalion continued sear-
ching along the Thu Bon. On 30 July, Company E,
working its way upstream (southwesterly} along both
banks of the river, ran into the strongest enemy op-
position yet encountered in the operation. The con-
tact occutred about four miles south of Hill 110 at a
point where the river flows through a narrow, steep-
sided gorge about 2,000 feet deep. At about noon on
the 30th, eight Marines from Company E in two boats
were hunting for caves in the cliffs ovethanging the
water, while other patrols moved along the bank.
Without wartning, perhaps 50 NVA or VC with as
many as four machine guns, well concealed in caves
and bunkers in the sides of the gorge close to water
level, opened fire. They quickly riddled and sank the
two boats, killing two Marines and wounding three.
The survivers, both wounded and unwounded, were
left floundering in the stteam. The Marines on land
returned fire, covering the retreat of their swimming
comrades whom the cutrent carried northward toward
safety. Three flights of jets came into support Com-
pany E. In spite of low clouds, rain showers, and the
narrowness of the gorge, which made direction of the
strikes difficult, the Marine pilots managed to drop
enough napalm to silence the enemy weapons and al-
low the infantry to regroup while a CH-46 evacuated
the wounded. The skirmish had cost the company two

men killed and a total of four wounded; enemy loss-
es, if any, could not be determined 2!

That evening, Company C, 1st Battalion, Sth Ma-
rines, returned to Pickens Forest. Helicopters landed
the Pacifier company in a valley south and west of the
site of Company E’s fight in the hope of blocking with-
drawal of the hostile force. Sweeping northward up a
mountain the next day, Company C killed one VC
sniper and detained six civilian suspects but found no
sign of the enemy main body. Companies C and E
continued to sweep the area on 1 August, without sig-
nificant contact, and that evening the Pacifier com-
pany returned to Da Nang?2

For another week after the fight at the river, the Ma-
rines continued searching the Thu Bon Valley. They
killed or captured a few more Viet Cong and unco-
vered three large food caches and several smaller ones
of weapons and medical supplies. The number of
troops in the operation steadily dwindled. On 1 Au-
gust, Company F returned to LZ Baldy for rest and
rehabilitation. Ies place was taken by Company G
which had just finished a similar rest period. On $
August, Company E also left the Thu Bon Valley for
Baldy.

On 9 August, companies of the 2d Battalion mov-
ed into a new area of operations farther west. This
change of position resulted from a decision by General
Lam late in July to send several Vietnamese battalions
beyond the western border of BA 112 in a raid on sus-
pected enemy logistic and communications centers.
Lam, supported by Lieutenant General Sutherland,
the XXIV Corps commander, asked III MAF to ex-
tend the 7th Marines’ area of operation to support this
advance. General McCutcheon argued against the
movement. He pointed out that information about
the advance probably would reach the enemy,
eliminating any chance of major finds or contacts, and
that the ARVN could achieve more by renewing and
intensifying operations nearer the populated areas.
Lam insisted on the westward thrust and Sutherland
backed him, so McCutcheon finally agreed reluctant-
ly to commit a Marine battalion to support the
ARVN23

Accordingly, on the 9th, Lieutenant Colonel Albers
received ordets to occupy FSB Hatchet about 20 miles
northwest of Hill 110 while leaving one company in
the Thu Bon Valley. That same day, Company E, fresh
from its rehabilitation at Baldy, supported by two
105mm howitzers of Battery G from FSB Ross, took
=osition at FSB Hatchet. The firebase, recently vacat-
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ed by a Vietnamese Marine battety, crowned a high
hill just east of the Cai River, which borders BA 112
on the west. The surrounding country is mountainous
with the exception of some level ground and a few
hamlets near the river. A major, but long unused high-
way, Route 14, which ran from Thuong Duc south-
ward into the Central Highlands, passed by the east
side of the firebase.

The enemy reacted to the Marines’ arrival at Hat-
chet with a salvo of five 122mm rockets. The rockets
inflicted casualties—one Marine wounded and one
ARVN soldier killed and another wounded from a
South Vietnamese unit still operating in the area. On
10 August, more Marine artillery arrived; helicopters
lifted in two 105mm howitzers of Battery G and two
155mm howitzers of Battery W from FSB Ross.* On
the 11th, the 2d Battalion command post established
itself at FSB Hatchet, and within the next few days,
Companies F and H of the battalion joined Compa-
ny E in seatch and destroy operations in the hills
around the base. The howitzers fired in support of the
Marines and also of the ARVN units to the west24

While Albers’ Marines searched the hills along the
Cai River, Operation Pickens Forest and the concurrent
South Vietnamese operations moved into their con-
cluding phases. On 16 August, Company G of Albers’
battalion and the provisional battery from Hill 110 left
the Thu Bon Valley for LZ Baldy, ending Marine ac-
tivity in the original Pickens Forest area. At the same
time, General Lam informed XXIV Corps and Il MAF
that on 23 August he would start withdrawing his
South Vietnamese Matine and Ranger battalions from
the western mountains to have them back near the
coast before the onset of the fall monsoon rains made
air support and supply difficult. To cover this ARVN
pullback, Il MAF would keep Albers’ battalion at FSB
Hatchet until 24 August?2s

During its last few days around FSB Hatchet, the
2d Battalion made contact with North Vietnamese
regulars. About 0915 on 20 August, the 3d Platoon
of Company H was sweeping toward the northeast
through open forest and elephant grass near the ham-
let of My Hiep (2) which was two miles north of the
firebase. An estimated platoon of NVA opened fire
from bunkers with machine guns and grenade launch-
ers, wounding three members of Company H. The
Marines replied with small arms and grenades and
called in artillery and air support. The fight continued

*The Mortar Battery (W) of the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines con-
sisted of six 4.2-inch mortars and two 155mm howitzers.
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through the morning. Other elements of Company
H assisted the engaged platoon. Company F marched
toward the action from its search area to the southeast,
and Company G was brought in by helicopter from
LZ Baldy. The action ended around 1300, when the
Marines lost contact with the enemy. By that time, they
had suffered one man killed and a total of nine
wounded; the fleeing NVA left behind three dead 26

Before dawn the next day, Lieutenant Colonel Al-
bers led Companies G and H in a sweep through the
abandoned enemy position. His troops found 12
bunkers, 1 more dead NVA, and 5 boobytraps, one
of which exploded and wounded three Matines. Conti-
nuing to search near My Hiep (2) on 22 August, Com-
pany G found a group of six more large bunkers a short
distance east of the site of the engagement. Intelli-
gence revealed that these had housed the headquart-
ets of an element of the 38t NVA Regiment??

These events partially confirmed other indications
that troops of the 384 Regiment wete forming in Lieu-
tenant Colonel Albers’ area of operations, Evidence
gathered from many sources from 20-23 August sug-
gested that the NVA were preparing to attack FSB
Hatchet. On the 231d, for example, Marines of Com-
pany E sighted four enemy, probably a reconnaissance
element, about 1,200 meters from the perimeter of
the firebase and fired a 106mm recoilless rifle at them.
Albers later concluded that it was “probable that had
the operation not ended on 24 August and evacua-
tion of FSB Hatchet been executed the 38256 NVA
Regiment would have launched an atrack."*28

Albers’ battalion did not wait to receive the attack.
As previously planned, the CP and all four compa-
nies were airlifted back to the 7th Marines’ TAOR on
the 24th while the artillery displaced to rejoin their
parent units at FSB Ross and LZ Baldy. With these
movements, Operation Pickens Forest came to an end.

During the six weeks of the operation, the batteries
supporting the 7th Marines fired 771 missions, most
of them at targets designated by intelligence as prob-
able base camps and avenues of enemy movement. For
the 2d Battalion alone, aircraft of the 1st MAW flew
37 close air support missions with 500- and
1,000-pound bombs, 5-inch Zuni rockets, and
500-pound napalm cannisters. Besides making repeat-
ed trooplifts, helicopters of MAG-16 carried out 147

*In Thua Thien to the north, the allies had evacuated FSB Rip-
cord late in July under heavy NVA pressure, and during August
a second outlying firebase, O'Reilly, came under continual mortar
attack.
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medical evacuations and performed over 150 other
missions2?

Throughout the operation, the 7th Marines relied
entirely upon helicoptets to resupply its wide-ranging
battalions. All supplies for the units engaged in Pick-
ens Forest went to the field from the regiment’s logis-
tic support area (LSA) at LZ Baldy. Here personnel of
the regiment’s logistic support unit (LSU)* maintained
stockpiles of food, fuel, and ammunition which were
brought in daily by truck convoys from Da Nang. Each
battalion at Baldy set up its own supply dump of cloth-
ing, individual equipment, and construction and fot-
tification material. Daily requisitions from the
maneuvering battalions went to regimental headquart-
ers whete the S-4 section of the staff consolidated them
and transmitted them to the LSA while the air liai-
son officer arranged for helicopters from MAG-16. At
the LSA, a work crew from each battalion, stationed
at Baldy for this purpose, packed its unit’s supplies,
drawn either from its own stockpile o from the general
reserve, and placed them at assigned points on the
helicopter pad. The mortning after the requisition was
received, helicopters picked up the shipment and flew
it out to the battalion. To prevent shortages in the field
if bad weather interrupted this flow of supplies, the
battalions maintained two days’ resetve stocks at their
fire support bases.

Under this system, helicopters of MAG-16 lifted over
3,500,000 pounds of cargo for the 7th Marines between
16 July and 24 August. As a result of their efforts, no
major supply shortages ot interruptions occurred dur-
ing the operation3®

During Pickens Forest, the 7th Marines killed a to-
tal of 99 North Vietnamese and Viet Cong at a cost
of four Marines dead and 51 wounded. Units of the
regiment uncovered 5 major weapons and ordnance
caches, 6 significant stockpiles of food, 12 base camps,
a large hospital, 121 bunker complexes, and the ene-
my’s Quang Da Post Office. Weapons and stores taken
from the caches included 174 SKS and AK-47 rifles,
over 72,000 rounds of small arms ammunition, almost
500 82mm mortar rounds, over 55,000 pounds of corn,
and 215 pounds of medical equipment. In the Quang
Da Post Office, the Marines found 50 letters from
North Vietnam and a Communist manual of postal
procedure3! Temporarily at least, the operation had

*[pgistic support units, ordinarily collocated with regimental com-
mand posts, consisted of supply and mainenance personnel from
Force Logistic Command who worked hand in hand with represen-
tatives from 1st Division units, For further detail on their organiza-
tion and operation, see Chapter 18.
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Col Paul X. “P.X." Kelley, facing the camera, accepts
the colors of the 1st Marines from Col Edward A. Wil-
cox in a formal change of command ceremony.

blocked a major part of the enemy’s trail network.
Colonel Waldrop, Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3, 1st
Marine Division, summed up: “It [Pickens Forest] has
not been a fantastic success, but it has considerably
hampered the enemy, not so much in the kills that
were made, but in the fact that it blocked and cleaned
out the caches in one of his choke points in his trans-
portation system.’32

Pickens Forest’s South Vietnamese companion opet-
ations, Vu Ninh 12 and Hung Quang 1/32B, had
produced comparably modest but still significant
results. The Vietnamese infantry, rangers, and Marines
claimed over 500 enemy casualties while losing 44 of
their own killed and 227 wounded. They had captured
some 290 weapons and had found a number of base
camps and supply caches. Their most important dis-
covery occurred on 10 August when the rangers west
of BA 112 came upon 30 huts which allied intelligence
later identified as a recently abandoned site of Fron?
4 Headquarters. The huts contained much commu-
nication equipment, including 21 telephones, over a
mile of wire, and about 100 pounds of documents33

The 15t and 5th Marines Continue the Small-Unit War

While the 7th Marines drove into the enemy’s
mountain bases during the summer, the 1st and 5th
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Marines continued small-unit operations in defense
of Da Nang. The TAORs of the two regiments and
the deployment of their battalions remained as they
had been since the rearrangements that followed the
departure of the 26th Marines. The 1st Marines
defended the Rocket Belt, and the 5th Marines pro-
tected An Hoa and the Vu Gia River Valley while con-
ducting periodic forays into the Arizona Territory.

The 1st Marines underwent a change of command
on 29 June when Colonel Wilcox, in a ceremony at
the regimental CP at Camp Perdue on Division Ridge,
turned over the colors to Colonel Paul X. Kelley.
Colonel Kelley would remain in command of this regi-
ment, already designated as the principal ground ele-
ment of the proposed MAB, untl the end of
operations at Da Nang in June 1971. A native of Mas-
sachusetts, Kelley wore Army jump wings and earned
Marine jump wings while commanding 2d Force
Reconnaissance Company. He had attended Comman-
do school in England and jungle warfare courses in
Malaysia as an exchange officer with the British Royal
Marines. Duting his previous Vietnam tour in 1966,
he had won the Silver Star Medal while commanding
the 2d Battalion, 4th Marines. Aggtessive and athlet-
ic, Colonel Kelley spent much of his time in the field
with his troops. Nicknamed “PX,” he had a reputa-
tion as a hard-driving commander, but one who in-
spired officers and men alike to achieve his high
standards.

On 10 August, a rearrangement of command of the
close-in defense of Da Nang occurred when the 1st
Marine Division discontinued the Northern and
Southern Sector Defense Commands. The 3d Battal-
ion, 1st Marines extended its TAOR to the southeast
to embrace part of the old NSDC, with its commander
now responsible for coordinating the defense of the
resident support and supply units. The 1st Battalion,
Sth Marines, still the division reserve, continued to
direct the defense of most of the former SSDC and
enlarged its area of responsibility to include the divi-
sion command post and the installations on Division
Ridge. These changes in designation and command
responsibility had little effect on the day and night
routine of patrols and ambushes that protected the
division’s rear area3!

By the time these command rearrangements were
made, another long-standing feature of the defenses
of Da Nang had been almost completely dismantled.
This was the Da Nang Barrier, or Da Nang Anti-
infiltration System (DAIS), the line of mine fields,
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cleared land, barbed wire fences, and electronic sen-
sors which Marine commandets had hoped would al-
low them to stop infiltration of the Rocket Belt with
fewer troops. The system had never been put in full
operation, and the 1st Marine Division lacked the en-
gineers and equipment to finish its construction and
the infantry to man it. The sensots which had been
installed furnished little useful intelligence because
activations caused by passing farmers and water buffa-
loes could not be distinguished from those caused by
rocket-bearing NVA or VC. Maintenance of the sen-
sors had proved, in the words of a division report,
“nearly impossible, due to indigenous personnel cut-
ting and removing sections on the cables” The barri-
er, by testricting civilian movement, retarded
pacification, and the Matines now were emphasizing
mobile tactics rather than barrier defense. Therefore,
on 3 May, III MAF approved a 1st Marine Division re-
quest for permission to demolish the barrier. By 3
June, effotts to control population movement through
it had ended. Removal of sensors began late in July
and was completed by 15 August3s

Thus, by mid-summet, protection of the Rocket Belt
depended primarily on Colonel Kelley’s three infan-
try battalions. Their deployment did not change. The
3d Battalion, its TAOR enlatged, continued to defend
the northern and northwestern quadrants of the arc
drawn atound Da Nang; the 1st Battalion protected
the western and southwestern approaches; and the 2d
Battalion guarded the southern sector. To block ene-
my infiltration of the Rocket Belt, each battalion con-
ducted daily small-unit patrols and ambushes, varying
these with larger operations. The Marines cooperated
in cordon and search operations with Vietnamese tet-
ritorials, or, in the case of the 2d Battalion, with
Kotean Matines. Occasionally, the 1st and 3d Battal-
ions sent two or more of their companies on short
reconnaissances in force into the hills on the edge of
the populated area. The 2d Battalion, in its heavily
boobytrapped TAOR, continued the practice adopt-
ed in June of covering its tefrain in daytime from static
observation posts and doing most of its patrolling, am-
bushing, and fighting at night when the Viet Cong
often removed many of their mines to permit their
own forces to maneuver3®

Throughout the regiment’s TAOR, the enemy ap-
peated to be concentrating on collecting supplies and
maintaining contact with the underground in the vil-
lages. Small groups of VC and NVA, rarely number-
ing more than 10, continually tried to move in and
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373915
Marines of Company L, 3d Battalion, 5th Marnes cross

a fast-moving stream in the Elephant Valley, a jun-
gled enemy base area 17 miles northwest of Da Nang.

out of the Rocket Belt. In brief exchanges of grenades
and small arms fire, Marine patrols and ambushes fre-
quently intercepted the infiltrators, and batteries of
the 11th Marines continued to fire their nightly harass-
ing and interdiction fire* at suspected rocket launch-
ing sites and infiltration routes. The effect of this
sporadic skirmishing on the larger tactical situation
was difficult to measure, as always, but at the end of
September, as an indication of effectiveness, the 2d
Battalion could reportt that for 100 consecutive days
no rocket or mortar shell had been fired at Da Nang
from within its TAOR37

The enemy’s reduced effectiveness in the 2d Bat-
talion’s area may have resulted from an unusually suc-
cessful attack on a VC command post by elements of
the battalion 38 Late in July, a combined sweep south
of Marble Mountain by units of the 2d Battalion and
the Korean Marine Brigade captured a woman mem-
ber of the Viet Cong’s District IIl Da Nang Headguart-
ers, the control authority for enemy activity in the area

*Harassing fire: Fite designed to distutb the rest of enemy troops,
to curtail movement, and, by threat of losses, to lower morale. In-
terdiction fire: Fite placed on an area ot point to prevent the ene-
my from using it.

from Marble Mountain north to Tien Sha Peninsula.
Under interrogation, the woman detailed the opera-
tions of the headquartets and pointed out the approx-
imate location of the bunker complex which housed
it. A Marine search then discovered the bunkers in flat
paddy land near the hamlet of Quang Ha (1) about
six miles south of Marble Mountain airfield. Finding
the bunkers empty, the Marines left them intact in
the hope the enemy would continue to use them. The
enemy did so, but two attempted surprise night at-
tacks on the bunker complex failed when the assault-
ing force encountered VC pickets and boobytraps.

In spite of the increasing attention their hideout
was receiving from the Marines, the Viet Cong lead-
ers continued to conduct regular work sessions in the
bunkers. They evidently thought that lookouts among
the farmers in the fields by day and rings of sentries
and boobytraps at night would assure them time to
evade any attacking force. Lieutenant Colonel William
G. Leftwich, Jr., the 2d Battalion’s commander, decid-
ed to tty to exploit the enemy’s overconfidence with
a surprise daytime raid. Under the plan he and his
staff worked out, helicopters would land an assault
force directly on top of the bunkers with no priot
preparation of the landing zone, thus avoiding the
enemy’s secutity ring and trapping them.

Lieutenant Colonel Leftwich organized an assault
force under his personal command, consisting of a
detachment of staff and communications personnel
from battalion headquatters, the 3d Platoon of Com-
pany G, the battalion reconnaissance squad, and a
group from the 3d Counterintelligence Team* These
units would conduct the helicopterborne asault while
a second rifle platoon and a section of tanks from
Company C, 1st Tank Battalion stood by on the
ground to lend support if required.

At 1400 on 4 August, the assault force took off from
Camp Lauer, the 2d Battalion’s CP, in four CH-46s
of HMM-364 and flew northward away from the tar-
get area to mislead enemy observers. At the same time,
the command Huey from HML-167 and two Cobra
gunships of HML-367 lifted off and flew toward the
west. At 1430, after making a wide, circuitous ap-
proach, the entire force swooped down on the bunkers.
No overflights by reconnaissance aircraft or prepara-
tory bombing or shelling had forewarned the VC of
the impending attack, and they were caught. The bat-

*Counterintelligence Teams (CI'Ts) and Interrogation and Trans-
lation Teams (I'T'Ts) consisted of Marines specially trained in inter-
rogation of prisoners and translation of captured documents.



80

talion’s after action report described the ensuing
scramble.

The VC were caught by surptise and attempted to flee.
The first action upon landing was a melee in and around
the bunkers as the Marines chased down the slower moving
VC. Another more far ranging pursuit then developed as
the C & C ship and Cobras chased the faster moving VC.
By swooping low and firing guns into the nearby ground
the helicopters forced the VC to stop until the foot Marines
closed with their quarry. In some cases, CH-46’s dropped
in and quickly shifted rifle squads over to the next target.
If VC shot at a chasing helicopter, door gunners or on board
ordnance quickly dispatched them3®

By 1600, the fight had ended, and the Marines
spread out to collect the enemy dead and wounded.
There were no Marine casualties. The raiders had killed
12 Viet Cong, including the district chief, the mili-
tary affairs officer, and the security officer of District
II Dz Nang. They had captured 9 others, 8 rifles, 14
grenades, and headquarters papets of considerable in-
telligence value.

That night, the Marines left an ambush in the
bunker area, and the next day, after further seasch,
engineers destroyed the bunkers. The Marines deli-
vered the bodies of the dead VC leaders to the GVN's
Dien Ban District Chief, who planned to display the
corpses in the hamlets as gruesome but graphic evi-
dence that the allies were winning the war.

In September, Lieutenant Colonel William M.
Yeaget's 3rd Battalion conducted Operation Dubois
Square, the 1st Marines’ only named operation of the
summer. This operation was a reconnaisance in force
to determine whether or not major enemy units were
massing in the mountains northwest of Da Nang. On
9 September, three rifle companies, Company K of
the 3d Bartalion and Companies B and F of the 1st
and 2d Battalions respectively, under operational con-
trol of Yeager's battalion, landed by helicopter in
rugged hills on both sides of the Cu De River about
15 miles northwest of Da Nang. At the same time,
a composite howitzer and mottar battery from the 1st
Battalion, 11th Marines established FSB Sam on a
hilltop just north of the Cu De east of where the in-
fantry had landed. Aftes six days of searching the steep
jungle slopes and boulder-strewn ravines near the in-
itial landing zones, Company K moved by helicopter
about 10 miles to the northeast to investigate another
suspected enemy base area, The Marines ended the
operation on 19 September, having encountered no
VC or NVA. They found a few small, abandoned
camps and other indications of enemy activity, but no
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sign of the presence of any large Communist force.*°

Southwest of the 1st Marines, the 5th Marines oper-
ated throughout the summer along Route 4 and in
the broad basin where the Thu Bon and the Vu Gia
River flow together. Like the 1st Marines, the 5th Ma-
rines underwent a change of commanders. On 27 June,
Colonel Clark V. Judge took over the regiment from
Colonel Estey. Colonel Judge, a Pennsylvanian, had
entered the Marine Corps as a resetvist and received
his regular commission in 1953. A veteran of Korean
combat, he was now beginning his first tour in
Vietnam.

As had been the case since the Keystone Bluejay
redeployments, Colonel Judge, as regimental com-
mander, directly controlled only his 2d and 3d Bat-
talions. The 1st Battalion, as division reserve, operated
under control of 1st Marine Division Headquarters.
Of the bartalions under Judge’s control, the 2d con-
tinued to defend Liberty Bridge and An Hoa while
conducting mobile operations in the Arizona Territo-
ty and on eastern Go Noi Island. The 3d Battalion
remained in position on Hills 52, 25, and 65 guard-
ing the supply line to Thuong Duc.

LCp! Larry Hicks from Company G, 2d Battalion, 15t
Marines guards an enemy suspect after a successful

operation that netted several Viet Cong leaders.
Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373441
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LCp! William R. Brown cautiously approaches an old boat tied up to a river bank. Affter
several years of combat in Vietnam, 1st Division Marines had learned through bitter ex-
Dperience that the most innocent appearing objects often concealed dangerous boobytraps.

In July and August, the regiment removed most of
its headquarters and support units from An Hoa, im-
plementing the division’s plans to evacuate Marines
from that base. The 3d Battalion, which had main-
tained a rear command post at An Hoa to manage
administrative and supply matters while its forward
CP on Hill 65 directed combat operations, moved its
rear CP to Hill 37 in July. The following month, the
regimental headquarters, also located at An Hoa,
divided into forward and rear elements. The forward
command post, consisting of Colonel Judge with the
intelligence and operations sections of the staff and
detachments of the personnel and supply sections,
relocated to Hill 37. The regimental rear, composed
of the executive officer with the personnel, supply, and
pacification sections of the staff, moved to Camp
Reasoner* on Division Ridge. At the same time, the
headquarters battery of the regiment’s direct support
artillery unit, the 2d Battalion, 11th Marines, joined
the 5th Marines forward CP on Hill 37, while a rear
element of the artillery headquarters established it-
self at the 11th Marines’ regimental CP. Several artillery
batteties and support units also left An Hoa in Au-
gust, displacing to Hill 65, LZ Baldy, and the Da Nang

*Camp Reasoner was named after 1st Lieutenant Frank S.
Reasoner, Commanding Officer, Company A, 3d Reconnaissance
Battalion, 3d Matine Division, who was awarded the Medal of Honor
posthumously for his actions on 12 July 1965 while leading a recon-
naissance patrol near Da Nang.

area. The 2d Batralion, 5th Marines continued to
maintain its command post at An Hoa and would take
charge of the base’s defense until the ARVN assumed
responsibility in the fall4!

The 1st Battalion, Sth Marines, besides protecting
its TAOR around the division command post, con-
ducted as many as four Pacifier operations each week
during the summer. The division now used the
infantry-helicopter combination primarily for quick
reaction to sightings of large groups of enemy and to
forestall expected enemy atracks. As the division oper-
ations officer explained it:

We get indications, for instance, that the enemy is build-
ing up for an attack on Hill 55, and we have a pretty good
idea of which unit it is that’s going to do the attacking, and
we . . . through his normal patterns know where his assem-
bly areas and attack positions will be, or we have a pretty
good idea, so what we’ll do is put the Pacifier in there all
the way up to a company size . . . and they will . . . maybe
not get many kills, but we find it highly effective in preempt-
ing the enemy actions4?

Lieutenant Colonel Bernard E. Trainor, then bat-
talion commander of 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, later
explained that he modified use of Pacifier operations
during this period to minimize the casualties taken
from mines and boobytraps. “Nobody pursued. There
was only pursuit by fire,” he said. “Each of the units
would have a different colored (cloth) patch (yellow,
white, red) on the top of its helmets . . . I would usual-
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ly land two units (platoons) and we'd keep one ait-
borne. . . ” When contact was made, the VC would
usually withdraw, often trying to draw Marines into
heavily mined areas. Trainor’s battalion would not fol-
low on foot.

“The unit that made contact immediately pursued
by fire and the unit that I had airborne we would put
in to do the pursuit by air . . . . So the guys on the
ground never had to do any humping which would
put them into the minefields.” The colored patches
on helmets facilitated control from the air. “I'd be able
to look down and see the color of the helmet and be
able to talk . . . red, yellow, blue,” said Trainor, “and
that's the way we would command and control the
thing. And it was quite effective.” The new procedures
were successful, resulting in numerous enemy killed
and captured while totally avoiding friendly casual-
ties by mines and boobytraps duting Pacifier Oper-
ations*3

Pacifier companies often reinforced other Marine or
South Vietnamese units to cordon and search villages.
They also took patt in sweeps of mountain base areas,
such as Operation Pickens Forest. Their operations
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produced a modest but steady accumulation of ene-
my casualties. In August, for example, Pacifier activi-
ties accounted for 11 Viet Cong and North Vietnamese
killed, took 15 prisoners, and captured four weapons*+

The regiment’s 2d and 3d Battalions carried on the
pattern of operations they had established eatlier in
the year. The 2d Battalion emphasized two- and three-
company cordons and searches of enemy hamlets,
vatied with tank-infantry sweeps, mostly in the Ari-
zona Territoty. In the Thuong Duc corridor, the 3d
Battalion and the Vietnamese tetritotial forces in July
abandoned and razed their defense position on Hill
25 while continuing to garrison Hills 52 and 65 over-
looking Route 4. In August and September, Marines
of the 3d Battalion launched an increasing number
of helicopter-borne forays into Charlie Ridge and the
northern Arizona. The battalions encountered only
small groups of enemy during the summer, either
flushed from ditches, huts, and spider holes during
sweeps of villages or colliding with patrols and am-
bushes as the enemy sought food or tried to infiltrate
populated areas. In August, a typical month of this
kind of action, the regiment killed 29 NVA and VC,

Marine tanks and infantry from the 5th Marines and Company C, 1st Tank Battalion
move out through a corn field in Operation Barren Green in the My Hiep sector south
of Da Nang a’urmg July 1970. This was the first named operation for the Sth Marines.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A 373933
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took nine prisonets, and captured 14 weapons at a cost
of six Marines killed in action, three dead of wounds,
and 60 wounded. Boobytraps caused many of the Ma-
tine casualties. In August, the battalions reported find-
ing 50 of these devices and accidentally detonating
2625

The 5th Marines conducted two named operations
during the summer. The first, Operation Barren
Green, centered on the VC-controlled My Hiep area
just south of the Song Vu Gia in northern Arizona
Territory. Here large fields of cotn had ripened which
allied intelligence expected to be hatvested by enemy
sympathizers and then carried by infiltratots south-
westward into the mountain base camps of the 3824
NVA Regiment. In an effott to keep the enemy from
obtaining this cotn, on 15-16 July, a reinforced pla-
toon from the 3d Battalion, in cooperation with RFs
from Dai Loc District, protected civilians brought in
from north of the river to harvest the crop. In two days,
the civilians collected 30 tons of corn, but on the se-
cond day enemy sniper fire and boobytraps killed three
PFs, wounded eight RFs, five civilians, and 12 Marines,
and so frightened the hatvestets that the operation had
to be discontinued with much cotn still standing in
the fields.

In Operation Barren Green, from 24 to 27 July,
companies from the 2d and 3d Battalions, supported
by a platoon from Company C, 1st Tank Battalion,
returned to the My Hiep area. In the first phase of
the operation, controlled by the 2d Battalion, a cor-
don and sweep routed out and captured a few enemy.
A reconnaissance team neatby ambushed a party of
NVA from the 3824 Regiment flecing the area with
a load of corn and killed seven of them. In the second
phase of the operation, the 3d Battalion took charge
and oversaw the destruction of the rest of the stand-
ing corn, much of which was crushed by the tanks.
When the operation ended on 27 July, the Marines
had killed 18 NVA and VC, captured three prisoners
and four weapons, and destroyed about 10,000 pounds
of the enemy’s corn4e

The Sth Marines’ second named operation, Lyon
Valley, was also aimed at stopping the movement of
food from the northern Arizona to the base areas of
the 382/ Regiment, in this case by blocking trails and
destroying camps and caches in the mountains bor-
dering the Atizona atea on the southwest. On 16 Au-
gust, Companies F and H of the 2d Battalion with
a battalion command group were inserted by helicop-
ter into mountain landing zones. At the same time,
Company L of the 3d Battalion, under operational

control of the 2d Battalion, screened the northern face
of the mountains. The 2d Battalion companies pushed
northeastward from their landing zones along the trails
toward the blocking company while searching for ene-
my troops and installations. In two small firefights,
Marines of Company F killed three North Vietnamese,
but the companies encountered no large enemy units.
The trails the Marines followed showed signs of fre-
quent use, and the companies found numerous
bunkers, holes, and rocket launching sites. They also
came upon several antiaircraft gun positions and in
one they captured a 12.7mm machine gun. On 22 Au-
gust, Companies F and H reached the northern foot
of the mountains, where they boarded helicopters and
flew back to An Hoa. Company L on the same day
returned to the control of the 3d Bartalion.

On 23 August, Companies F and H resumed the
operation. With minimal air or artillery preparation
of their landing zones, they landed by helicopter in
the southwestern Arizona in an effort to surprise and
trap enemy combat and transpottation troops who
might have hidden there while the earlier maneuvers
blocked movement into the hills. The Marines cap-
tured only one North Vietnamese soldier, but they
found a large quantity of food. Operation Lyon Val-
ley ended on 24 August; results were modest. The Ma-
rines suffered no combat casualties, although 11 men
were incapacitated by heat stroke and accidents. They
killed five enemy and captured one, uncovered and
destroyed 13 base camps, and collected two weapons,
assorted other ordnance, and over three tons of food 47

Combat Declines, But the Threar Continues

For the Marines—whether combing Base Area 112
in Operation Pickens Forest ot patrolling and am-
bushing in the Rocket Belt, the Arizona Tetritory, the
Thuong Duc corridor, and the Que Son Valley—it had
been a summer of diminishing contact with the ene-
my. Throughout the summer, and in fact throughout
the first eight months of 1970, Front 4 had withheld
most of its main force units from battle. By early Sep-
tember, there were indications that Front 4’ main
force strength actually had decteased. Documents cap-
tured in Operations Pickens Forest, Lyon Valley, and
Dubois Square, supported by other information de-
veloped through continuous patrolling by infantty and
reconnaissance units, pointed to a consolidation and
reduction of Front 4’s militaty command otganization
and to the disbanding ot departure from the province
of three of the four North Vietnamese infantry regi-
ments reported thete at the beginning of the year.
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A Marine from the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines searches
@ bomb crater in the “Arizona Ternitory,” named af-
ter the Western badlands and an enemy stronghold.

Only the 38t/ Regiment, which had probed ARVN
defenses at Thuong Duc in May and threatened FSB
Hatchet in August, still seemed to be actives8
Month by month, the amount of local force activi-
ty had also diminished. By late August, in Quang
Nam, III MAF was conducting an average of 21 per-
cent more small-unit and company-size operations per
month than it had conducted in the province in 1969,
but the average number of contacts per month had
fallen to only 78 percent of that in the previous year4®

South of IIl MAF's TAOR, the results of the sum-
mer offensive reflected a similar decline in enemy ac-
tivity and aggressiveness. The 196th Infantry Brigade
of the Americal Division and elements of the 2d
ARVN Division in Operation Elk Canyon had secured
Kham Duc airfield in the mountains of western Quang
Tin on 12 July.

From then until 26 August, they defended the air-
strip against enemy fire attacks and light ground
probes while carrying on search and destroy activities
in the surrounding hills. By the 26th, when they evacu-
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ated Kham Duc and fell back toward the coast, the
Army and ARVN troops had achieved only minor con-
tact, killing 66 enemy and taking one prisoner at a
cost to the Americans of five men killed in action 50

North of Quang Nam, on the other hand, where
elements of the 101st Airborne and 1st ARVN Div-
sions advanced toward the enemy’s vital A Shau Val-
ley infiltration routes, the North Vietnamese reacted
strongly. During July, they massed troops against the
101st Airborne’s Fire Support Base Ripcord in the
mountains west of Hue and pounded it with mortars,
recoilless rifles, and rocket propelled grenades (RPGs).
Artillery fire, air strikes, and ground sweeps failed to
drive off the determined NVA, who appeared to be
preparing for a full-scale attack. Rather than fight a
bloody, politically embarrassing, and militarily un-
productive battle in the highlands, the U.S. and ARVN
high commands decided to evacuate the firebase. The
evacuation was carried out under fire on 22-23 July,
at a cost to the Americans of eight helicoptets
damaged and one shot down and several artillery
pieces abandoned. Combat around Ripcord between
13 March and 23 July had resulted in American losses
of 112 killed and 698 wounded, but the 101st Airborne
Division considered the occupation of the firebase a
successful operation. Air strikes and artillety fire had
killed an estimated 400 of the NVA troops concen-
trated around the base, and by massing against it the
enemy had left major cache areas unguarded else-
where, opening the way for several productive allied
sweeps.

In August and September, the story of FSB Ripcord
was repeated at FSB O'Reilly, another allied firebase
menacing the A Shau Valley. From 6 August to 16 Sep-
tember, the NVA mortared the base and massed troops
around it in defiance of allied artillery and air attacks
which included 19 B-52 Arc Light missions. The South
Vietnamese Joint General Staff decided to abandon
the base before the fall monsoon restricted support-
ing air operations, and by 7 October all of the
defenders, elements of the 1st ARVN Regiment, had
been extracted by helicopter. In two months of heavy
contact around O'Reilly, the 1st ARVN claimed to have
killed over 500 North Vietnamese while losing 61 of
its own menJ5!

As the summer ended, the military situation in MR
1 remained ambiguous. In areas where the allies were
strong, such as Quang Nam Province, the enemy
maintained a persistent but declining level of small-
scale activity and avoided major contact. However, the
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Marines from the 1st Military Police Battalion near Da Nang search for hidden Viet Cong.
LCpl Bobby Rose, in the foreground, uses a metal rod to prod a haypile for any enemy
who might have sought refuge there. The Viet Cong were adept at evading pursuers.

Communists vigorously protected their most impor-
tant base areas and supply routes, especially in north-
ern MR 1, and their pressure on FSBs Ripcord and
O'Reilly indicated that they still had enough strength
to exploit allied points of weakness. Further confus-
ing the allies’ anticipation of enemy actions, docu-
ments captured during the summer appeared to
MACYV analysts to suggest the enemy would renew em-
phasis on large-scale attacks as well as enjoining con-
tinued guerrilla activitys2

Late in 1970, Lieutenant General John R. Chaisson,

. Deputy Chief of Staff (Plans and Programs) at HQMC

and a former director of MACV’s Combat Operations

Center, summed up the enemy’s strategy and offered
an explanation for its appatent contradictions:

For the past five years the enemy has employed a mixed
strategy, which may be defined as the sum total of violence
perpetrated against a variety of GVN and U.S. targets by a
specttum of enemy forces with distinct organizational charac-
teristics, intended purposes and doctrines. The enemy’s
strategy is also “mixed” in a geographic sense, with the lev-

el (as well as the causes) of violence diffeting markedly from
one locale to another. In a given area, he is liable within
the same short time frame to strike at hamlet officials, PF
outposts, ARVN forces on sweeps, and US. fire bases
.. . . He exploited weakness or carelessness by attacking.
And while his directives stressed some target categories (such
as combined action platoons) mote than others, his actual
attacks reflected tactical opportunism.

That in different areas of the country we have seen dif-
ferent enemy styles and targets should not be attributed «
priort 1o his deliberate choice. In various areas he may not
have the wide range of strategic options we have atttibuted
to him . . . . He may be impeded by the U.S./GVN actions,
or by command-and-control problems, or by the decen-
tralized, localized nature of the war5?

In MR 1, more than in any other region of South
Vietnam, the enemy had available their entire range
of militaty options, from large-unit offensives to guer-
tilla raids and terrorism. The diminishing level of ac-
tual combat did not diminish the continuing enemy
threat. To be ptepared to counter any possible Com-
munist assault, MACV and XXIV Corps wanted to re-
tain strong American forces in reserve in MR 1 until
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quite late in the Keystone Robin and subsequent troop
redeployments. Their effort to maintain this reserve
in the face of reduced Service budgets and manpower
strengths forced radical changes in the Marines’ with-
drawal schedule during the last weeks of the summer
campaign.

Deployment Plans Change: More Marines Stay Longer

Since the start of redeployment planning, MACV
had favored a rapid clearing out of the Marines from
1 Corps, both to simplify command and administrative
relationships and to trade Marine aviation spaces with-
drawn for Army ground troops able to remain in-
countty. Repeatedly, Army manpower shortages had
forced slowdowns of the Marine withdrawal. Indeed,
as Lieutenant General Van Ryzin later put it, “The
conditions of the Army and the Marine Corps dictat-
ed the redeployment. I don't care what Abrams satd
ot what the JCS said or what the President said, con-
ditions were such that things . . . wotk[ed] themselves
out.’s4

This pattern repeated itself early in August, caus-
ing majot revisions in the timetable for Marine with-
drawals and for activation of the 3d MAB. In
mid-summer, plans seemed set for pulling out about
18,000 Marines before 15 October in Keystone Robin
Alpha and 9,400 mote by 31 December in Keystone
Robin Bravo. At the beginning of the new year, the
3d MAB Headquarters would go into operation as 111
MAF Headquarters redeployed.

Between 1 and 4 August, however, the JCS informed
General Abrams, through CincPac, that reductions in
the Army’s budget and manpower would leave that
Service unable to maintain the troop strength in Viet-
nam envistoned to be retained in current redeploy-
ment plans. The JCS directed Abrams to suggest
revisions of the withdrawal timetable to take this fact
into account, and in particular they instructed him
to consider postponement of some Marine
redeployments.

Abrams replied to the Joint Chiefs on 6 August.
He reaffirmed the need to keep strong forces in Mili-
tary Region 1 to counter possible large-scale enemy
efforts to disrupt Vietnamization and pacification. He
proposed a new withdrawal plan under which 50,000
men, including the previously planned 18,000 Ma-
rines, would leave as scheduled by 15 October. A se-
cond inctement, Keystone Robin Bravo, consisting of
40,000 men, all but 1,900 of them Army and the rest
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Navy and Air Force, would be out by 31 December.
The remaining 60,000 of the 150,000 promised by
President Nixon in April would redeploy between 1
January and 1 May 1971. This contingent would in-
clude about 11,000 Matines, leaving 12,600 still in-
country, who would withdraw between 1 May and 30
June. This proposal, which reduced Army strength in
Vietnam more quickly while relying on the Marines
to maintain allied power in MR 1, recetved prompt
approval from the JCS. Although review and final ac-
ceptance of the plan by the Secretary of Defense and
the President took several more weeks, the Services 1n
mid-August, on the advice of the Chairman of the JCS
and with the permission of the Secretary of Defense,
began detatled planning on the basis of 1t55

These changes left 11l MAF with a much lengthen-
ed withdrawal schedule. The 5th Marines, instead of
redeploying almost on the heels of the 7th Marines,
now would not leave until late spring of the follow-
ing year, and aviation withdrawals would be slowed
as well. Activation of the MAB would have to be post-
poned for at least another five or six months, and the
MATF, division, and wing headquarters would have to
remain in-countty for the same length of time. Genet-
al McCutcheon and his staff now confronted a
problem anticipated by a 111 MAF staff officer back
in May: “When you start . . . getting a MAF of about
27[000], you get yourself in a pretty good hum, be-
cause you have a hell of a time balancing off a force
like that. It’s . . . too doggone big to be a MAB, and
it's an awful small MAF . . . '5¢

Marine commanders and staffs viewed this change
in withdrawal timetables without enthusiasm. For the
Marine Corps as a whole, it meant major read-
justments in recruiting requirements and in person-
nel assignment and separation polictes. For 111 MAF,
it necessitated a huttied revision of the troop list for
Keystone Robin Alpha. Throughout its redeployment
planning, 11 MAF had tried to maintain a balance
between combat and service and support elements,
so that combat units remaining in-country after each
withdrawal would have ample maintenance, transport,
engineer, medical, and other assistance. In planning
Keystone Robin Alpha, III MAF had violated this rule
on the assumption that the 5th Marines, scheduled
for redeployment in Keystone Robin Bravo and sure
to cease combat operations soon after 15 October,
could get along for a short time with less than the nor-
mal support for a regiment. Therefore, they had in-
cluded extra supportt personnel in Robin Alpha to
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make room in the smaller Robin Bravo for the Sth Ma-
rines and the units deleted in June from Alpha. Now
with the Sth Marines due to temain in combat four
or five months longer than expected, IIl MAF had to
extricate additional support units from Keystone Robin
Alpha. Some of the affected units already were can-
celling requisitions, turning over cantonments and
equipment to the Vietnamese, and preparing for Sep-
tember stand downs, so whatever changes in the troop
list were going to be made would have to be made
quicklys?

Accordingly, in mid-August, Lieutenant General
McCutcheon proposed to General Abrams the dele-
tion of a total of 2,395 Marine spaces from the
Keystone Robin Alpha redeployment. Some of these
spaces would be filled, for McCutcheon wanted to
withdraw an additional jet squadron, VMFA-314
(which Fiscal Year 1971 budget limits on the Marines’
monthly aircrafe sortie rate had rendered supetfluous
in Vietnam); the Ist 175mm Gun Battety; a detach-
ment of the 5th Communications Battalion; and Com-
pany C, 1st Tank Battalion, the last Marine tank unit
in Vietnam. This would leave 1,550 Marine Corps
Keystone Robin Alpha spaces which McCutcheon said
would have to be reassigned to other Services or taken
out of Marine combat units. General Abrams quickly
approved these alterations and agreed to shift the 1,550
spaces to the Army. Early in September McCutcheon’s
plan to stop the stand-down of several of the affected
units at once was also approved while awaiting final
JCS acceptance of the proposed changess®

These actions came too late to halt the departure
of two important Marine support units. On 22 Au-
gust, the 9th Engineer Battalion and most of the 7th
Engineer Battalion began embarkation. Their depar-
ture left the 1st Marine Division, still responsible for
the same TAOR it had had at the beginning of the
year, with less than half of its former engineer sup-
port.5®

The authorities in Washington accepted McCut-
cheon’s proposals, and the Marines' share of the
Keystone Robin Alpha redeployment finally was fix-
ed at a little over 17,000 men. No Marines would with-
draw in Keystone Robin Bravo between 15 October and
31 December, but probably in March and April of
1971 over 11,000, including the headquarters of the
MAEF, division, and wing, would go out in Keystone
Robin Charlie. This would leave in Vietnam about
13,000 Marines of the 3d MAB, 2d CAG, and logistic
rollup force whose exact date of departure remained
to be set8o

The final Marine troop list for Keystone Robin Al-
pha, issued on 29 September, reflected the last minute
changes arranged by McCutcheon. The 17Smm Gun
Battery had been added to the roster. Company C,
Ist Tank Battalion was now scheduled to redeploy. The
detachment from the 1st Reconnaissance Battalion had
been reduced in size from 376 men to 245. The 1st
MP Battalion had been dropped from the list, but the
3d remained under ordets to leave and in fact had em-
barked before the final troop list was issued. The 7th
and 9th Engineers had already left. Four fixed-wing
squadrons—VMFAs -122 and -314, VMA(AW)-242,
and VMCJ-1—and one helicopter squadron,
HMM-161, made up the bulk of 1st MAW’s con-
tribution. They would be accompanied out of Viet-
nam by Headquarters and Maintenance Squadron
(H&MS) 13, Marine Airbase Squadron (MABS) 13, the
housekeeping units of MAG-13 which was standing
down, and detachments from other aviation suppott
units. Over 1,100 CAP Marines were still to go. Many
of the support and setvice troops had begun prepar-
ing for departure in mid-August, and most of the air
and ground combat units were in the process of fol-
lowing them by the end of Septembers®!

The abrupt changes in withdrawal timetables and
troop lists forced reexamination of plans for the 3d
MAB. The brigade’s activation now would be delayed
for almost six months, and as a result its probable time
in combat in Vietnam would be very short. In mid-
August, Major General Widdecke's ist Marine Divi-
sion staff proposed to General McCutcheon that the
MAB headquarters be formed around 15 October, as
inttially planned, to control the two RLTs and the air-
craft groups remaining after Keystone Robin Alpha.
They argued that with Marine manpower so much
reduced, a brigade could manage the remaining troops
as efficiently as could the understrength MAF, divi-
sion, and wing headquarters and could do it with fewer
personnel, thus saving expense to the Marine Corps
and allowing MAF, division, and wing staffs to
redeploy on schedule. McCutcheon did not adopt this
plan, preferring to retain the wing and division until
after the next Marine withdrawal 82

The new redeployment schedule also made neces-
sary a reexamination of the issue of adding a fourth
infantry battalion to the MAB. Early in August,
General McCutcheon, adopting the proposal of his
staff, had recommended to FMFPac the exchange of
the brigade’s heavy artillery and tanks and possibly
of a fixed-wing squadron for more infantry, and
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FMFPac had given tentative approval. During Septem-
ber, XXIV Corps Headquarters informed McCutch-
eon that the MAB definitely would be responsible for
defense of both the Rocket Belt and Da Nang airfield.
This information confirmed the need for more infan-
try, but at the same time inclusion of the 175mm guns,
the tanks, and an additional jet squadron in Keystone
Robin Alpha took away most of the units McCutch-
eon had planned to trade for the extra battalion. A
memorandum from Major General Widdecke, Com-
manding General, 1st Marine Division, to General
McCutcheon reflected the division’s concern over hav-
ing sufficient infantry units to protect the Da Nang
TAOR: “The outer perimeter of Da Nang, now the
AQ of the 1st Marines, is a large one and even with
four battalions (including Ist Battalion, 5th Marines)
still must be reinforced during high threat periods to
reduce the enemy rocket capabilities. As the more dis-

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

tant forces are withdrawn the outer perimeter forces
become even mote vulnerable . . . . This situation is
further aggravated by the redeployment of most of the
setvice support units presently located in the NSDC
and SSDC who provide forces for the security and
defense of much of the area west of Da Nang."e3 At
the end of September, the issue remained unsettled,
with the III MAF and division staffs still hoping to
secure the additional infantry®¢

Although questions of MAB organization remained
unresolved, the timetable for Marine withdrawal from
Vietnam had taken final form. It would undergo no
more radical changes. For the remaining months of
1970, III MAF could look forward to major strength
reductions and repositioning of troops. The Marines
would continue pacification activities, and they would
renew efforts to eradicate the centets of enemy strength
within their TAOR.



CHAPTER 5

Offensives and Redeployments: Imperial Lake, Catawba Falls,
and Keystone Robin Alpha, July-October 1970

Preliminaries to Imperial Lake — Operation Imperial Lake — Keystone Robin Alpha Redeployments Begin
Operation Catawba Falls—The Regiments Realign

Preliminaries to Imperial Lake

While battalions of the 7th Marines swept the hills
west of the Thu Bon during Operation Pickens Forest,
the staffs of the regiment and the 1st Marine Divi-
ston kept much of their attention fixed further to the
east on the Que Son Mountains. This range, which
projects toward the coast from the rugged, jungle-
covered mountains of Base Area 112 about 20 miles
south of Da Nang, long had constituted a major mili-
taty problem for the allies. From its hilltops, as Colonel
Edmund G. Derning, Jr., commander of the 7th Ma-
rines, put it, “You could see all of Da Nang; you could
see any airplane that took off; you had complete ob-
servation . . . of the whole terrain up to the north.”
The canopied ravines and numerous caves of the range
sheltered Communist headquarters, hospitals, supply
dumps, and training and rest camps. Innumerable in-
fileration routes connecting hinterland base areas with
the coastal rice fields and hamlets ran through the tor-
tuous terrain. Here North Vietnamese regulars and
main force Viet Cong often massed for operations in
the lowlands, and guertilla units gathered for train-
ing or political indoctrination. A 1st Marine Division
staff officer called the Que Sons “a geographical trage-
dy . . . . If those mountains were not there, the war,
as far as the NVA or the Viet Cong are concerned,
would have been over years ago in Quang Nam
Province.”?

Since late spring, the 7th Marines had maintained
forces in the Que Sons. The effort began with a multi-
company operation by the 3d Battalion in late May
and early June which resulted in numerous small con-
tacts and discoveries of enemy camps and hospitals.
From the results of this operation, Colonel Derning
concluded that “it didn’t take a battalion to go into
the Que Son(s].”3 In late June, he proposed, and Major
General Widdecke approved, a plan for keeping a rein-
forced Marine rifle company continually in the
mountains.

Thereafter, throughout July and the first part of Au-
gust, company after company from the 7th Marines
spent five days at a time combing the ridges and ra-
vines. Each company went in by helicopter and was

retnforced with an additional rifle platoon, an en-
gineer detachment, and a forward air controller. By
day, the company deployed in platoon patrols and am-
bushes to cover a search area assigned on the basis of
current intelligence and reconnaissance information,
and by night it pulled into defensive positions. At the
end of five days, helicopters would land a relieving
company in a zone covered by the out-going unitt The
companies had many small contacts with enemy par-
ties and uncovered a growing number of installations.
In one day, 3 July, for example, Company I of the 3d
Battalion killed four NVA in two encounters, lost one
Marine killed, and found a large cave containing
weapons, food, and medical supplies. Marine com-
manders believed that this conttnuous pressure was
disrupting enemy operations by denying the NVA and
VC use of their bases®

In addition to pursuing the VC/NVA aggressively
in small-unit patrols, the 7th Matrines also developed
deceptive measures to conceal the actual movement
of units by helicopter within its area of operation. Nor-
mal practice was for the troops to board the helicop-
ters, lash in, then sit upright next to the windows
(assuming the zone was not hot) as they entered the
landing zone. Recognizing that enemy observers
around the Que Sons got fairly accurate troop counts
and knew the precise locations of some Marine units,
Colonel Derning changed tactics. In a given zone the
unit might enter by helicopter with the Marines vist-
ble through the windows. Rather than deploy, the Ma-
rines would lay down on the floor of the aircraft and
the atrcraft would exit the zone, giving the impres-
sion that a unit had landed. In another zone, the tac-
tic might be reversed with the unit unseen on the way
in but visible when extracted. A third option was to
keep the Marines concealed on the way into the zone,
crawl the unit off quickly, and exit the zone, making
it appear that the helicopter had gone empty both into
and out of the zone. Since the enemy had observers
throughout the Que Son mountain area, the intent
was to confuse the repotts to enemy command posts,
thus immobilizing or slowing down the movement and
reaction time of enemy forces®

On 5 August, the 7th Marines changed com-
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manders. Colonel Derning, his Vietnam tour ended,
handed the regiment over to his relief, Colonel Robert
H. Piehl. Colonel Piehl, a native of Wisconsin, had
enlisted in the Marines in 1940 and two years later en-
tered the United States Naval Academy, graduating
in 1945. A Korean War veteran, he came to the 7th
Marines from the 3d Marine Division on Okinawa,
where he had served as Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3.
Under Colonel Piehl’s direction, the 7th Marines com-
pleted Operation Pickens Forest and continued and
enlarged its campaign in the Que Sons.

At this point, the 1st Battalion was engaged in
patrolling around LZ Baldy while the 3d Battalion
kept up counterguerrilla and pacification operations
in the Que Son Valley and provided companies in ro-
tation for the continuing search of the mountains.
These two battalions retained these areas of operation
until they ceased combat activity in middle and late
September”?

Using elements of the 1st and 3d Barttalions and
reinforcements from the division reserve (1st Battal-
ion, Sth Marines) on 13 August, Colonel Pichl expand-
ed his regiment’s company-size effort in the Que Sons
into a series of bartalion-size operations, later grouped
for reporting purposes under the codename Opera-
tion Ripley Center. Besides continuing to disrupt ene-
my facilities in the central and eastern Que Sons, these
operations were aimed at capturing elements of Fron?
4 Headquarters which allied intelligence sources be-
lieved were hiding in the mountains. In conjunction
with Ripley Center, the South Vietnamese launched
Operation Duong Son 4/70 in the eastern Que Sons
with two battalions of the 51st Regiment, the 101st
RF Battalion, and a troop from the 17th Armored
Cavalry Squadron, all under control of the 1st Ar-
mored Brigade Headquarters®

Operation Ripley Center began on the 13th when
three rifle companies— Companies I and L of the 3d
Battalion, 7th Marines, and Company A, Ist Barttal-
ion, 5th Marines—deployed from helicopters in two
landing zones in the south-central Que Sons. Com-
pany A then was serving as the division Pacifier com-
pany, and the entire operation began under command
of Lieutenant Colonel Cornelius E (“Doc”) Savage, Jr.,
of the 1st Battalion, Sth Marines, whose mobile bat-
talion CP had been placed temporatily under the 7th
Marines.

Ripley Center continued for the rest of the month.
The 5th Marines’ elements returned to Da Nang on
the 15th, leaving the 7th Marines’ Companies I, L, and

D to continue the search. As soon as Operation Pick-
ens Forest ended on 24 August, Lieutenant Colonel
Albers’ 2d Battalion, 7th Marines was airlifted direct-
ly from western BA 112 to a landing zone in the Que
Sons to take over the operation. Companies from this
battalion swept north and east farther into the
mountains.

Neither the composite force under Savage nor Al-
bers' battalion found any trace of Fronr 4 Head-
quarters, but they uncoveted numerous base camps
and small supply caches and had brief firefights with
enemy groups. In the most significant contact of the
operation, on 30 August, Company F of the 2d Bat-
talion ambushed 12 Viet Cong. The Marines killed
nine and captured three, one of whom identified the
group as a hamlet guerrilla unit on its way to an in-
doctrination meeting. The opetation ended on 31 Au-
gust, and the 2d Battalion moved at once into
Operation Imperial Lake. In Ripley Center, the Ma-
rines had killed 25 Communists and captured eighrt,
while losing 27 of their own men wounded, mostly
from boobytraps. The caves and base camps had yield-
ed an assortment of weapons, food, and documents®

Operation Imperial Lake

In September, a month of new offensives and
redeployments for the 1st Marine Division, the 7th Ma-
rines launched Operation Imperial Lake, the regi-
ment’s most ambitious effort of the year in the Que
Sons. Planned by the 1st Marine Division and 7th Ma-
rines’ staffs while Albers’ 2d Battalion was still scour-
ing the hills in Operation Ripley Center, Imperial Lake
was targeted against the Front 4 Headguarters element
which had eluded the earlier American sweeps in the
Que Sons. Intelligence sources now believed this unit
to be concealed somewhere northeast of Hill 845, one
of the highest elevations in the central Que Sons. Ac-
cording to information detived from reconnaissance
patrols and from the 7th Marines’ spring and sum-
mer operations, the same area also might contain
headquarters and combat elements of the R202h,
V25th, and D3d Infantry Battalions; the 3d, T89th,
and T90th Sapper Battalions, and the 424 Reconnais-
sance Battalion. Units of the 160th Transport Battal-
ion were also thought to be active in the mountains.

Expecting the enemy to try to evade any sweeping
force, the Marines planned to begin Imperial Lake with
several hours of artillery and air bombardment of the
target area. The Marines’ intent was to force the Com-
munists to take cover in their caves and bunkers and
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A 194734
LCp/ Lewis A. Raborn of the War Dog Platoon, 1st
MP Battalion is shown with Scout Dog Nick in Oper-
ation Imperial Lake searching for enemy caches.

stay there while helicopters deployed all four compa-
nies of the 2d Battalion, 7th Marines into 12 separate
landing zones, establishing a cordon around presumed
enemy locations. The infantry companies would then
drive the NVA/VC into the center. Directly support-
ing the battalion, the 4.2-inch Mortar Battery of the
3d Battalion, 11th Marines would establish a firebase
on Hill 845, and the 1st Platoon, Company D, Ist
Reconnaissance Battalion would set up three observa-
tion posts surrounding the operation area. Simultane-
ous with the start of Imperial Lake, two battalions of
the 51st ARVN Regiment would begin operations in
the Que Sons south and east of the 2d Battalion, 7th
Marines.10

Just after midnight on 31 August, ten batteries®
*The batteries involved were: Batteries G, H, and I of 3/11; K,

L, and M of 4/11; E and W (155s) of 2/11; the 3d 8-inch Howitzer
Battery (-); and the 3d 175mm Gun Barttery (-).
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coordinated by Lieutenant Colonel Dickey’s 3d Bat-
talion, 11th Marines opened fire in one of the largest
single preparatory bombardments delivered by Marine
gunners in Vietnam and certainly the largest of the
war for the 11th Marines. From FSBs Ross and Ryder,
from LZ Baldy, from An Hoa, and from Hill 65,
105mm and 155mm howitzers, 8-inch howitzers, and
175mm guns for six hours rained shells on 53 select-
ed rargets in the Que Sons. These targets had been
chosen on the basis of information from the 1st Ma-
rine Division and 7th Marines intelligence staffs, and
the artillerymen carefully had prepared a fire plan for
each. By 0645, when the bombardment ended, the
batteries had thrown 13,488 shells—a total weight of
some 740,000 pounds of metal —into the Que Sons.
Two hours of fixed-wing air strikes followed in which
63 tons of ordnance were delivered.!* The 7th Marines
commander, Colonel Piehl, who had recommended
a far shorter preparation, years later recalled its effects:
“I believe only one or two enemy bodies were found,
although admittedly many may have been sealed up
in the numerous caves in the area.”12 At 0900, the first
flights of CH-46s and CH-53s carrying the assaule
troops dropped into predesignated landing zones.3

According to plan, the 2d Battalion command post
and two platoons (four 4.2-inch mortars) of Battery
W, 3d Battalion, 11th Marines took position on Hill
845, codenamed LZ Vulture. South of Vulture, Com-
pany E deployed to form the southwest side of the cor-
don while Company H filled in to the north and
Company F closed in from the east. Company G, held
in reserve during the initial assault, landed two hours
after the other companies to complete the ring on the
southeast. During this first day of the operation, the
companies made no contact with the enemy.

For the next four days, Lieutenant Colonel Albers
maneuvered his Marines south, east, and north of
Landing Zone Vulture, guided by information from
the regimental intelligence staff. He continually tried
to position his companies so they could quickly en-
velop any hostile force discovered and prevent it from
breaking contact.!

On 5 September, in a ravine near LZ Vuleure, the
Marines finally trapped an enemy unit, estimated later
to have been 30-50 North Vietnamese. Company E,
sweeping toward the southeast along the ravine, had
a man wounded while chasing a lone NVA into a cave.
When a helicopter came in to evacuate the wounded
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man, heavy small arms fire drove it out of the area®
Five other evacuation attempts failed because of the
volume of enemy fire. The other three Marine rifle
companies worked their way over the rough ground
to encircle the contact area and by 2230 they had
closed the ring.

From 6-9 September, the Marines fought the en-
circled North Vietnamese. The enemy resisted tena-
ciously and skillfully from caves and behind boulders.
As always in the mountains, the steepness of the ra-
vine’s banks, the many caves, and the thick trees and
brush aided the defense. Repeatedly, the Marine com-
panies advanced along the bottom of the ravine or
down the sides. Each time they met accurate fire from
AK-47s, SKSs, and American-made M14s. Assisted by
artillery fire, helicopter gunships, and jet attack air-
craft, the Marines tried to eradicate the enemy. Sever-
al of the air strikes caused secondary explosions, and
Marines claimed they could hear small arms rounds
going off in the fires started by bombs and napalm.

As the Marines gradually pressed the NVA back, the
fighting at times came to close quarters. On the 8th,
for instance, as Company G worked its way down the
side of the ravine, small arms fire wounded four Ma-
rines. A cotpsman went to aid one man and was him-
self hit. As the company, aided by gunships, fired at
the enemy positions, several NVA broke cover and ran.
The corpsman, who later died from loss of blood, shot
one with his pistol. A Marine with a grenade launch-
er dispatched another enemy soldier who had bolted
for a cave, Two more NVA plunged into the mouth
of a cave which the Marines promptly blasted shut with
a 106mm recoilless rifle.

On 9 September, with the Marine casualty toll at
three dead and 12 wounded, Lieutenant Colonel Al-
bers pulled his rifle companies back from the con-
tested ravine while jets of the 1st MAW in nine strikes
dropped over 40 tons of ordnance into it. The air at-
tacks, in the words of the battalion’s report, “rear-
ranged the terrain considerably” and sealed up several
caves, probably killing many of the NVA. At any event,
when the Marines resumed their search of the ravine
the following day, they encountered only sporadic

*Refetring to the incident years later, Colonel Piehl said the Ma-
rine was finally evacuated by helicopter: “The doctor, I believe,
cut off several feet of protruding intestine and put a bandage on
the wound. When the helo took off, the wounded Marine was hold-
ing the bandage with one hand, waving with the other and grin-
ning broadly. . . .” Col Robert H. Piehl, Comments on draft ms,
23Apr83 (Vietnam Comment File).

sniper fire. During the next couple of days they found
several large caves. Two of them contained still-defiant
NVA whom the Marines dispatched with bullets and
grenades or left to die behind blocked tunnel
mouths.!?

By 12 September, the North Vietnamese in the ra-
vine had been killed, sealed up in their caves, or had
slipped through the encircling Marines. Among the
enemy dead were a battalion commander and a po-
litical officer. Albers’ troops resumed routine search
and destroy activities. To reduce the risk of his men
hitting boobytraps or running into prepared enemy
positions, Lieutenant Colonel Albers instituted what
he called the “Duck Hunter” scheme of maneuver. In-
stead of moving through the hills in search of the ene-
my, most units of the battalion under this plan
established numerous day and night ambushes along
known enemy trails and at assembly areas and water
points and waited, like hunters stalking game, for the
North Vietnamese and Viet Cong to come to them.
Some came. Between 14 and 30 September, Marines
of the 2d Battalion killed 14 enemy.'®

From LZ Vulture, the four mortats of Battery W,
3d Battalion, 1ith Marines helped maintain pressure
on the enemy. The Marine gunners fired an average
of 170 rounds per day, mostly in evening preemptive
bombardment of suspected hostile mortar positions
and escape and supply routes.?

While Albers’ battalion swept the central Que Sons,
Lieutenant Colonel Kenneth L. Robinson, Jt's 3d Bat-
talion on 5 September began Operation Nebraska
Rapids in the flat paddy land south of FSB Ross along
Route 534 where the 1st Martine Division TAOR ad-
joined that of the Americal Division. In this opera-
tion, the battalion, with three of its own companies
(I, K, and M), Company B of the 1st Battalion, 7th
Marines, and several RF platoons worked in coordina-
tion with Americal Division elements. Their mission
was to open long-unused Route 534 all the way from
LZ Baldy to Hiep Duc, a district town on the upper
Song Thu Bon about 12 miles southwest of Ross. Once
the Marines and Army troops repaired and secured the
road, a South Vietnamese truck convoy would travel
along it with supplies for Hiep Duc.

During the four-day operation, Company K pro-
tected the Marines of the 1st Platoon, Company C,
Ist Engineer Battalion as they swept a portion of the
highway for mines, tepaired it, and installed a tem-
porary bridge. The other three Marine companies
searched the nearby countryside for enemy soldiers and
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caches, then moved into position to block for a drive
from the south by Americal Division troops. They en-
countered only small groups of local guerrillas, who
harassed the Marines with sniper fire and boobytraps.
On 6 September, the ARVN truck convoy made an
uneventful round trip from Baldy to Hiep Duc, and
two days later the Marines’ part of Operation Nebras-
ka Rapids came to an end. In brief exchanges of fire,
the Marines had killed two of the enemy, captured one
carbine, and detained two Viet Cong suspects while
losing one of their own men killed and 13 wounded.!®

The 3d Battalion, 7th Marines, now under Lieute-
nant Colonel Franklin A. Hart, Jr., who had taken over
command from Lieutenant Colonel Robinson on 6
September, joined Operation Imperial Lake on 13 Sep-
tember. On that date, Company I and a battalion
command group were lifted by helicopters into the
Que Sons southwest of the 2d Battalion’s area of opet-
ations. They entered the mountains in response to
reports that enemy troops might have moved south-
ward to escape Albers’ encircling maneuvers. The 3d
Battalion had minor contact with a few enemy but
found no major force. On 20 September, with its own
Company K, Company H of the 2d Battalion, and
Company K of the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines, the 3d
Battalion launched Operation Imperial Lake South in
the Que Son foothills southeast of the 2d Bartalion’s

View of LZ Vulture, 2d Battalion, 7th Marines com-
mand post in Operation Imperial Lake. Mortars of Bat-
tery W, 11th Marines can be seen in the foreground.
Marine Corps Historical Collection
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search area. Once again following up intelligence
reports, the 3d Battalion was hunting for Front 4
Headguarters elements. Hart's Marines did not find
the enemy command group, and the number of troops
committed to the operation rapidly dwindled. The 5th
Marines company left the mountains on 21 Septem-
ber and Company H of the 2d Battalion followed the
next day. This left Company K of the 3d Battalion to
continue searching the mountains, which it did until
relieved by Company I, on the 25th. Company I oper-
ated in the mountains until the end of the month.t®

Lieutenant Colonel Albers’ units, meanwhile, were
using enemy defectors and other sources of in-
formation to make significant discoveries. On 16-17
September, a VC defector led Company F to two
company-size base camps of the 915z Sapper Battal-
ion, and Company G walked into the abandoned
camp of another unidentified NVA or VC unit. On
20 September, a squad-size unit from the 2d Battal-
1on command group entered what was probably an
abandoned headquarters complex hidden in caves in
the slopes of Hill 845 almost underneath the Marine
CP and fire base. Here the Marines found about a
dozen connected caves, one large enough to contain
a log hut, that extended 70 feet into the ground and
included a kitchen cavern with running water from
an underground stream. Near the headquarters, in 10
more caves, the Marines uncovered a hospital with a
primitive operating room and watds radiating out from
it; they captured two Viet Cong near the hospital, a
nurse and a medical corpsman. The prisoners claimed
the installation had been evacuated by guards, staff,
and patients immediately after the artillery shelling
and air strikes of 31 August. These prisoners and
another, a NVA corporal, taken elsewhere proved a rich
source of information on enemy units and operations
in the Que Sons20

On 18 September, as the 7th Marines prepared to
stand down for redeployment, the regiment began
reducing its forces in Imperial Lake. Company H of
the 2d Battalion returned to Baldy on that date, only
to move into the Que Sons again on the 20th in Im-
perial Lake South. On the 22d, Company F ceased
operations in the Que Sons, and the next day Com-
pany G, the mortar battery, and the 2d Battalion com-
mand group boarded helicopters for the flight back
to Baldy. Company E continued combing the Imperial
Lake areas of operations for the rest of the month,
while Company I of the 3d Battalion maintained a
Marine presence in the southern Que Sons2!
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By the end of September, in 35 contacts, the Ma-
rines of the 2d and 3d Battalions in Imperial Lake had
killed 30 North Vietnamese and Viet Cong. The 2d
Battalion claimed about 20 more killed, most of them
trapped in caves during the fight at the ravine. In-
tensive searches of the rugged terrain had uncovered
six major Communist base camps with substantial
quantities of weapons, food, and medical supplies.
From captured documents and interrogation of the
three prisoners, allied intelligence obtained valuable
information on the enemy underground and order of
battle. Most important, Marine commanders were con-
vinced that the presence of their forces in the Que Sons
was disrupting enemy operations and reducing the
possibility of large-scale attacks on populated areas.
Imperial Lake, therefore, would continue into the fall
and winter, with the 5th Marines taking over for the
redeploying 7th Marines??

Keystone Robin Alpha Redeployments Begin

By the time the 7th Marines began Operation Im-
perial Lake, the redeployment of the units of IIl MAF
scheduled for Keystone Robin Alpha was already well
under way. On 9 July, the ships carrying Embarkation
Unit One of the withdrawal, consisting of elements
of the 7th Engineer Battalion, 3d Force Reconnaissance
Company, and Force Logistic Command, sailed from
Da Nang. Three other embarkation units, made up
mostly of detachments of support and service troops,
would soon follow. From the 1st MAW, VCM]J-1 flew
from Da Nang to its new station at Iwakuni; person-
nel from various support and service squadrons left
Vietnam by ship and plane. Beginning the process of
removing Marine aviation from Chu Lai, the A-4s of
VMA-311 moved north to Da Nang, where the squa-
dron transferred from MAG-13 to MAG-11.

During August, redeployment of both ground and
air units accelerated. From the 1st Marine Division,
the 3d Platoon, 1st 8-inch Howitzer Battery; the bulk
of the 7th and 9th Engineer Battalions; the 1st Bridge
Company (-); and the 1st Force Reconnaissance Com-
pany (-) embarked for the United States. The other
platoons of the 1st 8-inch Howitzer Battery,; Compa-
ny C, 1st Tank Battalion; and the 3d 175mm Gun Bat-
tery ceased combat operations and began preparing
for September departures. The 1st MAW gave up one
of its medium helicopter squadrons, HMM-161, which
on 16-18 August loaded its CH-46Ds on ships for trans-
fer to MCAS El Toro, California. On 24 August,
VMFA-115 continued the evacuation of Chu Lai by

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A 422854
A cargo hook lifts a CH-46 helicopter from Marine
Medium Helicopter Squadron 161 on board a LSD
at Tien Sha Deep Water Pier as redeployment begins.

shifting its base of operations to Da Nang and pass-
ing under the control of MAG-11.

During September, the aircraft wing completed its
Keystone Robin Alpha reductions. On 3 September,
jets from MAG-13 flew Marine aviation’s last combat
missions from Chu Lai. MAG-13 spent the rest of the
month redeploying its remaining tactical and support
squadrons. The last two jet squadrons of the group,
VMFAs -122 and -314, joined VMA(AW)-242 from Da
Nang in Operation Key Grasp, the second major trans-
Pacific flight of redeploying 1st MAW aircraft. Begun
on 10 September, this long-water flight ended without
serious incident 12 days later. As in the earlier opera-
tion Key Wallop, the squadrons stopped for fuel, rest,
and repairs at Okinawa, Guam, Wake, Midway, and
Kaneohe, Hawaii. VMFA-122 remained at Kaneohe as
part of MAG-24 while the other two squadrons con-
tinued on to MCAS El Toro. MAG-13's housekeeping
squadrons, H&MS-13 and MABS-13, also displaced to
El Toro by ship and airlift2?

These withdrawals left the 1st MAW, now com-
manded by Major General Alan J. Armstrong, who
had replaced Major General Thrash in July, with two
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atrcraft groups. Colonel Albert C. Pommerenk’s
MAG-11 at Da Nang had four fixed-wing squadrons,
VMA-311 (A-4Es), VMFA-115 (F-4Bs), VMA(AW)-225
(A-GAs), and VMO-2 (OV-10As). At Marble Mountain,
MAG-16 under Colonel Lewis C. Street controlled six
helicopter squadrons: HML-167 (UH-1Es); HML-367
(AH-1Gs); HMMs -262, -263, and -364 (CH-46Ds);
and HMH-463(CH-53Ds). Among them, these squa-
drons possessed over 80 fixed-wing aircraft and 170
helicopters24

The most complex and potentially dangerous part
of the Keystone Robin Alpha redeployment began in
September. This was the takeover of the 7th Marines’
area of operations by the 5th Marines. All three of the
division’s infantry regiments would have to shift po-
sttion to accomplish this. The 7th Marines would give
up its bases at Ross and Baldy and extricate its com-
panies from the Que Sons; the 5th Marines would
move southeast from An Hoa and the Thuong Duc
corridot; and the 1st Marines would send forces to the
southwest to fill in behind the Sth Marines. Compli-
cated enough in themselves, these rearrangements
would involve the portions of the 1st Marine Division
TAOR closest to enemy bases and most exposed to at-
tack. Hence the redeployment would have to be con-
ducted so as to avoid as far as possible any slackening
of allied pressure on the NVA and VC and to deny
the Communists any chance of disrupting the move-
ment with a major offensive.

As the Marines thinned out their forces in Quang
Nam, ARVN and Korean units would have to assume
new TAORs or enlarge the ones they already had. Dut-
ing August and September, III MAF, XXIV Corps, I
Corps, QDSZ, and the 2d Korean Marine Brigade
negotiated who would take over what. Initially, the
Marines wanted the South Vietnamese to relieve them
of the defense of An Hoa, ESBs Ross and Ryder, and
LZ Baldy, but the ARVN proved unwilling to enlarge
its responsibilities that rapidly. Early in September,
Lieutenant General Lam agreed with Lieutenant
General McCutcheon that one battalion of the Slst
ARVN would occupy An Hoa, but for the time being
Marines would continue to defend the other major
bases. Even at An Hoa, the South Vietnamese would
accept responsibility for only a pottion of that sprawl-
ing combat base. Marines would defend the rest of it
until their engineers could remove equipment, dis-
mantle buildings, and destroy bunkets and en-
trenchments?2®

On 3 September, the 1st Marine Division issued a
warning otder to its subordinate commands detailing
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the plans and timetable for the shift of regiments. The
operation would begin on 5 September when the 5th
Matrines would place one rifle company under opera-
tional control of the 7th Marines to telieve the 7th Ma-
rines’ CUPP company in the hamlets along Route I
and on Route 535 between Baldy and Ross. Six days
later, the Sth Marines was scheduled to turn over An
Hoa to the 51st ARVN and begin moving its 2d Bat-
talton to LZ Baldy. At this point a complex series of
temporary exchanges of battalions between regiments
would begin, designed to maintain continuity of oper-
ations, especially in the 7th Marines TAOR, while al-
lowing the battalions and regimental headquartets of
the 7th Marines gradually to cease combat activity. The
2d Battalion, Sth Marines upon arrival at Baldy would
come under the 7th Marines; at the same time the 7th
Marines’ 1st Battalion would be standing down and
pteparing to embark. On 20 September, the head-
quarters of the Sth Marines would begin operations
at LZ Baldy, having moved there from Hill 37 and
Camp Reasoner. The Sth Marines would then assume
control of the 7th Marines’ TAOR, with its own 2d Bat-
talion and the 2d and 3d battalions of the 7th Ma-
rines. On the same day, the 1st Marines would take
control of the Sth Marines’ 3d Battalion in the Thuong
Duc corridot, which now would become part of the
1st Marines’ TAOR. Between 20 September and 4 Oc-
tober, companies of the 1st Marines would relieve the
3d Battalion, Sth Marines in its positions along the
Vu Gia River, and the battalion would go south to
Baldy to rejoin its parent regiment. Duting the same
period, the regimental Headquarters Company and
the 2d and 3d Battalions of the 7th Marines would
end active operations and prepare to sail for the United
States 28

The final 1st Marine Division order for the redeploy-
ment, issued on 8 September, modified the original
timetable to allow for expected delays in completing
the partial demolition and the ARVN takeover of An
Hoa. The Sth Marines would now turn over formal
responsibility for An Hoa to the 51st ARVN on 20 Sep-
tember, but most of the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines,
would not move immediately to Baldy. The 2d Bat-
talion would remain at An Hoa protecting the base
and Liberty Bridge and Road until the last Marine en-
gineers lefc An Hoa. The relief of the 3d Battalion,
Sth Marines, on the other hand, would be speeded
up so that it could reassemble at Baldy by 24 Sep-
tember?2?

On 11 September, plans for the enlargement of
South Vietnamese and Korean responsibilities reach-
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ed completion. At a conference of commanders of the
1st Marine Division, Quang Da Special Zone, and the
2d Korean Marine Brigade, at which Brigadier General
Edwin H. Simmons, the assistant division commander,
represented the Marines, the Koreans agreed to take
over the eastern portion of the 7th Marines’ TAOR be-
tween Route 1 and the South China Sea* and to ex-
tend the boundaries of their enclave to the north and
west. Quang Da Special Zone accepted a 1st Marine
Division proposal that the 51st ARVN take charge of
a TAOR around An Hoa covering most of the An Hoa
Basin and the Arizona Territory. The South Viet-
namese refused, however, to accept a definite tactical
area of responsibility around FSB Ross, claiming that
the RF company they planned to station there lacked
the men to cover it. Brigadier General Simmons and
the QDSZ commander decided to give the RF com-
pany “a smaller, floating boundarty to be determined
at a later date by mutual agreement.” This meant that
Marine defense responsibilities at Ross would continue
for some time28

The relief of the 7th Marines began on schedule.
Captain Marshall B. “Buck” Datling’s Company G of
the 2d Battalion, Sth Marines on 5 September moved
from An Hoa to LZ Baldy and the Que Son Valley.
There it took the place of Company A, 1st Battalion,
7th Marines in the Combined Unit Pacification Pro-
gram, distributing its rifle squads in nine hamlets
along Routes 1 and 535. The relief actually was an ex-
change of personnel, as about 55 percent of the Ma-
rines of Company A, those whose length of time in
Vietnam did not qualify them for redeployment,
transferred to Company G and remained in their as-
signed hamlets. Their presence eased the integration
of the new rifle squads with the Popular Force pla-
toons with which they would live and fight. Within
a week of the relief, Company G and the PFs resumed
the usual routine of patrols and ambushes. On 9 Sep-
tember, Company A joined the rest of the Ist Battal-
ion, 7th Marines at the former 9th Engineer Battalion
cantonment near Da Nang, where redeploying units
of the 1st Marine Division made their final prepara-
tions for embarkation2®

Operation Catawba Falls

To throw the enemy off balance during the 5th Ma-
rines’ move From An Hoa and the Vu Gia River Val-

*This area constituted a narrow corridor bounded on the notth
by the Korean TAOR and on the south by that of the Americal Di-
vision.

ley, the 1st Marine Division carried out a large-scale
diversionary artillery attack in Base Area 112. This at-
tack had its origins early in August in plans for a con-
ventional infantry operation. At that time, intelligence
reports located the headquarters of the 3826 NVA
Regiment and a number of other NVA and VC com-
bat and support units in the mountains northwest of
the area swept by the 7th Marines in Pickens Forest.
In response to these reports, Colonel Clark V. Judge,
commander of the Sth Marines, had his staff begin
planning for a two-battalion operation in the area, to
be called Operation Catawba Falls3° On 26 August,
as a preliminary to launching the main operation, a
command group and two 105mm howitzers of Bat-
tery D, 2d Battalion, 11th Marines, with the 3d Pla-
toon of Company I, 3d Battalion, 5th Marines as a
security force, landed from helicopters deep in Base
Atrea 112 on Fire Support Base Dagger. The base, in-
tended as the center of the proposed operation, co-
vered the flat top of Ban Co, a peak 1,031 meters high
which lies about 10 miles west of An Hoa. About 100
by 400 meters in area with sheer cliffs dropping away
on all sides, Dagger ovetlooked the maze of ridges and
valleys in which the enemy were believed to be con-
cealed 3!

On 16 September, the 1st Marine Division issued
orders for the execution of Operation Catawba Falls,
but in a form far different from that originally con-
templated. The orders calied for a two-phase opera-
tion. Phase I, to be conducted by the 11th Marines
under direct control of the division commader, Major
General Widdecke, would consist of intensive bom-
bardment of the target area by howitzers and mortars
airlifted into FSB Dagger. Quickly emplaced, these
weapons would fire rapidly for a short period of time,
alternating their shelling of selected targets with in-
tensive air strikes. This phase would begin on 18 Sep-
tember. A second phase, to consist of a sweep of the
objective area by the 5th Marines, was included in the
original orders, but only as a ruse to confuse enemy
intelligence. Division headquarters hoped that the
Communists, battered by the shelling and bombing,
would spend the crucial period of the American
redeployment preparing to resist or trying to evade the
threatened infantry assault rather than conducting an
offensive of their own32

Responsibility for conducting Phase I fell to Major
George W. Ryhanych'’s 2d Battalion, 11th Marines. Ry-
hanych and his staff began detailed planning for the
attack on 15 September. Given little time for their fire
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planning, they worked long hours allocating the
10,000 rounds allowed for the attack among 160 tar-
gets furnished by intelligence. They developed a daily
schedule for firing and for suspending artillery fire
periodically to allow jets of the 1st MAW to make
bombing runs. To carty out the plan, Ryhanych would
have the two 105mm howitzers from Battery D already
on Dagger, two more 105s from Battery E of his bat-
talion, and two from Battery H of the 3d Bartalion,
11th Marines* Ryhanych also had available six 4.2-inch
mortars, four from his own battalion and two from
the 1st Battalion, 11th Marines, and four 155mm
howitzers, two from the 2d Battalion and two from
the 3d. All 16 of these artillery pieces would be em-
placed on Dagger. For still heavier long-range support,
Ryhanych could call on the 1st 175mm Gun Battery
at An Hoa and a platoon of Army 175s from the 2d
Battalion, 92d U.S. Artillety, located on Hill 65. For
this operation, the Army unit was integrated into the
2d Battalion’s communications and fire direction
systemn 33

On 17 September at 0800, the first of a total of 76
helicopters— CH-53Ds of the 1st MAW and Army
CH-54s—began lifting guns, ctews, ammunition, and
equipment from Hill 65, An Hoa, and Baldy to FSB
Dagger. Detachments of engineerts and artillerymen
swarmed over the mountain top prepating gun posi-
tions and helicopter landing zones. They were ham-
peted in their labors by a shortage of equipment. The
one minidozer on Dagger broke down after a few
hours, as did a second sent in to replace it. The single
chain saw “was exceedingly dull and broke down on
the second day of operation.” With hand tools and
explosives, the Marines continued wotk throughout the
day and into the night of the 17th. They finished gun
positions and other installations and distributed thou-
sands of rounds of ammunition.

By dawn on 18 September, 14 artillery pieces (two
of the mortars were held in reserve) were emplaced
and prepared to fire, and 10,000 rounds of ammuni-
tion lay ready for their ctews’ hands. Major Ryhanych,
who remained on Dagger for the first two days of the
operation, otganized his guns and crews into a provi-
sional composite battery commanded by his battal-
ion operations officet, Majot Robert T. Adams. Under
him, Adams had three sections, one of 105mm howit-
zers, one of 4.2-inch mortars, and one of 155mm

*Battery H was under operational control of the 2d Battalion at
this time as part of the Keystone Robin Alpha troop rearrangements.

howitzers, each commanded by a first lieutenant. A
central fire direction center controlled all three
sections.

At 0300 on the 18th, the provisional battery open-
ed fire. For the rest of the day, howitzers and mortars
methodically pounded each suspected base camp,
cave, bunker complex, and ttoop position. At inter-
vals, the battery ceased firing while jets delivered their
strikes. It became apparent as the day went on that
the original fire plan could not be carried out in the
two days initially allotted for the operation without
exhausting the gunnets. The resulting fatigue would
increase the risk of accidents and firing errots. There-
fore, on the 18th Major General Widdecke ordered
the operation extended through 20 September. The
following day, another division order postponed the
end of Plase I to 21 September. This order also
declated that “Preparation for Phase II having accom-
plished its intended diversion mission . . ., Phase II
[is] postponed indefinitely . . . . Opl[eration] Cataw-
ba Falls will terminate concurrently with termination
of Phase 134

Throughout the 19th and 20th and part of the 21st,
the battery on Dagger kept up its rain of destruction
on Base Area 112. Preliminary intelligence teports in-
dicated that the enemy had been hit hard in certain
of the target areas, and additional fire was directed
there. The soft sand and loam which formed a shal-
low layer over most of the flat mountain top caused
recoiling howitzers to shift position and required the
mortar crews periodically to dig out and reset the base
plates of their weapons, but hard work and ingenuity
overcame these problems. During the second day of
firing, heaps of trash and expended cartridge cases “be-
came an almost overwhelming problem,” but the rifle-
men of the 3d Platoon, Company I, 3d Battalion, 5th
Marines, who manned the firebase perimeter through-
out the operation, helped the gunners dump the trash
over the side of the mountain and also furnished what
Major Ryhanych called “invaluable” assistance in mov-
ing ammunition to the guns. The Marines burned the
mound of trash when they left the firebase.

Operation Catawba Falls ended at noon on 21 Sep-
tember. The weapons and crews of the composite bat-
tery were lifted by helicopter back to their permanent
positions. Between 18 and 21 September, Major Ry-
hanychy's artillerymen had fired over 11,500 rounds, and
jets of the 1st MAW had dropped 141 tons of bombs.
Allied intelligence later estimated that Operation
Catawba Falls had inflicted casualties on several ene-
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my units and destroyed a suspected training center,
Further indicating the success of the operation, no
major enemy attacks or harassment matred the relief
of the 7th Marines by the 5th Marines35

The Regiments Realign

Protected by the artillery fire of Catawba Falls, the
regiments of the 1st Marine Division catried out their
complex exchanges of position. On 18 September,
companies of Lieutenant Colonel Robert P. Rose’s 1st
Battalion, 1st Marines began relieving units of the 3d
Battalion, Sth Marines on Hills 52, 65, and 37. The
relieving companies came under temporary operation-
al contral of the 5th Marines’ battalion, which in turn
on 20 September passed under the control of the Ist
Marines. During this relief, the 1st Battalion, 1st Ma-
rines took command of Company M, the 1st Marines’
CUPP unit, which had its squads defending hamlets
along Route 4. Company M was part of the 3d Battal-
ion, 5th Marines. On the 21st, Battery A, 1st Battal-
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ion, 1lth Marines assigned direct support of Rose’s
battalion, moved its six 105mm howitzers and two
155mm howitzers from Hill 10 to Hill 65. The fol-
lowing day, the 1st Battalion, 1st Marines assumed con-
trol of its new TAOR.

To fill in for the st Battalion as it extended itself
to the southwest, the other battalions of the 1st Ma-
rines enlarged and rearranged their operational
boundaries. The 2d Battalion surrendered a strip of
the southwestern part of its TAOR between Route 1
and the coast to the Korean Marines while extending
westward to take over Hill 55. The 3d Battalion sent
companies southward to occupy several square miles
of the old 1st Bartalion TAOR including OP (Obset-
vation Post) Reno. By the end of September, as a result
of these realignments, the 1st Marines’ TAOR extended
from the Cu De River on the north southwestward to
where the Vu Gia and Thu Bon Rivers join. Near the
coast, it abutted the enlarged Korean enclave, which
extended well north of the Thu Bon-Ky Lam River line.

A jeep is lowered onto the deck of the cargo ship Saint Louis (LKA 116), as the 7th Ma-
rines and Marine Aircraft Group 13 begin their redeployment from Vietnam as part of
Operation Keystone Robin. The 7th Marines departed Vietnam on 1 October 1970.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373377
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From the South China Sea on the east, the 1st Ma-
rines’ TAOR stretched westward to Hill 52. The regi-
ment also now had responsibility for An Hoa, having
taken operational control of the elements of the 2d
Battalion, 5th Marines remaining there 38

The 5th Marines took the better part of a month
to extricate itself from its old TAOR and move all its
elements into positions around LZ Baldy and FSB Ross.
Berween 18 and 20 September, the regimental head-
quarters displaced from Hill 37 and Division Ridge
to Baldy. There, on the 20th, the regimental com-
mander, Colonel Judge, and his staff assumed con-
trol of the units operating in the 7th Marines’ TAOR,
which now became the 5th Marines’ TAOR. These
units included the 2d and 3d Battalions of the 7th
Marines. Using companies from these battalions, the
5th Marines continued Operation Imperial Lake. Dur-
ing the rest of September, all of the 5th Marines’ 3d
Battalion and about half of the 2d Battalion
redeployed a company or two at a time by helicopter
into the 7th Marines’ TAOR. This operation was com-
plicated by frequent exchanges of control of compa-
nies between tegiments and battalions. On 18
Septembet, for example, Company K of the 3d Bat-
talion, Sth Marines turned over its positions on Hill
52 to Company C, 1st Battalion, 1st Marines. Com-
pany K then moved to Baldy where on the 20th it was
placed under the 3d Battalion, 7th Marines for Oper-
ation Imperial Lake South. Two days later, it returned
to the control of the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines. Two
other companies of the 3d Battalion were attached
temporarily to the 2d and 3d Battalions of the 1st Ma-
rines to reinforce the Rocket Belt against a threatened
enemy offensive; they finally rejoined their parent bat-
talion on 28 September. Throughout the month, a
forward command post and the better part of two com-
panies of the 2d Battalion remained at An Hoa un-
der control of the 1st Marines3?

By 30 September, the 5th Matines had all elements
of its 2d and 3d Battalions but those at An Hoa, ready
for operations in its new TAOR. The 3d Battalion, its
CP at FSB Ross, deployed its companies in the Que
Son Valley; the 2d Battalion, its headquarters at Baldy,
operated in the eastern part of the regiment’s sector.
By 30 Septembet, also, the artillery battalion assigned
to direct support of the regiment, the 2d Battalion,
11th Marines, had placed its batteries at Baldy, Ross,
and Ryder, relieving the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines,
which had stood down for redeployment.®

Throughout these readjustments, the 1st Batralion,

5th Matines continued to perform its mission as divi-
sion reserve. It protected the installations on Division
Ridge and conducted Pacifier operations. On 25 Sep-
tember, the battalion extended its TAOR northward
to the Cu De River between the 3d Battalion, 1st Ma-
rines, and the sea. This placed the battalion in charge
of coordinating the defense of all the units and can-
tonments in what had been the Notthern and
Southern Sector Defense Commands. Deploying one
platoon into the extension of its area of operations,
the battalion also kept up Pacifier operations until
October3®

The 7th Marines meanwhile gradually withdrew its
units from combat and prepared to leave Vietnam.
The regiment’s 1st Battalion had started redeploying
on 6 September. On the 23d, reduced to cadre
strength, the battalion left Da Nang for Camp Pen-
dleton. The regimental headquarters and Headquart-
ers Company ceased operations and displaced from LZ
Baldy to Da Nang on 20 September, leaving the re-
maining two active battalions under control of the 5th
Matrines. Of these, the 3d Battalion began departure
preparations on the 26th, followed on 2 October by
the 2d Battalion#0

On 1 October, in a ceremony at the 1st Marine Di-
vision CP attended by Lieutenant General McCut-
cheon, Lieutenant General Suthetland of XXIV Corps,
Lieutenant General Lam of I Corps, Major General
Widdecke, and other high-ranking guests, III MAF
officially bade farewell to the 7th Marines. Under a
drizzling sky, Lieutenant General Lam bestowed Viet-
namese decorations on Colonel Piehl and 18 other
members of the regiment. The colots of the regiment,
and its 2d and 3d Battalions, and those of the 3d Bat-
talion, 11th Marines were paraded for the last time in
Vietnam, and the 1st MAW band played “Auld Lang
Syne.” At 2000 that same day, the regimental com-
mand group boarded planes for the flight back to
Camp Pendleton, and the Headquarters Company be-
gan loading equipment and supplies on ships at the
port of Da Nang#!

The ceremony on 1 October ended a long war for
the 7th Marines. The regiment had entered the con-
flict on 14 August 1965, landing at Chu Lai. Four days
later, the 7th Marines acted as controlling headquart--
ers for Operation Statlite, the first major American
battle with main force Viet Cong, and its 1st and 3d
Battalions participated in the fight. Since 1967, the
regiment had operated around Da Nang, conducting
large and small operations with distinction. From
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spring 1969 until its departure from the country, the
7th Marines had scoured the Que Son Mountains and
Valley and killed over 2,300 enemy.

It took another two weeks after the farewell ceremo-
ny for the 2d and 3d Battalions of the 7th Marines
to actually leave Vietnam. In the same period, all the
other remaining combat and support units scheduled
for Keystone Robin Alpha also embarked for destina-
tions in the United States and the Western Pacific. On
13 October, the amphibious cargo ship USS Saznz
Louis (LKA-116) pulled away from the dock at Da
Nang carrying detachments of the 7th Marines;
MAG-13; the 3d Battalion, 11th Marines; the 1st Mo-
tor Transport Battalion; and the 1st 175mm Gun Bat-
tery. Her sailing brought to an end the Marines’ part
of Keystone Robin Alpha. The redeployment had
reduced IIT MAF's strength from 39,507 officers and
men in July to 24,527 on 15 October:42

On 15 October, the last Marines finally moved out
of An Hoa. Throughout September and into October,
Marines of the 1st Engineer Battalion and helicopter
support teams of Company C, 1st Shore Party Battal-
ton had worked to dismantle the base, protected by
elements of the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines. While the
engineers rearranged the base with bulldozers, the
helicopter support teams rigged the many watchtow-
ers of An Hoa for helicopter relocation to other bases
using CH-54 heavy lift helicopters and the Army's
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“Flying Cranes.” Division headquarters viewed the slow
progtess of the job with increasing anxiety, as the heavy
rains of the fall monsoon had begun. Any day, flood
waters might make the single road and bridge out of
An Hoa impassable for the heavy attillery and engineer
equipment still there.

On 11 October, work had reached the point where
division headquarters could finally issue withdrawal
plans. The operation, coordinated by the 1st Marines,
was to emphasize secretly scheduled and heavily
guarded movement of the road convoys. The infantry
would hold their positions covering Liberty Road and
Bridge until the last Marine vehicle rolled onto the
north bank of the Thu Bon. They would then turn
protection of the bridge and road over to RFs and PFs
of QDSZ and board helicoptets for movement to LZ
Baldy. Even then, five bulldozers, their engineer crews,
and a rifle company, were to be left behind for final
cleanup 43

Worsening weather cancelled plans for leaving Ma-
rines at An Hoa any longer. On 15 October, eatly in
the morning, with Typhoon Joan approaching and
heavy rains and flooding threatening, the division ot-
dered immediate removal of all Marines and equip-
ment from the base. Evacuation of the vehicles by road
and the personnel by helicopter went forward through
a stormy day in what the 1st Marines’ report called “an
orderly and expeditious manner.” By 1900, An Hoa
belonged entirely to the South Vietnamese**



CHAPTER 6

The Fall-Winter Campaign in Quang Nam,
October-December 1970

New Campaign Plans and Changes in Tactics—The Course of the Fall-Winter Campaign
Operation Imperial Lake Continues— 5th Marines in the Lowlands: Noble Canyon and Tulare Falls I and 11
1st Marines Operations, October-December 1970—The War in Quang Nam at the End of the Year

New Campaign Plans and Changes in Tactics

As Marine strength declined, allied staffs through-
out Military Region 1 drafted their fall and winter
campaign plans. With fewer allied troops available and
with the monsoon rains sure to restrict air support of
operations deep in the mountains, Americans and
South Vietnamese alike prepared to commit their
regular units alongside the Regional and Popular
Forces in major pacification efforts in the lowlands.
At the same time, IIl MAF modified its operating
methods to get the most out of its remaining Marine
air and ground forces.

On 8 September, XXIV Corps and MR 1 issued
their Combined Fall-Winter Military Campaign Plan
for 1970-71. The plan, which would guide operations
from September 1970 through February 1971, assigned
tasks to each component of the South Vietnamese
Armed Forces (RVNAF) and allied forces in the mili-
tary region. Mostly restating earlier directives, the plan
called for a balance between offensive actions against
base areas and protection of population centers, with
an increased emphasis on efforts to eliminate the Viet
Cong and their administrative apparatus at the vil-
lage and hamlet level. The plan directed III MAF es-
sentially to continue what it already was doing: to
protect the Rocket Belt; to cooperate with the Govern-
ment of Vietnam (GVN) in pacification activities; and
to continue its drive against enemy bases in the Que
Son Mountains.!

The XXIV Corps/MR 1 Combined Campaign Plan
conformed closely to MACV guidelines. The MACV
fall and winter campaign directive, which was formally
issued on 21 September, instructed all U.S. forces to
concentrate on small-unit action to protect pacified
and semipacified areas. Units were to undertake large-
scale offensives only when intelligence sources identi-
fied and located especially important targets2

Lieutenant General Lam soon committed all the
ARVN forces in Quang Nam to support pacification.
On 22 October, he launched Operation Hoang Dieu.
Conceived by Lam and named after a 19th Century

Vietnamese national hero* who had been born in
Quang Nam, the operation involved the 51st ARVN
Regiment, the 1st Ranger Group, and the 2d and 3d
Troops of the 17th Armored Cavalry Squadron. These
Vietnamese regular units would cooperate with over
300 RF and PF platoons, the People’s Self Defense
Force (PSDF), and the national police in a province-
wide combined offensive against Viet Cong who had
infiltrated the populated areas. Lam assigned each
military unit and each district in the province an area
of operations to be covered by the troops under its
command. In the case of the districts, which controlled
the RFs and PFs, these areas usually were smaller in
size than the territory encompassed within their po-
litical boundaries. Lam also arranged for III MAF to
cover areas in the northern and western fringes of the
populated region of Da Nang and in the Que Son Val-
ley and for the Korean Marines to conduct saturation
operations in two portions of their TAOR.

Within each command’s zone of tesponsibility,
troops would fill the countryside around the clock with
small-unit patrols and ambushes. They would coopet-
ate with police and local officials to cordon and search
hamlets, concentrating on about 80 known VC-
infested communities. In an attempt to restrict clan-
destine movement of Communist personnel and sup-
plies, the allies would sec up check points daily at 2
changing series of positions on major roads. They also
planned to establish two combined holding and in-
terrogation centets for persons detained by the road-
blocks and by cordon and search operations, thus
assuring rapid correlation and distribution of current
information. Operation Hoang Dieu initially was
planned to last 30 days. In fact, it continued through
November and into the first days of December3

By shifting his forces from search and destroy oper-
ations in the mountains to saturation of the populat-

*Hoang Dieu was born in 1828 in Phy Ky in Dien Ban District,
Quang Nam. In 1882, during the French conquest of Indochina,
he served as governor and minister of defense of Bac Ha City (later
renamed Hanoi). When the French overran the city, Hoang Dieu
hanged himself, 1st MarDiv FragO 62-70, dtd 190ct70, in 1Ist
MarDiv Jnl File, 20-310ct70.
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ed areas, Lieutenant General Lam was following a
course of action long advocated by Lieutenant General
McCutcheon and many other Marines. IIT MAF, there-
fore, welcomed Operation Hoang Dieu. Summing up
the predominate opinion, Colonel Ralph F. Estey, G-3
of the 1st Marine Division, tejoiced that the South
Vietnamese finally:

. . were actually getting out and doing the things they're
supposed to do. I'm talking about population control and
resource control . . . They've saturated the lowlands and the
populated areas, and got the territorial forces and . . . the
51st ARVN Regiment actually operating in the lowlands in-
stead of out thete in the bush

On 19 October, the 1st Marine Division commit-
ted all of its forces to support Operation Hoang Dieu.
This operation and the continuation and enlargement
of Imperial Lake constituted the focus of Marine ac-
tivity in Quang Nam for the rest of the year. The two
remaining regiments of the 1st Marine Division more
or less divided these responsibilities between them.
The 1st Marines, cooperating closely with the Viet-
namese units involved in Hoang Dieu, concentrated
on small-unit action in the Rocket Belt and the Vu
Gia River Valley and conducted search and destroy
operations on Charlie Ridge. The Sth Marines, rein-
forced by elements of the 1st Marines, the 2d ROKMC
Brigade, and the Americal Division, continued and
expanded Operation Imperial Lake while defending
the hamlets around Baldy and in the Que Son Valleys

Both to assist the South Vietnamese in Operation
Hoang Dieu and to improve general military effec-
tiveness, the 1st Marine Division during October and
November changed its methods for employing artillery,
developed new helicopter-infantry reaction forces, and
revamped the deployment of its reconnaissance teams.
The division staff late in the summer had begun a
review of the use of artillery. They especially ques-
tioned the value of the 4,000-5,000 rounds of harass-
ing and intetdiction fire* (H&I) delivered daily by the
11th Marines. Analyses showed that this fire, aimed
at such targets as known or suspected rocket launch-
ing sites, infiltration routes, and troop concentration
points, had little disruptive effect on the small-unit
guerrilla operations which the enemy were now con-
ducting. Therefore, the division began reducing the
number of H&I missions. By late September, for ex-
ample, the number of rounds expended for this pur-

*Harassing and interdiction fire in late 1970 was referred to by
the euphemism “fire at pre-emptive/intelligence targets.”

Marine Corps Historical Collection

Col Clark V. Judge, commanding officer of the 5th
Marines, on LZ Baldy briefs 15t Marine Division staff
officers on his regiment’s quick reaction operations.

pose in the TAOR of the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines had
declined by 90 percent. The division instead used more
ammunition in short, concentrated attacks on well-
defined targets, as in the first day of Imperial Lake
and in Catawba Falls®

To avoid hitting friendly patrols in Operation
Hoang Dieu, the division curtailed H&I still further.
On 19 October, Major General Widdecke issued an
order forbidding most artillery fire at targets within
500 meters of inhabited areas. Troops in actual con-
tact, of course, could still call for fire against observed
enemy within the 500-meter limit. In the heavily
populated TAOR of the 1st Marines, this order stop-
ped H&I fire in all but the foothills west and northwest
of Da Nang. Elsewhere in Quang Nam its effects were
less drastic but still evident. Ammunition expeditures
by the 11th Marines dropped sharply. In October, the
regiment fired 50,735 rounds in 3,420 missions. The
following month, with the restriction order in effect,
its batteries expended only 21,532 shells in 1,919
missions.’

The reduction had no noticeable adverse milicary
effects. In fact, in the estimate of Marine commanders,
it had positive benefits. These included reducing the
chance of casualties to friendly troops and civilians
from American fire and lowering the level of battle
noise in the villages and hamlets. Lieutenant Gener-
al McCutcheon attached special importance to the lat-
ter benefit, arguing that minimizing the sound of
gunfire would give Vietnamese civilians a greater sense
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of security and perhaps increase their confidence in

the GVN#*

As it reduced the use of artillery, the division, in
cooperation with the 1st MAW, increased and decen-
tralized helicopter support of its infantry regiments.
This development began with a proposal by Colonel
Clark V. Judge, commander of the 5th Marines. Judge
suggested to the division and the wing that his regi-
ment’s mobility and tactical flexibility would be much
increased if the wing would station at LZ Baldy a
helicopter force assigned exclusively to support the 5th
Matrines and to operate under control of the regimen-
tal commander. Both the division and the wing agreed
to try out Judge's plan. Beginning on 14 October, the
1st MAW daily dispatched six CH-46Ds, four AH-1G
gunships, one UH-1E command and control aircraft,
and usually a CH-53 to Baldy. The wing also furnished
an officer to serve as helicopter commander (aitbotne).
These helicopters were at Colonel Judge’s disposal for
trooplifts, supply runs, medical evacuations, and other
support missions previously conducted from Marble
Mountain. In consultation with the helicopter com-
mander from the wing, Colonel Judge and his staff
could plan and execute heliborne combat opetations,
often in rapid response to current intelligence. With
an infantty platoon stationed at Baldy, the helicopter
package constituted the 5th Marines’ Quick Reaction
Force (QRF), which was employed for much the same
purposes as the old Pacifier, but, unlike Pacifier, it was
controlled by the 5th Marines rather than by the di-
vision?

The assignment to the 5th Marines of what amount-
ed to its own miniature helicopter squadron proved
satisfactory to both air and ground Marines. Accord-
ing to Major General Alan J. Armstrong, the 1st MAW
commander:

. . . The flexibility it gave the commander of the 5th Ma-
rines was marvelous. If he wanted to have a tactical opera-
tion, he could suspend the logistics runs and say, “Well, all
right, we won't schedule any in the morning. We'll put all
the bitds on logistics in the aftetnoon and have . . . five
CH-46s doing them and doing them in a hurty, and take
the larger number of 46s available in the morning and run
a tactical operation.” And at other times they were there with
a ready platoon for immediate reaction if they got a flash

*Not all Marines in the field agreed that H&I fires were un-
productive. For example, Majot John S. Grinalds, S-3 of the 2d Bat-
talion, 1st Marines during the last half of 1970, reported that
intercepted enemy radio messages and other sources indicated H&I
fire was taking a toll of guerrillas and VCI. Maj John S. Grinalds
intvw, 8May71, pp. 115-116 (Oral HistColl, MCHC).

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

call. And so was the helicopter commander (airborne), right
there, right outside the Three Section [operations]; and they
planned everything together. And this got to be a very, very
successful thing . . . 10

As the dedicated package system demonstrated its
value, the 1st Marines on 22 November was given one
UH-IE, three CH-46Ds, and three AH-1Gs, to be kept
on call daily under regimental control at Marble
Mountain. The 1st Marines then created its own QRF
by stationing an infantry platoon at the regimental
command post at Camp Perdue. As each regiment ac-
quired its own airmobile teserve, the division discon-
tinued its Pacifier force. The 1st Battalion, 5th Marines,
while still acting as division reserve and protecting its
TAOR of rear area installations, began sending two of
its companies at a time in rotation to reinforce Oper-
ation Imperial Lake.!!

The 1st Reconnaissance Battalion, which had been
reduced to two letter companies and a subunit of the
1st Force Reconnaissance Company by the Keystone
Bluejay and Keystone Robin Alpha redeployments,
modified its operations to assure full employment of
its men during the monsoon and to help the infantry
regiments cover their enlarged TAORs. Early in Oc-
tober, the battalion began establishing platoon patrol
bases within the regiments’ TAORs. From each of these
bases, which would be maintained in one place for
several weeks and which could be reached by foot in
bad weathert, reconnaissance teams would fan out to
patrol assigned areas. By the end of October, the bat-
talion had conducted five patrol base operations, two
on Charlie Ridge, two in the Que Sons, and one in
the Cu De River Valley*12

The next logical step soon came: combination of
the reconnaissance teams with the regimental QRFs
in a new system for rapid exploitation of sudden con-
tacts. On 18 Octobet, the division ordered the 5th Ma-
rines to implement a new plan of operations for
Imperial Lake. Under the new plan, continuous in-
fantry patrols in the Que Sons would be supplemented
by 6-10 reconnaissance teams working out of one or
more patrol bases. The six-man teams, their activities
closely cootdinated with those of the infantry, would
seek out base camps and enemy troops. If a team
found a site worth intensive search or became involved
in a larger fight than it could handle, the regimental
commander could send in the QRF to assist in the

*For further detail on 1st Reconnaissance Battalion operations
during 1970-1971, see Chapter 17.



THE FALLWINTER CAMPAIGN IN QUANG NAM, OCTOBER-DECEMBER 1970 107

Marine Corps Historical Collection

Marines of a Quick Reaction Force (QRF) from the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines scramble
wboard a waiting helicopter. About 30 North Vietnamese troops have been spotted in
the open from LZ Baldy. The QRF was a tactic to exploit fast-breaking intelligence.

search or exploit the contact. With this concept, Ma-
rine commanders hoped to combine the stealth of
movement of the reconnaissance team with the greater
firepower of the conventional rifle platoon. The plan
was expected to enable the Marines to engage and des-
troy small enemy groups that usually evaded infantry
sweeps and to overrun base camps before the NVA or
VC could strip them of valuable equipment and
documents.!3*

*The 7th Marines had considered a similar scheme of operations
in August. At that time, reconnaissance teams in the Que Sons were
encountering enemy units of platoon or larger size and often had
to be extracted hastily under fire. Colonel Derning and his staff
worked out a plan for exploiting this Communist aggtessiveness
against the reconnaissance teams. They wanted to insert an infan-
try platoon in the same helicopters that carried the reconnaissance
Matrines. The platoon, its arrival concealed from the Communists,
could set up ambushes into which the reconniassance teams would
lead pursuers. This plan was never cartied out. Col Edmund G. Dern-
ing, Jr., debriefing at FMFPac, 10Aug70, Tape 4958 (Oral HistColl,
MCHC).

After the QRF-reconnaissance combination proved
effective in Imperial Lake and after both regiments had
employed QRFs, on § December the division issued
an order further refining the procedure. Under the re-
vised system, the location of reconnaissance platoon
patrol bases in the regiments’ TAORs would be deter-
mined by the regimental commanders in consultation
with the commander of the 1st Reconnaissance Bat-
talion and would be subject to review by the division.
A rifle platoon from the host infantry regiment would
protect each patrol base while the reconnaissance
teams operated around it. When a team made a
potentially significant sighting or contact, the
regimental commander was to consider deployment
of the QRE The QRF could land at the team’s loca-
tion and act with the team; it could land near the team
and maneuver in cooperation with it; it could go in
after the team was extracted; or it could be inserted
in the same helicopters that took out the team in
hopes of luring the enemy into an ambush. The QRF
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could also operate independent of the reconnaissance
teams.

The order directed both the 1st and Sth Marines
to keep one rifle company on QRF duty with one pla-
toon on 15-minute alert and the rest of the company
on one-hour alert. In addition, the division reserve bat-
talion, the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines, was also to es-
tablish a QRF company. Each QRF would have its own
helicopter package, that for the 1st Marines based at
Hill 37, and that for the 5th Marines remaining at
Baldy. Helicopters for the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines
QRF would stand by at Marble Mountain when or-
dered by the division. The division delegated full
authority to the regimental commanders to conduct
QREF operations within their TAORs, while the 1st Bat-
talion, Sth Marines QRF would be controlled directly
by the division and could be employed anywhere in
the division’s TAOR. In close cooperation with the regi-
ments, the 1st Reconniassance Battalion would make
the final decisions on insertion and extraction of its
reconnaissance teams and on the conduct of their
missions.!4

The Course of the Fall-Winter Campaign

The intensified cleating effort in the hamlets and
the continuing sweeps in the Que Sons went forward
against slackening enemy resistance. The NVA and VC
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had avoided major engagements with allied troops
throughout the year, but duting the last four months
of 1970 even low-level harassing activity declined in
frequency. In September, for instance, the 1st Marine
Division reported 133 enemy initiated contacts in its
TAOR, mostly sniper fire and small ground probes.
During October, only 84 such contacts occurred, and
in November only 79 incidents were reported. As the
worst of the monsoon weather ended in December,
the Communists incteased their effort to 165 attacks,
but these continued to be small in scale and usually
ineffective.

Mortar and rocket attacks followed a similar pattern.
In September, the NVA and VC fired 125 mortar
rounds and 19 rockets at allied installations. In Oc-
tober, they fired 145 mortar rounds and maintained
their rate of rocket fire at 18. In November, their fire
dropped off sharply, to only 25 mortar rounds and
seven rockets, and during December they managed to
fire only 41 mortar rounds and seven rockets.!s

Much of the reduction in enemy activity resulted
from unusually severe monsoon rains and floods.
Throughout October, intermittent heavy rains fell in
Quang Nam, and four tropical storms hit the province:
Typhoon Itis on the 4th; Typhoon Joan on the 15th;
and Tropical Storms Kate on the 25th and Louise on
the 29th. The last two storms brought more than 17

Vietnamese villagers pick their way through flood waters caused by Tropical Storm Kate
in October 1970. The unusually severe deluge temporarily brought the war to a stand-
still in Quang Nam Province during the month. These were the worst floods since 1964.
Marine Corps Historical Collection
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An aerial view shows the Ba Ren Bridge under water as a result of the October flash
floods caused by more than 17 inches of rain falling in less than eight days. As can be
seen in the picture, the rushing waters isolated thousands of villagers in Quang Nam.

inches of rain within eight days. The deluge over-
whelmed the natural drainage system of the Quang
Nam lowlands. On the 29th, as rivers and streams
burst their banks, flash floods inundated most of the
area extending from about a mile south of Da Nang
to Baldy and from Hoi An on the coast west to Thuong
Duc. The floods, the worst in Quang Nam since 1964,

transformed most of the populated area into a vast
shallow lake broken by islands of high ground. Over
200 people, most of them civilians, drowned; over
240,000 temporarily or permanently lost their homes;
55 petcent of the season’s rice crop was ruined.!®
The floods all but halted allied military activity in
the lowlands just as Operation Hoang Dieu was be-
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ginning. Many units had to evacuate their TAORs to
escape the rising water. The 2d Battalion, 1st Marines
for example, with most of its operating area under
several feet of water, had to extract most of its patrols
from the field by helicopter and collect them at Hill
55 and the battalion CP at Camp Lauer just south of
Marble Mountain. In the 5th Marines’ AQ, over 350
Marines of the 2d CAG, numerous CUPP units, advi-
sory teams, and RFs and PFs, and the Headquarters
Company of the 2d Battalion, 2d ROKMC Brigade
used LZ Baldy as a temporary refuge. Advance warn-
ing of the approaching storms and carefully planned
disaster-control procedures kept III MAF's storm loss-
es in men and material to a minimum, but casualties
occurred. Both the 1st and 2d Battalions, 1st Marines
lost men swept away by rushing water as patrols caught
in the field by the flood tried to cross swollen streams.?

The rapidly rising waters threatened the lives of
thousands of Vietnamese civilians, and air and ground
units of III MAF cooperated with the U.S. Army and
ARVN forces in a large-scale rescue effort. Disaster-
control sections were established at II MAF and 1st
Marine Division, and General McCutcheon called on
the wing to support the evacuation. Colonel Rex C.
Denny, Jr., who was awaiting assignment as Wing G-3,
was in the G-3 bunker when General McCutcheon ar-
rived to discuss the evacuation of thousands of strand-
ed Vietnamese. “A rather heated discussion ensued
with the Wing and MAG-16 reps concerned with
weather conditions and, of more importance,” said
Denny, “was the lack of control of the evacuees— they
stated they would be hauling VC as well as legitimate
citizens.” According to Denny, General McCutcheon
listened patiently, then responsed, “As of now the war
is over, let’s get on with the evacuation.”18

The helicopter pilots and crews of MAG-16 espe-
cially distinguished themselves. Between 29 and 31
October, they braved darkness, high winds, driving
rain, and 500-foot cloud ceilings to fly 366 hours and
1,120 sorties on rescue missions. In the words of the
Ist Marines’ Command Chronology, “extraordinary
feats of heroism and airmanship were commonplace."1®
Assisted by Marine and Vietnamese ground troops,
the Marines of MAG-16 rescued over 11,000 persons
and later delivered a total of 56.3 tons of food, cloth-
ing, and emergency supplies to thousands more. In
addition to the wing, the 1st Motor Transport Bartal-
ion was instrumental in rescuing the Vietnamese from
a dire situation. In desperate need of resupply for his
pacification program, Colonel John W. Chism, USA,
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the Senior Province Advisor, whose headquarters was
in Hoi An, appealed to the 1st Matine Division for
30 trucks to move supplies. “Within fifteen minutes
after making our needs known to General Widdecke,
... [the division] had the fitst convoy rolling. A con-
voy which grew to 90 trucks and lasted three days. This
action saved the entire program."20 As the flood waters
receded, Marine engineers began repairing roads and
bridges, and the GVN with extensive American as-
sistance, began the resettlement and reconstruction
effort20

By 1-2 November, the floods had begun to subside,
although rain, fog, and swollen streams hampered
military operations for the rest of the month. As the
civilians began returning to what was left of their
homes, allied troops quickly moved back into the field
and resumed the hunt for the enemy. The Americans
and South Vietnamese soon discovered that the floods
had hurt the Communists, too, The water had covered
innumerable caches of food and supplies. With many
infiltration routes blocked, other matertal had piled
up in the Que Sons where it soon fell into the hands
of Matine patrols on Operation Imperial Lake. Groups
of enemy soldters, their usual hiding places inundat-
ed, were caught in the open by allied troops and killed
ot captured in sharp fighting. In Dien Ban District
alone, the ARVN claimed 141 VC and NVA killed and
63 captured between 2 and 5 November. These bands
of displaced enemy would also furnish profitable tar-
gets for the new regimental quick reaction forces2?

Hoping to capitalize on the natural disaster the ene-
my had suffered, the allies pushed ahead during
November with Operation Hoang Dieu in the
lowlands and continued Operation Imperial Lake in
the Que Sons. Operation Hoang Dieu ended on 2 De-
cember. The South Vietnamese forces reported kill-
ing over 500 enemy and taking almost 400 prisoners.
Lieutenant General McCutcheon declared the opera-
tion an “unqualified success” in denying the Com-
munists access to food and the people, and he urged
Lieutenant General Lam to continue saturation opet-
ations23

Lam did so. On 17 Decembet, he initiated Opera-
tion Hoang Dieu 101, a second province-wide satura-
tion campaign* As in Operation Hoang Dieu, the
Vietnamese regulars and RFs and PFs concentrated
their forces in the lowlands. They patrolled and am-

*The operation had actually begun on 24 November by a few
ARVN units south of Hoi An, and Lam’s order of 17 December
enlarged it to the whole province.
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bushed around the hamlets, conducted cordon and
search operations of known VC hideouts, and estab-
lished roadblocks. In support of the operation, the Ma-
rines continued to restrict artillery fire in the populated
areas and did most of their patrolling in the hills west
of Da Nang and in the Que Sons. This pattetn of oper-
ations continued through December24

Operation Imperial Lake Continues

From the completion of Keystone Robin Alpha
through the end of the year, the 1st Marine Division
continued and expanded Operation Imperial Lake. Us-
ing the Quick Reaction Force and reconnaissance patrol
bases, the division refined and improved its tactics for
scouring the mountains. The division steadily in-
creased the number of Matines committed to the oper-
ation, and its forces were supplemented by contingents
of Korean Marines and U.S. Army troops. By the end
of the year, Imperial Lake had produced no major en-
gagements with enemy units, but it had uncovered
large amounts of food and equipment, had led to the
destruction of numerous base camps, and had yield-
ed much information on Communist operating
methods, personnel, and order of battle.

In late September, when the 5th Marines took con-
trol of the units in Imperial Lake, the forces operat-
ing in the Que Sons had dwindled to two companies
of the 7th Marines, one operating atound LZ Vulture
(Hill 845) and the other in the southern foothills four
or five miles north of FSB Ross. On 2 October, Lieu-
tenant Colonel Herschel L. Johnson, Jt's 3d Battal-
ton, 5th Marines relieved the remaining 7th Marine
units. Company M of Johnson’s battalion occupied LZ
Vulture and began patrolling around it while Com-
pany L launched operations in the southern Que Sons.
These companies wotked in the mountains until 20
Octobet. From 13-15 Octobet, they were reinforced by
a forward command post and Companies A and C of
the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines. In one of the last Paci-
fier operations there, 1st Battalion companies, react-
ing to current intelligence, searched an area about
three and one-half miles south of Vulture. As 7th Ma-
rine units had before them, the companies found
many small caches of arms, food, and clothing and
killed a few North Vietnamese and Viet Cong in brief
firefights?2s

On 18 October, beginning implementation of the
division’s new QRF-reconnaissance concept of opera-
tions, Lieutenant Colonel William G. Leftwich, Jt's
1st Reconnaissance Battalion established a patrol base
at LZ Vulture, which was now renamed LZ Rainbow.

From this base and later from another at LZ Ranch-
house one and one-half miles east of Rainbow, 8-10
reconnaissance teams continually operated in the
mountains. To ensure rapid response to their reports,
Leftwich stationed a liaison officer and a communica-
tions team at the 5th Marines’ combat operations
center26

The 5th Marines on 18 October issued orders direct-
ing a new battalion to take over Imperial Lake and or-
ganize a quick reaction force. The regiment instructed
Licutenant Colonel Thomas M. Hamlin, command-
ing the 2d Battalion, to deploy one of his companies
to LZ Rainbow to telieve Company M of the 3d Bat-
talion. Another company of the 2d Battalion would
constitute the Quick Reaction Force, based at LZ Baldy.
Lieutenant Colonel Hamlin’s battalion headquarters
would remain at Baldy but be prepared to establish
a forward command post in the Que Sons if opera-
tions expanded to multi-company size. The 3d Bat-
talion, relieved of responsibility for Imperial Lake,
would continue patrolling the southern foothills of the
Que Sons, defend FSBs Ross and Rydet, and provide
one rifle company as regimental reserve for use in
emergencies anywhere in the 5th Marines’ TAOR 27

The relief of the 3d Battalion by the 2d Battalion
in Imperial Lake took place on 21 October. Company
F of Hamlin’s battalion occupied LZ Rainbow and
patrolled around it while Company H acted as the
Quick Reaction Force. Two companies and a mobile
CP of the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines moved to LZ
Baldy to join the operation, but diversion of their es-
corting gunships to another mission prevented their
insertion in the Que Sons on the 19th, and Tropical
Storm Kate prevented it on the 27th. The 1st Bartal-
ton elements remained at Baldy and finally entered
the mountains in November.

The QRF-reconnaissance combination soon pro-
duced results. On 21 October, the 3d Platoon of Com-
pany H was inserted four miles southeast of Rainbow
in reaction to a reconnaissance team’s sighting of four
enemy. The platoon found over 1,000 pounds of rice
buried in urns covered with dead leaves. The follow-
ing day, in two separate actions, two QRF platoons of
Company H killed four North Vietnamese, captured
one rifle and 700 pounds of rice, and discovered a
bunker complex.28

Late in October, the tropical storms which swept
Quang Nam sharply restricted activity in Imperial
Lake, although they did not force a complete halt to
operations. Marines caught in the hills by the storms,
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while safe from floods, endured miseties of their own
as they huddled under wet ponchos in muddy holes
and vainly attempted to ward off wind and rain. The
weather and the need for helicopters for rescue work
temporarily prevented aerial resupply of Companies
F and H of the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines. These com-
panies tightened their belts and lived on short rations
or none at all as they combed the ridges and ravines2®

Significant discoveries and contacts occurred dur-
ing the stormy last days of the month. On 26 October,
for example, the 2d Platoon of Company H, which
had been inserted as a QRF just south of Rainbow be-
fore the arrival of Tropical Storm Kate, found an ene-
my communication wire strung along a trail.
Weather-beaten and hungry after three wet, chilly days
in the hills, the Marines followed the wire into a desert-
ed battalion-size base camp. The platoon spent three

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

days searching the holes and caves of the enemy haven,
which yielded a substantial cache of arms, ammuni-
tion, and boobytrap material 30

Also on the 26th, two reconnaissance teams,
Cayenne and Prime Cut* combined in a surprise at-
tack on 10-15 NVA in a small camp north of FSB Rain-
bow. The reconnaissance Marines killed five enemy
while suffering no losses of their own, and they cap-
tured an AK-47 rifle, a Chinese Communist-made ra-
dio, and a small amount of other equipment. The next
day, to the west of the firebase, a squad from Compa-
ny F attacked another small camp, killed six NVA in
the first burst of fire, then came under atttack by an
estimated 10 more. Reinforced by a second squad, the

*Each reconnaissance team had a codename which also served
as its radio call sign.

Maj James T. Sehulster, the operations officer of the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines enjoys
an improvised meal of C-rations on Hill 381 in the Que Son Mountains during the Christ-
mas season. A Christmas wreath can be seen in the foreground outside the battalion CP.
Marine Corps Historical Collection
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Marines, who lost one man killed and three wounded
in the fight, called in artillery and air strikes. The ene-
my fled. On 30 October, another squad from Com-
pany F killed three more enemy in the same area. By
the end of October, the 5th Marines could claim 74
NVA and VC dead in Imperial Lake and 34 weapons
captured !

While the rifle companies searched the mountains,
the 1st Marine Division and 5th Marines intelligence
staffs during October sought ways to more quickly and
thoroughly exploit information discovered in or use-
ful to Imperial Lake. During the month, division G-2
personnel began holding daily meetings with the 5th
Marines’ S-2 staff to exchange information. The
regimental staff used every expedient to increase the
amount of intelligence collected in the field. For ex-
ample, units operating in Imperial Lake recetved ord-
ets to send photographs and, when possible, the actual
corpses of all enemy dead back to Baldy by helicop-
ter. At Baldy, enemy POWs and defectors would try
to identify the slain NVA and VC. Major Jon A. Stue-
be, the 5th Marines’ S-2, claimed to have discovered
by this means the names or ranks of 80 percent of the
VC and NVA killed during October in Imperial Lake 32

During November, the Sth Marines committed still
more troops to Imperial Lake. The 2d Battalion, which
directed operations in the mountains throughout the
month, on 6 November established a forward com-
mand post on Hill 381, two and one-half miles south
of Rainbow. From there the battalion commander,
Lieutenant Colonel Hamlin, controlled three of his
own companies and two from the 3d Battalion, which
rotated its companies between Impetial Lake and other
assignments, as they searched the central and western
Que Sons. A 2d Battalion rear CP remained at Baldy
to direct base defense and logistic support and to con-
duct QRF operations. The 1st Battalion, 5th Marines,
by 1 November, had inserted a forward CP and two
companies in the northern Que Sons, where they con-
tinued operations for the rest of the month. The 1st
Reconnaissance Battalion had 5-10 teams in the moun-
tains at all times. On 26 Novembet, the reconnaissance
Marines moved their patrol base from LZ Ranch House
to Hill 510 deep in the western Que Sons.

The reconnaissance teams shifted westward in part
to make way for units of the 2d Republic of Korea Ma-
rine Brigade. The Korean Marines joined Operation
Imperial Lake on 19 November. On that date, a new-
ly formed ROKMC reconnaissance unit, trained by the
1st Reconnaissance Battalion and ANGLICO Sub-Unit

One and accompanied by advisets from those units,
established a patrol base on Hill 322 in the notth-
castern Que Sons. To exploit their sightings, the
Koreans stationed a quick reaction infantry platoon
at Baldy. Later in the month, two Korean Matine in-
fantty companies, the 6th and 7th of the 2d Battal-
ton, began patrolling in the northeastern Que Sons.
The Korean Marines would remain committed to Im-
perial Lake for the rest of the year33

All the units in Imperial Lake kept up the pattern
of small-unit patrolling and thorough searching of any
atea where it was suspected enemy camps oi supply
caches were concealed. Operations increased the toll
of NVA and VC dead in ambushes and brief firefights,
and resulted in the capture of over 50,000 pounds of
tice. A patrol from Company B, 1st Battalion, 5th Ma-
rines made the most important discovery of the
month. On 5 Novembet, while searching a base camp,
the patrol found a cache of documents, photographs,
and tape recordings. The material when examined
turned out to be the central files of the Viet Cong
security section for Quang Nam Province. The file was
full of names of enemy underground leaders and
agents. Other base camps and cave complexes yield-
ed weapons, radios, communication equipment, and
explosives. As the Marines uncoveted bunkers and tun-
nels, they blew up the structures with plastic explo-
sive and seeded caves with ctystallized CS riot gas. If
the enemy reoccupied a seeded cave, the heat from
their bodies and from lamps or cooking fires would
cause the CS to resume its gaseous state, and render
the cave uninhabitable *34

The North Vietnamese and Viet Cong continued
to avoid combat except when small groups were

*Lieutenant General Bernard E. Trainor, who as a lieutenant
colonel commanded the 1st Battalion, Sth Marines, remarked in
1985 that Company B did not just happen by chance on the ene-
my headquarters complex. As a result of a successful Pacifier oper-
ation in late September, the Marines captured the chief of Da
Nang-Que Son Communications Liaison Network, Espionage Sec-
tion, Quang Da Special Zone. After extensive questioning the
prisonet finally agreed to lead the Marines to the enemy headquarters
complex. Based on this and other intelligence, the Marine battal-
ion in late October and early November launched an operation in
an “almost inaccessible portion of the central Que Son Mountains.”
A VC company, the C-111, attempted unsuccessfully to draw off the
Marines from the headquarters complex. As described in the text,
Company B “captured intact the central files of the VC Quang Da
Special Zone! According to General Trainot, “The captured files
were described by the intelligence community, both military and
CIA, as the most significant find of the war in I Corps” LtGen Ber-
natd E. Trainot, Comments on draft ms, 1Dec85 (Vietnam Com-
ment File).
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brought to bay by Marine patrols. Only sporadically
and on a limited scale did they sttike back at the units
in Imperial Lake. On 8-9 November, for instance, an
estimated 10 NVA or VC probed the defenses of LZ
Rainbow, but fell back before the Marines’ fire. Dur-
ing the night of the 28th, the enemy struck harder.
They fired rockets and grenades into the command
posts of Company F of the 2d Battalion and Compa-
ny K of the 3d Battalion, killing one Marine and
wounding nine. On the 30th, in an exchange of small
arms fire during a Marine search of a base camp, the
Communists killed 1st Lieutenant James D. Jones,
commander of Company I, 3d Battalion 35

A helicopter accident cost the Marines more lives
than did this occasional harassment. During the af-
ternoon of 18 November, reconnaissance team Rush
Act, on patrol from LZ Ranch House, had a man se-
vetely injured in a fall down a cliff and called for an
emergency extraction. The call reached the 1st Recon-
naissance Battalion CP at Camp Reasoner on Division
Ridge just as a CH-46D from HMM-263 piloted by
First Lieutenant Orville C. Rogers, Jr., landed on the
pad after completing another mission. The helicop-
ter was carrying the battalion commander, Lieutenant
Colonel William G. Lefewich, Jr., and six other Ma-
rines. Lieutenant Colonel Leftwich, a 39-year-old
honor graduate of the Naval Academy and holder of
the Navy Cross, had come to the battalion in Septem-
ber from command of the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines.
He often flew on missions to extract his patrols when
they ran into trouble, and this day he decided to pick
up Rush Act in his own helicopter. As one of his
officers later said, “There was no regulation which said
he had to go, but he always went'*38

It was a difficult and dangerous mission. Clouds and
fog hung low over the Que Sons. With no clear space
near the patrol for a landing, the helicopter would
have to pick the team out of the jungle with an emer-
gency extraction rig, a 120-foot nylon rope to which
the men could hook themselves with harnesses that
they wore. In spite of the weather and the rough ter-
rain, the helicopter found and extracted the team.
With the seven Marines of Rush Act dangling from
the extraction rig, the helicopter climbed back into

*Colonel Albert C. Smith, Jr., was present at the briefing when
Lieutenant Colonel Leftwich was given a verbal order by the divi-
sion commander, General Widdecke, to accompany emergency ex-
tracts “to prevent mismangement faults by Recon and 1st MAW
inexpetienced personnel” Col Albert C. Smith, Jr., Comments on
draft ms, 1May83 (Vietnam Comment File).
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the clouds to return to base. Instead, 1t smashed into
a mountainside about two miles southeast of FSB
Rainbow. The next day, two reconnaissance teams
worked their way through jungle and thick brush to
the crash site. They found all 15 Marines dead amid
the strewn wreckage. The tragedy was the worst
helicopter crash in I Corps since 26 August, when an
Army aircraft had been shot down, killing 31 soldi-
ers. It had cost III MAF one of its best liked and most
highly respected battalion commanders37*

The tragic crash also necessitated a change of com-
manders. Lieutenant Colonel Bernard E. Trainor, who
had expetience as a reconnaissance company com-
mander, was moved from command of 1st Battalion,
5th Marines, to command of 1st Reconnaissance Bat-
talion. Lieutenant Colonel Franklin A. Hart, Jr., who
had commanded the 3rd Battalion, 7th Marines in the
Que Son area of operations earlier in the fall, was
transferred from the division plans section to com-
mand the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines. As Lieutenant
Colonel Hart would later observe, making these
changes put experienced officers into the vacated com-
mand billets and enabled the division “to continue
Operation Imperial Lake with the least disruption of
operation.”38

Imperial Lake continued into December with ele-
ments of all three of the 5th Marines’ battalions; com-
panies of the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines; and troops
of the Americal Division taking part. On 2 Decem-
ber, a forward command group of the 3d Battalion,
5th Marines replaced that of the 2d Battalion on Hill
381. Initially this command group controlled the oper-
ations of two of its own companies and three from the

*A native of Memphis, Tennessee, Leftwich graduated from the
Naval Academy in 1953, having held the rank of brigade captain
of midshipmen. He served his first Vietnam tour in 1965-1966 as
advisor to Task Force Alpha of the VNMC. He earned the Navy Cross
for heroism during operations with the Vietnamese Marines in the
Central Highlands. Fluent in the Vietnamese language, he had made
himself an expert on pacification and the role of the American ad-
visor. From Vietnam, he went to assignments with the Marine Cortps
Schools and HQMC and from March 1968 to May 1970 was Marine
Corps Aide and Special Assistant to Undersectetary of the Navy
John W. Warner. In June 1970 he returned to Vietnam to command
the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines and in September took over the Ist
Reconnaissance Battalion. Respected by fellow Marines for courage
and professional skill, he was believed by many to be destined for
the highest military ranks. The Spruance class destroyer USS Left-
wich (DD 984), named in Lieutenant Colonel Leftwich’s honor, was
commissioned on 25 August 1979. For a list of his writings on Viet-
nam, see Hist&MusDiv, HQMC, The Marines in Vietnam,
1954-1973: An Anthology and Annotated Bibliography (Washing-
ton, 1974), pp. 264-265.
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A Marine firing party from the 1st Reconnaissance Battalion fires a salute at the funeral
service of LtCol William G. Lefrwich, Jr. LtCol Leftwich commanded the battalion when
he was killed together with 14 other Marines in a helicopter crash on 18 November 1970.

2d Bartalion, but rotations during the month reduced
the number of companies under its control to two.
From 2-20 December, the 2d Battalion, its headquart-
ers located at LZ Baldy, directed operations in the
lowlands and maintained the regimental QRF. On the
20th, a 2d Battalion forward command group with two
companies returned to Imperial Lake. Deployed by
helicopter, the command group took station at the
reconnaissance patrol base on Hill 510, and the com-
panies moved out to search the western Que Sons. The
1st Battalion, 5th Marines continued operations in the
northern Que Sons throughout the month, rotating
companies to keep two in the mountains while the
other two protected the division rear. Reconnaissance
teams kept up their saturation pattolling, and on 18
December the 5th Marines implemented the division’s
orders which refined and elaborated upon the system
for using the QRF to support them. The Korean Ma-
rines continued wotking in the northeastern Que Sons.

On 16 December, a mobile battalion command post
and Companies G and H of the 2d Battalion, 1st Ma-
rines landed from helicopters northwest of Hill 510
to join Imperial Lake. Until the 23d, they patrolled
and searched, making no major discoveties or contacts.
Then they returned to their TAOR south of Da Nang.

Elements of the Americal Division also entered Im-
perial Lake, On 2-3 December, the 1st Marine Divi-
sion granted the Americal an extension of its TAOR
northward into Antenna Valley and the southern Que
Sons. Americal Division companies operated in those
areas throughout the month to seal off the infiltra-
tion routes between the Que Sons and the enemy bases
farther to the south and west3®

The pattern of operations in Imperial Lake con-
tinued unchanged in Decembert. Usually as squad and
platoon patrols, the Marines searched the mountains
and occasionally ambushed or collided with groups
of 5-10 enemy. The Communists continued to evade
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rather than resist. As Colonel Ralph E Estey, the divi-
sion G-3 put it, “In the mountains we're finding the
enemy is not standing to fight. He's running away;
he’s leaving weapons and other . . . things in the
caves.”1° The toll of enemy dead, captured weapons
and equipment, and desttoyed base camps continued
to mount.

On 24 December, Company L of the 3d Battalion,
5th Marines stumbled upon a major NVA or VC com-
mand post. At 1515 on the 24th, a squad from Com-
pany L, returning to base after a patrol, saw nine
enemy—eight men and a woman —sitting in front of
a cave about one and one-half miles southwest of the
battalion CP on Hill 381. The patrol cut down three
or four of the enemy with small arms fire, but the sut-
vivors, aided by others from inside the cave, dragged
away the bodies and disappeared into the brush.
Sweeping the area of the contact, the Marines quickly
realized they had an important cave complex. Ele-
ments of Companies K and L came in to help in the
search, which continued into the afternoon of Christ-
mas day.

The Marines discovered six large caves, two of the
biggest floored with bamboo. Besides a scattering of
weapons, otdnance, food, and medical supplies, they
collected over 100 pounds of North Vietnamese uni-
forms, about 10 pounds of documents, and 8 wallets
containing letters and pictures. Most important in in-
dicating the function of the complex, they found three
Chinese Communist-made radios, three portable
generators, headsets, telegraph keys, and quantities
of spate tubes and transistors. The radios could be at-
tached to cunningly constructed and concealed cable
antennas which ran from the caves to ground level and
then were threaded inside or wrapped around tree
trunks. From the quantity and type of equipment
found and from the layout of the caves, one of which
appeared to have been a combat operations center,
some allied intelligence officers believed that at last
they had found the elusive Front 4 forward CP4t

While the burden of effort in Imperial Lake fell on
the infantry and the reconnaissance teams, Marine avi-
ation and artillery also helped keep pressure on the
NVA and VC. Jets of the 1st MAW flew 137 sorties
in support of troops in Imperial Lake in October, 108
in November, and 54 in December, dropping
hundreds of tons of bombs and napalm. Helicopters
of MAG-16 launched 3,000-4,000 sorties per month,
mostly carrying troops and cargo and evacuating
wounded. By November, Marines in the Que Sons
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could call for fire suppott from 44 light, medium, and
heavy artillery pieces, most of them controlled by the
2d Battalion, 11th Marines, in batteties at Ross, Baldy,
and FSB Ryder. In December alone, the 3d Battalion,
5th Marines directed 87 fire missions on observed tat-
gets using 1,794 rounds. The battalion also called for
76 missions, expending 968 rounds, on intelligence
and preemptive targetss2

Imperial Lake continued into the new year. Between
1 September and 31 December, the operation had cost
the 1st Marine Division 20 Marines and 2 Navy corps-
men killed and 156 Matines and 2 personnel wound-
ed. Enemy losses amounted to 196 NVA and VC dead
and 106 prisoners and suspects detained. Captured
materiel included 159 individual and 11 crew-served
weapons and tons of other ordnance, food, and equip-
ment. In addition, the Marines had wrecked innumer-
able enemy camps and installations4® Even mote
damaging to the Communists was the continuous
denial to them of safe use of their long established
mountain haven. As Colonel Estey summed up on 14
December:

Our presence there now is certainly keeping him [the ene-
my] off . . . balance, and he doesn’t have a sanctuary in the
Que Son Mountains that he enjoyed . . . before. 1 know we've

conducted operations in the Que Son Mountains . . . , but
we've never actually maintained a presence there, and this
is what we're doing now . . . . %4

Sth Marines in the Lowlands: Noble Canyon
and Tulare Falls 1 and 11

While the 5th Marines kept most of its companies
in the Que Sons during the Fall- Winter Campaign,
it still had to protect populated areas around LZ Baldy
and in the Que Son Valley. The regiment employed
elements of its 2d and 3d Battalions for this purpose,
and 1t relied heavily on South Vietnamese RFs and
PFs and units from the Americal Division to supple-
ment its own thinly spread manpower.

In the area north and west of Baldy, Company G,
2d Battalion, Sth Marines conducted most of the
defensive operations. Squads from this Combined Unit
Pacification Program (CUPP) company, integrated
with Regional and Popular Force platoons, patrolled
and ambushed in nine AOs along Routes 1 and 535.
With their Vietnamese allies, the CUPP Marines had
numerous small contacts and cartied out occasional
company sweeps and cordon and search operations.

Other 2d Battalion companies also operated around
Baldy when they could be spared from Imperial Lake
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Marines from Company L, 3d Battalion, 5th Marines move off Landing Zone Ross into
the Que Son Valley to begin Operation Noble Canyon on 23 October 1970. Bad weather
continued to hamper the operation and forced cancellation of a planned helicopter lift.

and from QRF duty. From 26-31 October, for exam-
ple, Company E patrolled just south of Baldy, killing
four Communists. In December, with all of the bat-
talion’s organic companies under operational control
of other units (Company G, as a CUPP unit, was un-
der regimental control), Company G of the 2d Bat-
talion, 1st Marines reinforced the defense of Baldy. The
company captured 400 pounds of rice, took five
prisoners, and killed three VC while under the oper-
ational control of the 2d Battalion, 5th Marines. On
17 December, Company G moved to the Que Sons
to join another company and a command group from
its parent battalion, now also temporarily under con-
trol of the 5th Marines, in Operation Imperial Lake 25

The 3d Battalion, 5th Marines, with its CP at FSB
Ross, rotated its companies between Imperial Lake and
various other missions. During most of the fall and
winter, the battalion kept two companies at a time
in the Que Sons. A third, under operational control
of the 11th Marines, stationed a platoon at FSB Ryder
and platoons ot squads at the artillery integrated ob-

servation device (IOD)* sites on Hill 425 in the Que
Sons, Hill 119 ovetlooking the An Hoa Basin, and Hills
218 and 270 commanding the Que Son Valley. The
remaining rifle company, stationed at Ross, conduct-
ed small unit operations around the fire base and con-
stituted the 5th Marines’ regimental reserve which
stood by to relieve district headquarters and CUPPs.
The battalion Headquarters and Service Company at
Ross formed its own CUPP platoon which defended
two refugee hamlets close to the base.

The 3d Battalion Marines around Ross operated in
a joint AO with the Que Son District Regional and
Popular Forces. The RFs and PFs concentrated on close-
in protection of the hamlets while the Marines, with
the exception of the CUPP platoon, patrolled and am-
bushed on the edges of the populated areas in an ef-
fort to prevent infiltration *6

The 3d Battalion conducted one named operation

*The IOD was a highly sophisticated and effective day and night
observation instrument.
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duting the Fall-Winter Campaign. This was Opera-
tion Noble Canyon, which was aimed at clearing ene-
my troops from the area around Hill 441 four miles
south of FSB Ross. This section of rugged terrain,
pocked with caves, had long served the NVA and VC
as an assembly area for attacks northward into the Que
Son Valley and southward toward Hiep Duc* Opera-
tion Noble Canyon began on 23 October when Com-
pany L of the 3d Battalion marched into the objective
area after the weather had forced cancellation of a
planned helicopter lift. From then until 3 November,
Company L, hampered by the late October storms,
searched its assigned AO. In light and scattered con-
tacts, the Marines killed four Communists and de-
tained one VC suspect, at a cost to themselves of eight
men wounded. They found no large enemy units or
supply caches??

When suitable targets were located, the Sth Marines
employed its Quick Reaction Force in the lowlands.
Late in the morning on 4 November, for example, as
the paddy lands were beginning to emerge from the
floodwaters, a CUPP unit from Company G engaged
15-20 enemy near the Ba Ren River three miles north
of Baldy and called for support. The regiment dis-
patched the QRF to head off the enemy, who were
moving north, while the CUPP squad and elements
of the 162d RF Company took blocking positions south
of the Communists.

The QRF unit, First Lieutenant John R. Scott’s 2d
Platoon of Company F, 2d Battalion, 5th Marines
caught the enemy on an island in the Ba Ren. The
helicopters carrying the platoon landed in the mid-
dle of the enemy column. A melee ensued. The NVA
and VC, a few of them armed with AK-47s but most
equipped only with pistols, scattered in all directions.
Some dove into the brush and began firing at the Ma-
rines. Others fled, only to be stopped by the surround-
ing water. The AH-1G gunships escorting the QRF cut
down many of the enemy with rockets and machine
guns, while Scott’s men dispatched others with
grenades and rifle fire. Scott later recalled that “it got
pretty vicious for a while . . . . We were sweeping the
area toward the river, firing and throwing grenades all
the time . . . . The NVA were firing and throwing
grenades t00.”48 One Communist soldier tried to es-
cape by submerging in the river and breathing through
a hollow reed, but the Marines spotted him and killed
him with a grenade. By 1410, the fight had ended.
While one Marine was killed, Scott’s Marines had

*For details of eatlier Marine activities in this are, see Chapter 2.
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killed nine enemy, and the gunships claimed 11 mote.
Policing the battlefield, the Marines picked up one
AK-47, three 9mm pistols, and an assortment of
American and Chinese grenades, packs, and miscel-
laneous equipment.®

Throughout October and November, units from the
Americal Division took over the defense of much of
the lowland part of the 5th Marines’ AO. The Army
troops came in initially for Operation Tulare Falls I,
a large U.S.-Vietnamese-South Korean effort to fore-
stall a predicted series of Communist attacks in the
populated area between Hill 55 and the Que Son
Mountains. The 5th Marines was given command of
all the Ametican troops in the operation, which was
coordinated by the Quang Nam Province Chief. Since
the Sth Marines’ battalions were fully committed to
other operations, III MAF and XXIV Corps decided
to place a battalion-size task force from the Americal
Division under the operational control of the 5th Ma-
rines. Named Task Force Saint after its commander,
Lieutenant Colonel C. E. Saint, USA, the task force
consisted of the 2d Battalion, 1st Infantry reinforced
by the 1st Squadron (-), 1st Armored Cavalty; a troop
of air cavalry (several served with the task force in ro-
tation); and a 105mm howitzer platoon from the 3d
Battalion, 82d Artillery. All these units were drawn
from the 196th Brigade of the Americal Division.

Task Force Saint established its CP at LZ Baldy on
2 October, and on the following day it began opera-
tions in an area north and east of the combat base.
Guided by CUPP Matines from Company G, the Ar-
my troops saturated the countryside with small-unit
patrols and ambushes, using their air-cavalry troop as
a quick reaction force. In minor contacts, Task Force
Saint killed 30 NVA and VC and detained 21 suspect-
ed Viet Cong while suffering 19 wounded. Operation
Tulare Falls I ended on 15 October, having succeeded
in its purpose of forestalling a wave of enemy attacks.
The same day, Task Force Saint departed for the Amer-
ical Division TAOR s

At the end of October, the Army units of Task Force
Saint returned to the 5th Marines’ TAOR as Task Force
Burnett. In Operation Tulare Falls II, jointly planned
by the 1st Marine Division and the Americal Division,
Task Force Burnett was again under operational con-
trol of the 5th Marines. Between 27 and 31 October,
the Army force established its CP at Baldy and from
then until 30 November, it patrolled around the
northeastern foothills of the Que Sons. Using the same
tactics they had employed earlier, the Army troops
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killed 22 VC, captured two, and seized 14,950 pounds
of rice, while suffering casualties of four killed and 26
wounded. By 1 December, the units of Task Force Bur-
nett had returned to their parent diviston, but Army
operations in the Marine division TAOR continued
through the end of the year in the far southwestern
Que Son Mountains5!

While the Americal Division operations had pro-
duced only modest results, they had helped the thin-
ly spread 5th Marines to keep pressute on the
Communists throughout its TAOR and had assisted
Operation Hoang Dieu by blocking the enemy’s routes
of withdrawal from the lowlands to the mountains.
As Colonel Estey, the 1st Marine Division G-3, said,
“Colonel Judge just doesn’t have the units that are
necessary to adequately saturate his AO and this is
what the 23d Infantry [ Americal] task force is doing,
and they're welcome any time in the area.”’s?

As the meager results of the Tulare Falls operations
indicated, the enemy in the lowlands of the 5th Ma-
rines’ TAOR seemed few and unaggressive through-
out the fall and wintet. They moved in groups of no
more than three to five men and devoted their efforts
to recruiting, accumulating supplies, and harassing the
allies with sniper fire and boobytraps.

Only in early December did the Communists show
a willingness to fight. On 3 December, two platoons
of VC, believed to have been membets of the 10524
Main Force Battalion, attacked the Que Son District
Headquarters. They struck at 0230 with fire bombs
and small arms, only to be met and driven off by the
RF and PF defenders. The raid resulted in the des-
truction of three huts, the death of one PF soldier,
and the wounding of eight. The Viet Cong left one
man dead on the field3?

The enemy launched a mote intense attack on 9 De-
cember. Before dawn on that day, an estimated 60-80
VC asaulted the CP of the 1st Platoon of Company
G, 2d Battalion, 5th Marines near the village of Phu
Thai three miles southwest of Baldy. Covered by a bar-
rage of mortar rounds, rockets, grenades, and small
arms fire, the VC rushed the east side of the perimeter
and became entangled in the wire. CUPP Marines and
RFs blasted the attackers with rifle, machine gun fire,
and mortars and called for artillery support. The ac-
tion continued until sunrise when the enemy, unable
to penetrate the perimetet, withdrew. The VC left 11
dead in the wire and a litter of abandoned weapons,
including four AK-47s and one B-40 rocket launcher.
Two of the Marine defenders were wounded seriously

enough to need medical evacuation; the RFs lost two
soldiers killed and 14 wounded. On the afternoon of
the 9th, Vice President Nguyen Cao Ky of the Repub-
lic of Vietnam, then on a tour of Quang Nam, vistt-
ed the compound and congratulated the Marines and
RFs for their small but unquestionable victory34

Ist Marines Operations, October-December 1970

During the last months of 1970, Colonel Paul X.
“PX” Kelley’s 1st Marines continued to protect the
Rocket Belt. Each of the regiment’s battalions defend-
ed the same general area of operations it had had since
March, although the boundaties of each battalion’s
TAOR had been shifted and enlarged by the Keystone
Robin Alpha troop redeployments. The 3d Battalion
remained responsible for the arc of the Rocket Belt
north and northwest of Da Nang. The 1st Battalion,
now extended into the Thuong Duc corridor, guard-
ed the western and southwestern sector. The 2d Bat-
talion operated in the heavily populated and Viet
Cong-infested farmlands between Hill 55 and the
South China Sea.

The two massive Vietnamese saturation operations,
Hoang Dieu and Hoang Dieu 101, increased the num-
ber of ARVN and RF/PF small-unit activities within
the 1st Marines’ TAOR and forced curtailment of the
use of artillery. For each of these operations, Colonel
Kelley directed his battalions to conduct as many joint
activities as possible with the RFs and PFs in their
TAORs, emphasizing cordon and search operations.
Kelley enjoined his battalions to give “maximum sup-
port” to the efforts of the districts in which they
operated —Dai Loc and Hieu Duc for the 1st Battal-
ion, Hoa Vang for the 2d, and Hoa Vang and Hieu
Duc for the 3d. The battalions were to take special
care in coordinating their patrols and ambushes with
those of the ARVN, RFs and PFs, making sure that
Marines in the field always knew wherte their allies were
operating. Beyond reductions in artillery fire and limi-
tation of small-unit activities in some areas, however,
Hoang Dieu and Hoang Dieu 101 had little effect on
the endless round of squad and platoon patrols and
ambushes with which the 1st Marines protected the
Rocket Belt3s

The 1st Battalion, commanded by Lieutenant Col-
onel Robert P. Rose, had moved companies onto Hills
52, 65, and 37 to protect Route 4 where it passed the
foot of Charlie Ridge toward Thuong Duc. On Hill
52, the westernmost of the three defended by the bat-
talion, Company C came under persistent Communist
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pressure early in the fall. The company, commanded
by First Lieutenant James N. Wood, Jr., had its CP
on the hill, a low elevation which overlooks Route 4
and the Vu Gia River to the south of it and is itself
overlooked from the north by Charlie Ridge.

On 28 September, the enemy began a series of
harassing attacks on Hill 52. The action started close
to midnight when a trip flare went off on the west
side of Company C’s perimeter, revealing two enemy
soldiers trying to work their way through the barbed
wire. The alerted Marines attacked the infiltrators with
small arms and grenades, but with no observable
result. This incident was followed by a night of sight-
ings of groups of four or five NVA or VC and brief
exchanges of fire. In the most costly of these for Com-
pany C, a Marine squad shooting at enemy in the wire
was hit from the rear by two RPG rounds, losing two
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men killed and two more wounded. Eartly on the 29th,
Marines on Hill 52 spotted nine enemy swimming
across the Vu Gia from the south bank. Catching the
Communists in the middle of the river, the Marines
opened fire with mortars and recoilless rifles and
directed artillery on the Communists’ position. By
dawn, the NVA and VC around the perimeter had
withdrawn. Marines sweeping the area of the various
contacts discovered four enemy dead and picked up
a 9mm pistol, 31 grenades, and an RPG launcher with
five rocketss8

Enemy harassment of Company C continued until
9 October. Daily, the North Vietnamese or Viet Cong
fired at the Marine position with mortars, and they
occasionally used recotlless rifles, RPGs, and rockets.
Snipers in a treeline northwest of the hill also harassed
the Marines. Helicopters in the area frequently came

Marines of the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines prepare to celebrate the 195th birthday of the
Marine Corps on 10 November 1970 in a formal ceremony on the aluminum helicopter
pad on Firebase Ross. The Ross observation tower can be seen in the background.

Marine Corps Historical Collection
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under fire. In a total of 20 attacks, the Communists
hit Hill 52 with 52 60mm and 10 82mm mortar shells,
33 75mm recoilless rifle rounds, 2 RPG rounds, and
4 122mm rockets.

Company C met every attack with mortar and recoil-
less rifle fire and called for counterbattery artillery fire
against the suspected enemy positions. The enemy
gunners, who usually fired from the hills north and
southwest of Hill 52, were well protected by the rough
terrain and proved difficult to silence. Nevertheless,
the rapid and well-directed Marine counterfire forced
the Communists to change position frequently and
kept the bombardment sporadic and inaccurate. In the
entire series of attacks by fire, Company C suffered
only six Marines seriously wounded. Beginning on 4
October, jets of the 1st MAW flew a series of strikes
against enemy mortar positions which the artillery
could not reach. By 9 October, these strikes had forced
the Communists to break off their attack. Marine com-
manderts believed that ammunition shortages caused
by the heavy October rains also had helped curtail the
Communists’ harassment 57

Enemy aggressiveness in the 1st Battalion, 1st Ma-
tines’ TAOR diminished after the October floods. The
battalion spent the last months of 1970 carrying out
small-unit patrols and ambushes and protecting en-
gineer minesweeping teams on Route 4. As Viet-
namese Regional and Popular Forces increased their
activity around the villages and hamlets, the battal-
ion, in November, conducted a company-size sweep
on Charlie Ridge and later established a patrol base
there for reconnaissance teams. From 12-15 Novem-
ber, and again on 19-20 November, two companies
swept the Football Island area near the Thu Bon north
of An Hoa. Hunting for enemy food caches, the com-
panies found about 2,000 pounds of hidden rice and
corn. They also engaged one group of five NVA/VC,
killing one and wounding and capturing another. Dur-
ing December, the battalion conducted two search and
destroy operations on Charlie Ridge, and it provided
two companies to block for an ARVN sweep south of
Route 4 near Hill 37. None of these operations pro-
duced significant contact58

During December, the 1st Battalion turned over the
static defense of two of its major fortified positions to
the South Vietnamese. In the far northern part of its
TAOR, the battalion handed Hill 10 over to local Viet-
namese forces between 27 November and 2 Decem-
ber. Shortly thereafter, it gave up Hill 52 on which
Company C had eatlier stood siege. The division and

Ist Marines staffs had begun a reconsideration of the
military value of the hill on 24 October, and on 3 De-
cember, III MAF agreed to their proposal for its aban-
donment on grounds that the Marines no longer
needed it as a patrol base or an artillery position. In-
stead of holding the hill, the 1st Marines would pro-
tect Route 4 to Thuong Duc by mobile operations and
by establishing an infantry reconnaissance patrol base
north of Hill 52 on Charlie Ridge. Withdrawal of Ma-
rines from Hill 52 began on 9 December and was com-
pleted by the 13th. The redeployment left the 1st
Battalion with fixed positions on Hills 65 and 37 and
with the better part of three companies free for
maneuver in the field 5

The 2d Battalion, under Lieutenant Colonel Donald
J. Norris, who had taken over on 13 September from
the ill-fated Lieutenant Colonel Leftwich, emphasized
population control and efforts to eradicate the VC un-
derground in the many hamlets in its TAOR. As it had
since June, the battalion deployed three of its com-
panies throughout the fall and winter in assigned AOs
and kept one in reserve for special operations and, af-
ter 22 November, for QRF duty. The 2d Batalion also
conducted operations with ROKMC and 51st ARVN
units. To reduce boobytrap casualties, the three com-
panies in the field did most of their patrolling and
ambushing at night (when the 2d Battalion believed
the enemy removed many mines to let their own men
move) and tracked movement in their AOs during the
day from observation posts and watchtowers. After
Operation Hoang Dieu began, the 2d Battalion
cooperated with Vietnamese RFs and PFs and with
CAP Marines to maintain daily checkpoints on major
roads and to cordon and search hamlets or conduct
surprise raids on suspected VC hideouts and head-
quarters.

On 10 November* in order to increase mobility, the
battalion directed its three rifle companies in the field
to dismantle all their fixed defensive positions, most-
ly CPs and patrol bases. This would leave the battal-
ion with only the fortifications of Camp Lauer and

*The 10th of November 1775 is the Marine Corps birthday. While
the war went on throughout the Il MAF TAOR, Marine commands
took time to conduct modest ceremonies to honor the 195th birth-
day of the Marine Corps. Colonel Don H. Blanchard, the Chief
of Staff, 1st Marine Division, later remembered visiting several of
the mote remote outposts, and was guest of honor of the 1st Bat-
talion, Sth Marines (with whom he served in Korea) in the morn-
ing and celebrated with the Marines at FSB Ross in the afternoon.
Col Don H. Blanchard, Comments on draft ms, 2Jun83 (Vietnam
Comment File).
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with two observation posts and four watch towers, the
latter manned only during the day and on moonlit
nights. The companies in the field were to change po-
sition daily within their AOs. Each day the battalion
S-2 provided the companies a list of recommended
patrol missions on the basis of which each company
commander would plan his activities for the next 24
hours. While three companies operated in this man-
ner, the fourth would remain at Camp Lauer, serving
as both the regimental Quick Reaction Force and the
battalion reserve 80

Rapid and imaginative exploitation of current in-
telligence proved successful for the battalion during
November. On the 15th, the battalion responded to
a report from an informant that the VC were going
to hold a political meeting that night in An Tru (1),
a hamlet just south of Marble Mountain and Camp
Lauer. Lieutenant Colonel Norris and his operations
officer, Major John S. Grinalds, set a trap. They knew
that the VC customarily approached An Tru (1) by boat
along a shallow lake south of the hamlet and would
flee by the same route if infantry approached from
Camp Lauer. Therefore, they arranged for a Viet-
namese Seal* team to swim stealthily to an ambush
position overlooking the lake on the west side. Then
they sent a squad of Company G sweeping noisily into
the hamlet from the east side. The Marines flushed
out five VC who, as expected, piled into two sampans
and paddled out into the lake toward what they
thought was safety. They ran directly into the Seal am-
bush, which blew them out of their boats at close
range. The Marines and Seals recovered the body of
one of the enemy. The others, almost certainly killed,
sank with their weapons and were not found !

Three days later, at 1322, Companies E and G
deployed from helicopters to assault the hamlet of
Quang Dong (1), one and one-half miles east of Hill
55, where intelligence indicated a VC headquarters
might be located. Company G swept into the hamlet
while a platoon from Company E and elements of the
4th Bactalion, 51st ARVN Regiment took up block-
ing positions around it. An enemy force of unknown
size fled the hamlet and ran into the Marines of Com-
pany E who, with the aid of a Cobra gunship, killed

*Seal teams operated under the Vietnamese Coastal Security Serv-
ice. Each consisted of 12 South Vietnamese Navy personnel dressed
in black pajamas like the enemy and carrying AK-47s. The teams,
accompanied by U.S. Navy advisors, were used to block traffic along
waterways of, as in this case, to move into position by water and
conduct ambushes.
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three and wounded and captured two others, one of
them a NVA lieutenant. A search of the hamlet turned
up 150 pounds of wheat and 125 pounds of rice in
buried caches, 5 boobytraps, 1 AK-47, and 2 bunkers
made of steel-reinforced concrete. The Marines sent
85 civilians to Hill 55 to be screened as VC suspects
and set ambushes around the bunkets and food caches.
Before the operation ended on 20 November, the am-
bushes had resulted in three more enemy dead and
three weapons captured. The Matines suffered no
casualties 82

In December, two companies of the 2d Battalion
and a mobile battalion CP were detached for most of
the month to support the 5th Marines in Imperial
Lake. As a result, the battalion made fewer attacks
within its TAOR. Nevertheless, on 7 December, again
working with a Seal team, two rifle companies and a
RF company cordoned off a known VC haven near a
finger lake one and one-half miles south of Camp
Lauer. After the cordon had been established, the Ma-
rines worked over the area within it with mortar fire
and air strikes and then began a thorough search which
continued through the end of the month. By 31 De-
cember, they had found 1 dead VC, 3 rifles, 1,350
rounds of AK-47 ammunition, 40 boobytraps, 11
81mm and 60mm mortar shells, and about 6 pounds
of documents in the target area83

In the northwestern part of the Rocket Belt, Lieu-
tenant Colone] Marc A. Moore’s 3d Battalion operat-
ed in the thinly populated foothills west of Da Nang
and in the villages along the Cu De River. Small-unit
patrols and ambushes, most of them aimed at prevent-
ing rocket and mortar attacks on Da Nang, continued
to form the bulk of the battalion’s activities, varied
with frequent company-size sweeps of the hills west
of Outpost Reno and the rugged mountains north of
the Cu De. From 22-31 December, the battalion fur-
nished the 1st Marines’ Quick Reaction Force.

During the Fall-Winter Campaign, the 3d Battal-
ion centered much of its attention on the villages of
Ap Quan Nam and Kim Lien in the northern part
of its TAOR. Ap Quan Nam, just south of the Cu De,
long had been a center for enemy infiltration, politi-
cal agitation, and rice collection. Kim Lien was locat-
ed on Route 1, a mile north of the vital Nam O Bridge
over the Cu De, and bordered the large Esso gasoline
storage depot. It offered the enemy an assembly and
supply distribution point easily accessible from base
areas in the mountains above Hai Van Pass.

On 19 October, in cooperation with the 1/158th RF
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Company, Company I of Moore’s battalion started an
intensive population control campaign in Ap Quan
Nam (1) and (2). The two companies first surround-
ed the hamlets with checkpoints to control movement
of people in and out. Then they began a house-to-
house census, registering each inhabitant and prepar-
ing a detailed map of each home and its surround-
ings. By continually comparing actual observation of
the hamlets with this recorded information, allied
officers hoped to stop infiltration and the accumula-
tion of supplies by the enemy more quickly. By 20 De-
cember, the Marines and RFs had finished the census
and registration. They had channeled all movement
into and out of the hamlets past guard posts where
they verified each person’s registration and checked
names and descriptions against a blacklist of known
local VC. By the end of the year, the campaign seemed
to be succeeding, since the number of enemy sight-
ings and contacts in the Ap Quan Nam area
declined 8+

Action around the village of Kim Lien intensified
early in November. At 2400 on the 4th, three enemy
entered Kim Lien and killed an assistant hamlet chief,
two membets of the People’s Self-Defense Force, and
a civilian. They threatened similar action against any-
one else who took up arms for the GVN. Eatly in the
morning of 6 November, 30 NVA and VC returned
to the village, collected 400 pounds of rice, and kid-
napped a minor local official.

The enemy came back befote dawn on 7 Novem-
ber, but this time Marines of the 1st Platoon of Com-
pany I were waiting. At 0200, the platoon, in ambush
west of Kim Lien, saw 10-15 NVA, all armed, ap-
proaching the village from the northwest and six othets
at the same time leaving the community. The Marines
opened fire at a range of about 30 meters with small
arms, M79s, and M72 LAAWs and set off several clay-
more mines. The NVA returned small arms fire and
fled, and two mortar rounds exploded near the Ma-
tines, but they suffered no casualties in the brief fight.
Searching the artea later, the Marines found three dead
North Vietnamese, two AK-47s, a pistol, and an as-
sortment of equipment and documents?®s

Following this encounter, on 16 November the 3d
Battalion helilifted a platoon from Company I into
the foothills west of Kim Lien to hunt for a suspected
enemy base camp while a platoon of Company K
blocked to the eastward. The brief operation produc-
ed no contacts or discoveries. From 21-30 November,
Company K and elements of Company L, directed by

a mobile battalion CP, cooperated with troops of the
125th RF Group in a cordon and search of Kim Lien,
and the following month the battalion began a popu-
lation control operation thete similar to the one in Ap
Quan Nam. By 31 December, Company I, which had
returned to the area north of the Cu De after operat-
ing for several weeks further south, had established
a permanent cordon around the village to keep out
enemy food details and propaganda detachments. The
battalion issued orders on the 31st for a population
census to begin on 2 January®8

The 1st Marines’ Quick Reaction Force, established
on 22 November and initially consisting of the 3d Pla-
toon of Company H, 2d Battalion, was employed six
times during November. In the most successful of
these actions, on the 28th, the 3d Platoon landed near
the hamlet of Le Nam (2), six miles northeast of An
Hoa. Responding to an 10D sighting of three enemy,
the 3d Platoon, later reinforced by the 2d Platoon of
Company H, swept through the hamlet, driving two
VC to their deaths under the guns of the escorting
Cobras. The Marines later found another dead VC in
the hamlet and rounded up a defector and two sus-
pects. They set up an ambush near the hamlet that
night which killed one more VC and captured three.
QRF operations continued through December, with
the 3d Battalion and later the 1st Battalion furnish-
ing the rifle platoon, but produced no significant
results 87

The 1st Marines’ use of artillery and air support
declined during the fall and winter under the impact
of the division’s restrictive fire plans. Nevertheless, the
regiment continued to employ aircraft and artillery
against both observed and intelligence targets, most-
ly in the thinly populated or uninhabited western and
northwestern fringes of the 1st and 3d Battalions'
TAORs. The 3d Battalion consistently required about
50 percent of the artillery fire used by the regiment.
In November, for example, of 12,196 rounds expend-
ed, 6,611 fell in the 3d Battalion’s TAOR, while the
2d Battalion called for no artillery missions at all in
November 88

Use of supporting air strikes by the 1st Marines, al-
ready limited by the restrictions imposed in connection
with Operation Hoang Dieu, was confined to the area
west of Route 1 by a division order of 13 December.
East of the highway, Marines could call in air strikes
only to support troops in contact of when ground
troops intended immediately to sweep the target area.
The division issued this order because recent strikes
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east of the highway had produced little evidence of
casualties or damage to the enemy and because “tac-
tical air strikes east of QL 1 have an adverse psycho-
logical impact on the local Vietnamese populace
residing in the area since the area is regarded as a se-
cure area.”®?

In the last three months of the year, the 1st Ma-
rines lost 11 men killed in action or dead of wounds
and 127 wounded. Its battalions in the same period
killed 31 NVA and VC and took six prisoners. Four
enemy defected in the regiment’s TAOR, and Colonel
Kelley’s Marines captured 33 individual and two crew-
served weapons. Probably more significant as an in-
dication that the regiment was accomplishing its
primary mission, the enemy during October, Novem-
ber, and December launched only three rocket attacks
on Da Nang. None of the 12 missiles fired in these
attacks did significant damage°

The War in Quang Nam at the End of the Year

The 1st Marine Division in December was operat-
ing with less than half the number of troops it had
at the beginning of the year. From over 28,000 officers
and men in 12 infantry and five artillery battalions,
it had shrunk, by December, to about 12,500 officers
and men in six infantty and two artillery battalions.
Nevertheless, the division continued to defend essen-
tially the same TAOR it had defended in January?*

The division’s ability to protect the same area with
fewer men resulted, in part, from imptovements in the
South Vietnamese forces in Quang Nam and even
mote from drastic reductions in enemy strength in the
province. From an estimated 11,000-12,000 troops of
all kinds in January, by December Communist
strength had fallen to about 8,500. Much of this
decline, according to American analysts, resulted from
the Communists’ inability to replace their casualties.
Fewer troops had infiltrated from North Vietnam in
1970 than in 1969, and captured documents indicat-
ed that the Communists’ local recruiting efforts were
falling shott of their goals.

Changes in Communist organization in Quang
Nam appeared to parallel the enemy’s dwindling troop
strength. By the end of the year, Fronz 4 was believed
to have discontinued its three subordinate wing head-
quarters, probably for lack of personnel to staff them
and units for them to control. American intelligence
in December located only one full NVA regiment, the
38th, in the province. Of the other two which had
been there in January, the 14152 had moved elsewhere
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and the 315z had been reduced to one battalion. The
enemy seemed to be continuing and expanding the
practice of disbanding NVA and VC main fotce units
to rebuild local guerrilla organizations.

According to increasingly numerous and reliable
reports reaching allied intelligence, hunger, disease,
and despair were eroding the fighting efficiency of the
remaining enemy troops. A year of systematic allied
attacks on base areas and supply routes had reduced
many enemy units to half their usual rations of rice
and othet foodstuffs. The capture of hospitals, medi-
cal personnel, and medical supply caches in the Que
Sons and elsewhere had diminished the Communists’
ability to offer even rudimentary care to their sick and
wounded. Prisoners and deserters catried tales of ene-
my soldiers refusing to fight, of friction between North
Vietnamese and Viet Cong, of military and civilian
discontent with Communist policies, and of loss of
confidence in the possibility of victory. Such evidence
had to be heavily discounted, drawn as so much of
it was from the fainthearted, the discontented, and
the disillusioned in the enemy ranks. (American op-
ponents of the war spread similar stories about allied
troops, and, in fact the Marines, like the other Ameri-
can Services in Vietnam, faced increasingly severe dis-
cipline and morale problems during 1970.)*

Declines in all forms of enemy activity constituted
mote tangible evidence of diminished Communist
strength. In the single month of January 1970, allied
troops and aerial observers reported sighting 4,425
enemy troops. By contrast, in four months between
1 September and 31 December, only 4,159 NVA and
VC were spotted. Fire attacks followed a similar pat-
tern. In January, the Communists fired 658 rounds,
mostly mortars and rockets, at allied troops and in-
stallations. They took the last six months of the year,
July through December, to approximate their Janu-
ary total, firing in that period 638 rounds. Even ter-
rorism, now the enemy’s principal offensive tactic,
appeated to decline, although weaknesses in the
reporting system made the figures on this subject un-
teliable. **72

As they examined casualty statistics for the year,
many 1st Marine Division officers concluded that the

*For details of III MAF's efforts to cope with these problems, see
Chapter 20.

**The accuracy of the figures on terrorism is doubtful, as the
South Vietnamese were believed by the Marines to conceal many
incidents.
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A Marine carrying an MGO machine gun plods over a slick and muddy rice paddy dike,
participating in a search for suspected Viet Cong infiltrators in a hamlet near Da Nang.

division’s combat effectiveness was improving, even as
its troop strength and the intensity of the fighting
declined. The division’s total loss during 1970 of 403
killed and 1,625 wounded represented a reduction by
about 61 percent from the 1969 totals of 1,051 killed
and 9,286 wounded. From over 9,600 killed in 1969,
reported Communist casualties had fallen to about
5,200 killed in 1970, a reduction of some 46 percent.
Summatizing the division staff’s analysis of the mean-

ing of these figures, Brigadier General Edwin H. Sim-
mons, the assistant division commander, declared:
Kill ratios are always invidious, but it can be seen that
while enemy losses went down in 1970 they did not decline
at the same rate as Marine losses. So we can conclude that

the combat effectiveness of the division actually improved
during 197073

Throughout 1970, the 1st Marine Division had ac-
complished its mission with diminishing resources. In
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spite of reductions in strength, it had continued to
protect Da Nang and the populated areas around it,
and it had continued to maintain offensive pressure
on the Communists’ mountain bases. As the year end-
ed, the division’s military efforts appeated to be suc-
ceeding and, if anything, to be increasing in
effectiveness. Regular military operations, however, in
Quang Nam as elsewhere in South Vietnam, wete con-
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ducted largely in support of what earlier in the con-
flict had been called the “Other War"—the allied effort
to break the Viet Cong’s political hold on the people
and to prepare the Government and Armed Forces of
the Republic of Vietnam to assume the whole task of
defending and rebuilding the nation. That effort, also,
had continued throughout 1970, and Marines had
conttibuted to it.



PART III
PACIFICATION



CHAPTER 7
Pacification 1970: Plans, Organization, and Problems

Puacification: The Nationwide Perspective—The 1970 GVN Pacification and Development Plan
Pactfication Plans and Organization in Military Region 1— Pacification Situation in Quang Nam, Early 1970

Pacification: The Nationwide Perspective

In 1957, a French officer, summing up the lessons
of his country’s defeat in Indochina, wrote of warfare
against guerrillas:

The destruction of rebel forces is not an end in itself:
we know that as long as the enemy’s infrastructure remains
in place, he is able to maintain his control over the people
and can replenish his decimated forces. Military operations
are therefore only worthwhile insofar as they facilitate win-
ning the people and contribute to the dismantling of the
revolutionary politico-military otganization . . . !

This lesson, which the French had learned painfully
in the 1950s, the Americans and their South Viet-
namese allies had relearned, equally painfully, in the
1960s. By early 1970, “pacification,” long a major con-
cern of the Marines in Vietnam, had become the center
of country-wide allied strategy. In theory and to an
increasing extent in practice, all allied military opera-
tions, from battalion-size sweeps of enemy base areas
to squad ambushes on the outskirts of hamlets, were
conducted in support of pacification. Increasingly, too,
allied forces engaged in a variety of paramilitary and
nonmilitary pacification activities.

Definitions of “pacification” varied with time and
with the agency using the word. The III MAF/ICTZ
Combined Campaign Plan for 1970 defined pacifica-
tion as:

The military, political, economic, and social process of es-
tablishing or re-establishing local government responsive to
and involving the participation of the people. It includes
the provision of sustained, credible territorial security, the
destruction of the enemy’s underground government, the
assertion ot re-assertion of political control and involvement
of the people in government, and the initiation of econom-
ic and social activity capable of self-sustenance and expan-
ston . . . 2

After years of confusion about goals and policies,
resulting in divided authority and fragmented ad-
ministration, the Americans and South Vietnamese
had developed and were implementing a com-
prehensive pacification strategy. This strategy involv-
ed, first, the use of regular military units to clear the
NVA and VC main forces and most of the guerrillas
from the populated rural areas. The regular forces then
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wete to keep the enemy out by a combination of small-
unit patrolling, ambushing, and larger sweeps of base
areas. Within the screen thus established, Regional
and Popular Forces and paramilitary forces and civilian
agencies of the Republic of Vietnam would attempt
to destroy the enemy political organization among the
people, reestablish government control in each village
and hamlet, and, it was hoped, win the allegiance of
the people through economic and social im-
provements.

In the GVN’s Accelerated Pacification Campaign,
proclaimed in October 1968 by President Nguyen Van
Thieu, the allies broke down these general concepts
of pacification into specific tasks and assigned respon-
sibility for each task to particular civil of military agen-
cies, The plan set goals to be met for each task at
national, corps, and province levels. Expanding upon
the 1968 plan, the GVN Pacification and Development
Plan for 1969 continued and refined the definition of
tasks and assignment of goals and provided the frame-
wotk for a nationwide effort.

By early 1970, both the United States and South
Vietnam had achieved substantial central control over
the many civilian and military agencies involved in
pacification. For the Americans, the US. Civil Oper-
ations and Revolutionaty Development Supportt
(CORDS), formed in mid-1967, combined most of the
personnel engaged in pacification and in advising
GVN nonmilitary agencies into one chain of command
under MACV. The CORDS organization paralleled the
military and political structure of the South Viet-
namese Government, with a deputy for CORDS un-
der each U.S. corps area commander and lower-ranking
CORDS deputies at province and district headquart-
ets. In Saigon, the national head of CORDS in 1970,
Ambassador William Colby, was a member of General
Abrams’s staff. On the South Vietnamese side, a Cen-
tral Pacification and Development Council (CPDC),*
chaired by the Prime Minister and including represen-

*The CPDC was defined in the 1970 Combined Campaign Plan
as the “ministerial council at the cabinet level responsible for plan-
ning, coordinating and executing the national Pacification and De-
velopment Program.”
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South Vietnamese Vice President Nguyen Cao Ky is
shown with MayGen Charles F. Widdecke, Commeand-
ing General, 15t Marine Division on a visit to I Corps.

tatives of all government agencies, prepared the an-
nual Pacification and Development Plans. Similar
military region and province councils, working close-
ly with their counterpart CORDS organizations, over-
saw implementation of the national plans atr lower
levels of government.

Between 1967 and 1970, President Nguyen Van
Thieu had consolidated his administrative and polit-
ical control over South Vietnam. In the process of do-
ing so, he devoted increased attention to pacification
and made important advances on the crucial problems
of development of local government and land reform.,
Thieu’s regime restored to the villages and hamlets
their ancient right, suspended under Ngo Dinh Diem,
to elect their own governing councils.

President Thieu delegated to these elected coun-
cils increased control over local budgets and taxation,
and he gave the village chiefs, who were chosen by the
councils, command of the PF platoons, Revolution-
ary Development teams, and national police wotking

in their villages. To enlarge their prestige and self-
confidence as well as improve their training, he held
national conferences of village and hamlet officials.
Thieu also took the province chiefs out from under
the authotity of the seniot ARVN commanders in their
provinces and made them responsible directly to their
military region commanders and through them to Sai-
gon. At the same time, he transferred the power to
appoint province and district chiefs from the local
ARVN commanders to the central government.
American obsetvers interpreted these changes as ef-
forts by Thieu to create a new political constituency
for himself outside the RVNAF and the established
Saigon political partties, but the changes also offered
the promise of a mote responsive and efficient civil
government—a major goal of pacification?

Land reform, for years urged upon the GVN by its
American advisors as a means of winning the loyalty
of the peasants and half-heartedly atcrempted by previ-
ous Saigon regimes, also took a step forward under
President Thieu. Early in 1970, he signed the “Land
to the Tiller” bill passed the year before by the Na-
tional Assembly after long debate. The bill drastical-
ly limited the amount of land any one petson could
own and required distribution of the excess acreage
(for which the ownets would be compensated) to the
tenants who actually worked it and to other categories
of needy and deserving Vietnamese. While implemen-
tation of the law quickly bogged down in administra-
tive and legal difficulties, its adoption gave the GVN
a means of matching Communist promises on an is-
sue long monopolized by the VC#*

The 1970 GVN Pacification and Development Plan

On 10 November 1969, President Thieu pro-
mulgated his government’s 1970 Pacification and De-
velopment Plan which was approved by President
Thieu, the Prime Minister, and the Cabinet. It was
to be signed in formal ceremony by each province chief
and American province senior advisor. Designed to
complement the allies’ military combined campaign
plan for the year, the Pacification and Development
Plan constituted the guiding ditective on pacification
for South Vietnamese and Free World Military Armed
Forces (FWMAF). General Abrams distributed copies
of it to the United States cotps area commanders, in-
cluding the Commanding General of IIl MAF, with
instructions to regard it as “guidance, directive in na-
ture to advisory personnel at all echelons.’s
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The 1970 plan was designed to expand the pacifi-
cation advances of 1969. During that year the GVN
and its allies had been able to extend their military
presence and influence into most of South Vietnam’s
villages and hamlets. This had resulted in impressive
tetritotial gains. By the end of the year, CORDS esti-
mated that about 90 percent of the South Vietnamese
people lived in localities wholly or partially GVN-
controlled and that the enemy remained a major mili-
tary threat in only nine provinces, including Quang
Nam and Quang Ngai in MR 1*¢ The GVN and its
allies now planned to consolidate these security gains
and to reinforce them by extending local self-
government and intensifying efforts at economic and
social improvement. As the preamble to the 1970 plan
put it:

... We will vigorously push our attacks into the Com-
munist base areas and exploit their weakness to eliminate
them completely from pacified areas, and thus create an ad-
vantageous milieu so we can increase the quality of life in
the future. At the same time we must bring a new vitality
to our people in a framework of total security, so that the
people can build and develop a free and prosperous society?

The 1970 plan contained five guiding principles,
five operational principles, and eight objectives. The
guiding and operational principles were pacification
truisms and generalities, such as “Pacification and De-
velopment must unite to become one” (Guiding Prin-
ciple One), and “Establish the hamlet where the
people are; do not move the people to establish the
hamlet” (Operational Principle Three). The practical
goals for action for the year were established in the
eight objectives, which were: “Tetritotial Security; Pro-
tection of the People against Tetrorism; People’s Self
Defense; Local Administration; Greater National Uni-
ty; Brighter Life for War Victims; People’s Informa-
tion; and Prosperity for All” These titles covered
programs or combinations of programs, most of which
had been underway for many years®

Under “Territorial Security,” the Vietnamese Govern-
ment committed itself to assuring that 100 percent
of its people lived in hamlets and villages with pacifi-
cation ratings of A, B, or C, the three highest grades
on the six-level evaluation scale employed in the

*The other seven were Binh Dinh, Phu Yen, Pleiku, and Kon-
tum in MR 2; and Kien Hoa, Vinh Binh, and An Xuyen in MR
4. Reportedly there were no enemy-controlled villages in MR 3.
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CORDS Hamlet Evaluation System (HES).* The gov-
ernment set the goal of reducing attacks, shellings,
terrotism, and sabotage by 50 percent of the 1969 level
in areas being pacified and 75 percent in areas rated
secure. Expansion in numbers and quality of the na-
tional police “in order to help the local governments
maintain law and order in both rural and urban areas”
also came under this objective.

“Protection of the People against Terrorism” covered
the program codenamed Phoenix by the Americans
and Phung Hoang by the Vietnamese. This program
had been previously conducted under tight secrecy by
Vietnamese police and intelligence agencies with su-
pervision and advice from the U.S. Central Intelligence
Agency (CIA). Its objective was “neutralization” by
death or capture of members of the VCI, the Com-

*The Americans had instituted HES in 1966 to reduce the vast
amount of pacification-related information to a more or less reli-
able set of statistical indicators of progtess or lack of it. Data for
the system was collected by the U.S. senior district advisors who
completed periodic questionnaires on each hamlet and village. The
questions covered all aspects of pacification —security, political, and
socio-economic. The information thus obtained was collated and
translated into statistics. The system came under much criticism
for incompleteness and biases in reporting and analysis, and on 1
January 1970, CORDS put into effect the improved Hamlet Evalu-
ation System (HES)-70. While always controversial and viewed with
skepticism by many Americans in the field, HES did provide a uni-
fied quantitative picture of what was going on in pacification, and
its numbers and percentages at least served to indicate trends.

CORDS in July 1969 defined its security letter categories as
follows:

A. Hamlet has adequate security forces; Viet Cong Infrastruc-
ture (VCI) has been eliminated; social and economic improvements
are under way.

B. A VC threat exists, but so do organized and “partially effec-
tive” security forces. VCI has been partially neutralized; self-help
programs and economic improvements have been undertaken.

C. The hamlet is subject to VC harassment, the VCI has been
identified; the hamlet population participates in self-help programs
and local government.

D. VC activities have been reduced, but an internal threat still
exists. There is some VC taxation and terrorism. The local populace
participates in hamlet government and economic programs.

E. The VC is effective; although some GVN control is evident,
the VCI is intact, and the GVN programs are nonexistent or just
beginning.

VC. The hamlet is VC-controlled, with no resident government
officials or advisors, although military may come in occasionally.
The population willingly supports the VC. IDA Pacification Report,

3, p. 296.
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A crying child sits on the steps of what had been bis
home. Communist gunners had shelled the village,
destroying his house and killing his parents.

munist clandestine government and political move-
ment. Late in 1969, the U.S. and the GVN decided
to acknowledge Phoenix/Phung Hoang openly as a
major element of the pacification program. By doing
so, they hoped to rally popular support for it and to
coordinate all allied military and political agencies for
a more intensive and wide-ranging attack. Therefore,
the 1970 Pacification and Development Plan estab-
lished the goal of eradicating 1,800 known VCI per
month and identifying additional members of the in-
frastructure who were believed to exist, but did not
yet have dossiers on file. It prescribed the structure
of Phung Hoang otganizations down to the district
level, in which the national police were to be the “prin-
cipal operational element” and all other military and
civil agencies were to participate. It specified which
Communist activists could be considered members of
the VCI and which could not and laid out procedures
for apprehension, trial, and sentencing.

“People’s Self Defense” denoted further expansion

and improved equipment and training for the Peo-
ple’s Self Defense Force (PSDF). The PSDE, a civilian
home guard, had come into spontaneous existence in
portions of Saigon, Hue, and other localities after the
Communist attacks on the cities during the Tet Offen-
sive of early 1968. The GVN by law extended the or-
ganization nationwide in June of 1968 with the
ultimate intention of enrolling entire urban and rural
populations including women, children, and all men
above or below ARVN draft age. The men were to be
formed into combat groups, armed, and trained to
guard their hamlets and neighborhoods. The wom-
en, children, and old people, organized in support
groups, would be instructed in first aid, firefighting,
and other noncombatant defense tasks. All members
were to aid in identifying and capturing local VCI.
Many American officials considered the PSDF poten-
tially one of the GVN's most promising pacification
devices, more fot its mass involvement of people in
supporting the government than for its still unproven
military value. By early 1970, the PSDF included about
1,288,000 men in combat groups—armed with
339,000 weapons—and 2,000,000 members of support
groups? The 1970 Pacification and Development Plan
called for enlarging the membership figures respec-
tively to 1,500,000 and 2,500,000 and for increasing
the armament of the combat groups to 500,000
weapons, including 15,000 automatic rifles, by the end
of the year.

The remaining five objectives constituted the de-
velopment part of the pacification program. “Local Ad-
ministration” prescribed plans for electing hamlet,
village, municipal, and provincial councils and for im-
proving the skills of local officials* “Greater Nation-
al Unity” directed continuation of the “Chieu Hoi”
Program under which enemy soldiers and political
cadres who surrendered voluntarily were resettled in
civilian pursuits or put to wotk for the allies. The plan
set a nationwide goal of obtaining 40,000 new Hoi
Chanhs (persons who gave up under the Chieu Hoi
program) during the year. “Brighter Life for War Vic-
tims” covered aid to refugees, disabled veterans, war
widows, and orphans “in order that these people can
continue a normal and useful life” The “People’s In-
formation” objectives outlined propaganda and psy-
chological warfare themes for the year. “Prosperity for
Al covered an array of programs for improving ur-

*These would include second elections for many hamlets and vil-
lages whose officials had been elected in 1967 for three-year terms.
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ban and rural life, including land reform under the
“Land to the Tiller” Act.

The plan assigned responsibility for achieving its
goals to the various government ministries and to mili-
tary regions, provinces, municipalities, and districts.
For each of the eight objectives, the plan designated
one “responsible ministry,” such as the Ministry of
Defense for Territorial Security, and listed a number
of “participating” and “interested” ministries. Offi-
cials of the concerned ministries wete to carry out their
portions of the plan at military region, province, and
district levels. They were to coordinate their activities
with each other and with local officials through mili-
tary region and province Pacification and Development
Councils (PDCs) which were also to draft pacification
and development plans, based on the national plan,
for their areas of responsibility. The national plan for
1970 declared that:

The CTZ and the province/municipal PDCs must play
an active role in local pacification and development, insur-
ing that implementation is comprehensive, not neglecting
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some afeas by concentrating on too narrow a spectrum, and
orchestrated so as to create a pacification effort that is in-
terrelated and mutually supporting throughout the land 10

Pacification Plans and Organization
in Military Region 1

In Military Region 1 (MR-1), as elsewhere in South
Vietnam, 1969 had been a year of progress in pacifi-
cation. Of the 2,900,000 inhabitants of the corps area’s
five provinces, 2,800,000 people or 93.6 percent by the
end of the year resided in hamlets rated A, B, or C
under the HES. This percentage dropped to 85.7 ear-
ly in 1970 under the stricter standards of HES-70, the
revised evaluation system introduced by CORDS in
January. Elected governments were operating in 91 per-
cent of the villages and 99 percent of the hamlets. The
PSDF had enrolled 548,000 members, 287,000 of
them in combat groups with 81,000 weapons. Over
5,300 VCI had been neutralized during 1969, and
almost 6,000 Hoi Chanhs had rallied to the GVN. I
Corps still contained more refugees than any other
corps area, between 600,000 and 900,000, but a start

Residents of the same village shown on the previous page rebuild their home ajter the
Viet Cong attack. The Vietnamese Government with supplies donated by CORDS provid-
ed the villagers with the necessary building material and tools to reconstruct their houses.

Marine Corps Historical Collection
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had been made on resettling them and there were
other indications of economic and social im-
provement.!!

Corps and province level pacification and develop-
ment plans for 1970 included efforts to achieve the
national goal of 100 percent of the people in A, B,
and C hamlets, to kill or capture more than 2,200 VCI
during the first half of the year and identify 3,800
others, and to bring in 3,000 Hoi Chanhs in the same
period. Plans called for no major enlargement in num-
bers for the PSDF but for an increase of about 10,000
weapons and the establishment of a military training
cadre for each two villages. About one-third of the vil-
lages and hamlets and all the provinces and munici-
palities were to partticipate in the planned local
elections, and over 9,000 officials were to recetve train-
ing at province or national level. The planners set no
numerical goals for refugee resettlement or economic
improvement but promised much activity, including
training, which would facilitate the self-sufficiency of
refugees upon relocations.!2

The U.S. organization for pacification in I Corps/MR
1 conformed to the standard CORDS structure estab-
lished in 1967 *!3 Until the change of command in
March, III MAF acted as controlling military head-
quarters for pacification with the civiltan Deputy for
CORDS as a member of its staff. After the change of
command, control of CORDS passed to the Com-
manding General, XXIV Corps. The Deputy for
CORDS, George D. Jacobson, who held Foreign Serv-
ice rank equivalent to that of a major general, direct-
ed the efforts of over 700 military personnel and 150
ctvilians who were drawn from the Agency for Inter-
national Development (AID), the U.S. Information
Agency (USIA), the Department of Defense, and other
agencies. The staff had a division for each major ele-
ment of the pacification program: Terricorial Forces,
Phoenix/Phung Hoang, Chieu Hoi, Public Safety,
Revolutionary Development, Government Develop-
ment, Economic Development, Refugees, and Public
Health,

*In the pte-CORDS days in Vietnam, 1II MAF had made some
of the first American attempts to cootdinate civilian and militaty
pacification activity by U.S. and Vietnamese agencies. A relic of the
ad hoc groupings of those days, the I Corps Combined Coordinating
Council, continued to meet sporadically throughout 1970, but it
now was “used ptimatily by the Vietnamese as a channel to short-
circuit . . . the proper channels whereby they should get things done””
Col Clifford J. Peabody, Debriefing at FMFPac, 8Sept70, Tape 4956,
(Oral HistColl, MCHC).

Under the regional Deputy for CORDS, the five
province senior advisors (PSA), each with a staff similar
in structure to that at corps level, worked closely with
the GVN province chiefs. The position of the province
chiefs, who commanded the RFs and PFs and PSDF
as well as directing all aspects of civil government,
made the senior advisors attached to them the key
American officials for carrying out pacification poli-
cies. According to Colonel Wilmer W. Hixson, the
senior Marine on the I Corps CORDS staff, the PSA
was “the most important single individual in all of
Vietnam” in making pacification work. “The scope of
his duties are more broad than [those of] any other
single officer, of comparable rank . . . . He's the guy
that makes it tick in the province.”!* Of the five
province senior advisots in MR 1 during the first half
of 1970, three were militaty officers and two were
civilians. Under control of the PSAs, the 44 district
senior advisors (DSAs) worked with the GVN district
chiefs who in their administrative hierarchy were
responsible to the province chiefs.

In comparison with the size of its forces in I Corps,
the Marine Corps had only small representation on
the CORDS staff. During the first half of 1970, the
highest-ranking Marine with CORDS was Colonel
Hixson, who served as Chief of Staff to the Deputy
for CORDS and as Program Coordinator for Security.
In the latter job, he supervised the staff sections for
Regional and Popular Forces, Phoenix/Phung Hoang,
Chieu Hoi, Public Safety, and Revolutionary Develop-
ment cadre* Besides Hixson, seven other Marine
officers and five enlisted men held corps-level CORDS
billets, and four officers served as province psycholog-
ical warfare advisors. When the 3d Marine Division
left Vietnam late in 1969, six officers still having time
to serve in-country temporartily joined CORDS as ad-
visors to the paramilitary Revolutionaty Development
cadres. They were replaced by Army officers as their
Vietnam tours ended.

The Marines had no representation at the impor-
tant province and district senior advisor level, not even
in Quang Nam where they were the principal ailied
military force. Colonel Hixson believed that this situ-
ation reduced Marine influence in pacification, saying:

The Matine Corps made a mistake when they did not get
into this program, patticularly in Quang Nam Province. It

*Hixson received his CORDS assignment from the MACYV staff,
to which he was attached, rather than from III MAF. For further
detail on the activities of other Matines in Vietnam not assigned
to III MAF, see Chapter 21.
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would have been an excellent chance to have had the
Province Senior Advisor in Quang Nam a Marine, and as
many of the District Senior Advisors as we could have
. ... Not that the liaison [between IIl MAF and CORDS)
was not good, but it would have been much better had there
been Marines on the staff.!s

Lieutenant Colonel Warren E. Parker, a retired Army
officer, who was PSA in Quang Nam from 1968-1970
and who spent eight total years as a PSA after serving
two years as a Special Forces officer, years later
challenged Colonel Hixson's contention that the PSAs
in I Corps should have been Marine officers:

I consider [the argument] debatable. Although the CG,
III MAF was the Corps senior advisor, the PSA was directly
responsible to the CORDS chain of command. A Marine
officer in the role as a PSA probably would have been more
intimidated by the IIl MAF and Marine division staff. For-
tunately, I thought the CORDS-Marine staffs worked remark-
ably well togethere

Pacification Situation in Quang Nam, Early 1970

Throughout most of 1970, Marine pacification ef-
forts were concentrated in Quang Nam Province. Here
the Marines had to deal not only with the inherent
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difficulties of rooting out the Viet Cong, but also with
the complexities of divided Vietnamese military and
political authority.

As was quite common in Vietnam, an ARVN of-
ficer, Colonel Le Tri Tin, served as Province Chief of
Quang Nam. Colonel Tin directed civil government
and as military sector commander he controlled Quang
Nam’s RFs and PFs and PSDF units. In his military
capacity, Colonel Tin, under an arrangement estab-
lished by the I Corps commander, Lieutenant Gener-
al Lam, came under tactical control of Quang Da
Special Zone (QDSZ), the senior ARVN headquart-
ers in the province. Reflecting his combined civil and
military functions, Tin had two staffs, one military and
the other civilian. The latter consisted of 23 officials
concerned with administrative, economic, and social
matters. Land clearing operations, rice harvesting, and
refugee resettlement were among the largely nonmili-
tary responsibilities with which the province chiefs had
to concern themselves. Under Tin, the nine district
chiefs/subsector commanders, all ARVN officers, also
had both political and military authority within their
areas. Separate from Quang Nam Province, the city
of Da Nang had its own mayor, appointed from Sai-

ORGANIZATION FOR AREA SECURITY IN QUANG NAM AND DA NANG

I Corps

lguang Da Special Zone

|

_ | Quang Nam Da Nang
Sector Special Sector |~
Sub Hoa Hieu
Sector Sub-Region
l | | |
Hoa Vang Hieu Duc Hai Van
Sub-Sector Sub-Sector Vital Area 3 RE Ba

Command and control ____

Direct communications; administrative control _ _ _

Informal command . . .
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gon, to control its civil affairs and militia forces. The
city, like the province, came under the control of
QDSZ for military purposes.*!?

Interference from Lieutenant General Lam, who
maintained his corps headquarters in Da Nang, com-
plicated and disrupted this apparently straightforward
distribution of authority. While QDSZ, for example,
controlled the operations of the 51st ARVN Regiment,
other regular units stationed in Quang Nam, notably
the 1st Ranger Group, the 1st Armored Brigade, and
the 17th Armored Cavalry Squadron, were usually un-
der the direct control of Lam. These units displayed
little sense of obligation to assist in pacification and
security activities. Major John S. Grinalds, S-3 of the
2d Bartalion, 1st Marines, recalled that the armored
cavalry, which camped near Hill 55 between oper-
ations:

. . never provided any suppott to anyone within the area
immediately around Da Nang . . . . Once they got back
in our area . . . we couldn’t count on them for any kind
of support at all. They were also, I think, tied up to Genet-
al Lam who considered them his special reserve for a lot of
teasons and just wouldn’t let them deploy and run the risk
of getting sunk in somewhere else.!®

Further confusing command relationships, Lieute-
nant General Lam on 16 January 1970 established still
another military headquarters in Quang Nam called
the Hoa Hieu Defensive Area. Supposedly subordinate
to Quang Nam Province, this area encompassed Hai
Van Pass and the districts of Hieu Duc and Hoa Vang
which surrounded Da Nang. Hoa Hieu controlled the
1/25 RF Group, which protected Hat Van Pass, the
RFs and PFs of Hieu Duc and Hoa Vang Districts, and
an independent RF unit, the 59th Battalion. The new
headquarters was to “utilize the RF and PF thar are
available . . . for ARVN only operations or for coor-
dinating operations with allied forces,” “to give Hoa
Vang and Hieu Duc a hand in military matters for the
good of . . . Pacification and Development,” and to
“deal accordingly and effectively with enemy inten-
tion of launching mortar and ground attacks on Da
Nang City and its outskirts.”1®

In July, a US. Army advisor summed up the con-

*For the development and organization of QDSZ, see Chapters
2 and 4. This was a departure from the prescribed chain of com-
mand under which province chiefs were to report ditectly to the
MR commander. See Chapter 2 for a discussion of defense and pacifi-
cation in the Da Nang Vital Area and Da Nang City.

voluted South Vietnamese command relations in the
province:

Quang Da [Special Zone] is a tactical headquarters,
ptimarily concerned with tactical operations in the un-
populated areas. It has the authority to establish AO'’s and
it has tactical command over Quang Nam Sector [Province)
and Da Nang Special Sector. It also exercises rather direct
supetvision over Hoa Hieu Sub-Region, issuing orders direct
to Hoa Hieu without going through Quang Nam Sector.
As a result, Quang Nam is often uninformed concerning
the tactical situation in Hoa Hieu and has abdicated its
responsibility in that area. In the southern districts, however,
Quang Nam does exercise tactical command under QDSZ.
As a further complication, General Lam will sometimes is-
sue instructions directly to Quang Nam, Da Nang, or Hoa
Hieu 20

As was true throughout I Cotps, the Quang Nam
CORDS organization, which worked alongside the
Vietnamese province and district staffs, contained few
Marines. The majority of key CORDS positions were
held by active or retired Army officers. Of the three
province senior advisots who served during the year*
two were active-duty Army officers and the third was
a retired officer employed by AID. Most of the dis-
trict senior advisors and the members of the province
CORDS staff also came from the Army?2!

IIT MAF and its subordinate units maintained con-
tact with CORDS and the province government
primarily through the G-5 or §-5 (Civil Affairs/Civic
Action) sections of their staffs. The Marines had ad-
ded this section (G-5 at MAF, division, and wing, and
S-5 at regimental and battalion level) to the usual four
headquarters staff sections early in the war in recog-
nition of the close relationship between pacification
and the militaty effort. The G-5 and S-5 officers,
responsible for pacification and civil affairs, kept in
close touch with the GVN and CORDS officials at the
various levels of command. They attempted to fit mili-
tary civic action into overall pacification plans, settled
civilian damage claims against Marines, and in some
instances helped to coordinate Marine operations in
populated areas with those of local security forces.

Lieutenant Colonel Parker, who was PSA from Janu-
ary to April, recalled that among the American, Viet-

*PSAs during 1970 were Lieutenant Colonel Warren E. Parker,
USA (Ret) who had begun his tour in July 1968 and served until
24 April 1970; Lieutenant Colonel William R. Blakely, Jr., USA
(Acting PSA), from April to July 1970; and Colonel John Chism,
USA, from July through the end of the year. Colonel Hixson con-
sideted Chism one of the best PSAs in Vietnam. Hixson Debrief.
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namese, and Korean units with which he worked on
a daily basis the Marine Corps appeared to have the
“clearest understanding that in a situation such as Viet-
nam pacification operations were as important as com-
bat operations.” He observed that “with very few
exceptions, even the Vietnamese military and politi-
cal leaders failed to grasp this basic, but very impor-
tant, fundamental. The Vietnamese people, for very
good reasons, distrusted and feared the Government
of Vietnam and its military forces.”22

Both III MAF and the 1st Marine Division kept the
same G-5 officers for most of the year. At III MAF
Headquarters, Colonel Clifford J. Peabody, who came
to Vietnam from the Operations Branch, G-3 Divi-
sion, at HQMC, headed the G-5 office from Septem-
ber 1969 through September 1970, when Major
Donald E. Sudduth replaced him. The 1st Marine Di-
vision G-5, Colonel Louis S. Hollier, Jr., held his po-
sition for 11 months of 1970* Since the division
controlled most of the Marine units directly involved
in security and pacification and was roughly equiva-
lent in the chain of command to QDSZ and Quang
Nam Province, Colonel Hollier became the principal
liaison officer between the Marines and the GVN and
CORDS authorities. According to Colonel Hixson,
“Most of the work between the 1st Marine Division
and the Province Senior Advisor in Quang Nam

.. is accomplished by G-5—some G-3 work, too."23

In February 1970, to improve coordination with
other allied commands on a wide range of matters in-
cluding pacification, the 1st Marine Division instituted
a weekly conference of commanders and principal staff
officers of the division, Quang Da Special Zone, and
the 2d ROKMC Brigade. The conference, which met
at each headquarters in rotation, had as its purpose
“to ensute thotough coordination and mutual under-
standing in planning and execution of operations and
to determine procedures for approaching other areas
of common interest. 24 Besides military problems, the
meetings dealt with pacification-related matters such
as secutity duting GVN elections, protection of the
rice hatvest, military support for refugee resettlement,
and plans for civic action. The assistant division com-
mander of the 1st Marine Division recalled that the
meetings wete “useful but required constant fe-
energizing as Vietnamese commanders changed and
interest lagged. 25 With the exception of a six-week

*The 1st MAW during 1970 did not have a G-$ officer, although
aviation units conducted civic action.
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petiod during July and August, meetings were held
almost every work day during 1970.

Besides the regular forces of the ARVN, III MAF,
and the Korean Marine Brigade, the allies in Quang
Nam had at their disposal the whole range of mili-
tary and civilian agencies which had evolved to con-
duct pacification. The province and district
governments werte active and relatively efficient. A
province Pacification and Development Council met
monthly, bringing together all GVN officials con-
cerned with the effort. The district chiefs met regu-
larly with their village chiefs to coordinate activities.
At the beginning of the year, Colonel Tin had under
his command about 14,000 men of the RF and PF,
organized in 52 RF companies and 177 platoons. In
the judgement of their American advisors, the RF and
PFs were improving steadily in military effectiveness,
but they still did not have enough competent small-
unit leaders, and too many of them were tied to static
defensive positions. The People’s Self-Defense Force
boasted over 73,000 members, about 14,000 of whom
were armed. In April, the Province Senior Advisor
reported of the PSDF: “I have seen this program de-
velop from nothing to a formidable, potential element
. . . . In many incidents, the PSDF have been in-
strumental in driving the VC/NVA out of their ham-
let areas’28 The province’s 4,500 members of the
National Police Field Force (NPFF) and national police,
formerly concentrated in the province capital and the
larger towns, were now moving out into the country-
side to relieve the militia in maintaining public ord-
er. By late April, each district had its NPFF platoon,
and the national police had 68 village substations in
operation.

In addition to the territorials, PSDF, and police, 50
Revolutionary Development Cadre (RDC) groups were
working in Quang Nam’s hamlets. In units of four to
eight men, these youths, recruited and trained by the
central government, were supposed to help the peo-
ple organize themselves for defense and for political,
economic, and social self-help. Under the operation-
al control of the village chief, the RDC served as one
of the GVN's political extensions into villages and
hamlets, providing a bridge between the people and
their government. The cadres varied greatly in ability
and motivation, and in some parts of Quang Nam ani-
mosity existed between the RDC and the RFs and PFs,
but American advisors considered the cadres general-
ly helpful in bringing government programs to the
people.
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Quang Nam by the beginning of 1970 possessed
an active Phoenix/Phung Hoang program organized
at province, district, and village levels and had ex-
ceeded its VCI neutralization quotas for both 1968
and 1969. The province maintained a Chieu Hoi
center at Hoi An for reception, training, and indoc-
trination of Communists who voluntarily surrendered.
Four resettlement hamlets for former VC in the
province contained over 400 families. Two GVN
Armed Propaganda Companies kept teams in the field
seeking out VC and relatives of VC in an effort to en-
courage additional desertions. To further spread the
GVN'’s message across the province, the Joint U.S.
Public Affairs Office (JUSPAO), an agency under
CORDS, and the Vietnamese Information Service
(V1S), were attempting to expose more Vietnamese
to television, both by distributing government-
purchased sets to the villages and by encouraging pri-
vate buying of receivers. A relay station at Hai Van
Pass allowed Quang Nam to receive broadcasts from
the Vietnamese Government studios in Hue.??

Yet for all the efforts of all these agencies, Quang

Nam in 1970 was still far from completely pacified.
Of its 950,000 people, about 830,000 lived in com-
munities rated secure or semi-secute under HES-70.
Another 50,900 resided in areas considered ‘“con-
tested.” The test wete under Viet Cong domination
or in localities “not rated,” which meant about the
same thing. Thus, 86.7 petcent of the people were
supposedly under GVN control, but this figure was
deceptive. Marine intelligence officets were convinc-
ed that a clandestine VC government continued to
operate, even in areas relatively free of overt Com-
munist political and military activity, and that many
Viet Cong had infiltrated GVN agencies. Especially
in the heavily populated districts south of Da Nang,
VC guetrillas, while probably less numerous than they
had been earlier in the war, still remained active and
tenacious. 28

GVN social and economic improvement efforts still
left much to be desired. About 44 percent of the
province’s school age children, in late April 1970, were
enrolled in primaty schools, and the government was
training new teachers and (with much help from the

Army LtGen James W. Sutherland, left, discusses with South Vietnamese pacification
officials the Go Not Island Refugee Resettlement Program. Go Noi Island, a long-time
enemy strongpoint, had been cleared out and made into a refuge for displaced villagers.

Marine Corps Historical Collection
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Marines) building new schools about as rapidly as ad-
ditional villages were being protected from the VC.
The secondary school system, however, remained ill-
organized and ineffective. The province government
annually announced ambitious public works plans, but
delays in release of funds by the national ministries
and shortages of construction equipment and skilled
workers prevented completion of many projects. The
amount of land under cultivation in the province had
increased during 1969, with about 70 percent of the
acreage devoted to rice, but land reform had made lit-
tle progress due to a lack of trained administrators in
the villages and hamlets. Quang Nam’s social welfare
program, according to the PSA, was:

. very poor. Little has been accomplished in cate of
the needy or in caring for war victims, widows, orphans,
and disabled soldiers. The progtam in this province con-
sists mainly of feeding the orphans, war victims, blind, and

widows
.. .. In the past this has been a token program at best. . . .2¢

Quang Nam’s most distressing social problem was
its large refugee population, probably the largest sin-
gle refugee concentration anywhere in South Vietnam.
The exact number of refugees was obscured by the
peculiarities of GVN reporting. Colonel Hixson ex-
plained:

The refugee figures that are shown as refugees . . . are
official refugees who have not been paid their [GVN] refu-
gee allowances. Once they have been paid their refugee al-
lowances, they go in a refugee camp. They are still not back
in their home. They're still a “social welfare problem., . . 30

To keep the number of officially recognized refu-
gees awaiting payment constant of declining and thus
show progress to their superiors, GVN officials habitu-
ally paid some their allowances, taking them off the
rolls, and then added controlled numbers of actual
but hitherto unacknowledged displaced persons. As
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a result, while estimates of the “official refugee” popu-
lation in Quang Nam ranged from 75,000 to 100,000,
Colonel Peabody, the Il MAF G-5, estimated the ac-
tual number of refugees as nearer 200,0003' GVN
policy called for returning refugees to their home vil-
lages, or for upgrading long-inhabited refugee camps
into permanent hamlets and villages. The allies in
Quang Nam would launch ambitious resettlement
projects during 1970. Even so, the size of the problem
would continue to dwarf the efforts toward a solution.

In the struggle for the allegiance of the people, ac-
curate information about how many people there were
and where they lived was vital for success. In Quang
Nam, the GVN lacked such information, not only
about refugees, but about permanent residents. Late
in 1970, in connection with the 1st Marine Division’s
effort to reduce harassing and interdiction fire in
populated areas, Colonel Paul X. “PX” Kelley reported
that in the 1st Marines TAOR:

.. . Maps currently available are outdated and do not
represent a reliable picture of local habitation. . . . The
migtatory habits of many Vietnamese civilians ate such that
they move constantly from place to place, more often than
not without the knowledge of any GVN officials . . . . Many
district officials can provide only vague, inconclusive esti-
mates relative to the location of civilians, theotetically un-
der their political cognizance32

The most severe deficiencies in the pacification ef-
fort were rooted in the character of the GVN and the
nature of South Vietnamese society and hence beyond
III MAF’s authority or capacity to remedy. Neverthe-
less, insofar as they could, Marines throughout Quang
Nam worked to strengthen and extend pacification.
Throughout 1970, with men and material diminish-
ing as redeployment proceeded, the Marines continued
and further refined pacification programs and tech-
niques they had developed earlier in the war.



CHAPTER 8
The Struggle for Security: Combined Action

Combined Action Platoons—Reducing the Combined Action Force
Building on Success: The Combined Unit Pacification Program

Combined Action Platoons

As a military force, the Marines concerned them-
selves primarily with the security aspect of pacifica-
tion. They devoted most of their activity to keeping
enemy military units out of the villages and hamlets
and to assisting the GVN in eradicating the VCL
While almost all Marines directly or indirectly took
some part in this effort, those involved in the Com-
bined Action Program had protecting the villages and
hamlets from local guerrillas as their sole mission.

The Combined Action Program originated with the
Marines in Vietnam and was unique to them. It had
begun in 1965 when III MAF, in ttrying to secure the
heavily populated area around Hue/Phu Bai, disco-
vered a potential ally in the then disparaged and
neglected Popular Forces. Platoons of these parttime
soldiers, under command of the district chiefs, guard-
ed particular hamlets and villages. If their deficien-
cles in training, weapons, and morale could be
overcome, they could relieve regular Marine units of
many static defensive tasks and help tear out the local
roots of enemy strength,

To work with the PFs, III MAF instituted the com-
bined action platoon (CAP), consisting of a 15-man
Marine rifle squad paired with a 15- to 30-man PF pla-
toon to defend one particular village, Each element
of the team strengthened the other. The Marines con-
tributed firepower, training, and access to American
medical evacuation and artillery and air support. The
PFs furnished intimate knowledge of the tetrain, the
people, and the local VC. In the villages where they
were stationed, CAPs won fights against local guerril-
las and small main force detachments and drove out
or killed the VC political cadres. Then, unlike con-
ventional American and ARVN units which swept an
area and moved on, the CAPs stayed and furnished
the people continual protection against Viet Cong ter-
rorism, recruiting, and taxation. As the Marines won
the confidence of the villagers, the CAPs became a
major source of allied intelligence, and behind the
security shield they afforded, the GVN could reestab-
lish its authority and undertake social and economic
improvements, With proven success, the number of

CAPs grew, and during 1966 III MAF extended the
program to the Marine TAORs around Da Nang and
Chu Lai. To administer the CAPs and to coordinate
their activities, IIl MAF cteated combined action com-
panies (CACOs) and then combined action groups
(CAG:s).

At the begining of 1970, Marine strength in the
Combined Action Program had reached its peak. Four
CAGs were in operation: the 1st, under Lieutenant
Colonel David E Seiler, in Quang Tin and Quang
Ngai Provinces; the 2d, under Lieutenant Colonel Don
R. Christensen, in Quang Nam,; the 3d, under Colonel
John B. Michaud, in Thua Thien; and the 4th, under
Lieutenant Colonel John J. Keenan, in Quang Tri*

In January 1970, the four CAGs consisted of a total
of 42 Marine officers and 2,050 enlisted men, with
two naval officers and 126 hospital corpsmen, Ot-
ganized in 20 CACOs and 114 CAPs, these Ameri-
cans worked with about 3,000 RF and PF soldiers. The
2d CAG in Quang Nam, largest of the four, consist-
ed of eight CACOs with 36 CAPs and almost 700 Ma-
rine and Navy officets and men, while the smallest,
the 4th in Quang Tri, had three CACOs and 18 CAPs.!

Until Januaty 1970, I MAF exercised command
over the four CAGs through an Assistant Chief of Staff
and Director, Combined Action Program. To improve
coordination and administration of the program, Lieu-
tenant General Nickerson late in 1969 requested per-
mission to establish a Combined Action Force (CAF),
with its own headquarters under IIl MAF. Lieutenant
General Buse, Commanding General, FMFPac, ap-
proved his request on 8 January, Three days later, III
MAF formally activated the CAF, to consist of a head-
quartets, staffed from the combined action section of
the IIl MAF staff, and the four CAGs with their subot-
dinate CACOs and CAPs. The existing IIl MAF Direc-

*The CAGs underwent relatively few changes of command dut-
ing 1970. On 5 February, Lieutenant Colonel Claude M. Daniels
took over 3d CAG from Colonel Michaud, and on 18 February Major
Robert D. King relieved Lieutenant Colonel Keenan at 4th CAG.
Major King was relieved by Major Willis D. Ledeboer on 27 June.
On 1 July, Major George N. Robillatd, Jr., took over 1st CAG.
CAF ComdCs, Jan-Sep70.
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tor, Colonel Theodore E. Metzger, became
commanding officer of Headquarters and Setvice
Company, III MAF, which continued to provide ad-
ministrative and logistic support, while the 5th Com-
munications Battalion handled the CAFs
communications needs. Colonel Metzger was also
charged with conducting the CAF School for training
new CAP Matines and the CAF Vietnamese Language
School?

On 26 March, after XXIV Corps became the senior
US. headquarters in I Corps, III MAF transferred opet-
ational control of the CAF to XXIV Corps, while re-
taining administrative control. Since the CAF still had
CAPs deployed throughout ICTZ, this change was
necessary to assute effective support of the CAPs by
the U.S. Army and ARVN, The shift of command had
little effect on the day-to-day operations of CAP Ma-
rines and PFs. Indeed, Lieutenant General Zais, the
XXIV Corps commander, on 3 May, declared that the
“organization, deployment, training, administration,
and combat operation of the CAF were to continue
as previously ordered by CG, IIl MAF . . . " Colonel
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Marine Corps Historical Collection
LtGen Henry W. Buse, Jr., Commanding General, Fleet Marine Force, Pacific inspects
Marines and Popular Force troops of Company A, 1st Battalion, 7th Marines, one of
the newly formed integrated CUPP (Combined Unit Pacification Program) companies.

Metzger remained in command of the CAP until 9
July, when he was replaced by Colonel Ralph F. Estey,
who had just completed a tour as commanding officer
of the 5th Marines?

In the field, the CAPs operated under a complex
chain of command which reflected their unique
character and mission. The Marines assigned to CAPs
were commanded by the CAF through the CAGs and
CACOs, while the PFs were responsible in theory to
their village chief but in practice usually took orders
from their district chief and through him from
province and I Corps. Each CAG headquartets, usually
located near a province headquarters, provided ad-
ministrative support to the CACOs under it, trained
both Marines and PFs, and, in consultation with
province chiefs and regular unit commanders, assigned
CAP areas of operation. The CACO headquarters, the
counterpart of the Vietnamese district in the com-
mand structure, arranged for artillery and air support,
evacuation of casualties, and reinforcement for its

CAPs with the district and with the U.S., ARVN, or
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Korean infantry battalion in its vicinity. Operational
control of each CAP unit of Marines and PFs rested
with the Vietnamese district (subsector) commander.

By mutual agreement, the province chief, the CAG
commander, and the commander of the regular bat-
talion operating in the area assigned each CAP a tac-
tical area of coordination (TAOC), normally
encompassing a single village. The TAOC was consi-
dered the exclusive tertitory of the CAP, and non-CAP
units were not supposed to enter it without previous
permission of the district and CACO commanders.
Within each CAP, the Marine squad leader and the
PF sergeant, ot trung-si* neither of whom had com-
mand over the other, directed operations by consul-
tation and agreement.

If a dispute arose which the Marine squad leader
ot trung-si could not resolve, each had to refer it to
a higher level of his own chain of command. This awk-
ward system depended for effectiveness almost entirely
on trust and respect between the Marines and PF lead-
erst While the system worked well generally, Marine
small-unit leaders did not hesitate to take charge.
Looking back on his experience as commander of the
CAF, Colonel Metzger observed that “when push came
to shove, the Marines had to assume direct command
and frequently did so, particularly when critical situ-
ations developed . . . the agreed chain of command
was not often a major problem.” Metzger suggested
that in most cases Marines asserted themselves with
the compliance of the Vietnamese. He emphasized,
however, that when Marines had to, “at all levels,” they
took command?

In mid-March, just before XXIV Corps took oper-
ational control of the Combined Action Force, a
CORDS study group which had been reviewing the
Combined Action Program proposed to Lieutenant
General Zais that the CAPs be “integrated into
CORDS.” The study group claimed that at the village
level, the CAP PFs’ tendency to look to the district
for direction undermined the authority of the village
chief, and that the CAF, CAGs, and CACOs dupli-
cated many functions of province and district senior
advisors, thus weakening single management of
American support for territorial security. Colonel
Metzger in reply argued against transfer of control of
the CAPs to CORDS. He pointed out that the CAPs

*PFs had no formal rank structure, and their leaders were sim-
ply designated by village and district chiefs. No organization for
the PF existed beyond the platoon, which theoretically numbered
30 men.
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still were tactical units engaged in combat operations
and the CORDS “possesses no . . . capability to direct
ot support military operations.” His view prevailed.
The CAF remained separate from CORDS under ovet-
all control of XXIV Corps?®

During 1970 the CAF received most of its Marines
directly from training centers and staging battalions
in the United States, although it continued to accept
a few volunteers from other Marine units in Vietnam.
Most Marines assigned to the CAF from the United
States were not volunteers, but they had to have high
general classification test scores and records free of re-
cent disciplinary action. In Vietnam, the CAF Head-
quarters possessed and exercised the right to screen
and reject incoming replacements. Those rejected were
sent to other III MAF units. In some drafts, the CAF
refused up to 50-55 percent of the men, most of them
for medical or disciplinary reasons, but the usual re-
jection rate was 20-25 percent.

Colonel Metzger gave particular care to the selec-
tion of NCO:s for the critical position of CAP squad
leader. He said:

... I personally interviewed every sergeant that came in-
to the CAE I would say that the majority—and I'm mak-
ing a conservative estimate — the majortity we rejected. We
rejected them usually because they simply did not, based
on interview, have the leadership . . . capabilities. This would
be evidenced in terms of record, in terms of motivation, in
terms of their own willingness to make the effort . . . 7

Once they had arrived in Vietnam and been ac-
cepted by the CAF, CAP-bound Marines spent about

. two weeks at the Combined Action Force School in

East Da Nang before joining their units. There they
received refresher training in basic infantry weapons,
small-unit tactics, first aid, and map and compass
reading. They attended classes on the use of war dogs,
and learned how to request and control artillery fire,
air strikes, and medical evacuation flights. They also
studied Vietnamese language, history, and culture,
GVN politics, and the history and organization of the
PF, and received about six hours of instruction in VC
and VCI organization, weapons, and tactics. During
the two-week school, CAP Matines received 53 hours
of instruction in general military subjects and 38 hours
in Vietnamese subjects. Another 18 hours were con-
sumed with examinations, ctitiques, and reviews. For
practical experience, CAF school students, with local
PFs, conducted night security patrols around the CAF
Headquarters compound. Many Matines returned to
Da Nang during their CAP tours for 28 days of in-
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tensive instruction in Vietnamese at the CAF Language
School ®

Throughout most of the year, as redeployments and
changes in the flow of replacements disrupted the per-
sonnel “pipeline,” the CAF operated at less than full
strength. According to Colonel Metzger:

Our T/O [for a CAP] was 15 to include a corpsman. Much
of the time I was there we operated at about a 9.5 level,
which meant that we were at least a third understrength,
continually, and which meant more specifically . . . that in-
stead of, say, putting out three night activities, or three night
ambushes in each CAP, we could only put out two, or maybe
one . . . While I was there, no solution was found®

The manpower shortage created a number of in-
terrelated problems for the Combined Action Force.
Even to keep nine men per CAP in the field, the CAGs
often had to reduce their already inadequate head-
quarters staffs and rotate men between CACOs. Lack-
ing enough qualified senior NCOs, in early 1970 the
CAF had to place over one-third of its CAPs under
corporals or lance corporals, some hatdly out of their
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teens and few with previous Vietnam combat ex-
perience. Because few Marines could be spared from
the field for the extra training, the CAF had a chronic
shortage of men fluent in Vietnamese. Fortunately,
enough PFs had learned some English during five years
of contact with Americans to permit at least basic com-
munication within the CAPs.0

During 1970, the CAPs continued to perform the
seven missions assigned them in eatlier years. These
were: to neutralize the VCI in the village or hamlet;
to provide security and help maintain law and order;
to protect local GVN authorities; to guard important
facilities and lines of communication within the vil-
lage and hamlet; to conduct combined operations with
other allied forces; to participate in civic action and
psychological operations; and to assist in economic and
social development. The Marine element of the CAP
had the additional mission “to provide military train-
ing to the PF soldiets in order to prepare them to ef-
fectively perform the [seven regular] missions . . . when
the Marine element is relocated.”!!

A Marine member of Combined Action Platoon 2-5-3 demonstrates to his Vietnamese
counterparts the breaking down of an M6O machine gun. The training of the Popular
Force troops was one of the primary missions of the Combined Action Marines.
Abel Papers, Marine Corps Historical Center
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&5
Members of a mobile combined action platoon have stopped in a friendly village where

they are the dinner guests of one of the village elders. The platoon does not remain in
any one hamlet but moves throughout its assigned area from village to village.

Throughout 1970, the CAPs accomplished their
security mission primarily by continual day and night
patrolling and by setting ambushes in and around
their assigned villages. By the middle of the year,
almost all units of the CAF had adopted the “Mobile
CAP” concept of operations. This meant that the
CAPs abandoned the fortified compounds from which
they usually had wotked in the past. The compounds,
Marines had found, tied down too much of the com-
bined platoon in defending a fixed position, thus
weakening the screen around the village and offering
the VC comparatively easy access to the people. Also,
the compound itself offered enemy local and main
forces an attractive target for attack, and several “com-
pound CAPs” had been overrun and all but annit-
hilated *

Colonel Metzger recalled that after he was assign-
ed as commander of the CAF several CAPs were either
overrun or badly mauled. In some cases the losses
resulted from Vietnamese treachery. At this point he
realized that a static CAP compound was too easy a

*For a vivid description of a VC/NVA assault on a CAP compound
see Francis J. West, Jt., The Village (New York: Harper & Row, 1972),
pp. 105-127.
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Abel Papers, Marine Cotps Histotical Center

target, and the decision was made to go “mobile”
Metzger said, “It was darned tough on the CAP Ma-
rines, but it saved many lives and greatly enhanced
our security capability. Under this tegimen, CAP Ma-
rines literally went to the bush for their entire tours.”
When the change was made, only a couple of CAPs
remained in compounds and then only because of the
necessity to safeguard radio gear which “would only
operate from certain terrain features.”

The CAPs now moved daily from place to place
among the hamlets, keeping no position more pet-
manent than a patrol base. During May and June, the
4th CAG abandoned even those; its CAPs kept their
radios and other heavy equipment at village chiefs’
headquarters, or non-CAP tettitorial force compounds.
As far as possible, all the Marines and PFs remained
continually active on patrols or night ambushes. This
tactic allowed a CAP to screen a larger area more ef-
fectively with the same number of men, and it kept
the VC uncertain of the CAP’s whereabouts and hence
less likely to try to enter the village to attack the CAP
or to extort supplies and recruits from the people. It
also conformed to the GVN policy of assigning a more
mobile, aggressive role to the RF and PF while the
PSDF took over the task of guarding bridges, village
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offices, and other installations. Colonel Metzger
summed up:

. . . With its mobility, the CAP can keep the VC guess-
ing . . . They don't like to come after you unless they've
had a chance to get set and do some planning. Mobility
throws this off. It . . . means that the CAP can be found
anywhere outside a village or hamlet, and they don’t like
this when they’re trying to come in for rice, or money, or
recruits, or just plain coordination.!2

While patrols and ambushes occupied most of their
time, CAP units also took part in other types of oper-
ations. They often worked with Regional and Popular
Forces or with U.S. or ARVN regular units to cordon
and search villages. Sometimes, one or more CAPs
conducted an offensive sweep outside their TAOCs.
During April, for example, units of the 1st CAG be-
gan sweeping areas which Americal Division ot ARVN
units had just left, in order to engage enemy units
coming back after evading the earlier allied operations.
CADP:s relied for protection primarily on their organic
weapons and on their mobility, but they could and
did call for artillery and air support when they need-
ed it. During Match, for example, units of the 2d CAG
called in 23 artillery fire missions and seven mortar
fire missions. They used helicopter gunships twice and
requested and controlled 26 medical evacuations for
Vietnamese civilians, PFs, and wounded Marines.!3

When General McCutcheon assumed command of
IIT MAF and was briefed on the CAF situation, he ex-
pressed concern to Colonel Metzger over the casual-
ties the CAF had sustained through 1969. “I answered
by saying that our experience had taught us that to
survive in many CAP TAORs, CAPs had to patrol ag-
gressively,” said Metzger, adding, however, that Gener-
al McCutcheon had an arguable point, given the
casualty figures. In 1969, the CAF had killed 1,952
VC/NVA, took 391 POWs, and captured 932 weapons.
CAP losses included 111 Marines and 6 Navy corps-
men killed and 851 wounded, over 50 percent of
whom were evacuated for wounds. The CAF, neverthe-
less, remained committed to an aggressive operation-
al mode.

The CAPs' mobile tactics produced results.
Throughout most of the year, units of the CAF con-
ducted an average of 12,000 to 14,000 patrols and am-
bushes per month, about 70 percent of them at night.
They took a steady toll of enemy dead and prisoners
in brief firefights, over two-thirds of which, accord-
ing to Colonel Metzger, were CAP-initiated. In the first
three months of 1970 alone, the CAF accounted for
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288 enemy killed and 87 prisoners, rounded up 487
VC suspects, received 82 Hoi Chanhs, and captured
172 weapons. In the same petiod, the CAF lost 22 Ma-
rines and 42 PFs killed and 165 Marines and 122 PFs
wounded. The 1st and 2d CAGs in southern I Corps,
wherte VC guerrillas were both numerous and active,
had most of the contacts and inflicted and absorbed
most of the casualties. The 3d and 4th CAGs, in mote
thinly populated northern I Corps where the main
enemy threat came from the NVA, saw less action.!

CAF units devoted much attention to training the
PFs working with them. In the field, most training
occurred during combat operations, with the PFs leatn-
ing from the example and the informal instruction of
their Marine counterparts. As a CAF fact sheet put
it, the CAP Marine’s “classtoom was in the ‘bush’ where
the VC provide necessaty training aids.”!5

Each CAG also provided formal instruction for both
Marines and PFs. The 4th CAG, for example, brought
two entire CAPs each week from their villages to the
CAG Headquarters compound. Thete, the members,
Marines and PFs together, received a one-day marks-
manship course followed by a medical examination
and, if necessaty, treatment, a hot dinnet, and a movie.
The 3d CAG conducted similar refresher training for
individual Marines and PFs. When a shortage of Ma-
rines forced cancellation of this program in March, 3d
CAG established a mobile training team of one Viet-
namese lieutenant and one Marine sergeant which
travelled from CAP to CAP for the rest of the year.®
To further assist the Marines and Vietnamese in form-
ing more proficient CAPs, General Lam began phas-
ing some CAP PFs through the full ARVN basic
training program at the ARVN training base near Hue.

The CAGs provided periodic refresher courses for
the CAP Marines about particular weapons or tactics.
They paid careful attention to the Marine CAP lead-
ers because, as Colonel Metzger put it:

... If you have a good, strong CAP leader—strong in
all respects, you have a good, strong trung-si, because they
learn by sort of a process of osmosis, and observation, and
emulation, and I saw this happen time after time. We all
commented on this, This isn’t to say that a weak CAP lead-
er couldn’t start with a strong #ruzg-sZ, but it wasn’t long
before he was down to . . . the Marine’s level . . . 17

With so many inexperienced young corporals and
lance corporals leading CAPs, CACO and CAG com-
manders had to spend much time, in the words of one
of them, “establishing a close relationship with this
kid and checking him daily, and I don’t mean inspect-
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ing him. I mean visiting him and finding out what
his problems wete . . . 18 Both to train and to coun-
sel squad leadets, the 3d CAG during May instituted
monthly CAP leaders’ seminars. At these sessions,
CAP NCOs, brought to CAG Headquarters from the
field, spent most of a day undergoing instruction in
various subjects and talking over common problems.
They also enjoyed lunch and an opportunity for “a lit-
tle socializing with contemporaries.”t®

In both formal and informal training, the Marines
emphasized PF self-sufficiency. All the CAGs tried to
teach PF leaders and selected soldiers such skills as use
and care of the M60 machine gun, 60mm mortar, and
AN/PRC-25 radio. They attempted to qualify PFs to
act as artillery forward observers and to call for and
direct artillery fire missions, air strikes, and medical
evacuations. Modifying a long-standing requirement
that all CAP operations involve both Marines and PFs,
the Marines encouraged PF zrung-sis to plan and exe-
cute their own all-PF patrols and ambushes?2°

The success of this training in enabling the PF to
fight their own battles varied from province to pro-
vince, even from CAP to CAP. By early 1970, many
CAPs in Quang Tin, where the Americal Division*
2d ARVN Division, RFs, and PFs now formed a rela-
tively strong military network, had worked themselves
out of a job. In this province, an increasing number
of village chiefs had begun asserting effective control
over PF operations. Many PFs, according to Lieutenant
Colonel Seiler, the 1st CAG commander, were show-
ing “interest and ability” in the use of 60mm mortars
and M60 machine guns. Seiler reported that in some
CAPs, the PFs “do not want the Marines to go on
patrols and ambushes, but rather want them to stay
in the patrol base or night defensive positions as a
react[ion] force or fire support and medevac coordi-
nators.”’2!

In Seiler’s opinion, Vietnamization in the province
was working fairly well and the local forces increasingly
wanted to assert themselves. This, as Seiler pointed
out, restricted the CAP Marines’ role to the degree
that they weren’t permitted to petform as their chart-

*Years later, Major General Lloyd B. Ramsey, USA, who com-
manded the Americal Division until the spring of 1970, discussed
the success in Quang Tin Province containing the VC: “The weak-
ness of the VC was a direct result of the Ametical Division, 2d ARVN
Division, RFs, PFs, Province Chiefs, CAPs, all under the supervi-
sion of Ill MAF and supported by Marine, Navy, and AF air sup-
port. A fine team effort. Also, we received outstanding support from
naval gunfire”” MajGen Lioyd B. Ramsey, USA, Comments on draft
ms, 2Jun83 (Vietnam Comment File).

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

er directed, hence necessitating Seiler’s decision to en-
courage the progress of Vietnamization, and to move
CAP Marines to areas where they were more needed.
He characterized this important change in Quang Tin
Province in a 1st CAG letter in April 1970:

... CAPs in Quang Tin Province are developing a go-it-
alone capability. The Marine squad leaders have been tak-
ing a less dominant role in operations and have been
emphasizing Vietnamese capabilities. The major problem
occurs when the CAP passes the line of equal partnership
in a joint venture and it becomes a predominantly Viet-
namese operation. We are faced with a paradox of encourag-
ing Vietnamese participation and control but still requiring
Marines to follow certain operating principles such as mo-
bility, active pattolling over a wide area, a specific number
of activities and a minimum size of forces. These ate all sound
procedures and must be adhered to for U.S. units but ate
considered less important in the overall scheme of opera-
tions for Vietnamese units. It is not desirable to attempt
to have Vietnamese forces conform to our operating princi-
ples after they have demonstrated their ability to handle their
own security problems. Rather, it is tecommended that the
Marine component of the CAP continue to be withdrawn
when the need for its services has diminished to the point
that the Vietnamese forces can satisfactorily do the job on
their own. It should not be a CAP mission, however, to re-
main in the AO to serve primarily as fire support coort-
dinator."22

In other provinces, where the Regional and Popu-
lar Forces were less assertive and the VC stronger, the
Vietnamese remained more dependent on their Ma-
tine counterparts, but throughout I Corps CAP train-
ing improved PF performance. During the first quarter
of 1970, for example, the CAP PF platoons, represent-
ing about 12 percent of the total number of PFs in
I Corps, accounted for about 29 percent of the enemy
killed by PFs and 40 percent of the weapons captured 22

During daylight hours, CAP Marines spent much
of their time on civic action—helping the villagers to
improve their daily lives. The Navy corpsmen assign-
ed to the CAPs held periodic sick calls, known as
“medcaps.” They gathered the people together for
treatment of minor hurts and illnesses, examined the
more serious cases, and when possible called for
helicopters to take them to U.S. or Vietnamese hospi-
tals. The corpsmen also taught personal hygiene, and
trained Vietnamese volunteers in basic first aid and
sanitation. CAP riflemen distributed food, clothing,
building materials, and school supplies obtained from
the US. and Vietnamese Governments and from pri-
vate charities. They also helped the villagers repair and
construct dwellings, roads, paddy dikes, schools, public
showers, toilets, bridges, and other facilities for com-
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munity betterment. In all such projects, the Marines
were supposed to emphasize local self-help, with the
villagers identifying the needs to be met and provid-
ing most of the labor while the Marines furnished ad-
ditional workers, materials, and technical skill.
Nevertheless, as they had throughout the existence of
the Combined Action Program, CAPs continued to
give civic action second priotity to combat operations.
They did so on the theoty that the people would be
won to the allied cause primarily by providing securi-
ty rather than through charitable works. Benevolence
without protection would not produce real pacifi-
cation 24

Civic action activities during 1970 as conducted by
CAPs were given even less priority because of the ef-
fects of redeployment. “As in-country U.S. units in I
Corps had to extend their TAORs to compensate for
redeployment of the 3d Marine Division and the 26th
Marines in [ate 1969, recalled Colonel Metzger, “the
job of village security became much tougher for the
CADPs. . . . Itemember by early 1970 that we had CA-
COs in 2d CAG in contact every night as the VC and
NVA tried to exploit the reduced major units’
presence. For this reason, our civic action efforts were
much reduced. The troops simply couldn’t do both
as the threat intensified.”25

By 1970, the Combined Action Program had been
in operation for five years, While most observers agreed
that it was succeeding in its primary mission of im-
proving local security, the program did have problems
and shortcomings, some inherent in its nature, others
the result of current circumstances. For example,
Colonel Metzger complained that the CACO head-
quartets needed two officets rather than the one usual-
ly assigned. He explained that “One officer simply
cannot hack it, not when it comes to investigations,
resupply, tactical supervision of the CAPs, fire sup-
port coordination. Then you lay all this on top of the
time-space factot, and he just can’t hack it’28

Marines in and out of the CAF agreed that the re-
quirement that line units obtain both CACO and dis-
trict approval before entering a CAP TAOC often
prevented allied battalions from effectively exploiting
current intelligence. In an effort to solve this problem,
Lieutenant Colonel John J. Tolnay, who took com-
mand of the 2d CAG late in September, reached an
informal agreement with Colonel Kelley of the 1st Ma-
rines, in whose TAOR most of Tolany’s CAPs were lo-
cated. Tolnay recalled:

We got this straightened out pretty well with the 1st Ma-
rines. Colonel Kelley and I sat down and talked . . . and
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I said, "Welcome aboard. Any time you want to come
through, just let us know because we do have to coordinate
just like any other infantry unit."2?

In a further effort to improve working relationships
with the 2d CAG, the 1st Marines began assigning its
rifle companies to operate regularly with particular
CACOs and designating particular squads to cooper-
ate with individual CAPs28

Lieutenant Colonel Tolnay felt that much more
could have been done in exploiting the CAPs as in-
telligence sources:

... We had a great intelligence-gathering potential that
was not exploited efficiently. Because we were co-located
with the district, we maintained a joint COC with the dis-
trict headquatters, we wete privy to all the intelligence that
they gathered . . and we had the pulse of the
people. . . . We tried to feed this information up to battal-
ion, but the communication links weren't that good because
it meant having to wait till the next day to get it to them
because we weren't on the same net and we didn’t have
telephone communication.2®

CAP Marines were generally able to establish at least
minimally harmonious working relationships with the
PFs, but difficulties remained. Many of the PFs were
reluctant to attend formal training sessions, particu-
larly classes held during the day after they had spent
the night patrolling. Some PFs had to be coerced to
operate outside villages and hamlets at night. Sergeant
Tom Harvey, who commanded CAP 3-3-5 located just
west of Hue, yeats later remembered the frustration
of ttying to motivate the PFs to patrol outside of their
fixed positions, espectally at night. “Our PFs still re-
fused to have the main body of their platoon in a night
position outside of the hamlet,” said Harvey. Only his
Hot Chanh, who had been abducted by the VC when
he was 15 and who hated the VC, readily partic-
ipated 30

The PFs, and the village and district chiefs who con-
trolled them, also responded unenthusiastically to Ma-
rine efforts to introduce mobile* tactics. Often, when
CAP Marines were shifted to other villages, the PFs

*“T think nearly everyone interested in the matter now recognizes
the advantages of the mobile CAP, as opposed to those bound to
fixed bases or compounds,” said Sergeant Tom Harvey, leader of CAP
3-3-5. “I would certainly agtee, and can only surmise that we would
have been much more effective at Delta-1 in 2d CAG [the CAP
in which Harvey served in 1968] if we had been mobile. The area
was much more heavily populated with several hamlets in our AO,
and would have been better suited to a mobile mode of operation
than our AOs in 3d CAG. . . . Tom Harvey, Comments on draft
ms, 16Jan84 (Vietnam Comment File).
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would return to their old habit of staying in com-
pounds or other fixed positions. The general lack of
mobility by PFs usually resulted from “village pres-
sure to keep the PFs close in to afford maximum per-
sonal security for the village and hamlet officials.”3!

Occasionally, CAP Marines became embroiled in lo-
cal Vietnamese feuds. During February, for example,
Marines of CAP 4-2-1 in Quang Tri had a firefight with
a non-CAP PF platoon guarding a bridge at the edge
of their TAOC. The non-CAP PFs, strangers to the dis-
trict, continually harassed and abused CAP PFs and
villagers. On 21 February, when the Matines intervened
to protect a soft-drink vendor, the hostile PFs opened
fire on them, slightly wounding the CAP leader. The
Marines returned fire, and a noisy exchange ensued,
although a 4th CAG investigation later concluded that
“both sides used restraint in the firing, since at the
short range involved great harm could have been in-
flicted if the volume of fire was heavy or aimed ac-
curately” The only casualty besides the CAP leader
was a PF wounded in the chin by a grenade fragment.
The CACO commander and the Vietnamese district
S-3 hurried to the scene and stopped the firing, and
the district soon moved the offending PFs to another
village. “Fortunately,” the 4th CAG report of the in-
cident concluded, “the friendly relations between the
CAP Matines, CAP PFs, and villagers in the CAP 4-2-1
AO were not harmed . . . 32

More menacing to CAP Marines than such sporad-
ic hostility was the possibility that their Vietnamese
counterparts were actually VC or had reached an ac-
commodation with the VC. More than one CAP found
itself trying to defend a village where the chief or the
PF trunmg-si was working for the enemy. On 12 Janu-
ary, for example, the Marine squad leader of CAP
4-1-5, located in a village northwest of Dong Ha in
Quang Tri Province, observed the PF platoon leader
“apparently disclosing information about night loca-
tions to unauthorized individuals.” The Marine sum-
moned other Vietnamese authorities, and they
arrested the PF, whom they had suspected for some
time of being a Viet Cong33

A CAP in the 2d CAG had a wotse experience. At
2015 on 8 July, Marines on watch at the CP of Com-
pany H, 2d Battalion, 1st Marines, heard an explo-
sion and small arms fire from the nearby village of
Binh Ky. Located about a mile and three-quarters
south of Marble Mountain, Binh Ky was defended by
CAP 2-7-5. The Marines at the CP of Company H
tuned in on the CAP’s radio frequency and heard a
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call for a medical evacuation helicopter and a report
that the CAP was in heavy contact. The company at
once sent a squad to aid the CAP. By the time the
squad reached the CAP’s position in Binh Ky, the fight
had ended and the Company H Marines found five
dead and four wounded Martines from the CAP squad,
along with four wounded PFs. The CAP had exhaust-
ed its ammunition, and the surviving PFs, complete-
ly demoralized, refused to join the Company H squad
in a sweep of the village. The area of the fight con-
tained a number of craters, all of which were later de-
termined to have been caused by buried,
command-detonated mines. The Marines from Com-
pany H helped the remnants of the CAP guard the
village for the rest of the night.

Later, the 1st Marines’ intelligence officer pieced
together the story behind these confused events. He
reported:

. .. Binh Ky's village chief was a VC and had been pro-
secuted a couple of times and exonerated. The Vietnamese
RF or PF there we felt sure had reached some sort of agree-
ment with the VC, if they weren't in fact VC themselves.
The hamlet chiefs there were VC or at least frightened by
the VC to the point where they’d do anything the VC told
them to do. The Marines in the CAP were in a difficult sit-
uation. Their activities each night . . . tended to establish
a pattern and they never made contact. We never had any
trouble with Binh Ky. The reason we never had any trouble
was because they [the VC] wanted to keep it quiet. One night
the CAP commander was able to break the pattern of ac-
tivity with his Vietnamese counterparts and get them to set
up ambushes on the other side of town in sort of an unknown
pattern. . . . They got hit . . . a couple of Marines were
wounded and some PFs were killed. It was sort of a slap on
the wrist . . . 34

In spite of continuing problems, most Marines in
1970 remained convinced of the overall success of the
Combined Action Program. In Thua Thien Province,
for example, Sergeant Tom Harvey later observed that
“we managed to keep the VC out of all the hamlets
in Phu Thu District, in which six CAPs operated, with
a force of probably no more than 75 Marines, includ-
ing our CACO headquarters.’3s

Evidence was plentiful that in most villages where
they were stationed, the CAP Marines enjoyed a large
measure of acceptance, even trust and affection, from
the Vietnamese. Time after time, villagers volunteered
information which led to the capture of enemy soldi-
ers and equipment. The enemy seemed to avoid CAP-
protected villages. In the 2d CAG AO, for instance,
it became possible in many hamlets to hold GVN po-
litical rallies at night, a thing unheard of in eatlier
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years. At times, the Vietnamese openly expressed ap-
preciation for the Marines. During the flood in Oc-
tober, the CAPs and their Vietnamese counterparts,
as well as the villagers themselves, were evacuated to
LZ Baldy. Lieutenant Colonel Tolnay recalled that the
Vietnamese returned to CAP villages about two days
before the Marines, then added:

When the Marines returned by helicopter, the village
elders and the people were there to greet them and lead
them back into their houses where they had food prepared
for them, because they really appreciated the fact that Ma-
rines were coming back to protect them . . . 3¢

Since the inception of the program in 1965, a total
of 93 CAPs had been moved to new locations from
villages and hamlets deemed able to protect them-
selves. Of the former CAP hamlets, none ever had
returned to Viet Cong control, at least not as meas-
ured in the American HES, Some former CAP villages
had achieved a measure of prospetity and stability3?

The village of Binh Nghia, a seven-hamlet complex
about four miles south of Chu Lai, by 1970 offered
a striking example of CAP success. A CAP had been
established there in 1966, finding the community un-
der strong VC influence and its GVN leaders and PFs
demoralized. For two years, the CAP Marines, aided
by increasingly aggressive and confident PFs, fought
a savage battle against local guerrillas. During the
struggle, the CAP compound was overrun and half the
Marine members of the combined platoon killed. The
sutvivors, their ranks filled by replacements, held on
and gradually gained the military upper hand and the
respect of the villagers. By 1970, the VC rarely entered
Binh Nghia, either to fight ot to collect taxes. The Ma-
rine CAP had moved elsewhere, and the GVN, which
regarded the village as pacified, had even transferred
the PF platoon to another village. Binh Nghia, now
protected by a 100-man People’s Self Defense Force,
had an active, elected local government and a flourish-
ing economy (by Vietnamese village standards). It
seemed to an American visitor who knew the village
well that “the war had passed Binh Nghia38*

*For the eatlier fight for Binh Nghia, see Jack Shulimson, U.S.
Marines in Vietnam, 1966: An Expanding War (Washington:
Hist&MusDiv, 1982), pp. 241-43. and West, The Village. It should
be noted that from the start Binh Nghia had contained a large pro-
GVN element and had had a strong local GVN leader. Much of
the rest of the population had been willing to support whomever
seemed to them the winning side. It had never been a hardcore
VC village, but hardcore VC villages were comparatively few in most
areas, and communities like Binh Nghia provided much of what
the VC needed to maintain and expand their strength.
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Reducing the Combined Action Force

Beginning in late 1969, the question of when and
how rapidly to reduce the Combined Action Force
came under consideration in Marine Corps redeploy-
ment planning. The Marines decided early that the
CAF should be reduced — by deactivations of platoons
and redeployment of personnel—at a pace roughly
proportional to that of the withdrawal of other Ma-
rine units.

This stand was based on several considerations. The
number of Marines in the CAF counted as part of the
total number of men III MAF could have in-country.
Hence, as the authorized manpower ceiling was lo-
wered by redeployments, failure to reduce the CAF
would force a too-rapid decrease in conventional
strength, Combined action units depended on con-
ventional forces for artillery and air support and rein-
forcement against major attacks, and the Marines
preferred not to have to rely entirely on the US. Army
and the ARVN for such assistance. Accordingly, as
other Marine units came out, III MAF decided the
CAPs they supported should also come out. Finally,
Lieutenant General Nickerson, the III MAF com-
mander, emphasized the need for close and constant
supervision of the CAPs by higher Marine headquart-
ers. Without such supetvision, Nickerson feared, dis-
cipline in these isolated, independent small units
would decline and with it effectiveness. As he blunt-
ly put it, “these damn Marines, they go bamboo on
you, . . . unless you can get out there and kick ass,
take names, and be sute they're up to snuff . . . 39

On the basis of these considerations, the Marines
wanted to begin reducing the CAF early in the deploy-
ment process. They held to this position in spite of
the fact that the US. Army had no comparable
organization* with which to replace the CAPs and in
spite of great ARVN reluctance to lose these particu-
lar Marines. Typifying the ARVN reaction to possible
CAP deactivations, General Ngo Quang Truong, the
competent commander of the 1st ARVN Division in
Quang Tri, accepted the inevitable redeployment of

*The U.S. Army and the ARVN never formed CAP-type units.
The closest U.S. Army equivalent was the Mobile Advisory Team
(MAT), of which the Army would have 487 in operation by late
1970, 88 of them in I Corps. Each MAT consisted of two American
officers, three enlisted men, and a ARVN interpreter. Each team
was assigned a specific working area throughout which it travelled
giving small-unit training to RFs and PFs. MACV ComdHist, 70,
11, Ch. 7, p. 67; Gen W. C. Westmoreland, USA, and Adm U. S.
G. Shatp, USN, Report on the War in Vietnam (Washington, D.C.:
GPO, 1968), p. 215.
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Marine units but pleaded with Brigadier General
Dulacki, Nickerson’s Chief of Staff, “I don't care what
else you do, but please don't take the CAPs 40

The Marines still intended to take the CAPs and
sought and obtained MACV's permission to do so. On
31 December 1969, Lieutenant General Nickerson re-
quested guidance from General Abrams on redeploy-
ment of the CAPs in Phase IV, which at that time was
expected to remove all Marines but the residual MAB,
Abrams, in reply, left it to IIl MAF to determine how
many CAP Marines to withdraw in Phase IV and how
many to retain with the MAB and he promised to send
more MATs to I Corps to take over part of the CAPs'
training task. Nickerson, on 28 January, with the ap-
proval of FMFPac and HQMC, proposed to MACV the
deactivation of the 1st, 3d, and 4th CAGs during Phase
IV. The 2d CAG in Quang Nam, reduced to about
600 Marines, was to remain until the MAB pulled out.
MACYV approved the proposal. Even though the total
number of Marines to be withdrawn in Phase IV was
later reduced, this plan for cutting down the CAF re-
mained in effect. Throughout 1970, the CAF gradu-
ally reduced its manpower and the number of its units
in the field and concentrated its forces in Quang
Nam:#!

Consoldiation of the CAF began on 9 February,
when the 2d CAG deactivated the headquarters of
CACO 2-5 and distributed its remaining two CAPs
to CACOs 2-1 and 2-7. On 28 April, Lieutenant
General Lam and Lieutenant General Zais, at the
recommendation of Lieutenant General McCutcheon,
the new III MAF commander, agreed to move five
CAPs from the 3d CAG and two from the 4th CAG
to 2d CAG. CAF Headquarters had been urging this
shift of strength for some time, but General Lam, who
had to give final approval to any CAP relocation, had
been unwilling to act until the threat of 2 Communist
1970 Tet offensive had abated * The seven CAPs were
withdrawn from the field on 29 April. Between 3 and
5 May, they occupied new TAOCs in Hoa Vang, Dien
Ban, and Hieu Nhon Districts in Quang Nam. This
reinforcement enlarged the 2d CAG to over 700
Marines42

*The procedure for moving a CAP from one village to another
was laborious and highly centralized. Approval had to be obtained
from every level of Vietnamese officialdom up to I Corps, and re-
quests for transfers required elaborate documentation and cer-
tification that the local forces could take care of themselves. See
Consul Francis T. McNamara, Political Advisor to CG XXIV Cotps,
ler to LtGen Melvin Zais, dtd 14Mar70, in CAF SOP & History Fldr,
Box 2, Pacification Study Docs.
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In mid-April, while plans for reducing the 3d and
4th CAGs were being completed, Lieutenant Colonel
Seiler of the 1st CAG suggested to Vietnamese offi-
cials in Quang Tin that four CAPs be deactivated.
General Lam, the ultimate authority agreed. The Ma-
rines of these CAPs, stationed in areas where the PF
were now operating independently, had been reduced
to the the roles of mobile reserves and fire support
coordinators. The four CAPs were disbanded during
the last days of May in the first actual deactivation of
CAP platoons since 1967. During May, the the 1st
CAG obtained permission to deactivate nine more
CAPs and the two CACOs controlling them, again be-
cause the PFs no longer needed their support and be-
cause no other villages in Quang Tin could make use
of them. Accordingly, between 24 and 29 June, CA-
COs 1-1 (four CAPs) and 1-2 (five CAPs) were dis-
banded 43*

Reduction of the CAF speeded up in July, spurred
by an almost complete halt of the flow of replacements
for CAP Marines** Between 7 and 30 July, the CAG
deactivated the group headquarters, four CACOs, and
16 remaining CAPs of the 4th CAG, thereby terminat-
ing the Combined Action Program in Quang Tii. Dur-
ing the same period, it deactivated two CACO
headquarters and 14 CAPs from the 3d CAG and five
more CAPs from the 1st CAG. Most of the Marines
from deactivated units in 3d and 4th CAGs were trans-
ferred within the CAE The CAF thus lost more units
than men in this reduction. Nevertheless, by the end
of July, the total number of Marines in the CAF had
declined to about 1,7004¢

During July and August, as an increasing number
of line units stood down for redeployment in Keystone
Robin Alpha, the CAF deactivated the remaining CA-
COs and CAPs of the 1st and 3d CAGs. The last com-
pany of the 1st CAG disbanded on 24 August,
followed on 28 August by the last CACO of the 3d
CAG. Marines from these units returned to the Unit-
ed States or joined other commands in the Western
Pacific. On 7 September, 3d CAG Headquarters closed
down, and six days later 1st CAG headquarters end-
ed operations. The 2d CAG meanwhile deactivated

*Since the Combined Action Force was not part of the regular
Marine Corps T/O, its units wete deactivated rather than redeployed.
Marines from CAPs either returned to the U.S. with other redeployed
formations ot were shifted to other CAGs.

**The halt was the result of deployment-telated upheavals and
disruption in the manpower “pipeline” to the Western Pacific. For
further details on manpower problems in 1970, see Chapter 19.
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one CACO and five CAPs during August and redis-
tributed the Marines from them to other units. On
1 September, the 2d CAG discontinued still another
CACO and four more CAPs. These reductions left the
2d CAG with about 650 Marines and 50 Navy corps-
men in five CACOs and 34 CAPs, all located in Quang
Nam and working with about 800 PFs and RFss5

American and South Vietnamese authorities made
elaborate efforts to prevent the development of a sense
of insecurity among the villagers the deactivated CAPs
had protected. Psychological warfare teams saturated
each TAOC with posters and leaflets and sent loud-
speaker trucks to forewarn and reassute the people. In
written and spoken words, they continually empha-
sized two themes: that the Marines were leaving be-
cause they were needed more elsewhere and that the
local RFs and PFs could now defeat the Communists
without American help.

A formal ceremony proceeded each deactivation. In
the 4th CAG, for example, each CAP conducted a fare-
well parade in its village, attended by the district chief,
the village chief and councilors, and as many villagers
as could be persuaded to appear. The American side
was represented by the CAP Marine squad, the 4th
CAG commander, the district senior advisor, the CAC
commander, and sometimes other distinguished
guests. American and Vietnamese leaders made
speeches, the Vietnamese thanking the Marines for
their aid, and both Americans and Vietnamese again
expressing confidence in the fighting prowess of the
PFs. Villagers and CAP Maines exchanged small gifts.
Often, according to the 4th CAG report, “social
gatherings [were] held at the conclusion of the ceremo-
ny.” The 1st and 3d CAGs held similar deactivation
ceremonies, frequently including the presentation of
Vietnamese decorations and awards to CAP Marines.
How effective all this was in reassuring the people that
they were not being abandoned was hard to deter-
mine. American and Vietnamese alike realized that,
in the end, only combat successes by the RFs and PFs
would maintain the people’s sense of securitys®

On 1 Septembet, after deactivation of all CAPs out-
side Quang Nam, XXIV Corps returned operational
control of the CAF to III MAF. The CAF itself, with
only one CAG still in operation, had outlived its use-
fulness. The force headquarters ceased operations on
21 Septembet, and two days later it was formally dis-
established in a ceremony attended by Lieutenant
Generals Sutherland, Lam, and McCutcheon, and
other distinguished guestss?
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After 21 September, direction of combined action
operations rested with the 2d Combined Action
Group, now commanded by Lieutenant Colonel John
J. Tolnay, who had previously been executive officer
of the CAFE. The 2d CAG, with its headquarters at Hoi
An, the capital of Quang Nam Province, constituted
the “residual force of the III MAF Combined Action
Program "4 Under III MAF, it would coordinate com-
bined action activities with Quang Nam Province, the
Ist Marine Division, and the 2d ROKMC Brigade.

Soon after disestablishment of the CAF, CORDS
again sought authority over the CAPs. Lieutenant
Colonel Tolnay recalled:

The Army advisots and the CORDS setup at province in-
ivially tried to assume some control over the combined ac-
tion program, and we had a meeting of the minds there
where it was determined and agreed to that it remained es-
sentially a Marine program and that any dealings with CAPs,
any dealings with CAP Marines and Vietnamese would be
handled between the CAG commander and the Province
Chief, and there was no difficulty after that4®

The 2d CAG took over the CAF School, which had
moved in mid-September from East Da Nang to Hoi
An. By the end of November, the schoo! had resumed
full operation. It trained the replacements who were
coming in again from the United States and also Ma-
rines from line companies assigned to the Combined
Unit Pacification Program * To replace the CAF Lan-
guage School, which had closed in September, the 2d
CAG added more Vietnamese language training to the
regular school cutriculum and used one of the CAG's
ARVN interpreters as an instructor. The CAG also es-
tablished a Mobile Training Team which gave CACOs
supplementary instruction in the field .50

Within Quang Nam, CAP and CACO operations
continued with little change during the remaining
months of 1970. The CAPs kept up their routine of
patrols and ambushes except when the floods in late
October forced many of them temporarily to evacu-
ate their TAOCs. The CACOs continued to depend
for artillery support on neighboring U.S., ARVN, ot
Korean Marine battalions, but they acquired their own
8lmm mortar sections3! As CAP operations were
winding down in the fall of 1970, one operation
demonstrated the progress that district level authori-
ties and PFs in combination with CAP Marines had
made.

*In this program, ordinaty rifle companies were broken down
into squads, each of which was paired with a RF ot PF platoon and
operated like a CAP.
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On 9 September 1970, elements of CACO 2-3 con-
ducted a heliborne assault on a suspected VC rendez-
vous in Tanh Quit (4) Hamlet. The target area was
three miles north of Dien Ban in rice paddy terrain
bounded by Route 1 to the west and the Vinh Dien
River to the east. Acting on intelligence given to the
CACQO, the district operations officer and the compa-
ny commander shifted the adjacent CAP (2-3-8) into
blocking positions in preparation for the assault. In
order to make it appear like normal daily activity,
members of CAP 2-3-7, the assault element, moved
to the district headquarters in twos and threes during
the afternoon.

“At about 1630 four helicopters landed at the com-
pound, loaded the assault force under the command
of the CACO and the district S-3 [operations officer]
and flew to the targeted area,” recalled Colonel Don
R. Christensen, commander of the 2d CAG at the
time. “Their operation achieved complete surprise as
the assault force landed in the suspected hamlet while
14 VC cadre were meeting” Immediately after inser-
tion, CAP 2-3-7 became engaged in a firefight. Aid-
ed by the blocking force, CAP 2-3-8, which now closed
on the VC from the west, by the 15th PF Platoon, and
two Huey gunships, the Marines concentrated
devastating fire on the fleeing VC, killing 14 without
sustaining any friendly casualties. Searching the area,
the Marines captured one AK-47, two SKS rifles, three
9mm pistols, numerous grenades, and assorted docu-
ments and medical supplies.

The operation demonstrated the capabilities of CAP
Marines and their counterpart Popular Forces when
reacting rapidly to good intelligence. Using the Im-
pact Awards procedutes established by XXIV Corps,
the CAG commander recognized the performance of
the district S-3, the PF platoon commander, and three
of his PFs at a ceremony at district headquarters three
days later. This timely acknowledgement of perfor-
mance contributed greatly toward raising the morale
and esprit of the local forces at a time when CAP Ma-
rines were gradually being withdrawn, leaving the bur-
den of the fighting to the Popular Forces 52

Although CAP units had been much reduced
through redeployment by September 1970, the 2d
CAG inherited many of the problems that had
plagued the CAF during the year. The manpower
shortage continued, especially at group headquarters.
Lieutenant Colonel Tolnay explained:

... The T/O for this 2d CAG was woefully inadequate

in terms of the dispersion of forces and the fact that I had
to maintain a compound. The 68 personnel that I had in
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my . . . headquarters would have been sufficient had I been
a tenant activity with some other otganization, but having
to maintain my own security and conduct all the functions
of an infantry battalion outside of actually controlling the
operations . . . I just didn't have enough people . . . 33

The CAG managed to keep an average of 10 Marines
in the field per CAP, a number which Lieutenant
Colonel Tolnay deemed barely adequate to cover a
TAOC of the usual size.

The 2d CAG encountered difficulties in dealing
with the ARVN high command. Whereas the CAF
had had direct contact with the Deputy for Territorial
Forces on the I Corps staff, the 2d CAG had to chan-
nel all of its communications with the corps through
111 MAF or Quang Nam Province. As a result, accord-
ing to Tolnay, communication “was not too satis-
factory.”

A change in the type of Vietnamese forces working
with the CAPs compounded the CAG's liaison
difficulties. During late 1970, the Vietnamese began
assigning Regional Force platoons rather than Popu-
lar Force platoons to some of the CAPs. Unlike the
PF platoons, which had no higher military organiza-
tion and were answerable directly to the district chief,
the RFs had their own companies, groups, and bat-
talions, the commanders of which were not control-
led by the district chiefs but were controlled by the
province chief. This fact greatly complicated the reso-
lution of tactical disputes between RFs and Marines.
Such disputes wete frequent, as the RF petsistently re-
fused to follow what the Marines considered sound tac-
tics or declined to assign the mimimum of 20 RFs the
Marines deemed necessary to conduct operations. The
RF organization detetiorated early in 1971 to the point
where Lieutenant Colonel Tolnay began withdrawing
CAPs from the field until the RFs responded to Ameri-
can requests for more men ot changes in tactics5*

By the end of 1970, the Combined Action Program
had shrunk to the 2d CAG in Quang Nam. This group
would continue operations until the withdrawal of the
3d MAB in June of the following year. Combined ac-
tion had been one of the Marines’ most notable con-
tributions to the pacification effort, a daring and
generally successful attempt to engage the Viet Cong
on their own ground among the people. Probably
more effectively than any other American military
force, the CAP Marines had done what had to be done
to win the war: they had broken the connection be-
tween the guerrillas and the peasants. Unfortunately,
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A 373446

Marines from @ CUPP unit and a Popular Force soldier, who serves as their interpreter,
question @ woman suspected of providing assistance to the Viet Cong. The woman was
detained and sent back to the district headquarters for more detailed interrogation.

there were many more villages in I Corps, not to men-
tion Vietnam, than there were CAPs*

Building on Success: The Combined Unit
Pacification Program

The effectiveness of the CAPs, combined with the
diminution of contact with enemy main forces and the
continuing guerrilla threat, led IIT MAF late in 1969
to institute the Infantry Company Intensified Pacifi-
cation Program (ICIPP), in January 1970, redesignat-
ed the Combined Unit Pacification Program (CUPP).
Much of the impetus for this new program came from
Licutenant General Nickerson. Brigadier General
Dulacki, the III MAF Chief of Staff, recalled that Nick-
erson “was . . . quite impressed with . . . what the
combined action units were doing. And . . . he felt
pretty strongly that perhaps what we should do is start

*According to Colonel Theodore E. Metzger, General Lewis Walt
wrote the CAF commander a letter following a tour of CAF units
in December 1969, saying, “In the end, I firmly believe chis pro-
gram will be the most important innovation of this war.” Col The-
odore E. Metzger, Comments on drafc ms, 22Mar83 (Vietnam
Comment File).

taking battalions and employing them in a similar
fashion.” Still inclined towards conducting larger scale
offensive operations the Army and Marine infantry di-
visions under III MAF proved unwilling to commit en-
tire battalions to such an unconventional mission and
I MAF “didn’t want to force the idea on them.”
Responding to this reluctance, however, 111 MAF de-
veloped a plan for using companies, which the divi-
sions accepted. Divisions were then directed to assign
companies based upon their current employment and
geographic locations?s

The Americal Division, then still under operation-
al control of III MAF, assigned the first two compa-
nies to CUPP, or at that time ICIPP, duty in October
1969, deploying squads from them in five hamlets in
Quang Ngai. The Ist Marine Division joined the pro-
gram the following month when Company M of the
1st Marines placed three squads in contested villages
around HIIl 55. By the end of the year, Company M
had squads in eight hamlets, and the 5th and 7th Ma-
rines were preparing to establish their own CUPP
units3® III MAF found that the success of these ac-
tivities gradually began to instill confidence in the pro-
gram within the 1st Division.
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As in the CAP program, CUPP companies broke
down into squads, each of which was paired with a
RF or PF platoon to protect a particular village. The
company headquarters, usually located near the head-
quarters of the district in which its squads were sta-
tioned, performed many of the functions of a CACO.
Each CUPP squad had the same seven missions as a
CAP, centering around territorial security and train-
ing the RF/PF, and the aim of the new program, as
of the Combined Action Program, was to merge Ma-
rine firepower and military skill with the militia’s in-
timate knowledge of the local people and terrain.

The CUPP, however, differed from the Combined
Action Program in two ways. First, unlike CAP Ma-
rines, CUPP Marines were not specially selected or
trained. They were regulatly assigned members of a
rifle company which had been given a special mission.
Second, a CUPP company, and the Marine members
of its combined units, remained under the operational
control of their parent regiment and usually were
deployed within that regiment’s area of operations.
CUPP units requested air and artillery support and
medical evacuation through the same channels used
by an ordinary rifle company, and the regiment could
regroup them into a conventional company when
necessary. As the Deputy Assistant Chief of Staff, G-3,
of III MAF put it, “It’s a way to take forces and make
[them] much more effective by multiplication . . .
without destroying the infantry unit itself. . . . As long
as you're got them in a CUPP, you can always bring
them back together if you had to.’s7

Beginning with the eatly months of 1970, the CUPP
program was expanded and pushed vigorously by both
Lieutenant Generals Nicketson and McCutcheon. The
latter, according to his Deputy G-3, Colonel John W.
Haggerty III, was “very much interested in CUPPing
the whole outfit [1st Marine Division] in ordet to max-
imize the . . . Vietnamization process.’®8

The program never approached divisional size, but
during the year every regiment of the division com-
mitted at least a company to combined action. The
1st Marines’ Company M continued combined opera-
tions throughout the year. During January, the 26th
Marines inserted elements of its Company K in four
hamlets just south of Nam O Bridge. On 15 Januaty,
Company A of the 7th Marines started combined oper-
ations in nine hamlets along Route 1 north of LZ Baldy
and along Route 535 between Baldy and FSB Ross.
The 5th Marines initially did not designate a full
CUPP company, but early in Februaty organized a
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combined action platoon under its headquarters com-
pany. The three squads of this platoon established
themselves in villages along Route 4 where it passed
by the foot of Charlie Ridges®.

In March, the redeployment of the 26th Marines
and its accompanying realignment of regimental
TAORs brought changes in CUPP organization and
control. The 1st Marines on 6 March tranferred oper-
ational control of its Company M to the Sth Marines,
which had expanded its AO to include the villages
around Hill 55 where most of the company’s squads
were stationed. At the same time, the 1st Marines ab-
sortbed the personnel of the 26th Marines CUPP
squads and concentrated them for defense of two of
the four hamlets initially protected by the departing
regiment. These rearrangements left the 1st Marines
with three CUPP squads under its direct control: the
two inherited from the 26th Marines and one squad
from Company M in the AO of the 2d Battalion, Ist
Marines. The Sth Marines now had its own Headquart-
ers Company CUPP Platoon and Company M from
the 1st Marines, while the 7th Marines continued oper-
ations with its Company A.

By the end of April, the 1st Marine Division had
22 CUPP squads protecting some 23,000 villagers and
working with 16 PF and 7 RF platoons and over 500
armed PSDF. Most of the CUPP teams were located
in villages along Routes 1, 4, and 535 ot around major
allied bases, such as Hill 55 and LZ Baldy. Unlike
CAPs, which usually protected villages more or less
friendly to the allies, most of the CUPP squads oc-
cupied communities under strong Viet Cong in-
fluence. Of the nine hamlets held by the 7th Marines’
CUPP company, for instance, eight had C and D rat-
ings under the Hamlet Evaluation System and the re-
maining one was acknowledged to be VC controlled 8

The combined unit pacification companies undet-
went another reorganization in September, as the 7th
Marines redeployed in Keystone Robin Alpha and the
Sth Marines took over its TAOR. On 7 September,
Company G, 2d Battalion, 5th Marines relieved Com-
pany A of the 7th Marines in its hamlets along Routes
1 and 535. The 5th Marines’ company incorporated
over 50 percent of the men of the 7th Marines CUPP
unit. Two weeks later, as the 3d Battalion, 5th Ma-
rines turned the Thuong Duc corridor over to the 1st
Battalion, 1st Marines, the latter regiment resumed
operational control of its own Company M and also
of the three 5th Marines headquarters CUPP squads
along Route 4. The 1st Marines then turned opera-
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THE STRUGGLE FOR SECURITY: COMBINED ACTION

tional control of the combined unit squads over to its
Ist and 2d Battalions. On 1 December, in the final
expansion of CUPP for the year, the 5th Marines creat-
ed a new CUPP platoon to protect Hoang Que Ham-
let just north of LZ Baldy. Created at the request of
the South Vietnamese district commander to work
with a newly formed PF unit, the new Sth Marines
platoon completed a solid network of CUPP hamlets
along Route 1 from Baldy to the southern boundary
of the Kotean Marine TAOR 8!

Establishment of a new CUPP company required
detailed planning by both American and South Viet-
namese forces and thorough training and indoc-
trination of the company itself. The 7th Matines, for
example, began preparing for insettion of its CUPP
company in eatly December 1969. Planning began
with meetings between staff officers of the regiment
and GVN officials of Quang Nam Province and Que
Son District. At these meetings, Americans and Viet-
namese by mutual agreement selected the nine tar-
get hamlets. Each hamlet had to meet two
requirements. It had to have a HES rating of C or low-
er, and it had to have been selected for improvement
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in the Quang Nam Province Pacification and Develop-
ment Plan for 1970. Once the hamlets had been chos-
en, Que Son District gave the 7th Marines detailed
information on them, including lists of known and
suspected VC, population figures, and designations,
leaders’ names, and manpower strengths of the RF or
PF units defending them. '

Meanwhile, the regiment had selected Company A,
commanded by Captain Delbert M. Hutson, for the
CUPP assignment. Eatly in January, the company as-
sembled at FSB Ross to prepare for its new mission,
its training period enlivened by a sapper attack on Ross
on 6 January. All members of the company underwent
intensive refresher training in infantry weapons and
small-unit tactics by a Division Mobile Training Team,
and they received instruction in various aspects of their
mission from the Vietnamese district chief, the US.
province advisors, a division psychological warfare
team, and their own company and battalion officers.
They also had sessions with a division Personal
Response team, the members of which sought to pre-
pare the Matines to live and work with the Vietnamese.
To gain practical experience in working in the field

Marines of the 2d Battalion, 15t Marines search a grassy site near Hill 55 south of Da
Nang. The 15t Marines took over control of the CUPP companies from the 26th Marines,
who were about to redeploy from Vietnam. The CUPP program expanded during 1970.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A 373979
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with PFs, the company conducted combined day and
night patrols in Que Son District with local RFs and
PFs.

Key officers and Marines of the company received
additional training. During Januaty, all the platoon
commanders and squad leaders of Company A at-
tended the CAF School in East Da Nang, and 15 Ma-
rines went to Vietnamese language school. A total of
24 Marines from the company spent three ot four days
on-the-job training with 1st Marines CUPP units, and
six others did the same with elements of the 2d Com-
bined Action Group. Captain Hutson spent a day with
leaders of a CACO of the 1st CAG. As the final step
in preparation, the Que Son District Chief and his
American advisor held meetings at which they in-
troduced the Marine squad leaders to the chiefs of the
villages and hamlets in which they would be working.

Between 15 and 31 January, the 7th Marines in-
stalled its combined action squads in their hamlets.
Except for the insertion in VC-controlled Phu Trach,
which took the form of a cordon and search by the
combined unit and other RFs and PFs, all the inser-
tions occutred at a simple but dramatic ceremony. Each
cetemony followed the same pattern, the American
patt coordinated by the 7th Marines and the Viet-
namese part by the district chief. It would begin with
the Marine squad and the RF or PF platoon lined up
facing each other in front of a speaker’s platform. The
district chief presided for the Vietnamese and Colonel
Gildo S. Codispoti, the 7th Marines commander, for
the Americans. (Colonel Cadispoti made a point of
attending every insertion after the Que Son District
Chief commented that his presence impressed the vil-
lagers, who seldom saw a high-ranking U.S. officer.)

After 10-15 minutes of music by a section of the 1st
Marine Division band, the district chief, Colonel
Codispoti, the village chief, and the hamlet chief, in
that order, made brief speeches. Then the Marines
marched over to the RFs or PFs and joined them in
their ranks. A period of informal handshaking and pic-
ture taking followed. The 7th Marines report noted
that “Pictures taken using a Polaroid camera [were]
found to be very effective. These pictures were immedi-
ately presented to various hamlet and village officials
with very favorable responses.”e2

In February, the 5th Marines inserted its CUPP pla-
toon in a different manner. The regiment used ele-
ments of two rifle companies to surround and screen
the targeted hamlets. While this was being done, the
three Marine squads and their counterpart RF platoons
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held a single joint ceremony at Hill 25 and then moved
into their hamlets to begin combat operations 3

Once established in their hamlets, CUPP units, like
CAPs, spent most of their time on patrols and am-
bushes. The combined units of all three regiments em-
ployed “mobile CAP” tactics, constantly shifting
position with their AOs. A squad leader from Com-
pany A, 7th Marines teported in May:

... We run approximately two or three . . . ambushes
anight and . . . one day patrol. Evety night, just as it starts
getting dark, we move to a night POS [position], and every
day as it starts getting light we move to a day POS. We were
constantly on the move. We never stay in one place more
than once a week, of sometimes even once every two weeks$

CUPP platoons often moved outside their AOs for
joint operations with other CUPP platoons and Ma-
rine and Vietnamese regular units. They participated
in cordon and search operations and provided block-
ing forces. Their activities could easily be coordinat-
ed with those of line companies and battalions. A 7th
Marines teport noted:

The success in cootdinating and integrating CUPP ac-
tivities with regular infantry units has been outstanding.
CUPP Matines have acted as guides; furnished tactical and
intelligence information; and provided other support for vat-
ious units operating in the vicinity of CUPP AOs. The ene-
my has lost large quantities of supplies and personnel as a
result of these operations®®

All the combined pacification squads emphasized
training of their Vietnamese counterparts. Informal-
ly during operations and through regular classes, they
tried to increase the militia’s proficiency with infan-
try weapons and in patrol and ambush tactics, and they
instructed some RF and PF soldiers in the use and care
of the M60 machine gun and in requesting and con-
trolling artillery and air support. As did the CAPs,
the CUPP Matines increasingly encouraged RF and PF
platoon commandets to plan and lead their own oper-
ations 98

In November, in probably the most ambitious train-
ing program launched by a CUPP company, Compa-
ny G, 5th Marines paired each individual Marine with
a RF or PF soldier deemed a likely candidate for pla-
toon leader. Each Matine was to wotk with his coun-
terpart in formal training sessions and in developing
“mutual trust and exchange of ideas” The program
culminated in a school held at LZ Baldy from 28 to
30 December and attended by 10 Marines, each of
whom brought along his RF or PF counterpart.
Together, Marines and Vietnamese took instruction in
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map and compass reading, defense against mines and
boobytraps, and patrolling tactics, and they spent a
full day on the rifle range. The instruction was “well
received by the surprisingly attentive Popular Forces.”87

When not on operations or engaged in training,
CUPP units, again following the example of the CAPs,
tried to improve the daily life of the villagers. Each
CUPP squad had a Navy corpsman attached to it, who
regularly assembled the inhabitants for medical ex-
aminations and treatment of minor hurts and ail-
ments. The riflemen worked with the villagets on local
improvements. During April, for instance, one of the
5th Marines squads along Route 4 helped the farmers
of Lam Phung village build an irrigation canal to car-
ty water to their paddies from the Thu Bon River. The
Marines provided rock fill and material for culverts,
and the Vietnamese furnished most of the labor, a
pump, and a motor. During the October and Novem-
ber floods, CUPP Marines helped evacuate endangered
hamlets and then joined the people in relief and
reconstruction. In December, Company G, 5th Ma-
rines launched a farming project in which each squad
and a Vietnamese family together planted and culti-
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373820
CUPP Marines and South Vietnamese Regional Force troops from Company G, 2d Bat-
talion, 5th Marines and the 306th Regional Force Battalion form the cordon in a cordon
and search mission in sandy terrain near the coast, 20 miles southeast of Da Nang.

vated a plot of vegetables. The Marines hoped by this
to improve the farmers’ diet and to introduce a new
cash crop.®e

The line companies engaged in combined action,
and like their counterparts in the CAF, suffered from
a manpower shortage during the year. Many CUPP
squads, which were supposed to be reinforced to 15-18
men, had to operate with as few as seven or eight Ma-
rines, and they often found themselves paired with
understrength RF or PF platoons. A member of a 7th
Marines CUPP squad said in May that “We get any-
where from 7 to 8 to 10 PFs a night, and the largest
majority of them stay down at the PF compound on
the hill which is not needed. We could really use some
more men down here’¢®

Morale among CUPP Marines, as a platoon com-
mander pointed out, “is a vety touchy subject. Being
out here by themselves, working a squad with a pla-
toon of PFs, especially in areas where the PFs are new
and are not quite so militarily proficient as one might
like, the morale of 2 CUPP unit can deteriorate very
quickly.” In the 7th Marines, the CUPP company, un-
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like the line companies, was not sent to rear areas pefi-
odically for rest and recreation®

To compensate the men for this extra hardship, the
regiment made an effort to send hot food to the units
in the villages and assigned individual Marines to var-
ious schools “to get them out of the bush for a while"7
Nevertheless, for many of the Marines, combined ac-
tion service constituted an intetesting change from
routine duty. For junior officers, a platoon commander
in the 1st Marines commented, the CUPP program:

.. . gives . . . an opportunity to command rather large
bodies of men, up to 200 . . ., and that’s almost a company-
size unit, in fact, the way most companies run, it is. This
is an opportunity that most junior officers don’t have. And
if they're going on with a . . . career in the Marine Corps,
this is very good experience . . . 7!

The Combined Unit Pacification Program tested the
ability of ordinary Marines, not specially selected or
motivated, to live and work with Vietnamese PF sold-
ters and civilians. Marine squads often found the PFs
initially unpromising as military allies. PFs assigned
to the 1st Marines’ CUPP units “were a little raw, to
say the least. They didn’t exactly know their weapons
to start with, and they had very little idea . . . of tac-
tics.”72 The 7th Marines CUPP squads found the PFs
initially reluctant to patrol aggressively and prone to
steal small pieces of personal property. On the posi-
tive side, differences of language proved to be less of
a hindrance to communication than many Marines had
expected. The Marines found that in most PF platoons,
the leader and at least one ot two of his men could
converse in broken English. A radio operator in the
7th Marines CUPP said, “These people have an un-
believable knowledge of the English language, which
sutprised me. I only wish that I could pick up their
language just as fast."72

If the PFs had their deficiencies as military partners,
the Marines quickly found that they had their virtues
as well. A squad from Company K, the 26th Marines
CUPP unit, found this out on 29 January while mov-
ing to a night ambush position in the countryside
notthwest of Da Nang. According to the patrol report:

The PFs suddenly refused to go any further. Upon ques-
tioning, the PFs stated the enemy was waiting to ambush
the patrol at the proposed ambush site. The patrol set into

*During 1970, the regiments, under the “stack arms” program,
took each company out of the field in rotation and sent it to a ser-
vice cantonment where the men could spend several days drinking
beet, cooking steaks, swimming, watching movies, reading, or
sleeping.
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a position about 100 meters from the proposed ambush po-
sition and began to conduct reconnaissance by fire. The
patrol received 30 rounds of small arms fire in return with
no friendly casualties . . . ™

CUPP Marines in other regiments had similar ex-
petiences. A squad leader in the 7th Marines CUPP
company, for example, said in May that he and his
Marines had “learned quite a bit from the PFs . . .
as far as trying to tell where the VC are at. They can
tell us where the VC are at without seeing
them. . . . On dark nights when you can’t see any-
thing, they can smell them out?s

To direct operations and resolve individual disputes
among Marines and PFs, CUPP units followed the
CAP principle of the dual chain of command. The
Marine squad leader gave orders only to his Marines
and the PF leader only to his PFs. If a Marine had a
complaint against a PF, he took it to his squad leader.
The squad leader passed it to the PF #rung-sz, who
dealt with the offending PE The same procedure, in
reverse, applied to PF grievances against Marines. If
the two small-unit leadets could not agree, each would
refer the issue to the next highest level of his own chain
of command. For example, in the 7th Marines com-
bined unit program:

On two occasions . . . PFs did not want to go out on night
patrols with Marines. The district chief was consulted and
the problem was immediately rectified by his action. No Ma-
rine leaders attempted to act directly themselves. They in-
stead called upon the district chief through the proper chain
of command to assert his influence and power to attain the
desired results®

In moments of crisis, CUPP Marines sometimes
resorted to rough-and-ready methods of persuasion.
A cotporal in the 7th Marines recalled that initially
in night firefights:

. .. you'd look around and . . . there wouldn’t be no
PFs there. They'd be hidin’ behind gullies, bushes, trees,
anything you could find down on the ground, in a hole.
After a while they'd see that we was gettin’ up, was goin’
into it. ‘Course you had every once in a while to knock a
few heads and put a few rounds over the top of 'em, but
they finally got to where they started to go withus . . . 77

The CUPP Marines learned during the year that im-
proving the PF troops was a slow process, but that it
could be done. As a platoon leader in the 1st Marines
summed it up, it “takes a lot of work, a lot of coordi-
nation, a lot of training, and primarily just a lot of
running these activities with the PFs, showing them
that indeed, . . . as a platoon, as a squad, they are
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militarily capable of closing with and destroying the
local VC'7®

Marines in the combined unit program had to win
the confidence of the villagers as well as the soldiers.
This also took time, but signs of success became ap-
parent during the year. Even in strongly VC-influenced
villages, initial shyness and suspicion gradually gave
way to curiosity and cautious friendliness. Everywhere,
the Marines found that medical evacuation of sick and
wounded civilians earned them almost instant accep-
tance. As the CAPs had learned eatlier, the Marines
observed that the simple fact of their continuing
presence, their “belonging” to a particular village,
favorably affected the people’s attitudes. The Que Son
District Chief, for example, reported to the 7th Ma-
rines that village and hamlet chiefs were asking him
for “their own” CUPPs?® Sergeant William A. Dig-
nan of the 1st Marines, stationed with his squad in
a hamlet north of Hill 55, had his own measure of
the degree of village acceptance of himself and his
men:

We have no trouble with stealing down there at all, and
prices . . . for laundry and different things like this, which
the people usually have set, they've dropped . . . to just about
rock bottom because they know we are living out there with
them . . . 80

Living among the villagers changed attitudes among
Marines also. Corporal Mitchell Y. Jefferies, an assis-
tant CUPP squad leader in the 7th Marines, recalled
that when his unit entered its assigned area, “we didn’t
know any of the people, know their ideas. And we was
all more or less against the idea; we didn’t give a heck
whether they all lived, died, or what happened to 'em.”
After operating in the village for a while, “we kinda’
see how the people work, and they put their backs into
what they do and they earn a livin' When they earn
some money, they know what money is. They sweat
and work hard to get it.” By mid-1970, Jefferies felt
that he had learned at least one important thing about
the Vietnamese: “These people are smart, and they
can get around you. . . . They ain’t dumb.”8

By the end of 1970, the Combined Unit Pacifica-
tion Program had demonstrated to the satisfaction of
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Marine commanders that ordinary rifle squads, paired
with RF or PF platoons, could perform a CAP-type
mission. In the areas where they operated, the CUPP
companies were contributing to improved security.
Each month, they accounted for a small but steady
toll of enemy killed and weapons captured. During
March, for example, the 7th Marines CUPP company
killed five Viet Cong, three North Vietnamese, and
one member of the VCI. The unit collected eight Hot
Chanbhs and captured an M1 carbine, an SKS rifle, an
M16, and two AK-47s. In the same period, the CUPP
company and its attached PFs lost six Marines and
three PFs seriously wounded and one PF killed 82

In villages occupied by combined units, Viet Cong
influence appeared to be declining. In July, for ex-
ample, 16 VC surrendered in Phu Trach, the hamlet
in the 7th Marines AO rated VC-controlled at the start
of the year. By the end of November, six CUPP ham-
lets in Quang Nam showed improved HES security rat-
ings#3 Civilians were reported to be moving into CUPP
villages from enemy-dominated areas. On Routes 4
and 5335, along which many CUPP units were
deployed, the number of mine incidents declined sig-
nificantly. Colonel Edmund G. Derning, Jr., who
replaced Colonel Codispoti in February as commander
of the 7th Marines, reported that when he took over
the regiment:

Route 535 . . . was being mined every day, almost— heavy
mines. We were losing vehicles and people. That was in
February. And when I left that regiment [in August], there
hadn't been a mine in that road in over 130 days [or] 2 mine
casualty, which is phenomenal. . . . And we had our CUPPs
along the area, and one of their major missions was to ob-
serve the road 84

As 1970 ended, redeployment had left the future
of the Combined Unit Pacification Program uncertain,
The 2d CAG, with its separate T/O of 600 Marines,
was assuted of survival as long as the 3d MAB re-
mained in the country. The CUPP companies, on the
other hand, were subject to redeployment with their
parent regiments; and as total Marine strength dwin-
dled, the tactical situation could force the combined
unit companies to revert to conventional infantry roles
and missions,
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Line Units in Pacification

While their primary mission was to attack enemy
military units, Marine rifle companies and battalions
often conducted operations directly aimed at im-
proving population control and security. Usually
cooperating with Vietnamese police and Regional and
Popular Forces and sometimes with CAP and CUPP
units, Matine infantty participated in cordon and
seatch operations, protected rice harvests, and fur-
nished security for GVN elections. In addition to these
long-standing activities, during 1970 some units be-
gan ttying to reorient their entire scheme of opera-
tion toward protecting the people and eradicating the
VC underground.

Cotdon and search operations, varying in size from
a surprise raid on a hamlet by a platoon searching for
a single Viet Cong agent to a two- or three-day sweep
of a village complex by a battalion, remained a fre-
quently employed, productive tactic. In the larger cor-
don and search operations, referred to as County Fairs,
several companies of Marines worked with RF or PF
units, Vietnamese national police, and U.S. and Viet-
namese intelligence and counterintelligence teams.
Moving in before dawn, the infantty surrounded the
target area, allowing no movement in or out. Then
Vietnamese troops and police, occasionally aided by
Marines, collected all the civilians at a prearranged spot
outside the village. Hete each person was questioned
and his ot her identity checked against lists of known
ot suspected local VC. At the same time, teams of Viet-
namese troops and police searched each house for con-
cealed arms, food, and equipment and combed the
village for VC hidden in tunnels and holes.

While the search went on, the Americans and Viet-
namese entertained the assembled villagers with mo-
tion pictures, plays, and comedy skits by GVN
propaganda teams, and often a concert by Marine
bandsmen. Whenever possible, the Marines sent in a
medical team to treat minor illnesses and injuries and
give advice on health. These activities gave the opera-
tion its “"County Fair” aspect and nickname. By
means of them, the allies hoped to win the allegiance

162

of the villagers or at least to make less irritating the
distuption of their daily routine!

Late in 1970, the 3d Bartalion, 1st Marines began
adding a population census to the usual cordon and
search. In the villages of Ap Quan Nam and Kim Lien
north of Da Nang, the battalion, aided by RF and na-
tional police, kept its cordon around the village long
enough for the police to conduct a detailed census.
The police listed and photographed every inhabitant
of each house. They also made a complete inventory
of the contents of each dwelling and a drawing show-
ing the building and all objects and structures around
it. The troops and police would then leave, only to
return a couple of weeks later and compare people and
buildings to the eatlier lists, pictures, and diagrams.
If a young man of military age whose name and pic-
ture were not on file, appeared in a house he was taken
away for questioning. If a haystack was found where
none had been, the seatchers tote it apart looking for
arms or food, often finding them. The Marines and
their allies hoped that this technique, used earlier by
the French, would make it easier to detect VC infiltra-
tion and VC supply caches in the hamlets?

During the year, the Marines began conducting few-
et large County Fairs and more surprise small-scale cot-
don and search operations. These operations, the S-2
of the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines recalled:

. were very short, lasted two or three hours. We just
dropped out of the sky with the helicopters with the cor-
don and then moved in with the A[rmed] P[ropaganda]
T|eam], a Clounterintelligence] sub-team, an ITT [Inter-
rogation and Translation] sub-team to support us, and
whatever informants we happened to have that prompted
the operation, scoff up the people we wanted and go, all
within three hours . . . 3

By moving quickly with minimal advance planning
and coordination, the Matines improved their chances
of surptising VC or VCI in the hamlets. The short du-
ration of the actual search meant less inconvenience
for the villagers and hence, Marines hoped, less resent-
ment of the government.

Aided by increasingly large numbers of RFs and PFs,
the Marines continued their effort —called Operation
Golden Fleece —to keep the twice-yeatly rice harvest
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373324
After a government informant revealed the location
of @ hidden Viet Cong rice cache, local villagers and
their children dig up the rice for their own use.

from being seized by the Viet Cong. Before the har-
vest periods, which occurred in April and May and
again in September and October, each regiment
launched attacks on known enemy base camps and
cache areas and arranged its daily patrols to block in-
filtration routes into rice-growing areas. During the
harvest, all units increased the number of patrols and
ambushes around the rice paddies. After the harvest,
Marines helped guard mills and storage facilities and
with the Vietnamese used highway check points to
control the movement of the foodstuffs. By 1970,
Operation Golden Fleece had merged into the broader
continuing campaign to disrupt the enemy’s supply
system, a campaign which Hoi Chanhs, POWs, and
captured documents indicated was keeping the NVA
and VC hungry and demoralized *

The Republic of Vietnam held elections in June for
village and hamlet officials and provincial and
municipal councils. In August, the people went to the
polls again, this time to choose memberts of the Na-
tional Senate. In Quang Nam, the 1st Marine Divi-
sion cooperated with provincial and district authorities
to protect polling places and voters from VC terrorism,

The Marines left actual guarding of the polls to the
RFs, PFs, PSDF and national police. They deployed
their own forces in the countryside to block likely ene-
my paths of approach and to deny the Communists
access to mortar and rocket launching sites. The Ma-
rine regiments also kept platoons on alert for rapid
helicopter movement to reinforce localities under at-
tack. All Marine plans and orders for election security
repeatedly instructed troops to avoid entering popu-
lated areas unless an attack took place and to refrain
from any action that could be construed as an Ameri-
can attempt to influence the votings

Behind the shield thus provided, the elections went
forward on schedule, almost unmarred by terrorism
and with no major enemy interference. Voter turnouts
in Quang Nam, as elsewhere in South Vietnam, were
encouragingly large. In the June provincial and
municipal elections, for example, 83 percent of the
eligible voters in Quang Nam Province and 73 per-
cent of those in Da Nang City cast ballots®

The 7th Marines in mid-April put into effect an am-
bitious pacification plan. The plan, developed by
Colonel Derning after he took command of the regi-
ment in February, was aimed at denying the VC ac-
cess to the many Communist-dominated villages in
the Que Son Valley. These villages had long furnish-
ed supplies and rectuits to main forces operating in
the Que Son Mountains and had served as way sta-
tions on infiltration routes between the enemy base
areas and Da Nang. Derning’s plan also recognized
that conventional infantry operations were producing
less and less contact.

Responding to what appeated to be a change in ene-
my focus in the 7th Marines’ atea from conventional
operations to guerrilla warfare, the 7th Marines also
refocused, gearing their tactics to population control.
The 7th Marines commander, in consultation with
Que Son District Headquarters and its CORDS advi-
sor, selected a target list of D- and C-rated hamlets
for each of the participating battalions. Derning also
arranged to attach a RF or PF platoon, three national
policemen, and a team of CORDS advisors to each
rifle company. Under the plan, each company was to
devote its daylight operations to maintaining a per-
manent cordon around one or more hamlets. The
civilian inhabitants were to be allowed in and out
through checkpoints manned by PFs and police who
would examine GVN identification cards and search
the people for food and other contraband. This was
intended, according to Derning, to assure that when
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a farmer went out to his field ot paddy “he could only
take his spade, could only take his little bag of rice.”
The villagers were also cautioned to avoid even in-
cidental contact with the VC/NVA. Medical and
propaganda teams were to wotk among the villagers,
seeking to explain to them the requirements of the
program and to win their support for the GVN.
Throughout, the plan emphasized humane but firm
treatment of the people?

Only the 2d Battalion, operating around FSB Ross,
fully implemented the plan. On 15 April, the battal-
ion deployed three of its companies, each with a PF
platoon and police and CORDS detachments, to cor-
don nine D- and C-rated hamlets west and south of
FSB Ross. The companies set up their checkpoints, and
the PFs and police searched the hamlets for caches of
arms and supplies. Each inhabitant received a pamph-
let in Vietnamese explaining movement and curfew
restrictions, promising rewards for information on the
location of enemy troops, caches, and boobytraps, ex-
plaining how to obtain medical aid from the teams
working in the hamlet, and offering families the
chance to resettle in government-controlled areas.
Those willing to move, the pamphlet promised, could
take all their household goods and property with
them. The Marines reinforced the pamphlets with air-
dropped leaflets, MedCaps, and frequent visits by
GVN propaganda and political drama teams?

The program soon produced results. Within 15 days
of the establishment of the cordons, according to the
2d Battalion’s report, 350 civilians requested resettle-
ment in GVN-controlled villages. In several target
hamlets, people pointed out alleged members of the
VCI. The military proficiency and self-confidence of
the RFs and PFs working with the Marines improved.
Most important, the cordons physically separated the
VC and NVA from what had been their supply sources
and rest areas. Colonel Dertning said:

... We cut Charlie right off his hot chow, and we cut
him right off his conjugal visits. He couldn’t get in or out
of the ville. If he got in, he was had; if he got out, he
couldn’t get in. Naturally we cut the NVA off also. And
early in this game we caught quite a few of them drifting
in and out of the ville, not knowing we werte there . . . .2

Operating under this altered approach, those units
of the 7th Marines involved were able to efficiently
control their areas of operation, minimizing enemy
movement among the people. The Marines were
briefed and rested during the day in the relative safe-
ty of the occupied villages and sought the enemy at
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night. “The fact was we had an advantage because at
night under these circumstances anything moving was,
in fact, an enemy force,” said Derning, “so that we had
not much problem then in identification and not
much opportunity to injure or to kill innocent
people.te

While appatently effective, the program was limit-
ed in scope and lasted only a short time. The 7th Ma-
rines’ 1st Battalion operating around LZ Baldy, and
scheduled to take part, did not fully apply the con-
cept, although it did increase its operations with RFs
and PFs. Most of the 3d Battalion, operating against
base areas in the Que Sons, never participated. The
2d Battalion kept three of its companies on cordon
operations during April and May, but in June it divert-
ed one of them to other activities. In July, the entire
battalion left the Que Son Valley for Operation Pick-
ens Forest. In August, it moved into the mountains
on Operation Imperial Lake, and in September it stood
down for redeployment with the rest of the regiment.!!

Other infantry units had their own special pacifi-
cation efforts. The 2d Battalion, 1st Marines, for ex-
ample, formed a combined Marine-PF unit to control
Nui Kim Son, a small village at the gates of Camp
Lauer, the battalion’s headquarters cantonment just
south of Marble Mountain. The Viet Cong had strong
influence in Nui Kim Son. Repeatedly they put up
NVA propaganda posters, and occasionally they set a
mine or boobytrap. The GVN village chief refused to
stay in the village, living instead in a hut in Camp
Lauer. Nui Kim Son acted as a staging point for Com-
munists infiltrating toward Marble Mountain and Da
Nang East, and it also harbored prostitutes, drug ped-
dlers, and black marketeers.

On 2 September, the 2d Battalion established a
squad of 12 enlisted Marines selected from through-
out the battalion for CAP experience and Vietnamese
language proficiency. Under operational control of
Major John S. Grinalds, the battalion operations
officer, the unit was stationed permanently in Nui
Kim Son to work as a combined force with the local
PFs. The Matines, reinforced to 13 men in November,
set up checkpoints to control movement through the
village and tried to curtail vice. In their first two
months of operation, Marines and the PFs captured
24 confirmed Viet Cong agents trying to pass their
checkpoints. Nevertheless, the 2d Battalion, accord-
ing to Major Grinalds, never fully pacified Nui Kim
Son, a fact attested to by the continued refusal of the
village chief to live there.t2
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Kit Carson Scouts in 1970

During 1970 II MAF continued to support the Kit
Carson Scout program and to benefit from it. The Ma-
rines had initiated this program back in 1966 by hir-
ing six Hoi Chanhs—former Viet Cong guerrillas—as
combat scouts. Lieutenant General Nickerson, then
a major general commanding the 1st Marine Division,
gave the former VC their name, in memory of the
American scout and Indian fighter. When the pro-
gram proved successful, MACV extended it to all U.S.
commands in Vietnam. Throughout the war, the
scouts had rendered loyal and invaluable service in the
field while teaching American troops VC methods and
tactics.

At the beginning of 1970, over 2,300 Kit Carson
Scouts (KCS) were serving with American units, 650
of them under III MAE III MAF had responsibility
for administering the program throughout I Corps un-
til March, when XXIV Corps took it over, leaving III
MAF in charge only of the scouts with Marine units
in Quang Nam. As Marines redeployed, the scouts at-
tached to them were reassigned within I Corps. From
111 scouts in July, the number working with the Ma-
rines fell to 95 in December.

By 1970, 11l MAF had a well-established procedure
for recruiting, screening, and training Kit Carson
Scouts. Potential scouts came from the Chieu Hoi
centers in Da Nang and Hoi An. There, a team head-
ed by a Marine NCO, experienced in working with
KCS, carefully investigated the motivation and back-
ground of each candidate. An ex-guerrilla who passed
this first screening went to the KCS Training Center
west of Da Nang for 28 days of instruction and fur-
ther evaluation. Classes at the center were small, num-
bering usually no more than eight men. A typical class,
Number 5-70, which graduated on 21 August 1970,
consisted of seven trainees, ranging in age from 17 to
32. All had been born in Quang Nam, lived there,
and fought there as Viet Cong for periods of three
months to six years. Only one of them was married.
Most gave as their reason for changing sides: “Fed up,
not enough supplies.”

KCS candidates at the school received military train-
ing from instructors, most of whom were themselves
senior scouts. The instructors worked with the candi-
dates day and night, watching them carefully for any
sign that they might still be loyal to the VC. Trainees
learned such skills as field sketching and the use of
sensors. They acquired the rudiments of English, both

in formal classes and by viewing English language fea-
ture films.

After graduation from the training school, scouts
were hired as indigenous employees of the American
military!3 For especially meritorious service or brav-
ety in battle, a scout could receive Vietnamese mili-
tary decorations or the United States Navy
Commendation Medal, Bronze Star Medal, or Silver
Star Medal. In the field, as a 1st Marine Division report
put it, “Employment of Kit Carson Scouts is limited
only by the imagination of their unit commander.”
Scouts guided Marine patrols, made propaganda
broadcasts, directed Marines to supply and equipment
caches, and helped identify members of the VCI. Many
conducted courses for Marines in Viet Cong mine and
boobytrap techniques and other enemy methods and
tactics. During 1970, Kit Carson Scouts attached to
Marine units conducted over 9,000 patrols and were
credited with killing 43 enemy; rounding up 313
prisoners, suspects, and Hoi Chanhs; and capturing
96 weapons.

Targeting the VCI

Main force units and guerrillas were the visible
manifestation of the enemy threat to South Vietnam,
but the Communists had another, hidden, equally
dangerous dimension. This second dimension was the
Viet Cong’s clandestine political and administrative
apparatus, called by the allies the VCI. The VCI ex-
tended its tentacles into every hamlet, village, and city,
and even into the GVN itself. Its influence reached
into the most militarily secure areas, often literally to
the very gates of American cantonments. During 1970,
as overt military activity declined, the Marines joined
other allied forces in an intensified attack on this con-
cealed element of Communist power.

The VCI, according to the MACV command histori-
ans, “was not a defined Communist organization; it
was a working concept for the GVN, uniting as one
target the variety of organizational and political ef-
forts the Communists carefully compartmented and
manipulated separately”’!4 More specifically, the III
MAF/ICTZ Combined Campaign Plan for 1970 de-
fined the VCI as “The political and administrative or-
ganization through which the Viet Cong control or
seek to control the South Vietnamese people” and as
“Those individuals who constitute the command and
control element of the communist politico-military or-
ganization which exists overtly and covertly through-
out RVN"15



166

As the allies understood it, the VCI included the
Communist People’s Revolutionary Party (PRP),
through which North Vietnam directed the entire ene-
my war effort; the PRP’s public political arm, the Na-
tional Liberation Front (NLF), ostensibly a coalition
of nationalist parties including the Communists; and
a range of specialized organizations for farmers, wot-
kers, women, youth, and other groups. Each of these
entities had branches at every level of government,
from the nation down to the hamlet. The Communist
armed forces — the People’s Army of North Vietnam
(NVA) and the South Vietnam Liberation Army (VC
main and local force units and guerrillas)— operated
under the direction of the VCI. Members of the VCI,
living among the people, sought to control the peo-
ple through propaganda and terrorism; provided in-
telligence, supplies, and recruits for the insurgent
armed forces; and, in fact, constituted an alternative
government throughout most of South Vietnam. Al-
lied estimates of the total number of VCI members
varied greatly depending on what categories of active
Communists were included on any one list. Reports
of VCI strength and VCI losses could easily be inflat-
ed by adding in peasants caught carrying rice into the
hills, women and children found planting booby traps,
and other low-level functionaries. To assure uniform
reporting and to focus effort on the most significant
elements of the enemy, the U.S. and the GVN had
by 1970 narrowed the definition of VCI to officials and
members of the PRP and high-ranking leaders of the
NLF and other Front groups (Category A) and to in-
dividuals in any enemy organization trained to assume
leadership positions (Category B).!18

In Quang Nam, the local VCI, like the enemy
armed forces, was directed by Fronz 4. A political as
well as a military headquartets, Front 4 had three staff
sections, labelled by allied intelligence 704, 70B, and
70C. Section 70A, under the North Vietnamese
General Nguyen Chanh Binh, controlled the NVA and
VC main forces in Quang Nam, while 70C had charge
of military administration, finance, and logistics. Both
of these sections took orders from Section 70B, the
Political Section, often called by the Communists the
Current Affairs Section. This section, headed by a
civilian PRP member, dictated enemy political and
military strategy in Quang Nam, subject to instruc-
tions from Mz/stary Region 5, the Communist head-
quarters for all I Cotps south of the DMZ*

*For details of the Communist military chain of command, see
Chapter 1 and Chapter 2.

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

Under Front 4 each district in the province had its
own VCI organization which in turn controlled vil-
lage and hamlet units. At each level, a military affairs
committee conducted minings, boobytrappings, assas-
sinations, and terrorism. A political, or “current af-
fairs” committee established overall policy and
coordinated nonmilitary activities and supply efforts.
Most district and local committees also had security
sections, Members of these groups forged GVN iden-
tification cards and other documents, provided
bodyguards for important Communists passing
through their areas, and when necessary directed main
force units preparing attacks in their localities to hid-
den tunnels, supply caches, and assembly points.

In early 1970, according to allied intelligence, about
7,600 identified Category A and B VCI members were
active in Quang Nam. Most of them were South Viet-
namese born and raised in the province, although the
VCI now contained a growing leavening of North Viet-
namese, usually attached to the security sections. Evi-
dence from prisoners and captured documents
indicated that VCI strength in the province had
declined as a result of continuing allied pressure. The
VCI now often had to place ill-qualified people in im-
portant jobs or require one individual to perform the
tasks of two or three.!”7 Nevertheless, the infrastruc-
ture remained ubiquitous and threatening. Major
Grinalds, the S-2 of the 1st Marines, reported that as
late as mid-1971:

[As] near as I could tell, . . . every political entity in Quang
Nam Province —from the province level right down to the
lowest hamlet —shared with GVN or at least had right along-
side GVN a . . . VC government of its own. . . . The degree
to which they were visible, in any one hamlet or village, was
sort of in direct relationship to our presence in the area. [If]
we were there all the time, they generally tended to work
at night and they were less obvious but . . . they wete power-
ful ... 18

Besides politically undermining the South Viet-
namese government, the VCI contributed directly to
the ability of enemy main forces to attack allied mili-
tary units. Major Grinalds explained that the “VCI

. are not a separate entity from the main force
.. . they are part and parcel of the conventional force
operation in the lowlands. They're not something that
can be left alone because the main force looked to the
VCI for several things. First, for intelligence. That's
their primary intelligence collection-evaluation agen-
cy. They also looked to them for supplies.” Most im-
portant, they relied on the infrastructure to guide their
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clandestine movement from their mountain bases to
attack positions in the lowlands. The VCI ditected the
units to tunnels and hidden rest areas and pointed
out the paths through boodytrapped sectors. Without
the VCI the NVA, strangets to the southern provinces,
would face most of the operational handicaps that hin-
dered American units in the Vietnamese countryside.!?

In the Phoenix/Phung Hoang Program, the Ameri-
cans and South Vietnamese tried to bring together un-
der one otganization the anti-VCI activities of all GVN
agencies concerned with pacification and secutity. By
pooling information, the agencies would identify the
individual memberts of the VCI in each locality and
then coordinate civilian and military efforts to kill or
apptehend them. The national pacification plan for
1970 assigned five Phoenix/Phung Hoang goals for the
year: improvement of the organization; enlistment of
popular support through publicity; involvement of vil-
lage and hamlet officials in the effort; improvement
of the training of personnel; and an emphasis on “fair,
correct, and humane” treatment of VCI suspects?2?

The Phoenix/Phung Hoang organization in Quang
Nam conformed in structute to national guidelines.
Province and district Phung Hoang committees,
chaired respectively by the province and district chiefs,
were composed of representatives of the national
police, the militaty staffs, the Revolutionary Develop-
ment cadres, the Chieu Hoi program, and other pacifi-
cation and security agencies. These committees were
supposed to develop detailed plans for attacking the
VCI in their areas of responsibility. The committees
also oversaw the work of the Province Intelligence
Operations Coordinating Center (PIOCC) and the
District Intelligence Operations Coordinating Centers
(DIOCCs). These centets, staffed primarily by the
police and the military, were to assemble information
from all agencies into dossiets on individual VCI mem-
bers and then plan and cootdinate operations against
them. The American ptovince senior advisor had a
Phoenix coordinator on his staff to assist the Viet-
namese agencies, and the PIOCC and DIOCCs had
U.S. advisors, usually Army intelligence officers, as-
signed by CORDS. Each American district senior ad-
visor acted as Phoenix cootdinator for his district*2!

*Initially, most US. funding and support came from the CIA,
but in 1969 CORDS took responsibility for financial support and
the provision of advisors in the field while the CIA continued to
work with the program at the national level. IDA Pacification Study,
2, pp. 91-95.

In its achievements and failures, Phoenix/Phung
Hoang in Quang Nam mirrored many features of the
nationwide program. The effort gave rise to much ac-
tivity. Colonel Tin, the province chief, took strong in-
terest in it. In June, he called a special province-wide
meeting of Americans and Vietnamese involved in
Phoeinx/Phung Hoang to discuss accomplishments
and deficiencies and exhort them to further action and
improvement. Following the national plan, the
authorities in Quang Nam used leaflets, wanted
postets, and even radio and television spots, to enlist
citizen support, and they began organizing intelli-
gence coordinating centers in the villages22

All this activity, while impressive on paper, added
up to much less than the intensive, coordinated cam-
paign envisioned in Phoenix/Phung Hoang plans and
directives. While Colonel Tin supported the program
with apparently sincere enthusiasm, all too many of
his GVN subordinates gave it little more than lip serv-
ice. In most of the districts, according to an Ameri-
can advisor, the district chiefs visited their DIOCCs
“only to escort visiting US VIP’s who express an in-
terest in Phoenix/Phung Hoang."23 Some of the Viet-
namese officials were preoccupied with conventional
military operations; others seemed to the Americans
to be restrained by taut live-and-let-live arrangements
with high-ranking VCI; still others were themselves
secret VC agents ot sympathizets.

Partly as a result of this lack of continuing command
interest, the DIOCCs often were short of trained per-
sonnel. The staffs of many centets acted more as keep-
ers of archives than as directots and coordinators of
active operations. They diligently assembled and filed
dossiers, but rarely used them to mount hunts for par-
ticular VCI membets. Further weakening the DIOCCs,
the national police force, which was supposed to coor-
dinate all anti-VCI operations, was undermanned, low
in status among GVN agencies, and heavily VC-
infiltrated. The GVN member agencies of the DI-
OCCs often withheld vital information from them in
order to assure themselves credit for successfully ex-
ploiting it. Vietnamese administrative habits further
compounded the program’s difficulties. The principal
objective of Phoenix/Phung Hoang was to secure
cooperation between the lower level military and
civilian officials who knew most about the VCI and
could go after them most effectively. This entire con-
cept ran countet to the strictly vertical and hierarchi-
cal Vietnamese administrative tradition, under which
any dealings by a subordinate with anyone but his su-
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petiot, and indeed any taking of initiative by a subor-
dinate, were regarded at best with suspicion2

In spite of these limitations, Phoenix/Phung Hoang
did involve most elements of the GVN in Quang Nam
to some degree in the fight against the VCI. The Ma-
rines, when they could, tried to assist and often to in-
tensify the campaign. In doing so, they acted in accord
with the Il MAF/ICTZ Combined Campign Plan for
1970, which required allied regulars and RFs and PFs
to assist Phoenix/Phung Hoang both in intelligence
gathering and in apprehending suspects. Free World
military forces, including the Marines, were to station
liaison officers at the PIOCC and DIOCCs and were
to transmit to the intelligence centers any information
they acquired on the VCI. They were to provide troops
for operations against the VCI “to the maximum con-
sistent with the tactical situation” and to give the cam-
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paign against the infrastructure equal ptiority with
attacks on enemy main forces and base areas?2s

Marine units sometimes went after the VCI direct-
ly in specifically targeted operations. Dutring the sum-
mer and fall of 1970, for example, the 2d Battalion,
1st Marines, which had no enemy main forces to fight
in its heavily populated TAOR south of Marble Moun-
tain, ditected much of its effort against the VCI. The
battalion emphasized sutprise attacks and imagina-
tive tactics, with significant results. In August, ele-
ments of the battalion, in a quick helicopter raid,
captured or killed most of the VCI-leadetship of the
enemy’s District 11l Da Nang. Three months later, fol-
lowing up a lead acquired from the girl friend of a
Regional Forces intelligence sergeant, Marines of the
battalion ambushed and destroyed a veteran VC

As part of the civic action program two Marines struggle to throw a bull so that a Navy
corpsman can give a shot of penicillin to the animal which is suffering from preumo-
mia. Usually the corpsmen are more concerned with the health of the villagers.

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A194695
] . L AWIL
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propaganda team which had long eluded allied
pursuit.2®

Operations against enemy military forces and base
areas also yielded incidental gains against the VCI.
Cordon and search operations led to arrests of suspect-
ed VCI agents as well as to the death or capture of
enemy main force soldiers and guerrillas. Even sweeps
of mountain base areas occasionally resulted in damage
to the VCI. On 13 July, for instance, Company H of
the 7th Marines, during an operation in the Que Son
Mountains, trapped a group of enemy in a cave and
captured or killed all of them. The group turned out
to have been the entire Communist leadership of a
village, who had gone into the hills for an indoctrina-
tion meeting. Operation Imperial Lake, besides accom-
plishing its main purpose of distupting enemy base
areas and infiltration routes, also hurt the VCI. On
5 November, Company B, 5th Marines discovered in
a cache of documents the central files of the Viet Cong
Security Section for Quang Nam Province. These files,
supplemented by interrogation of a high-ranking VC
official also captured during Imperial Lake, produced
the names of Viet Cong who had infiltrated the GVN
in Da Nang. Government authorities as a result ar-
rested many well-placed enemy agents*2?

Late in 1970, the 1st Marines staff, at the instiga-
tion of the regimental S-2, Major Grinalds, who earlier
in the year had served as S-3 of the regiment’s 2d Bat-
talion, developed an ambitious plan for a combined
attack on the VCI by all military and civil elements
in Quang Nam. The plan called for immediate for-
mation of a joint intelligence center for the province
to supplement and practically replace the PIOCC. Lo-
cated at Hoi An, the center would contain liaison
officers and communication teams from the 1st Ma-
rine Division, the 2d ROKMC Brigade, the 51st ARVN
Regiment, QDSZ, Phoenix/Phung Hoang, and the
CIA. Here, the 1st Marines staff hoped, “the infor-
mation would develop on the VCI, the targets would
be put in front of the commanders, and they could
go.” The 1st Matines’ plan envisioned a concentrated
drive against the infrastructure by all military forces
in the province during the first four months of 1971.
This effort, it was hoped, would temporarily cripple
the enemy command and logistic system and prevent
the Communists from taking the offensive after most

#See the description of this incident in Chapter 6 together with
statement by Lieutenant General Bernard E. Trainor in the infor-
mational footnote.

of the Marines withdrew in the spring and early sum-
mer. The plan urged general adoption of tactics used
profitably during 1970 by the 1st Marines. These in-
cluded small-scale, surprise cordon and search opera-
tions, establishment of checkpoints on all major roads,
and census operations like those conducted by the 3d
Battalion, 1st Marines north of Da Nang.

After Colonel Paul X. Kelley, the 1st Marines com-
mander, approved the plan, the regimental staff, in
a seties of briefings, ttied to persuade the other Amern-
can and Vietnamese headquarters in the province to
adopt it. Results were meager. During December, the
allies in Quang Nam did establish a Combined In-
telligence Conference which brought together
representatives from all allied intelligence agencies in
the province at petiodic meetings. The Phung Hoang
organization acted as the permanent secretariat of the
conference. Beyond this, most commands were too
preoccupied with other missions and commitments to
support the total anti-VCI campaign proposed by the
Ist Marines. After initial expressions of interest, they
allowed the plan to die of neglect28

Marines trying to operate against the VCI and to
persuade the GVN to make a greater effort against the
underground faced many obstacles and frustrations.
The continuing shortage of Vietnamese-speaking Ma-
rines, especially in units in the field, hampered the
gathering of information. Under the rules of engage-
ment, Marines could not arrest civilian suspects. Hence
any unit going after VCI had to have Vietnamese
police or Regional or Popular Forces attached. This in
tutn required consultations and arrangements with
Vietnamese headquarters during which information
about the forthcoming operation all too often leaked
to the VC. The Vietnamese persistently ignored
American suggestions that they establish more check-
points to prevent the enemy from moving men and
equipment along the allies’ own lines of communica-
tion, and they resisted as politically unpopular the
adoption of effective controls over private distributors
of food, medical supplies, and other material needed
by the enemy. Major Grinalds reported that:

There’s 2 man named Nom Yu, who wotks on the Peo-
ple’s Revolutionary Party of Quarg Da Zone, a very impor-
tant man, who drives up and down Highway 1 on a red
Honda, and he’s been stopped on numerous occasions at
checkpoints and bluffed his way through, either as a dis-
trict chief or a village chief. He’s got about six sets of ID
cards he carties. The point I'm trying to make is our atrempt
to monitor the VCI traffic of both their ordnance, their sup-

plies, and their people through our own means of commu-
nication is very, very poor . . . 2?
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BGen Mauro ]. Padalino, Commanding General,
Force Logistic Command presents a plague to the
Marine-sponsored Hoa Khanh Children’s Hospital.

Even with conventional military contact declining,
both American and ARVN military commands prov-
ed reluctant to reorient their operations toward
eradicating the VCI. Marines, Koreans, ARVN, and
militia alike thought in terms of engaging large units
and taking a measurable toll of dead, prisoners, and
captured material. Anti-VCI operations involved slow,
careful stalking of individuals and often produced no
immediately visible result. Coordinating itelligence
collection and the response to it was a continual strug-
gle, explained Grinalds:

The problem was somehow getting the folks who had the
information about the VCI together with the folks who had
the forces to operate against them, and it's amazing how
often these two groups operate without ever coming together.
... Every once in a while they will find a certain communi-
ty of interest which allows them to come together and the
forces to operate against the VCI, but it’s unfortunately too
seldom . . . 3°

Crvic Action, 1970

Almost as soon as Marines arrived in I Corps in force
in 1965, they began trying to help the civilians among
whom they were fighting. The Marines acted from a
number of motives, and these same motives in 1970
continued to impe} the II1 MAF civic action program.
From the beginning, Marines had believed that by
providing food, relief supplies, and medical cate, they
would win friends and gratitude among the Viet-
namese, and that from friendship and gratitude would
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flow information about the Viet Cong and increased
support for the GVN. As pacification programs deve-
loped, civic action contributed to them by promot-
ing economic and social improvement, thus giving
more people a stake in the existing system. Further,
as a III MAF staff officer put it, “Civic action also can
be useful as an outlet for the energies of U.S. troops.
In a counter-guerrilla war such as this, much time is
spent in pre- and post-combat conditions. . . . In this
envitronment civic action . . . can setve usefully to ex-
pend excess time and energy.s!

By 1970, the III MAF civic action program had
grown from sporadic acts of charity into a large-scale
effort, coordinated by the G-5 and S-5 staffs and close-
ly integrated with GVN pacification and development
plans. The G-5, like his tactical partner, the G-3, coor-
dinated his activities with numerous other organiza-
tions and agencies, both US. and foreign. He
maintained close working relationships with four
separate U.S. Army organizations, two U.S. Air Force
organizations, CORDS advisors, ARVN, the province
and district officials, IIl MAF, and numerous free world
and Vietnamese civilian agencies32

The civic action program which the G-5 conduct-
ed, emphasized helping the Vietnamese to help them-
selves. Villagers in Marine areas of operation were
supposed to determine their own needs, whether they
be a new school, a well, a market place, or an irriga-
tion ditch. Then the Marines would furnish
supplies —drawn from their own resources, from AID,
or from private charities Marines would also provide
technical assistance and some labor. The villagers
would furnish most of the labor and as much of the
material as they could. As Vietnamese local govern-
ments developed, the Matines tried to involve them
in every project, often restricting their own efforts to
helping villagers obtain aid from the GVN.

G-5 operations ranged far beyond helping the Viet-
namese to help themselves with American material
and technical assistance, however. Through the “Save
the Leg” program, dud rounds and unexpended ex-
plosives were purchased from the Vietnamese civilians
in an actempt to reduce the incidence of Marine
pattols encountering mines and boobytraps. The
Voluntary Information Program encouraged the
populace to provide information about the enemy for
a price, the dollar value of which was made propor-
tionate to the importance of the intelligence provid-
ed. The G-5 taxed the capabilities of the 7th
Psychological Operations Battalion, USA, employing
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its leaflet drops, aitborne public address missions, and
HB (ground broadcast) and HE (audiovisual) means
to undermine the activities of the enemy. The Personal
Response section of the G-5 conducted varied activi-
ties to foster better relations between Vietnamese and
Marines through language classes, symposiums, and
cultural touts. Psychological operations relied heavily
on Vietnamese capabilities: Armed Propaganda
Teams; Cultural Drama Teams; and Politcal Warfare
Teams. The G-5 was also supported by two platoons
of the 29th Civil Affairs Company, USA, in his wide-
ranging activities.

In addition to the numerous on-going tasks assigned
the G-5, he responded to requests from province offi-
cials to coordinate military involvement of refugee
resettlement, such as at Nhon Cau, Tu Cau, Phu Loc
(6), and Go Noi Island, and he also coordinated
American support for natural disasters which struck
within the province. During the catastrophic flood
which occurred from 29 October to 3 November 1970,
for example, the G-5 coordinated American efforts in
the relief operations. From the rescue and evacuation
of Vietnamese to delivery of food and clothing to be-
leaguered areas, the G-5 coordinated all support. In
the first few days alone, 190,000 pounds of foodstuffs
were distributed outside the Hoi An area. Another
5,000 pounds of clothing and cloth for clothing and
some 4,000 papet ot canvas blankets were distributed
in this same area. The Vietnamese later lauded the
support provided by the 1st Marine Aircraft Wing and
the 1st Marine Division under the supervision of the
G-533

In 1970 III MAE in keeping with the general em-
phasts of redeployment and turning the war over to
the Vietnamese, concentrated on reducing its civic ac-
tion program. It did so partly as a matter of policy
and partly because available manpower and resoutrces
wete diminishing. The III MAF/I Cotps Combined
Campaign Plan for 1970 restricted Marine civic action
to assisting the Vietnamese Armed Forces in aiding
the people. It authorized direct American participa-
tion only when a project exceeded the technical capa-
bilities of the RVNAF, when a project “is essential to
the success of a tactical operation . . . or is required
for humanitarian reasons and cannot be accomplished
by the RVNAE” or when a useful project had been
started before implementation of the plan3*

During the year, the manpower, funds, and materi-
als available to III MAF for civic action steadily
declined. Troop redeployments led to the termination

of unit civic action projects, and the withdrawal of the
force engineer battalions in Keystone Robin Alpha cut-
tailed road improvement and other large-scale activi-
ties. U.S. aid agencies, as their own budgets were
reduced, correspondingly reduced the money and
material allotted to III MAE Throughout the war, the
Marines had relied for school and medical kits, scholar-
ship funds, and other civic action resources on money
contributed by members and friends of the Marine
Corps Reserve. This money went to the established
relief agency, CARE, which purchased the commodi-
ties and shipped them to Da Nang for the use of III
MAE As troops redeployed and American public in-
terest in the war waned, these contributions also
declined. Partially compensating for these losses,
redeploying units often left material behind which
could be salvaged for civic action?s

As the III MAF G-5, Colonel Clifford J. Peabody,
put it, “the name of the game was to phase down, so
we did it with somewhat of a vengeance.”?¢ On 30 May,
for example, III MAF ended, for lack of funds, the
General Walt Scholarship Program under which it had
helped finance the secondary and college education
of Vietnamese youths. The Force Logistic Command
on 30 June transferred administration and operation-
al control of its largest civic action project, the Hoa
Khanh Children’s Hospital near Da Nang, to the
World Relief Commission. Built with thousands of
man-houts of volunteer labor by Marines and sustained
by over $300,000 in contributions from servicemen and
concerned persons in the US., this hospital by
mid-1970 had grown from a small roadside dispen-
saty into a fully equipped, modern 120-bed pediatric
facility. The hospital even had a dental clinic, the
equipment for which had been donated by dentists
in the United States. “The petsonnel were mostly
young native women who had been trained by Navy
dentists for several years,” recalled Captain Meredith
H. Mead, USN, commander of the 1st Dental Com-
pany. “An oral surgeon from the 1st Dental Company
went out there one day per week to perform cleft pa-
late and hare lip operations.”3? The World Relief Com-
mission would operate the hospital until its eventual
transfer to South Vietnamese management, and Force
Logistic Command would provide limited support as
long as it remained in-country38

The story of a second major Marine hospital pro-
ject, the 3d Marine Division Memorial Children’s
Hospital in Quang Tri, ended less happily. Early in
1969, the 3d Marine Division had developed plans for
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this hospital, a 10-building, 120-bed facility which
would meet a significant need in northern [ Corps and
stand as a memotial to Matines and sailors who had
died in Vietnam. Through friends and organizations
in the United States, the Marines had begun collect-
ing funds for the hospital. The 3d Engineer Battalion
and Naval Mobile Construction (Seabee) Battalion 128
were supposed to do the actual building, aided by the
government of Quang Tri Province, which would pro-
vide bricks and much of the labor.

Evaluating the failute of the project years later,
Colonel Peabody said, “Here was a project conceived
in the loftiest humanitarian ideals but in violation of
all rules for effective civic action. The end speaks for
itself.” According to Peabody, the GVN opposed the
project and recommended that the money collected
be invested, as the Vietnamese desired, to upgrade or
add to the present province hospital. Peabody added
that the “3d Marine Division committed the Marine
Corps to this project knowing, as a minimum, that
the Vietnamese were less than enthusiastic and that
the more knowledgeable advisory petsonnel recom-
mended against it. FMFPac recommended that it not
be undertaken until positive arrangements had been
made for staffing's®

When the 3d Marine Division withdrew late in
1969, it left responsibility for completing the project
to III MAE Colonel Peabody soon found that with the
departure of the Marine division, support for the
hospital had disappeared. The U.S. forces left in north-
ern [ Corps lacked resources to complete it. The Quang
Tri Province Government informed III MAF that it
would not be able to staff or maintain a children’s
hospital and would like to use the six partially com-
pleted buildings for other purposes. Only $135,000
of the estimated $470,000 needed to complete the
project as a children’s hospital had been collected in
the U.S. In June, because of the hospital’s uncertain
future, the Commandant of the Marine Cotps pro-
hibited any solicitation of additional funds for it.

On 20 August, Colonel Peabody met at Quang Tti
with the G-5 officers of XXIV Cotps and the Ist
Brigade, 5th Infantry Division, the Quang Tti Province
Chief, and representatives of the provincial health serv-
ice, the Red Cross, and the Buddhist social services
in an effort to salvage as much of the project as possi-
ble. The American and Vietnamese officials agreed
that the existing structures should be finished for use
as a combination orphanage, maternity clinic, and dot-
mitory for secondary school students. During the rest
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of the year, IIl MAF used the money in the children’s
hospital fund to preparte and equip the buildings for
these purposes and to improve the pediatric wing of
the existing Quang Tri Province hospital. [II MAF used
an additional $3,500 per month of its dwindling civ-
1c action funds to pay the salaries of Vietnamese doc-
tors and nurses at a temporary children’s hospital in
Quang Tii, also started by the 3d Division and now
being partially supported by elements of the 67th U.S.
Army Medical Group. XXIV Cotps provided Army en-
gineers to help finish the buildings at the former chil-
dren’s hospital, and U.S. Army Support Command,
Da Nang allowed III MAF to purchase the necessary
lumber. By eatly 1971, the orphanage/clinic/dormito-
ry was nearing completion. While III MAF thus had
been able to salvage something beneficial from the
3d Diviston’s aborted plans, Colonel Peabody justifi-
ably concluded that “a project which was outstand-
ing in its humanitarian idea of providing help . . .
has proved to be a real albatross in the long run.™4°

In spite of the emphasts on reducing civic action
commitments, Marine units continued helping the
Vietnamese who lived in their TAORs or near their
camps and bases. Typical of the efforts, the 3d Bat-
talion, 5th Marines, during April, began turning sut-
plus lumber over to the Dai Loc District Chief, who
distributed it to villages and hamlets for self-help
projects. Companies of the battalion stationed at Hills
65, 25, and 52 gave empty ammunition boxes to the
people of Loc Quang village to construct desks for their
new school and furnished school supply kits and a
blackboard. The Marines also helped the villagers of
Loc Quang build a culvert to carry itrigation water un-
der Route 4. Three times a week, members of the bat-
talion taught English at Dai Loc District High School.
The battalion sponsored an interscholastic volley ball
game and gave 250 books to a Catholic priest, Father
Huong, who planned to open a public library in Dai
Loc. The battalion aid station routinely conducted two
MedCaps a week, each usually attracting about 50 pa-
tients, most of them children !

Civic action was not confined to infantry units. Be-
sides sponsoring the Hoa Khanh Children’s Hospital,
the Force Logistic Command at various times aided
32 hamlets and helped support 11 schools, 6 or-
phanages, and 3 churches. The 1st MAW maintained
a demonstration chicken farm with a flock of White
Leghotns that by September 1970 had grown to 225
hens and 40 roosters. The Marines sold hatched chicks
to Vietnamese farmers at half the going local price in
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the hope of encouraging more villagers to raise poultry.
Each of the air wing’s aircraft groups had its own edu-
cation, health, and construction projects in hamlets
around the fields at Marble Mountain and Da Nang#2

Just before the Keystone Robin Alpha redeploy-
ments began, the 1st Marine Division joined the
Quang Nam Province Government in an effort to
resettle Go Noi Island. Located about 15 miles south
of Da Nang and the channels through which the Thu
Bon River (there known as the Ky Lam) meandered
toward the sea, Go Noi, before the war, had been a
fertile rice, cotton, and silk producing area inhabited
by some 27,000 Vietnamese. As the war expanded, the
Viet Cong honeycombed the area with caves and tun-
nels and used it as a base of operations against Da
Nang. VC depredations, allied sweeps, and a series of
floods soon drove most of the residents of Go Noi into
Quang Nam’s growing refugee camps. Between May
and November of 1969, in Operation Pipestone
Canyon, the 1st Marines, assisted by elements of the
51st ARVN Regiment and the 2d ROKMC Brigade,
expelled most of the NVA and VC from Go Noi Is-
land. Then the allies brought in heavy earthmoving
equipment which swept 6,700 acres clean of under-
brush and crushed or buried the Communists’ net-
work of tunnels and fortification.

During Operation Pipestone Canyon, the 1st Ma-

rine Division proposed a plan for resettling Go Noi
Island after it had been cleared of the enemy. The plan
had obvious advantages. Repopulation of the area with
pro-GVN civilians protected by adequate territorial
forces would make Communist reinfiltration more
difficult. The area could provide homes and liveli-
hoods for thousands of refugees, and resumption of
agriculture there would contribute to economic revival
in Quang Nam. CORDS at regional and national lev-
els took an interest in the Marine plan and further
studied and refined it. The concerned GVN minis-
tries indicated interest. Then, as so often happened
in Vietnam, activity on the project temporarily ceased.

In the spring of 1970, Colonel Tin, the Quang Nam
Province Chief, revised the idea. He began a small
resettlement project with assistance from the 1st Ma-
rine Division and the Korean Brigade. Late in May,
Colonel Tin abruptly decided to expand this modest
effort into the full-scale resettlement campaign origi-
nally contemplated. He proposed to move 17,000 peo-
ple into three new villages on Go Noi Island before
the end of the summer and asked XXIV Corps for aid.
Even though most of Go Noi Island lay within the
Korean Marines’ TAOR, Lieutenant General Zais, then
the XXIV Corps commander, directed the 1st Marine
Division, as the major allied ground command in
Quang Nam, to coordinate American assistance for

An aerial view of the new refugee resettlement village on Go Noi Island. Go Noi, a former
bastion of the Viet Cong, was one of the most fought-over areas south of Da Nang. This
was an attempt to bring new residents into the area loyal to the government.

Marine Corps Historical Collection
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the project. Major General Widdecke in turn placed
his assistant division commander, Brigadier General
William F Dochler, in charge. Making much use of
the Quang Da Special Zone weekly conferences, the
1st Marine Division quickly worked out with the
Korean Marines, the ARVN, and the province govern-
ment detailed plans for a large-scale civil and mili-
taty efforc23

Construction of the new villages began in May, with
most of the available Marine engineer units and Navy
construction battalions committed to the task. By the
time the Marine engineers were withdrawn for
redeployment on 21 July, they had ploughed 800 acres
of farm land and wholly or partially constructed 8,000
meters of road and two fortified village compounds.
To improve the settlets’ access to matkets, the Marine
engineers installed a 346-foot pontoon bridge connect-
ing the island to the main highways, and the Seabees
improvised a 440-foot permanent bridge from salvaged
materials. IIl MAF contributed an assortment of build-
ing supplies to the project including 351 3,000-foot
rolls of barbed wire, 16,000 engineering stakes, 30,000
sandbags, a 55-foot aluminum watchtower, 26 tons of
gravel, and ewo flagpoles. To help the settlets construct
their own houses, the Marines salvaged over 400,000
boatd feet of dunnage* lumber and set up a mobile
sawmill to cut it into usable sizes. From this wood,
each family purchased enough for their home from
the village council, which retained the money for use
in local projects#4

To defend the settlers against the Viet Cong, the
2d CAG organized a new oversized CAP (22 Marines
and a PF platoon) to work with a three-company RF
group and elements of the Korean brigade. Plans
called for the CAP, formed with Marines from deac-
vativated units of the 1st CAG, to conduct mobile
operations on the edges of the inhabited areas while
the RF units provided close in protection and the
Koreans continued their usual patrols and ambushes s

By the end of August, the Go Noi settlements ap-
peared to be well established, although the results had
fallen far short of the ambitious goals of the original
plan. Phu Loc, the first of the three villages to be
founded, had over 1,500 inhabitants (most of them
prewar residents of Go Noi) and 300 homes. Nine
wells were producing “excellent” watet, and the inhabi-
tants had begun building their community hall,
school, dispensary, and market place. The second vil-
lage, Phu Phong, had almost 200 houses under con-

*Dunnage is scrap lumber used in bracing cargo in ships’ holds.
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struction and 40 families in permanent residence. The
October floods slowed wotk on these two villages and
prevented establishment of the third, but by the end
of the yeat about 2,000 people were living on Go Noti
Island. They had begun farming and were planning
to organize a cooperative to build an irrigation sys-
tem. Encouraged by the results of the Go Noi project,
the province government had begun resettling more
refugees in new communities along Route 4. Neither
of these projects by itself came near solving Quang
Nam’s refugee problem, but they did indicate what
could be done by a determined, unified allied effort.
Unfortunately, the 1st Marine Division, which had
provided much of the impetus and coordination, did
not have long to remain in Vietnam®

As the Marines came to the end of their last full
yeat of ctvic action, many problems remained unsolved
and questions unanswered 4” In spite of the emphasis
in plans and directives on helping the Vietnamese do
what the Vietnamese wanted done, many Marines,
with their American aggtessiveness and desire for ac-
complishment, still tried to impose their own projects
on the villagers. Even the CAPs sometimes etred in
this manner. In July, the 2d CAG reported that:

Efforts such as building bulletin boards . . . and programs
for trash collection and general police of hamlet areas con-
tinue, but [meet] with limited success at best due to no real
interest by local populace. Herein lies a major problem
. . . that continues to plague civic action projects. CAP Ma-
rines with limited assets continue to push projects through
without thorough integration (via the Village/Hamlet Offi-
cials) with the immediate needs and desires of the people
they serve. 2d CAG efforts to educate and improve
continue.®

Overeager Marines sometimes committed them-
selves to projects which they and their Vietnamese
hosts lacked the resources to finish. In the 3d CAG,
for example, members of a CAP squad in a coastal
hamlet near Hue decided their hamlet should have
a dispensary. Colonel Peabody described the results
of their effort:

.. . They've written to their friends back in the States
and their friends had started donating money, and they hired
Vietnamese labor and they started building a dispensary
... about three times larger than was needed, but they were
going to go first class, and the people back in the States were
donating hospital beds and end tables and so forth . . . .
Well, . . . the hamlet got upgraded [on the HES] to an A
or a B hamlet, and the CAP was pulled out, and so when
we finally sent somebody up there to find out what had hap-
pened to this thing, here was four more or less incomplete
walls, and that was it. And the local people wanted to know,
“Well, whatever happened to our dispensary?”+®
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Colonel Peabody’s office, after consultations with
the Vietnamese province and district authorities, the
CORDS adpvisors, and the XXIV Corps staff, deve-
loped a plan under which the Vietnamese would fin-
ish building the dispensary.

... Butthey asked us for . . . basically $1,000 worth of gear

to finish it up, primarily lumber . . . . So everything was

all laid on and we bought the supplies and got them shipped

up there, and that's been about three months ago. And the

supplies are in the warehouse and nothing has moved since
S0

Beyond the practical problems, the question re-
mained of how effective civic action had been in win-
ning civilian support for the South Vietnamese
government and acceptance for the Marines. Limited
benefits could be observed. Frequently, after a Med-
Cap or other project that had helped them im-
mediately and personally, villagers would point out
boobytraps to the Marines or warn them of impen-
ding enemy attacks. Major Grinalds, S-2 of the 1st Ma-
rines, for example, found MedCaps* “very effective”
in producing intelligence. “We always had an intelli-
gence man sitting by the dentist ot the doctor when
he was working on somebody,” Grinalds recalled, “and
in gratitude for a tooth pulled . . . or something like
that, sometimes they'd give some information about
VCI or VC in their area.”s! .

But had five years of civic action really overcome the
inevitable hostility of the peasants to foreign troops
in their midst or won their loyalty for a government
that stll often seemed less concerned for their wel-
fare than were the Marines. Knowledgeable Marines
could give no definitive answer to this question. Some,
including Brigadier General Edwin H. Simmons, the
assistant division commander of the 1st Marine Divi-
ston during its last months in Vietnam ** expressed

*The dental officers and technicians of the 1st Dental Compa-
ny, which operated 12 clinics throughout the Da Nang TAOR, sup-
ported Marine civic action efforts. Even the dental officers who were
assigned to the Ist Marine Division command post went to the field
on occasion. “All dental officets and techs operated from time to
time in MedCAP or DentCAP endeavors. These were catried out
in orphanages, schools or small villages. We always took a transla-
tor and armed guard, ” recalled Captain Meredith H. Mead, Com-
manding Officer, 1st Dental Company. “I personally went on several
of these expeditions . . . . One trip I remember well: we set up
out chair in the small village square and the chief (village chief)
climbed a tree and announced with a big megaphone that the tooth
doctor had arrived. Our treatments were mostly for relief of pain.”
Capt Meredith H. Mead, USN, Comments on draft ms, 8Jun73
(Vietnam Comment File).

**Simmons replaced Brigadier General Doehler as assistant di-
vision commander on 16 June 1970.

“serious doubts” whether civic action had won many
“hearts and minds” for the government and regarded
such activities as “‘a poor substitute for more positive
forms of civil affairs/military government.”s2

Communist Counter-Pacification Efforts

While large-unit combat diminished during 1970,
the Communists, in keeping with their renewed em-
phasis on guerrilla warfare, continued without let-up
their effort to disrupt pacification by terrorism. This
small-scale but often vicious campaign took three main
forms: direct attacks on CAPs, CUPPs, and RF or PF
units; kidnapping and assassination of GVN officials,
PSDF members, national policemen, RD cadre mem-
bers, and other pacification functionaries; and gener-
al attacks on the people and their property in
GVN-controlled areas.

Especially during the first half of the year, detach-
ments of VC and NVA repeatedly attacked CAP units.
On 1 February, for example, 30-40 NVA and VC
trapped and ovetran a pattol from CAP 1-1-3 in Quang
Tin Province, killing four Marines and one PF and cap-
turing a radio, a M60 machine gun, a grenade launch-
er, and five M16s. The enemy also took losses. A sweep
of the scene of the fight by elements of CAP 1-1-2 dis-
closed five enemy dead, three abandoned AK-47s, and
a Chinese Communist machine gun$3 During March,
the 2d CAG in Quang Nam reported “‘constant” small
attacks by fire on its units. On one occasion, the ene-
my disguised themselves in captured ARVN uniforms,
48 of which were found after the engagement, the
Communists having stripped them off and discarded
them as they fled5*

Periodically, enemy infantry ot sappers tried to over-
run a CAP patrol base. Almost invariably, they failed
with substantial losses. On 27 May, in a typical con-
tact, 30-50 NVA attacked the night partrol base of
CAP 4-2-1 near the Quang Tri-Thua Thien border with
small arms, grenades, and RPGs. The CAP Marines
and PFs, supported by 81mm mortar fire, helicopter
gunships, and flareships, held off the enemy with
small arms, grenades, and Claymore mines. Sporadic
fighting continued from 0125 until daylight, when the
NVA withdrew. They left behind two dead, an AK-47,
and five blood trails. The CAP suffered one Marine
seriously wounded and one PF dead of wounds. Dut-
ing the last half of the year, the enemy launched few-
er such attacks and relied increasingly on mines and
boobytraps to inflict casualties on the CAPs35

Enemy pressure on CUPP units intensified late in
the spring as the combined units began improving



176

their effectiveness. On 10 May, for instance, the Com-
munists attacked two separate 7th Marines CUPP
teams near FSB Baldy, mortaring one and assaulting
the compound of the other. In the ground attack, Ma-
rines and PFs drove back about 60 sappers who tem-
poratily broke into their perimeter. This day’s action
cost the enemy 12 dead; The two CUPP units lost be-
tween them one PF killed and 20 wounded s®

On 13 June, the enemy inflicted a major setback
on the 5th Marines’ CUPP platoon. At 0200, about
60 NVA and VC attacked two ambushes set up by this
unit near Route 4 about a mile southwest of Hill 25.
Concentrating first on the westernmost position, the
Communists assaulted with small arms and machine
gun fire, RPGs, grenades, and thrown satchel charges.
All the RFs in the ambush, members of a platoon from
the 759th RF Company, fled at the first shots, leav-
ing six Marines to fight alone until they were over-
run. Three of the Marines were killed and another
wounded; the survivors made their way to safety.

The enemy then moved eastward and attacked the
second ambush. Here, all but five of the RFs fled, but
here the Marines and the RFs who stayed, supported
by 81mm mortar and artillery fire, stopped the Com-
munists. The enemy disengaged and withdrew around
0430.

For the 5th Marines’ CUPP platoon, it had been a
costly action. Besides a total of three Marines and one
RF soldier killed and five Marines and one RF wound-
ed, the unit had lost in the overrun position a PRC-25
radio, an M60 machine gun, two M14 and two M16
rifles, and a .45-caliber pistol. A patrol from Compa-
ny I, 3d Battalion, 5th Marines searched the area the
next morning and found two blood trails but no other
sign of enemy casualties. The most important casualty
of the engagement was the relationship between the
CUPP Marines and their RF counterparts. As the offi-
cial report of the fight put it: “The rapport between
RFs and Marines was impaired by the performance of
the RFs during these contacts.” Nevertheless, the Sth
Marines at once set to work rebuilding the unit and
improving its training57

Throughout the year, Communist terrorists took a
steady toll of GVN officials and ordinary civilians. In
May, one of the periodic high points of guerrilla ac-
tivity, the VC in Quang Nam, according to a CORDS
report, killed 129 civilians, wounded 247, and kid-
napped 7358 Many such kidnappings in fact were
forceable recruiting. The VC took the victims into the
hills and by persuasion or coercion induced them to
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join their ranks. The GVN, as it did with the number
of refugees, understated its casualties from terrorism.
Major Grinalds reported that “government officials get
a target number of harassing or terrorist incidents that
are allowed in their province each year, [it] might be
75, might be 85. When they reach that number they
stop reporting the excess, because it looks bad.”s?

District and village officials lived under constant
danger of abduction or death. On the night of 20-21
March, for instance, a band of VC kidnapped a ham-
let chief in the 3d Battalion, 5th Marines TAOR. They
took him up onto Charlie Ridge about 1,500 meters
north of his hamlet, told him “to quit his job or he
would be killed,” then released him and retreated fur-
ther into the mountains8°

On other occasions, the enemy struck to kill. On
19 September, in a type of incident which occurred
again and again during the year, two Regional Force
soldiers died less than half a mile from the headquart-
ers compound of the 2d Battalion, 1st Marines when
“an unknown number of VC/VNA detonated one
Claymore type mine and then shot them in the head.”
Eight days later, also in the 2d Battalion’s TAOR, Viet
Cong grenades killed two Revolutionary Development
team members in a refugee hamlet and wounded four
civilians. In the Que Son Valley on 14 November, two
or three VC with AK-47s ambushed and killed the
hamlet chief and hamlet secutity chief of Lanh Thuong
(5), a community close to FSB Ross. Higher ranking
officials also fell victim. On 18 December, in mid-
afternoon, theé assistant chief of Dai Loc District was
killed on Route 4 by two Vietnamese boys who threw
a grenade into his jeep®!

The enemy reinforced his terrorist campaign with
continuous ptopaganda to further intimidate the Viet-
namese population, and occasionally he leveled his
propaganda at the American forces. A typical
propaganda leaflet said, “Gls, unite! Oppose the dirty
American war of aggression in Vietnam! The Ameri-
can people are waging an active struggle to support
your anti-var (sic) activities and demand that the
American government end immediately its war of ag-
gression in Vietnam and take you out of South Viet-
nam immediately” Further on in the leaflet it
appealed for racial dissidence against the war: “Black
GIs, refuse to fight against the South Vietnamese peo-
ple struggling for their independence and freedom.
For black Gls, the battlefield is right on American soil,
where they must fight against poverty, hunger and bar-
barous racial discrimination.” While the propaganda
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had little or no impact on Ameticans, the enemy’s
propaganda and terrotism often stifled the Viet-
namese %2

Any Vietnamese who supportted the government or
associated with Americans in any way was a potential
victim of Communist tetrot. Early in 1970, a CAP from
the 1st CAG, while on a routine patrol, found a dead
man on the trail they were following. According to
the patrol report:

The dead VN was the father of a young boy who frequently
performed small chores to assist the CAP Marines. A note
in Vietnamese attached to the body read, “If you support
the Americans, this will happen to you."83

To the north, in Quang Nam, a group of school chil-
dren learned the same lesson. On 19 January, while
Matines from CAP 2-3-7 were playing volleyball with
the childrten in their schoolyard, a Vietnamese youth
threw two grenades into theit midst. The grenades
killed four of the children and wounded four others
and six Marines. The youth who threw the grenades
escaped. These and innumerable other such small

Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373320
South Vietnamese troops from the 101st Regional Force Battalion deploy from an Ameri-
can helicopter in an operation south of Da Nang. As the Marine forces began to with-
draw from Vietnam, they turned over their tactical areas to the South Vietnamese.

tragedies conveyed the same message: it is dangerous
to aid and associate with Americans$

During the spring and summer, the VC escalated
their terrorism from acts of violence against individu-
als to full-scale attacks on progovernment villages. The
most severe of these attacks occurred on 11 June at Phu
Thanh. This village, a complex of several hamlets,
sttaddled Route 1 about three miles north of FSB
Baldy. Just to the north of the village, the highway
crossed the Ba Ren Bridge, one of the vital links on
the land lines of communication between Baldy and
Da Nang8®

Phu Thanh had a reputation among the Marines
as a friendly village. It contained the homes of many
RF and PF soldiers and GVN officials, and its people
were a reliable source of information about the VC
in their area. Because of its nearness to the important
bridge, Phu Thanh had strong security forces in and
atound it. CUPP Team 9—a squad from the 1st Pla-
toon of Company A, 7th Marines—was stationed in
the village with PF Platoons 144 and 171. Phu Thanh
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also contained a 22-man Revolutionary Development
team and a PSDF unit of 31 members, eight of whom
had weapons. Near the south end of the bridge lay
the compound of the 323d RF Company, which had
as its main mission protection of the span. The CP
of the 1st Platoon of Company A, which had charge
of several CUPPs along the highway north of LZ Baldy,
was located near the RF compound.

For several weeks, rumors had circulated in the vil-
lage that the Viet Cong were planning to attack the
Ba Ren Bridge, but neither Marines nor Vietnamese
saw any reason to expect an assault on the hamlets
themselves. On the night of 10-11 June, the CUPP unit
had taken up a night position within the village. The
RF troops, following their usual practice, remained in
their fortified compound watching the bridge.

At 0200 on the 11th, the enemy, later identified as
elements of the V-25¢th Main Force Battalion and the
T:89th Sapper Battalion, launched a thoroughly
planned and coordinated attack. It began with a bar-
rage of 60mm and 82mm mortar fire. The mortars,
located north and south of Phu Thanh, dropped a to-
tal of 200-250 high explosive and white phosphorus
rounds on the village. They concentrated on CUPP
9, the bridge, the 1st Platoon CP, and the RF com-
pound. Simultaneous with this barrage, the enemy at-
tacked two other CUPP teams in hamlets south of Phu
Thanh on Route 1, engaging them with small arms,
RPGs, grenades, and mortats and preventing them
from maneuvering to reinforce Phu Thanh.

Under cover of the mortar fire, two groups of sap-
pers entered the village, one from the east and one
from the west. Armed with grenades and satchel
charges, a few rushed the RF compound and the Ist
Platoon CP and wete cut down by the defenders’ fire.
Most began burning houses and hurling their grenades
and satchel charges into family bomb shelters filled
with civilians who had fled to them for protection from
the shelling. A Marine recalled:

The enemy ran through the village, ordering people out
of their bunkess. When they did [come out], they were shot,
or else [the enemy threw] chicoms [grenades] into the bunker,
killing the men, women, and children in them. . . . Very
many civilians [were] killed just inside their bunkers, if it
wasn't from shrapnel wounds it was from fire where they
were burned to death from the satchel charges used . . . 8@

The defenders fought back as best they could, but
the continuous mortar barrage prevented them from
counterattacking to save the village. At the bridge, the
RF company beat back a minor probe of its compound.
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CUPP 9 had 10 Marines wounded in the initial shell-
ing, including the squad leader, the assistant squad
leader, the radioman, and the corpsman. Neverthe-
less, the Marines and PFs managed to form a perimeter
in the blazing village and hold their position. When
it became evident that the enemy were concentrating
their attack on the civilians and bypassing the CUPP,
the PF trung si let most of his men go home to try
to protect their families, but he himself stayed with
the Marines, as did the PF radioman and mortar team.

At the 1st Platoon CP, Marines and PFs repelled a
tush by a few of the sappers and answered the mortar
barrage with their own 8lmm and 60mm mortars. The
platoon commander, First Lieutenant Thomas S.
Miller, kept the 7th Marines Headquarters informed
by radio of the progress of the battle and called for
artillery and air support. The first rounds of friendly
artillery began falling on suspected Communist posi-
tions 20 minutes after the artack started.

At about 0315, the enemy mortar fire temporarily
slackened as the sappers began to withdraw from the
village. Lieutenant Miller took advantage of the lull
to send a squad from his CP into Phu Thanh to find
and assist CUPP 9. To reach the CUPP, the squad had
to work its way through a part of the village already
devastated by the sappers. One of the Marines, Cor-
poral Robert M. Mutchler, reported that “It was mostly
on fire, the wounded were all over the artea, scteamin’
and hollerin’"67 The squad reached the CUPP team
and in two trips brought the wounded Marines and
PFs to the bridge to be picked up by helicopters. Then,
accompanied by the platoon’s Vietnamese interpreter,
the squad plunged back into the burning hamlets and
began urging the people to bring their wounded to
the bridge. At the bridge, the interpreter and the Ma-
rines, “working very hard,” separated the mote severely
injured and made the people understand that the
more setiously hurt would be taken out first. By this
time, the enemy mortats had resumed firing slowly
to cover the retreat of the sappets.

The first medical evacuation helicopter from
MAG-16 landed on the bridge around 0330 and lift-
ed out all the Marines, PFs, and RFs wounded in the
attack. Thereafter, a steady stream of helicopters came
in, covered by two Cobra gunships, to take out the
civilian wounded. According to Corporal Mutchler,
“we medevaced some 60 to 70 civilians, and . . . more
than half of them was emergency medevacs, ampu-
tees and half burnt to death.” Lieutenant Miller said
that:
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The pilots who came in to do the medevacing did the
most outstanding job of any Marine pilots I've seen yet. They
were coming in, some pilots came in, picked up part of a
load and started to leave. When more came they sat back
down, even when the zone was still relatively hot. . . . As
one would pick up and leave another one would land
.. .. I'm sure that they saved many lives that night,%®

The mortar bombardment ended at about 0400,
and by daylight all the severely wounded civilians had
been evacuated and a team of doctors and corpsmen
from LZ Baldy had reached Phu Thanh and had be-
gun treating the minor casualties, over 100 in all.
Colonel Derning, the 7th Marines commander, arrived
at 0810 to assess the damage, followed at 1020 by Major
General Widdecke. Within hours, the 1st Marine Di-
vision and the province government had emergency
relief and reconstruction under way. The GVN, aided
by the Marines, distributed food and supplies to meet
the survivors’ immediate needs and later provided tons
of lumber and tin to rebuild the village.

There was much rebuilding to be done. The VC had
destroyed 156 houses and damaged 35 more, most of
them in Thanh My, the hardest hit of the village’s
hamlets. The attack had cost the Marines 10 men
wounded, one of whom later died. Four Regional Force
and two Popular Force soldiers had been wounded.
Civilian casualties totalled 74 dead, many of them
women and children; 60 severely injuted; and over 100
lightly wounded. After the fight, the defenders found
four dead VC in the wire around the RF compound
and the Ist Platoon CP, and they rounded up one
prisoner and one Hoi Chanh.

Soon after the attack, the Communists began
spreading the report that their objective really had
been the Ba Ren Bridge and that Phu Thanh and its
people merely had been caught in the crossfire. Ma-
rines who had been there, however, had no doubt that
the enemy deliberately had attacked the village. Lieu-
tenant Miller summed up:

There was no militaty objective involved in this attack.
I say this because first of all thete was only light enemy con-
tact directly at the compound. The mortars were fired in
such a manner as to restrain any military contact. The VC
stayed pretty much out of the area CUPP 9 was operating
in. . . . Also, the Ba Ren Bridge, which is a major line of
communications on Route 1 was not hit; there was not even
an attempt to blow this bridge ups®

On 30 August, the enemy launched a similar at-
tack on a Buddhist orphanage and German hospital
south of An Hoa. Again, the attack began with a mor-
tar barrage. Then an estimated 30 NVA sappers “in

full uniform” swept through the grounds hurling
grenades and satchel charges and withdrawing before
allied troops could arrive. They left behind 15 Viet-
namese dead, many of them children, and 51 wound-
ed’® The enemy, howevet, as their attempts to disavow
the massacre at Phu Thanh indicated, evidently found
such attacks politically embatrassing. Duting the au-
tumn and winter they reverted to smaller scale and
more selective terrorism.

Marines found Vietnamese civilian reaction to this
violence varied and difficult to measure. At Phu
Thanh, for instance, membets of the CUPP felt that
the attack of 11 June merely strengthened the villagers’
loyalty to the GVN and friendship for the Marines.
“ They always gave us good intel [intelligence] before,”
one Marine observed, “and they're still giving us good
intel now that it’s over. . . . I just feel they [the ene-
my] turned the villagers against them, a lot mote than
they were before”” On the other hand, Major
Grinalds concluded that the civilians in the 1st Ma-
rines’ TAOR “have a high limit of tolerance to terror
because, from what I've seen, they aren’t ready yet to
acknowledge that the threshold of pain had been
reached and now they’re ready to get rid of the VC."72

Vietnamization

“Vietnamization” entered the official vocabulary of
US. militaty planning in November 1969, but the
policy it denoted had been put into effect about a year
before that. Essentially, Vietnamization involved en-
largement of the size and improvement of the equip-
ment, leadership, and training of the Vietnamese
armed forces (RVNAF) to the point where they could
defend their country with minimal US. support. This
effort went forward under a seties of RVINAF Improve-
ment and Modernization Plans prepared by MACV
and the JGS and approved by the US. Joint Chiefs
of Staff and Department of Defense. The initial plans
in 1968-1969 emphasized expansion of ground force
manpower, with training and equipment receiving
secondary priority, while the plans in effect during
1970 stressed improvement of Vietnamese air, naval,
artillery, and supply capabilities so as to produce
balanced regular and Regional or Popular Forces of
1,100,000 men by the end of Fiscal Year 197373

Beyond development of the RVNAF, the definition
of Vietnamization often included the whole range of
efforts to turn more of the war over to the Vietnamese.
The 1st Marine Division, for example, defined Viet-
namization as “the process by which the United States
assists the GVN in sttengthening its government, econ-
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omy, and military and internal security forces in ord-
er to permit the United States to reduce its military
and civilian involvement.” The division included in
Vietnamization most military and pacification activi-
ties, and it enjoined every unit and staff section to pay
continual attention to the Vietnamization aspects of
their missions.”

In Quang Nam, the military Vietnamization effort
during 1970 centered on expansion and improvement
of the RFs and PFs and on transfer of the defense of
bridges, cantonments, and other vital installations
from the Marines to the RVN, RF, and PF. The Ma-
rines also tried to persuade the ARVN to take over a
TAOR of their own, replacing one of the redeploying
Marine regiments.

No increase in regular forces was scheduled in
Quang Nam for 1970, but by June the JGS had autho-
rized recruitment in the province of 16 additional PF
platoons and four more RF companies. By the end of
the year, most of these units had been raised and were
completing their training. Besides organizing these
new units, QDSZ and Quang Nam Province authori-
ties throughout 1970 tried to enlarge the military capa-
bilities of the RFs and PFs so that they could defend
populated areas largely independently of support from
the regular army. The ARVN then could replace the
redeploying American units in offensive operations.
Accordingly, the province instituted classes for RF and
PF artillery forward observers and began training one
of the Regional Force battalions, the 101st, in
battalion-size operations so that it could act as a mo-
bile reserve for the Quang Nam Regional and Popu-
lar Forces.

III MAF took a major part in this training effort.
The CAPs and CUPPs provided continuous instruc-
tion, both formal and informal, for their counterpart
PF platoons. Between Januaty and June, 75 PF NCOs
graduated from the 1st Marine Division’s NCO school.
The division conducted quick-fire marksmanship
courses for RF and PF soldiers and trained others, as
well as men from the 51st ARVN Regiment, in mine-
sweeping and electric generator operation (important
in bridge and cantonment security to maintain pow-
er to searchlights and other defense devices). The Ma-
rines also began instructing ARVN and RFs and PFs
in reconnaissance operations and the use of sensors?s

Throughout the year, the 1st Marine Division con-
tinually pressed Quang Da Special Zone and Quang
Nam Province to take full charge of the protection of
bridges, cantonments, and other vital installations
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Marine Cotps Histotical Collection
ARVN soldiers with their young mascot participate
in an operation near Da Nang. The Vietwamese,
however, are reluctant to take over the Marine areas.

guarded wholly or partially by Marines. The division
also tried to transfer to the Vietnamese responsibility
for the daily minesweeping patrols designed to keep
the major highways safe for traffic. These negotiations,
largely conducted in the QDSZ/1st Marine Divi-
sion/2d ROKMC Brigade weekly conferences, proved
slow and frustrating. The Vietnamese repeatedly urged
postponements of their assumption of responsibiulity,
pleading lack of men, equipment, and training. They
often forced delay in removal of Marines from defense
positions, and they fell weeks behind the schedule to
which they had agreed for taking over the
minesweeps’®

The transfer of defensive tasks to the Vietnamese
went forward inexorably nevertheless, kept in motion
by the steady diminution of U.S. Marine manpower
as regiments redeployed. In February, Quang Nam
Province forces replaced elements of the 1st Marines
guarding four bridges south of Da Nang. During
March, elements of the 51st ARVN Regiment assumed
formal responsibility for the security of Hills 37 and
55, although Marine units continued to operate from
both. On 21 June, the 1/25 RF Group took over
defense of the Esso oil depot on the coast north of Da
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Nang, replacing a company of the 3d Battalion, 1st
Marines. The Vietnamese assumed responsibility for
the Cobb and Cau Do Bridges; major spans on the
highways south of Da Nang, on 15 and 20 July, and
on 1 August, the Regional Forces took full charge of
the defense of Hai Van Pass. In September, RFs and
PFs relieved elements of the 3d Battalion, 1st Marines
at Nam O Bridge, where Highway 1 crosses the Cu
De River north of Da Nang. After long negotiations
and many delays, a battalion of the 51st ARVN oc-
cupied what was left of An Hoa combat base in mid-
Octobet while Quang Nam RFs and PFs assumed secu-
rity of Liberty Bridge?

The Marines had less success in persuading the
ARVN to assume an independent TAOR in Quang
Nam. As a result of the divided command of the
ARVN units in the province, III MAF had to deal with
I Corps on this issue. Lieutenant General McCutch-
eon repeatedly pressed Lieutenant General Lam, the
I Corps commandet, to establish an all ARVN TAOR.
In response, the I Corps staff late in July proposed that
the corps resetve units in Quang Nam, the st Ranger
Group and the 1st Armored Brigade, assume the 7th
Marines’ TAOR when that regiment redeployed. The
same ARVN units were to replace the Marines at FSBs
Ross and Ryder and LZ Baldy. McCutcheon welcomed
this suggestion as a “big step forward in the Vietnami-
zation process” and expressed the hope that it would
lead to the 51st ARVN taking over the 5th Marines’
TAOR as that regiment withdrew. The Vietnamese,
however, in the end backed away from this drastic ex-
pansion of their tesponsibility. They preferred to keep
the 51st in its area of operations with the 5th Marines
and to maintain the freedom of action of the Rangers
and the armored brigade. Eventually, the 5th Marines
had to take over the TAOR of the 7th while the 51st
ARVN would accept only a portion of An Hoa and
a small area around it7®

The year ended with encouraging indications of
progtess in Vietnamization, but with the process far
from complete. From Lieutenant General McCutch-
eon on down, most Marines and other Americans who
worked closely with the ARVN agreed that the units
in Quang Nam—the 51st Regiment, the 1st Ranger
Group, and the 1st Armored Brigade —*were aggres-
sive and competent.” MACV, in its nationwide rating
of the effectiveness of Vietnamese units, placed the
51st Regiment third in the countty in number of ene-
my killed per battalion and second in weapons cap-
tured per battalion. The rangers and armored troops,

although rarely committed in Quang Nam, fought
well when they were.

The Regional and Popular Forces continued to vary
in quality from unit to unit, but overall appeared to
be improving. Continuous emphasis on aiding the RFs
and PFs by III MAF and to a lesser extent by I Corps
and XXIV Corps at last seemed to be producing
results. In Quang Nam, the Regional and Popular
Forces had become more aggressive duting the year.
Now, they frequently left their fortified compounds
at night to patrol and ambush. By December, accord-
ing to the province senior advisor, they were conduct-
ing almost 300 activities every night and averaging four
to five contacts?®

Nevertheless, crucial deficiencies remained, most of
which were representative of problems plaguing the
RVNAF throughout South Vietnam. Quang Da Spe-
cial Zone, like other Vietnamese higher commands,
still was short of competent high-ranking officets. This
problem became critical in August, when the able
QDSZ commander, Colonel Nguyen Van Thien, died
in a plane crash while flying to Saigon to receive a
long-overdue promotion to brigadier general. Viet-
namese military politics and buteaucratic inefficien-
cy kept Thien's post unfilled for weeks, leaving no
officer in the province able to deal authoritatively with
III MAF and the 1st Marine Division 80

The ARVN division- and corps-level staffs left much
to be desired. General McCutcheon complained in
August that they had “little appteciation for the time
and space factors involved in an operation, nor of the
logistic effort required to support one.’8! Shortages of
specialized equipment and people trained to operate
it prevented Vietnamese assumption of road
minesweeping and other tasks now performed by
Americans. Quang Da Special Zone possessed no sup-
ply organization of its own, and logistic support at
corps level suffered from division of authotity between
Lieutenant General Lam and the various staffs in Sai-
gon. Most serious, the ARVN throughout I Corps, in-
deed throughout the countty, lacked sufficient
fixed-wing and helicopter squadrons to furnish their
own air support.* MACV planners expected this defi-
ciency to persist, even with accelerated expansion of
the Vietnamese Air Force, until mid-1972.

The Regional and Popular Forces also had persis-
tent weaknesses. Particularly at district and company

*As of 1 January 1971, the RVNAF possessed only five operation-
ally ready helicopter squadrons, four equipped with UH-1s and one
with H-34s. MACV ComdHist70, III, ch. 7, p.13.
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level, they still lacked enough first-rate leaders. Fur-
ther, in spite of their increased aggressiveness, they had
yet fully to grasp the American concept of maintain-
ing continuous pressure on the enemy® Their efforts
too often were sporadic. Their aggressive forays were
interspersed with long periods of relative quiescence.
Major Grinalds said that RFs and PFs:

... .sometimes . . . like medieval forces, . . . stay in their
compounds . . . for weeks at a time. Then suddenly their
ramparts go up and they all go sallying forth on an opera-
tion and run out and get 15 VC on the basis of some good
tip . . . . And then they go back into their fort and stay
there for another six months?3

As 1970 ended, Vietnamization cleatly was work-
ing, but it was working very slowly. With additional
major Marine redeployments scheduled for early 1971,
Americans and South Vietnamese alike were running
out of time to finish the job.

Results, 1970

Throughout South Vietnam, pacification progress
during 1970 failed to match the dramatic gains of the
previous year. Ametican advisors attributed this slow-
down to South Vietnamese complacency over past suc-
cesses, to diversion of GVN attention and resources
to the operations in Cambodia, and to increased Viet
Cong and North Vietnamese antipacification activi-
ties during spring and eatly summer,

To revive the lagging effort, President Thieu on 1
July promulgated a Special Pacification and Develop-
ment Campaign to run until 31 October, He followed
that with a Supplementary Pacification and Develop-
ment Campaign, announced on 23 October, which
was to begin on 1 November and continue through
28 February 1971. In theory, this fall and winter renew-
al of effort would establish momentum for the 1971
Pacification and Development Program, which would
start on 1 March. The plans for these supplementary
campaigns for the most part restated the goals of the
1970 Pacification and Development Plan, with em-
phasis on improving security and intensifying the at-
tack on the VCI#4

By the end of the year, in spite of these plans and
exhortations, the allies had fallen short of their goals
on most of the Eight Objectives. Plans had called for
bringing hamlets containing 100 percent of the popu-
lation to at least the C level of security. According to
the HES, 95.1 percent of the people lived in such ham-
lets in late 1970, while 84.6 percent, as opposed to
the objective of 90 percent, enjoyed A- or B-level secu-
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rity. The allies had exceeded their goal of VCI neu-
tralized (22,341 vs 21,600), but efforts to expand the
national police had failed, leaving the force still 30,000
men under its planned strength. The arming and
training of the PSDF combat force had gone accord-
ing to schedule, but formation of the support force
had lagged. Development of local government had
gone well; as planned, about 3,000 villages and 14,000
hamlets had elected or reelected their officials. The
Chien Hoi program, on the other hand, had fallen
8,000 short of its target of 40,000 Communist defec-
tors. Over 139,000 refugees, 70,000 fewer than
planned, had received resettlement payments, and
388,000, which was 15,000 more than the goal, had
received return-to-village assistance; but most of these
in fact remained refugees and would require additional
aid. Social and economic progress, as always, was slow.
Only 50,900 hectares of land had been redistributed
under the Land-to-theTiller Law, as against a goal of
200,000, and rice cultivation and expansion of rural
banks had not met planned quotas8s

Pacification results in Quang Nam closely paralleled
the national trends. With 68.2 percent of its popula-
tion living in A- or B-rated hamlets, Quang Nam in
December was one of the 10 lowest provinces in the
nation in security* On the positive side, it led all other
provinces in VCI eliminated during the year, with
2,437 (III MAF figure) or 2,675 (the CORDS figure)
dead, sentenced, or defected. This accounted for about
40 percent of the estimated VCI members in the
province at the beginning of the year, but the enemy
were believed to have replaced some of these losses
by recruiting. How many of these enemy casualties
could be credited to Phoenix/Phung Hoang remained
questionable8® The conclusion of a MACV review
committee on the nationwide anti-VCI program ap-
plied as well in Quang Nam:

The reduction of overall VCI sttength has been a result
of the entire GVN and allied war effort. This had included
the military success against the VC/NVA, the pacification
program as a whole, the constitutional political structure and
the economic revival in the countryside of Vietnam. Phoe-
nix had to date contributed little to this reduction, although
it has been an element of the overall program and during
the past year had substantially increased its role against the
VCI target®”

*Of the other provinces in I Cotps, Quang Tri (93.5 percent) and
Thua Thien (98.1 percent) were in the top 10 for security, while
Quang Ngai was in the bottom 10 with 66.5 percent of its people
in A or B hamlets. Quang Tin was in the middle group.
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A373322

Men of the 7th Marines in the Combined Unit Pacification Program escort a Vietnamese
Chien Hoi to their platoon command post in a village 22 miles south of Da Nang.
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Elections for province, village, and hamlet govern-
ments during the year had produced real political con-
tests for many posts and a large voter turnout, but
fewer officials than planned had taken advantage of
GVN training programs to improve their administra-
tve skills. According to the province senior advisor,
rapid turnover in the post of province training direc-
tor, inadequate stipends for individuals travelling to
the principal GVN training center at Vung Tau near
Saigon, and the lack of etther rewards for officials who
took courses or demotions for those who did not had
hindered instruction e

During 1970, a total of 411 Viet Cong guerrillas,
45 North Vietnamese soldiers, and 600 nonmilitary
Communist functionaries surrendered in Quang Nam
under the Chieu Hot program. This number
represented a marked decline from the 2,000 defec-
tions reported in 1969. The reduced intensity of mili-
tary contact during the year accounted for much of
the drop, and, according to Colonel Hixson of the I
Corps CORDS staff, “We're starting to get down to
the hard core people now. . . . We've gotten all those
that were easily swayed."8®

The refugee situation showed little improvement
during the year. In July, CORDS reported that 95,000
refugees in Quang Nam still had not received their
basic benefit payments, and in September, the Minis-
try of Resettlement in Saigon, which had overspent
its budget, cut off further funds to Quang Nam. In
spite of the promising beginnings on Go Noi Island,
actual return of refugees to their villages continued
to be a slow, difficult process. Many areas still were
not militarily secure enough for their people to return
home, and some allied military forces, notably the
Korean Marine brigade, actually discouraged refugees
from resettling in theit TAORs which complicated
their defense problems. Even if security could be
provided and they were permitted to go home, many
of the people who had moved into the environs of Da
Nang showed little desire to return to their original
communities 90

In spite of these continuing frustrations, the allies
in Quang Nam and throughout I Corps had made
progress in pacification, but qualifted observers dis-
agreed on how much had been achieved. As early as
May 1970, Lieutenant General Nickerson, recently
returned from his tour in command of III MAF, told
a briefing at HQMC:

. . . [the Viet Cong] had lost the people war, as far as
I'm concerned. People’s war, the war of liberation, by defini-
tion and practice, is . . . where they can make a pass at a
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hamlet and the people inside in the infrastructure uprise
and cause a change —boot out the good guys and take ovet
with the bad guys. Well, in the north [of I Corps] that

. . infrastructure is mostly in the hills, in the two north-
ern provinces. In the three southern, there’s a little more
present every day, but it has to be very careful when it sur-
faces because of the increase in territorials and confidence
of the people that they're going to win. . . . In short I'm
confident that we've . . . got 'em right where you want ’em

a1

Later in the year, Sir Robert Thompson, one of the
architects of the successful British counterinsurgency
campaign in Malaya, and long a critic of American
conduct of the war in Vietnam, visited many parts of
the country including Quang Nam. He concluded
from what he observed that “it was quite clear that
continued progress had been made in both the Pacifi-
cation and Vietnamization programmes during the
year, so that the 1969 gains were expanded and con-
solidated.”o2

Lieutenant General McCutcheon took a more cau-
tious view, particularly on the question of whether the
allies were winning the people’s loyalty for the GVN.,
In a report to Lieutenant General Sutherland, he
evaluated conditions in Quang Nam:

Despite election turn-out and improved ratings in the
Hamlet Evaluation System, we must accept the fact that a
large portion of the Quang Nam people are apathetic toward
the GVN. For that matter they would be equally apathetic
toward any government, free or Communist. Their lives are
simply devoted to existing. I doubt that many people, not
directly involved in government or military business at a rela-
tively high level, are aware of Vietnamization. Those who

are aware of it almost certainly consider it a euphemism for
US. withdrawal 23

After five yeats of large-scale American involvement
in the war, by the end of 1970 the allies had put into
effect a broad pacification strategy that appeared to
be succeeding, but with painful slowness in difficult
areas like Quang Nam. Security efforts had reduced
Communist control of the villages and hamlets and
with it the enemy’s ability to draw support from the
people. The South Vietnamese, at national, province,
and local levels, had begun to establish a stable, elect-
ed non-Communist regime. Yet for the Marines and
South Vietnamese in Quang Nam, as for allied forces
all over the country, time was running out. Redeploy-
ments during 1970 had diminished American ability
to assist in pacification as in other aspects of the war
effort. These redeployments would continue and ac-
celerate during 1971, and the South Vietnamese, ready
ot not, would soon have to assume a much larger share
of both combat and pacification.
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CHAPTER 10
Allied Strategic and Redeployment Plans for 1971

Military and Pacification Plans for 1971— Final Plans for Redeployment and the MAB
A New Commander for III MAF— Military Situation in Quang Nam and Military Region 1, Early 1971

Military and Pacification Plans for 1971

Late in 1970, as U.S. and South Vietnamese staffs
prepared their plans for the following year, the
Southeast Asian war gave evidence of simultaneous de-
escalation and escalation. Within South Vietnam it-
self, the level of combat was declining as the allies con-
centrated on pacification, the Americans withdrew,
and the Communists reverted to guerrilla warfare, On
the other hand, the U.S. and ARVN sweep of the ene-
my’s Cambodian bases, continuing ARVN operations
and growing internal war in Cambodia, and increas-
ingly heavy American air attacks on the Ho Chi Minh
Trail in Laos pointed toward an expanded allied ef-
fort to wreck the Communists’ cross-border bases,
thereby reducing the enemy’s ability to reintensify the
war in South Vietnam.

The allied Combined Campaign Plan for 1971,
promulgated on 31 October 1970 by the South Viet-
namese, American, and allied commanders, reflect-
ed the changing trends of the war. Generally, the plan
restated the allied strategy of the previous year, with
increased emphasis on the RVNAF's assuming the
tasks hitherto performed by the redeploying Ameri-
cans, who would continue and accelerate their with-
drawal. Under the plan, the ARVN and allied regular
units were to operate primarily against main forces and
base areas, and the ARVN in addition were to attack
Communist forces in “authorized areas,” i.e. Cambo-
dia and Laos. The plan restated the established mis-
sion of the Regional and Popular Forces, People’s Self
Defense Force, and national police, assigning them to
protect populated areas and support pacification.

Allied forces were to measure their progress during
the year in terms of nine objectives: participation in
the 1971 pacification campaign; improvement of the
RVNAF “to achieve a2 maximum state of combat ef-
fectiveness”; employment of the RVNAF according to
its assigned missions and capabilities; the infliction
of “more losses on the enemy than he can replace”;
denial to the enemy of the use of base areas and logis-
tic systems within South Vietnam and adjacent coun-
tries; restoration and protection of roads and railways
in South Vietnam; keeping food and other resources
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out of Communist hands; increasing intelligence and
counterintelligence efforts; and neutralization of the
Viet Cong Infrastructure “to the maximum extent
possible.

The XXIV Corps/MR 1 Combined Campaign Plan,
promulgated on 29 December 1970, closely followed
the national plan. It placed great emphasis on con-
tinuing U.S. redeployments and on improvement and
modernization of the South Vietnamese forces so that
they could “become self sufficient and capable of as-
suming the entire responsibility for the conduct of the
war.” The plan called for increased allied efforts to pro-
tect the people and control resources, “particulatly at
night”; continued training of ARVN, RFs, and PFs;
and the provision of “responsive” support to province
chiefs in their struggle to wipe out the VCI. Having
experiened considerable success during 1970 in
eliminating the VCI in Quang Nam, the plan called
for the allies to intensify this effort while anticipating
the enemy’s increased attempts to reestablish his
depleted military and political infrastructure at the
hamlet and village level. The local plan also reiterat-
ed the assignment of missions to regulars, RFs, and
PFs made in the national plan. In a variant on earlier
plans, the XXIV Corps/MR 1 plan declared that the
Regional Forces were to be employed under direction
of the province chiefs in offensive operations against
enemy provincial or local units. Only in the “most
compelling cases” were RFs to be given static defense
assignments. The 1971 plan also restated the Area
Security Concept of the 1970 plan, under which each
province was divided into heavily populated and rela-
tively peaceful Secure Areas and Consolidation Zones
controlled by the province chief, and more thinly
populated and enemy-infested Clearing Zones and
Border Surveillance Zones under ARVN or allied tac-
tical unit commanders?

The most significant new element in both national
and regional military plans was a change in the defi-
nition of the role of U.S. units from conducting oper-
ations on their own to supporting and assisting South
Vietnamese forces. This change was closely related to
the Area Security Concept. On 1 January 1971, allied
units ceased to have Tactical Areas of Responsibility



ALLIED STRATEGIC AND REDEPLOYMENT PLANS FOR 1971 187

(TAORs). Instead, they received Tactical Areas of In-
terest (TAQOIs), which normally encompassed about the
same terrain as thetr old TAORs. Only ARVN com-
mands now would have TAORs, and they would be
responsible for assigning Areas of Operation (AOs) to
allied units, usually in Clearing or Border Surveillance
Zones.

This meant that in I Corps/MR 1, the TAOR com-
mander became Lieutenant General Lam, while XX-
1V Corps had a TAOI which included all of the military
region. Each subordinate command under XXIV
Corps received a TAOI consisting of its former TAOR.
III MAF's TAO], for example, continued to be Quang
Nam Province. Marine units would defend and patrol
mote of less where they had defended and patrolled
before, but now within AOs granted by Quang Da
Special Zone. This change involved more of an alter-
ation of terminology and staff procedures than of day-
to-day field operations, thus giving expression to the
primacy of South Vietnamese responsibility for the
conduct of the war. The change also forced ARVN
headquartets to assume more of the burden of plan-
ning and directing operations?3

Soon after the issuance of the military plans, the
South Vietnamese government, on 7 January 1971, is-
sued its pacification and development plan for the new
year. Breaking with past practice, the government
called the document its “Community Defense and Lo-
cal Development Plan” for 1971. This change of name
was intended to dramatize the government’s conten-
tion that, since most of the South Vietnamese people
now lived under government control, “pacification”
had been largely completed and the country now
should emphasize development.

Instead of the Eight Objectives of the 1970 plan,
the 1971 plan had only three: Self-Defense, Self-
Government, and Self-Development. Each title, as in
past plans, embraced a number of continuing pro-
grams. Self-Defense included efforts to improve vil-
lage security, with the goal of having 95 percent of
the people living in A or B hamlets by the end of the
yeat. This goal also continued attempts to improve the
national police and embraced the Chieu Hoi Program
and the Phoenix/Phung Hoang effort, which in 1970
neutralized 2,437 VCI in Quang Nam, representing
an estimated 40 percent of the enemy agents in the
province. Self-Government covered training programs
for local officials, encouragement of popular self-help
organizations, and a campaign to instill in the South
Vietnamese people an “increased awateness of the

meaning of democracy” Under Self-Development were
grouped such programs as land reform, aid to refu-
gees and war victims, and activities to improve agticul-
ture and fisheries and help villages develop their own
economies, all aimed “at committing all the people
to the effort of developing the economy and the soci-
ety so that progress toward self-sufficiency could be
obtained.” MACV endorsed the new pacification plan,
instructing subordinate U.S. commanders to give “full
support” to its implementation?

Final Plans for Redeployment and the MAB

During the last months of 1970, the staffs of III
MAF and its subordinate commands continued to be
preoccupied with planning for additional redeploy-
ments and for the organization and activation of the
3d Marine Amphibious Brigade. The two problems
continued to be closely linked. Removal of all Marines
from redeployment Increment V (Keystone Robin Bra-
vo) had forced postponement of the activation of the
MAB, initially scheduled for eatly fall. Instead, acti-
vation now was to occur after completion of Increment
VI (Keystone Robin Chatlie), which was to begin on
1 January 1971 and include the 12,400 Marines origi-
nally slated for Robin Bravo. IIl MAF now expected
the MAB, which would consist of the Marines remain-
ing after Robin Chatlie, to begin operations in late
April 1971.

Both the organization and the overall mission of the
MAB had taken shape by autumn 1970, after almost
a year of discussion, although there were still un-
resolved problems concerning exact composition. The
brigade, with a total strength of about 12,600 Marines,
was to have a ground component built around the 1st
Marines and an air element consisting of an as yet un-
determined mixture of aircraft types. III MAF plan-
ners were working on the assumption that the brigade,
when activated, would have the general mission of pro-
tecting the Da Nang area. They were uncertain,
however, how large the MAB TAOR* was to be. XXIV
Corps had not yet stated definitely whether Ameri-
can or other allied units would be sent to Quang Nam
to augment the dwindling Marine forces. The MAF
and division staffs, accordingly, had to base their plans
for MAB ground operations on the assumption that
the brigade might have to defend the entire 1st Ma-

rine Division TAOR S

*The change in terminology from TAOR to TAOI had not yet
been made, and until January 1971, Americans continued to talk
about TAORs.
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In Washington during the autumn, the Marine
Corps came under pressure in the Joint Chiefs of Staff
to keep the 3d MAB in Vietnam longer than origi-
nally planned. The question of the length of the
brigade’s stay in the country arose in connection with
plans for the Transitional Support Force (TSF), which
would remain in Vietnam after most U.S. troops had
withdrawn. This force was to provide combat and com-
bat service support to the South Vietnamese until they
achieved complete military self-sufficiency, or until the
war ended, whichever happened fitst. The TSF would
consist of about 255,000 US. Army, Navy, and Air
Force personnel, including nine Army infantry
brigades. As had happened during the planning for
Keystone Robin Alpha, the Army reported to the Joint
Chiefs of Staff in late October that shortages of men
and money might prevent it from furnishing those
nine brigades without reducing its forces elsewhere.
The Joint Chiefs, in an effort to relieve the Army
without reducing the TSF, then suggested to the Serv-
ices, and to MACV and CinCPac, substitution of the
3d MAB for one of the Army brigades and its suppor-
ting units. This substitution, if made, could keep the
Marine brigade in Vietnam until the end of Fiscal Year
1972, 30 June 1972, as much as a year beyond its in-
tended departure date of 30 June 1971.

The proposal met strong objections from the Ma-
rine Corps, which pointed out that its budgets and
manpower planning were based on continuing the
previously established rate of redeployment. Keeping
the MAB in Vietnam for an extra year would force
reduction of other Matine Corps capabilities. Admiral
John S. McCain, Jr., CinCPac, also objected. He stat-
ed that retention of the MAB in Vietnam would de-
lay reestablishment of the projected Pacific reserve of
two full Marine division-wing teams, one based in
Okinawa, Japan, and Hawaii and the other in
California®

General Abrams passed the proposal on to Lieute-
nant General Sutherland, the XXIV Corps com-
mander. On 9 November, Sutherland urged that the
MAB not be included in the Transitional Support
Force. While expressing his “complete confidence and
professional admiration” for the Marines, he pointed
out that communications and command problems
would result from retaining a Marine Service compo-
nent command that late in the redeployment process
and that, if retained, the MAB would require addi-
tional Army logistic support. Sutherland also noted
that a Marine brigade was larger by about 4,000 men
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than a typical Army brigade and included an air as
well as a ground element. Keeping the MAB would
force additional reductions in the other Service com-
ponents to compensate for the Marine aviation per-
sonnel? In spite of all these objections, the possibility
of adding the MAB to the TSF remained open until
the last days of 1970, because MACV and CinCPac,
while reluctant to have the Marine brigade, would ac-
cept it rather than reduce the total strength of the
transitional force8

With the issue of retaining the MAB and the ques-
tion of the size of the MAB TAOR still unresolved,
General Abrams on 3 November directed III MAF,
with the other U.S. Service commands, to submit its
list of units to be withdrawn in Increment VI. Of the
60,000 Americans to be withdrawn in this increment,
III MAF, as planned eatlier, was to furnish 12,400, one
regimental landing team with aviation and support
units?

The MACV request for a definitive troop list for
Increment VI forced III MAF to make an immediate
and final decision on the composition of the 3d MAB,
since by process of elimination the redeployment troop
list would consist of the units not wanted in the
brigade. Accordingly, on 5 November, Lieutenant
General McCutcheon held a conference of com-
manders and staff officers of the wing, division, and
Force Logistic Command. He informed the assembl-
ed officers that, with the MACV demand for a troop
list in hand, “the time had come for a decision on the
structure of the MAB.” By this time, the IIl MAF staff
had developed seven different possible organizations
for the MAB. Most of these included varying reduc-
tions of the fixed-wing aviation element, to allow
retention of all or a portion of a fourth infantry bat-
talion. Two of the alternatives called for an increase
in total MAB strength to 13,600 to make room for both
a fixed-wing air group and the additional infantry!®

At the 5 November conference, McCutcheon an-
nounced his selection of Alternative Six. As original-
ly drafted, this plan increased the brigade to 13,600
men to permit retention of two jet squadrons and the
1st Battalion, 5th Marines. McCutcheon, however,
decided to eliminate the jet squadrons and their air
group, MAG-11, leaving a MAB of 12,600 with four
full infantry battalions, a military police battalion, and
a strong helicopter group, but no fixed-wing aviation
except a detachment of OV-10s. The III MAF com-
mander explained that he expected the operating life
of the MAB to be short and believed, as he had since



ALLIED STRATEGIC AND REDEPLOYMENT PLANS FOR 1971 189

late July, that the brigade would need extra infantry
to defend Da Nang more than it would need the jet
squadrons and their controlling MAG. Many of the
missions flown by the jets, he pointed out, would be
in support of non-Marine forces, and the administra-
tive and support units required by the squadrons
would absorb too much of the brigade’s authorized
manpower.

Major General Armstrong, the 1st MAW com-
mander, and Major General Widdecke, the 1st Divi-
sion commander, both concurred in McCutcheon’s
decision to eliminate the fixed-wing air units. Arm-
strong said that “MAG-11 [fixed wing] would be a real
problem to redeploy concurtently with MAG-16
[helicopters] in a 60-day period [the expected length
of time the MAB would be operating].” General Wid-
decke observed that McCutcheon’s proposed organi-
zation would be sufficient for 60 days, but thought
that if the brigade remained in Vietnam longer than
that, it should have its own fixed-wing support. Both
Widdecke and his assistant division commander,
Brigadier General Edwin H. Simmons, also expressed
concern for the “political” and doctrinal implications
of forming a MAB that was not a fully balanced air-
ground command.!!

McCutcheon transmitted his proposed MAB organi-
zation to Lieutenant General Jones, commander of
FMFPac, on the 5th, with a Keystone Robin Charlie
troop list derived from it. The list included only two
battalions of the 5th Marines, but all the remaining
jet squadrons, with the headquartets and support units
of MAG-11. McCutcheon repeated to Jones his belief
in keeping the MAB strong in infantry while getting
rid of aircraft that would impose a heavy logistic and
administrative burden and, given the expected mis-
sion of the brigade, were not likely to be required for
support. McCutcheon stated that artillery and helicop-
ter gunships could provide adequate firepower for
most probable contingencies and that in the unlikely
event fixed-wing assistance were needed, the US. Air
Force could furnish it.!2

On 7 November, Lieutenant General Jones sent
McCutcheon’s proposal on to HQMC. Jones endors-
ed the III MAF commander’s plan to eliminate the
fixed-wing component of the MAB, with the qualifi-
cation that if the brigade were included in the Transi-
tional Support Force it would need its own jets. The
Commandant, General Chapman, rejected the III
MATF plan. Chapman informed FMFPac that the MAB
should be ofganized so that it could remain opera-

tional for a long period, since the Joint Chiefs of Staff
still were considering inclusion of the MAB in the TSE
Also, Chapman pointed out, combat could intensify
between the first of the year and the departure of the
last Marines. Hence, the Commandant ordered that
at least two jet squadrons be included in the MAB,
so that it would constitute a complete air-ground team
prepared for all contingencies.

Accordingly, McCutcheon then adopted another of
the alternative brigade organizations developed by his
staff. Under this plan, the 1st Battalion, 5th Marines
was dropped from the MAB, and MAG-11, with one
squadron of A-4s and one of A-Gs, put back in. On
8 November, McCutcheon sent MACV his troop list
for Inctement VI, reflecting this revision of his plan
for the MAB. The list included all of the S5th Marines;
the 2d Battalion, 11th Marines; four helicopter squa-
drons; one jet squadron; and a proportional assort-
ment of supporting units. The major air and ground
units were to begin standing down from combat in
mid-February!3

While the composition of the MAB was being de-
termined, the 1st Marine Division staff, under the
direction of General Simmons, was completing a pro-
posed concept of operations for the brigade. General
Simmons, a combat veteran of World War II and
Korea, had been G-3 of IIl MAF and then commander
of the 9th Marines during 1965 and 1966. After a tour
at Headquarters as Deputy Fiscal Director of the Ma-
tine Cotps, he returned to Vietnam in July 1970, with
the dual role of assistant division commander and
commander-designate of the 3d MAB. For MAB plan-
ning, Simmons acted as an advisor to General
McCutcheon on overall brigade matters and also ad-
vised General Widdecke on 1st Marine Division plans
for the ground element of the MAB.14

On 11 November, Simmons submitted his proposed
plan to General Widdecke. The concept of operations
was based on the assumption that the brigade would
have to defend the entire 1st Marine Division TAOR
and that a decision would not be made “until the
eleventh hour” on whether the MAB would be includ-
ed in the TSE The division planners also assumed that
no major new ARVN or allied units would be sent to
Quang Nam to replace the Marines.

Under the proposed concept of operations, the
brigade was to keep one infantry battalion in the Que
Sons, probably based at Baldy. Of the remaining two
battalions of the 1st Marines, one would operate west
of Da Nang and the other south of the city and air-
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Department of Defense Photo (USMC) A800156
LtGen Donn J. Robertson visits Combined Action Ma-
rines. Gen Robertson relieved the ailing LtGen Keith
B. McCutheon as Commanding General, III MAF.

field. In order to cover the area with fewer Marines,
the battalions would have to operate in what the plan
called “a highly mobile expeditionary mode.” Ideally,
each barctalion would have only one permanent base
to be defended and would keep two of its companies
continually in the field while a third acted as a
helicopter-borne quick reaction force and the fourth,
resting after a period in the field, would protect the
battalion base. The battalions would use tactics simi-
lar to those already being employed by the 5th Ma-
rines, combining reconnaissance and infancry patrols
with heliborne QRFs, artillery, and air strikes. In the
Rocket Belt, increased reconnaissance activity and use
of aerial observers would have to replace much of the
saturation infantry patrolling done by Marines, but
in view of the apparent weakness of the enemy and
of the improvement of the Regional and Popular
Forces, the division plannets considered this an accept-
able risk. The whole plan was designed:
. to optimize the performance of the ground element

of the MAB in the event of an extended stay and continued
responsibility for the present area of operations, in other
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words, the extreme case. However, the concept is adaptable
to a smaller AO and will, by lightening the logistic load,
expedite the early departure of the brigade if such even-
tuates.!s

The success of the operating concept for the MAB
would be greatly influenced by the ability of the South
Vietnamese to compensate for reduced Marine
presence and patrolling with intensified operations of
their own. During 1970 the CAPs had focused on
training their Vietnamese counterparts to operate in-
dependently and aggressively.®

Major General Widdecke approved the plan and on
14 November passed it on to Lieutenant General
McCutcheon. McCutcheon delayed his response while
he tried to obtain from XXIV Corps a firm statement
of the Army’s intentions on reinforcing Quang Nam.
By late November, he had received definite informa-
tion from XXIV Corps that the MAB would be
relieved of responsibility for the Sth Marines’ area of
operation when that regiment redeployed and that
another American or allied force would move into the
Que Sons. With this assurance finally in hand,
McCutcheon, on 28 November, approved the division’s
proposed MAB concept of operation. He directed,
however, that “planning should be based on [the] as-
sumption [that the] MAB AO will be the currenc 1st
Mar[ine] Div[ision] AO, less 5th Mar[ines] AO . . . . 17

Late in December, the Joint Chiefs of Staff removed
the second uncertainty clouding plans for the MAB
by deciding that it would not require the brigade for
the Transitional Support Force. This permitted the Ma-
rines to plan on redeploying the brigade by 30 June
1971. By the end of the year, the MAF, division, and
wing staffs were well into the complicated process of
working out stand-down and redeployment schedules
for both Increment VI and Increment VII. They also
were establishing detailed procedures for activating the
MAB headquarters by transferring key members of the
MAF, division, and wing staffs.®

The decision to have the last Marines out of Viet-
nam by the end of June 1971 meant that the 3d MAB
really would never function as an operational com-
mand. Its principal task would be redeploying its
subordinate units, some of which were scheduled to
stand down almost as soon as the MAB was activated.
This fact, and the administrative problems likely to
attend the last phase of redeployment, raised a ques-
tion in the mind of Major General Armstrong, the 1st
MAW commander, about the desirability of establish-
ing a MAB at all.
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On 15 December, Armstrong, in temporary com-
mand of III MAF after McCutcheon's unexpected early
departure for health reasons, sent a message to Lieu-
tenant General Jones. Armstrong pointed out to the
commander of FMFPac that if the MAB were to leave
Vietnam by 30 June, “Increment Seven stand-down
will, in fact, merge with and overlap Increment Six,
with two air groups to be redeployed in the final incre-
ment, aviation problems would predominate during
the MAB's short lifespan.” Armstrong declared that
solution of many of these problems would require
dealings with the Seventh Air Force, which had par-
tial control of Marine fixed-wing squadrons under the
single-management system. He also questioned
whether a brigade headquarters under a one-star
general could effectively represent Marine interests in
these circumstances. He suggested, therefore, that in-
stead of the MAB, a reduced III MAF Headquarters
under a major general, or preferably a lieutenant
general, remain until 30 June.

Lieutenant General Jones adopted Armstrong’s
proposal. Jones suggested on 22 December that a small
III MAF (Rear) stay tn Vietnam instead of the brigade,
with a major general in command. By the end of the
year, III MAF had developed a table of organization
for such a headquarters, to be staffed by 112 Marine
and 6 Navy officers and 195 Marine and 5 Navy en-
listed men.1®

In mid-January 1971, General Chapman brought
this planning to an abrupt end. On a visit to the Pa-
cific which included stops at FMFPac and [l MAF, the
Commandant directed that the original program be
adhered to and that 3d MAB be activated after the
MAE wing, and division redeployed. With Chapman’s
decision, the much-planned and often-postponed
brigade was at last assured at least a short period of
existence 20

A New Commander for III MAF

In late October 1970, General Chapman announced
plans to replace Lieutenant General McCutcheon as
commander of IIT MAF with Major General Donn J.
Robertson, then serving at Headquarters as Director
of the Marine Corps Reserve. The change of command
was to take place around 1 January 1971, after the
Senate had confirmed Robertson’s promotion to lieu-
tenat general. In mid-November, General McCutch-
eon, after consultation with MACV, XXIV Corps, and
FMFPac, set 2 January as the date for the transfer, af-
ter which McCutcheon would leave immediately for
Washington. There, he was to be promoted to gener-

al and succeed General Lewis W. Walt as Assistant
Commandant of the Marine Corps?2!

McCutcheon’s failing health distupted these plans
and forced an eatlier change of command. Before com-
ing out to III MAF the year before, McCutcheon had
undergone extensive surgery for cancer. Seemingly
recovered, he had been able to assume command in
Vietnam and carry out his duties. But, as McCutch-
eon’s predecessor at Il MAF, Lieutenant General Nick-
erson, later put it, “Sooner or later it wasn't all gone
and it got him."22

During November, McCutcheon came down with
a persistent mild fever. “It doesn’t amount to a whale
of alot,” he wrote to a friend, “but it keeps me pretty
well locked up in the quarters and prevents me from
getting around the countryside, which is really what
I love to do” McCutcheon finally went on board the
hospital ship USS Sanctuary (AH 17) for tests. The
results indicated that his cancer might be flaring up
again. On 11 December, after returning from the Sazc-
tuary, McCutcheon called together his general officers
and told them that, on the doctors’ recommendation,
he would be leaving on the 13th for Washington to
enter Bethesda Naval Hospital for additional tests.
General Simmons recalled the departure: '

His plane left at 0755 on Sunday the 13th. It was a fine
bright morning with a fresh breeze blowing. General Mc-
Cutcheon had asked that there be no departure ceremony,
but there was no preventing a spontaneous, sincete send-
off. Always slight, he looked gaunt and tired as he shook
hands and said goodbye *23

After General McCutcheon’s departure, Major
General Alan J. Armstrong, commander of the 1st
MAW, took over temporarily as acting commander of
I MAE Lieutenant General Robertson, following
hasty Senate confirmation of his new rank, hurried his
move to Vietnam and reached Da Nang on 23 De-
cember. He took command on the 24th, Robertson,
a North Dakotan who had earned the Navy Cross on
Iwo Jima, was already familiar with the IIl MAF TAOR,
having commanded the 1st Marine Division in the
same area from June 1967 through June 1968. This
experience, combined with a close acquaintanceship
with General Abrams, which had developed during
his earlier Vietnam tour, allowed Robertson to take

*The new tests indicated that the cancer had revived. Too ill to
assume his post as Assistant Commandant, McCutcheon was plac-
ed on the retired list on 1 July 1971 with the rank of general. He
died of cancer on 13 July 1971.
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Troops from the 1t Battalion, 5th Marines wait for helicopters to take them from their
0ld base in the Que Son Mountains to Hill 34 near Da Nang; as the battalion began
standing down for redeployment. Part of the old defenses can be seen in the background.

charge easily in spite of his rushed assumption of
command 24

Military Situation in Quang Nam and
Military Region 1, Early 1971

Lieutenant General Robertson assumed command
of a force less than half the size of the IIl MAF Mc-
Cutcheon had taken over 10 months earlier. III MAE,
which had contained almost 60,000 men in early 1970,
in January 1971 included about 24,700 Marines and
about 1,000 Navy personnel. Major General Wid-
decke’s 1st Marine Division had only two of its infan-
try regiments, the 1st and 5th Marines, and roughly
two-thirds of its artillery regiment, the 11th Marines,
about 12,000 troops in all, with which to protect Da
Nang and scour the Que Son Mountains. The 1st Ma-
rine Aircraft Wing, under Major General Armstrong,
consisted of one fixed-wing group, Colonel Albert C.

Pommerenk’s MAG-11, based at Da Nang, and one
helicopter group, MAG-16 under Colonel Lewis C.
Street I, operating from Marble Mountain. The 6,100
Marines of the wing flew and maintained a total of
74 fixed-wing aircraft and 111 helicoptets. Force Logis-
tic Command, under Brigadier General James R.
Jones, had shrunk to some 3,800 officers and men,
most of them engaged in preparing for the redeploy-
ment of additional troops and equipment. Lieutenant
Colonel John J. Tolnay’s 2d Combined Action Group,
with about 600 Marines, continued its hamlet defense
activities throughout much of Quang Nam, operat-
ing with 34 combined action platoons in Januaty and
February.2s

As their numbers decreased, the Marines were turn-
ning more and more of the responsibility for defen-
ding Quang Nam over to the province’s South Viet-
namese RFs and PFs. On 1 January 1971, the Viet-
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namese Joint General Staff redesignated Quang Da
Special Zone, the controlling ARVN headquarters in
Quang Nam, as the 1st Mobile Brigade Task Force and
gave the task force operational control of the 51st In-
fanuy Regiment, the three-battalion 1st Ranger
Group, a squadron from the 1st Armored Brigade, and
the 78th and 79th Border Ranger Defense Battalions.
The latter were the Civilian Irregular Defense Groups
at Nong Son and Thuong Duc, redesignated and in-
corporated into the regular army. The 1st Task Force
also received a new commander, Colonel Nguyen
Trong Luat, former assistant division commander of
the 2d ARVN Division* This redesignation of QDSZ
represented another step in the effort, long sponsored
and aided by III MAF, to develop an effective tactical
headquarters for all the ARVN troops in Quang Nam.
As 1971 began, the 51st Regiment, the principal
ground unit of the 1st Task Force, had its battalions
in the field around An Hoa and Hills 37 and 55. The
Rangers and the armored squadron, still regarded as
part of the I Corps reserve, continued to spend most
of their time in camp around Da Nang 28

Like Quang Da Special Zone, the 1st Task Force had
operational control of the RFs and PFs in Quang Nam,
control which it exercised through the province and
Da Nang city authorities. The Regional Forces in ear-
ly 1971 numbered about 7,800 effectives in 54 opera-
tional companies, and the Popular Forces about 6,400
men in 202 separate platoons. This was about the max-
imum militia strength which the province could main-
tain. Hence, the South Vietnamese authorities
planned no additional units for the coming year. They
would concentrate instead on bringing the existing
ones to full strength ** The RFs and PFs were now ac-
quiring their own artillery, under a nationwide pro-
gram begun during 1970. By 6 January 1971, three
RF platoons of 105mm howitzers, with their own sec-

*Colonel Nguyen Van Thien, who had done much to build QDSZ
into an effective tactical headquarters, had been killed in a plane
crash in August 1970, and was finally replaced by Colonel Phan
Hoa Hiep. On 1 January 1971, Hiep went to Saigon to command
the Armor Corps and Luat succeeded him as commander, 1st Task
Force.

**The actual strength of the RFs and PFs in the field often was
much below their authorized strength. In Quang Nam in March
1971, for instance, these were the authorized and actual numbers:

Authorized Present for Duty
RF 8,644 7,820
PF 7,070 6,417

—CG XXI1V Cotps msg to PSAs of Quang Nam and Quang Ngai,
dtd 4May71, Box 25, Fldr 26, RG 319 (72A6443), FRC, Suitland,
Md.

tor headquarters and fire direction center, had
deployed in Quang Nam. The province PSDF con-
tinued to display much promise and some real
strength, with about 13,500 armed members in the
field at the beginning of the year. To improve the train-
ing of the militia and for better coordination of vil-
lage defense, Quang Nam Province and the 1st Task
Force were planning to subdivide each district into
several areas of operation, each under a RF company
commander. The company commander would be
responsible for training the PFs and PSDF within his
AO and would have operational control of them “on
a mission required basis.’27

Lieutenant General Robertson, as he took over his
new command, found Quang Nam seemingly much
more peaceful and secure than it had been during his
earlier tour with the 1st Marine Division. He observed:

I really was going right back home. I was going back to
the same area that I was familiar with . . . . I recognized
progress in the war, favorable progress . . . . Not as many
enemy forces around. They really had pulled away from that
area considerably. More work being done in the fields
.. .. It just seemed to me to be a feeling of more security
in the hamlets and villages atound that area . . . . Secutity
wise the people wete cooperating . . . .28

While the relative quiescence of the enemy in
Quang Nam was a fact, Marines differed in their as-
sessments of what it meant. The more optimistic ob-
servers argued that the North Vietnamese and Viet
Cong, short of men and supplies, and suffering from
declining discipline and morale, simply wete not capa-
ble of much beyond occasional terrorism and hit-and-
run attacks. Some Marines also assumed another cause
of declining activity was the flood in October-
November which temporarily disrupted VC/NVA com-
mand and control networks and lines of communica-
tion, much as it had done with the allies in Quang
Nam. Others, including Major John S. Grinalds, S-2
of the 1st Marines, felt that the Communists were fol-
lowing a calculated strategy. Grinalds believed that the
Viet Cong and North Vietnamese wanted the U.S.
withdrawal to proceed on schedule. The enemy would
engage in enough militaty activity, for example firing
rockets at Da Nang, to keep both Vietnamese civilians
and the American public aware that the war was still
going on; but they would not make attacks of suffi-
cient strength to constitute a serious threat to allied
forces and justify slowing down the removal of Ameri-
can troops. Grinalds expected the enemy to bide their
time, building up their supply stockpiles, and recruit
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more guerrillas and VCI members, while they
weakened civilian confidence in the South Vietnamese
Government by continued terrorism and propagan-
da. Then, as Grinalds put it, “in July, when we final-
ly stepped out, they could come in with their main
force units and either act politically or militarily to
. control the area.”2®

The enemy throughout I Corps appeared to be com-
mitted to low-intensity warfare through terrorism and
small hit-and-run attacks. Early in 1971, Lieutenant
General Sutherland, the XXIV Corps commander,
described the situation for the new commanding
general of the 101st Airborne Division:

There has been a marked change in the enemy’s strategy
and tactics during the past year. Logistical problems and al-
lied firepower, among other things, have made maneuver-
ing of large enemy troop units impractical, if not impossible,
and have caused empbhasis to be shifted in the main to small
unit and guerrilla tactics. Enemy units generally seek to avoid
contact, . . . until they perceive a condition wherein a
FWMAF [Free World Military Armed Forces) unit or instal-
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lation becomes careless and vulnerable. Then they strike
quickly and fade away again. Rarely will an enemy unit stand
and fight, even against a small opposing force . . . 3°

As always, the Demilitarized Zone seemed to al-
lied commanders to be the one area where the enemy
could most easily shift suddenly from guetrilla tactics
to large-unit warfare. As 1971 began, reports from a
variety of intelligence sources indicated that the North
Vietnamese might be planning to do just that. The
enemy was moving more troops, weapons, and sup-
plies into their Laotian base areas north and west of
the DMZ, in easy reach of Quang Tri and Thua Thien,
the two vulnerable northern provinces of MR 1. In
response to these indications of a possible enemy
offensive, by the start of the new year, MACV and
XXIV Corps had begun planning a preemptive attack
on the Laotian base areas. These plans, about which
III MAF as yet knew nothing, were to culminate in
one of the largest, most controversial allied offensives
of the war3!
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The Preemptive Strike: Lam Son 719

During late 1970, the evidence that the North Viet-
namese were preparing for a major offensive in north-
ern Military Region 1 became increasingly persuasive.
U.S. aerial reconnaissance recorded a growing move-
ment of men and vehicles down the Ho Chi Minh Trail
network into the Laotian base areas north and west
of the Demilitarized Zone. Pilots flying bombing mis-
sions over the trail encountered reinforced antiaircraft
defenses. Reports from agents and prisoner interroga-
tions contained frequent mention of a large-scale at-
tack sometime between the beginning of the new year
and the middle of the summer.!

These signs of a coming Communist offensive
spurred MACV to revive plans made eatlier in the war
for an attack into Laos from northwest Quang Tri
Province. Beginning in 1966, General William C.
Westmoreland, then ComUSMACYV, had had his staff
develop a series of plans for an American and ARVN
offensive, possibly in cooperation with Laotian or Thai
forces, to block the Ho Chi Minh Trail where it skirt-
ed the western end of the DMZ. In spite of repeated
requests Westmoreland never received permission to
carry out these plans?

Late in 1970, General Abrams, Westmoreland’s for-
mer deputy and successot, proposed a raid into Laos,
both to forestall the threatened North Vietnamese
offensive and to distrupt the enemy’s supply system
while mote U.S. troops redeployed. Precedent for cross-
border operations had been set with the incutsion into
Cambodia and, early in January 1971, Washington
agreed to a limited preemptive strike. On 7 January,
under direction from MACYV, small planning groups
from I Corps and XXIV Corps, working in tight secre-
cy, began developing a detailed concept of operations.
General Abrams approved this plan on 16 January3

Following General Abram’s approval, planning for
the operation proceeded with continued secrecy.
Colonel Verle E. Ludwig, whose boss at the time was
Army Colonel Bob Leonard, the MACV Information
Officer, recalled that Leonard sold Abrams on the idea
that the “story should be embargoed for the press.”
To serve as another layer of deception as the planning

continued, “the MACV staff (and others) devised code
names for places in Laos, to make it appear that the
operation was only going into the Khe Sanh and A
Shau Valley areas.” Ludwig himself was “never cut in
on the fact that the operation actually was going over
into Laos” despite his having to give “a daily briefing
to the press at the press billet in downtown Saigon
"4

The plan called for a four-phase operation, code-
named Lam Son 719. I Corps was to direct most of
the ground campaign while XXIV Cotps command-
ed all the U.S. forces involved and controlled the fixed-
wing and helicopter air support on which the whole
offensive would depend. In Phase One, to begin on
30 January and be completed by 7 February, elements
of the American 1st Brigade, 5th Infantry Division
(Mechanized) and the 101st Airborne Division were
to reopen and secure Route 9, the main east-west road
through Quang Tri, from its junction with Route 1
at Dong Ha, west to the Laotian border. The XXIV
Corps units would occupy the site of the former Ma-
rine base at Khe Sanh, unoccupied since 1968, as the
forward supply base for the offensive.

In Phase Two, from 7 February to 6 March, elements
of the 1st ARVN Division and 1st Armored Brigade,
reinforced from the national strategic reserve by the
Ist Airborne Division and the newly formed Viet-
namese Marine Division, would move through the
American units into Laos. The ARVN units were to
drive westward to Tchepone, a major Ho Chi Minh
Trail junction 30 miles inside Laos, destroying enemy
troops and supply dumps as they advanced. The at-
mored brigade would proceed along Route 9, while
the airborne division and the 1st Division, by
heliborne assaults, were to establish a series of fire
bases on high ground to protect the road. In this and
the later phases of the operation, the Americans would
furnish air, artillery, and logistic support. In accord
with general restrictions imposed by the U.S. Congress,
however, no American advisors or other personnel were
to accompany Vietnamese ground units into Laos,
although Americans could fly support and rescue mis-
sions across the border. Additionally, American Ma-
rine advisors with the Vietnamese Marine Corps, who
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were trained aerial observers, were on board command
and control Hueys during daylight houts.

During Phase Three, which was to last from 7 to
9 Match, the ARVN troops would sweep their areas
of operation, thoroughly wrecking the trail system and
supply caches. Then, in Phase Four, they were to with-
draw eastward into South Vietnam, either directly
down Route 9 or southeastward through the enemy’s
base areas in the Da Krong and A Shau Valleys. The
choice of withdrawal route would depend on circum-
stances at that time. Whichever route was chosen, the
operation would end on or about 6 April.

111 MAF took no patt in the planning for Lam Son
719 and received no information about it until a few
days before D-Day. Between 25 and 30 January, Lieu-
tenant General Sutherland petsonally briefed Lieu-
tenant General Robertson on the impending offensive
and outlined Il MAF’s patt in it. Remembering the
meeting years later, Robertson said that Sutherland
“apologized for not briefing me during the early plan-
ning phase, but was not to tell anyone, other than his
key staff officers, about the operation.”s Sutherland
directed Robertson to furnish Marine air support, both
fixed-wing and helicopter, and to increase Marine
patrols along Route 1 in Quang Nam, particularly
where the highway, important for supply of the oper-
ation, crossed Hai Van Pass. Later, on 6 February, as
transport difficulties hindered the offensive, Suther-
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land requested and received a reinforced Marine truck
company to help move supplies from Dong Ha to the
logistic support areas at FSB Vandegrift and at Khe
Sanh®

Phase One of Lam Son 719 began on schedule? On
29 January, Lieutenant General Lam established his
I Corps forward command post at Dong Ha and
General Sutherland set up XXIV Corps Forward Head-
quarters at Quang Tri. The following day, in what the
Americans called Operation Dewey Canyon II, ele-
ments of the Ist Brigade, Sth Infantry Division
(Mechanized) advanced from FSB Vandegrift along
Route 9 toward Khe Sanh and the Laotian border. The
US. troops met only light, scattered resistance. Be-
hind the combat units, U.S. Army engineers rebuilt
bridges and culverts on Route 9 and prepared the long
unused highway for truck traffic. Artllery and sup-
port units moved into Khe Sanh and began re-
establishing an airstsip capable of receiving Air Fosce
C-130 transports. The ARVN 1st Armored Brigade, 1st
Airbotne Division, and Ist Infantty Division moved
up under cover of the American advance and concen-
trated around Khe Sanh for the move into Laos while
US. helicopters and trucks brought in fuel, ammuni-
tion, and supplies.

Although the objectives of the operation in Laos

were concealed for as long as possible, leaks of infor-
mation did occur. South Vietnamese Major General

Aerial view of Route 9 near Khe Sanh. This narrow road meandered through the difficult
mountain passages and provided excellent cover and concealment for enemy ambushes.
Throughout the 1968 siege aerial resupply was the only means of reprovision.

Courtesv of Capt Chalmers R. Hood, Jr., USMC
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Nguyen Duy Hinh said that press speculation was
aroused when, during the preparatory period of the
operation, reporters were not allowed into the Quang
Tri area. He became convinced that press leaks elimi-
nated the possible advantages of surprise. Looking back
on the operation, Marine Major John G. Miller, an ad-
visor with the Vietnamese Marines during Lam Son
719, related “Late in the operation we learned that
there had been a direct leak out of [General] Lam’s
CP across the DMZ. An ARVN captain and his wife
were caught passing plans . . . to the NVA'®

On 8 February, the ARVN 1st Armored Brigade ad-
vanced into Laos along Route 9 to begin Phase Two
of the offensive. U.S. helicopters deployed six battal-
ions of the 1st Airborne and 1st Infantry Divisions to
set up firebases flanking the highway. The infantry
went in south of Route 9 and the airborne, reinforced
by a ranger group, took positions north of the road.
Two mote battalions landed by helicopter further west
to link up with the advancing tanks. Meanwhile, the
XXIV Corps units around Khe Sanh continued to
build up their logistic base while patrolling to pro-
tect Route 9 within South Vietnam.

During their first few days in Laos, the South Viet-
namese troops encountered only small groups of ene-
my as they pushed westward toward Tchepone. North
Vietnamese reaction, however, soon strengthened. By
18 February, the South Vietnamese were in contact
with NVA in company and battalion strength. Heavy
fighting erupted as determined North Vietnamese,
supported by mortars, artillery, and tanks, assaulted
the firebases protecting the flanks of the advance. On
the 19th, 400-500 North Vietnamese overran the 39th
Ranger Battalion north of the highway, inflicting losses
of 178 men killed or missing and 148 wounded. A
week later, tank-led NVA troops stormed FSB Delta,
an airborne position. Other South Vietnamese fire-
bases held out, aided by U.S. helicopter gunships, jets,
and B-52s. The American positions at Khe Sanh came
under sporadic mortar and rocket attack.

The North Vietnamese, for once departing from
their usual evasive tactics, had decided to defy U.S.
and ARVN firepower and stand and fight for their vi-
tal supply line. Reinforcing more rapidly than allied
planners had anticipated, the enemy committed ele-
ments of five divisions, including an estimated 12 in-
fantry regiments, two artillery regiments, and at least
one armored regiment during the battle along Route
9. The NVA used aggressive, well conceived tactics
against the ARVN firebases. Their infantry moved in
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close to the defendets to prevent the use of American
air support. From concealed positions, NVA mortars
and artillery kept up steady bombardment, and at
some places tanks fired point blank into ARVN posi-
tions. Machine gun and mortar fire met each helicop-
ter attempting to bring in reinforcements and supplies
or to evacuate wounded*

Under increasing pressure, the South Vietnamese
frontline troops, with some exceptions, defended their
positions tenaciously. Their artillery, supplemented by
US. artillery and air support, including dozens of B-52
strikes, inflicted severe losses on the North Vietnamese.
In spite of pressure on their flanks, the South Viet-
namese continued to push westward, both on the
ground and by helicopter. South of Route 9, battal-
ions of the Vietnamese Marine Division took over a
portion of the 1st ARVN Infantry Division's sector, al-
lowing elements of the latter unit to make a brief token
occupation of Tchepone. By 6 March, the planned end
of Phase Two, the South Vietnamese had temporarily
blocked the main supply routes of the Ho Chi Minh
Trail and had captured or destroyed large caches of
arms, ammunition, and supplies.

While Operation Lam Son 719 had moved forward
on schedule in the face of heavy opposition, the test
of conducting a large-scale, contested invasion revealed
a number of ARVN deficiencies. The 1st Armored
Brigade had made a disappointing showing. It had
failed to advance as speedily as planned, partly as a
result of the poor condition of Route 9 in Laos and
partly because of hesitant leadership. Several times,
the armored brigade ignored requests for support from
other hard-pressed South Vietnamese units. The I
Corps and division commanders and staffs, inex-
perienced in directing an operation of this size and
complexity, gradually lost control of the developing
battle. For Vietnamese Marine units, control deterio-
rated at night when American Marine advisors were
not airborne in command and control Hueys support-
ing their Vietnamese counterparts in Laos. Com-
pounding command and control problems, the
Airborne and Marine division commanders, who were
only under General Lam’s authority for Lam Son 719,
were accused of frequently disregarding orders from

*Lieutenant Colonel Marshall N. Carter, an advisor with the Viet-
namese Marine Corps at the time, recalled that in addition to heavy
mortar and machine gun fire, “there was an abundance of sophisti-
cated antiaircraft weapons —some apparently radar-directed.” LtCol
Marshall N. Carter, Comments on draft ms, 28Mar83 (Vietnam
Comment File).
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I Corps.* Inevitably, coordination of U.S. air and ar-
tillery support for South Vietnamese units proved
difficule, especially since there were no American ad-
visoty or liaison personnel with the ARVN in Laos?

Even with these developing problems, the allies
decided to extend Phase Three from the planned two
days to more than a week. From 7 to 16 March, the
South Vietnamese battalions swept their operating
areas notth and south of Route 9 with the intention
of capturing or destroying as much enemy material
as possible. North Vietnamese resistance slackened
temporarily; on the 14th, however, after two days of
bad weather had limited allied air operations, the NVA
renewed artillery and ground attacks on several key
firebases, while at the same time increasing harassment
of Khe Sanh and FSB Vandegrift.

On 17 March, the ARVN began Phase Four, the
withdrawal phase of the operation. The armored
brigade started pulling back eastward along Route 9,
and the flanking divisions began evacuating their fire-
bases by helicopter. At this point, the uncertain ARVN
command system lost control of the operation. In spite
of warnings and remonstrations from MACV and
XXIV Corps, the South Vietnamese, foreshadowing
the mistakes that were to contribute to their final de-
bacle in 1975, attemped to withdraw too quickly with
inadequate advance planning and coordination.!® The

*Brigadier General Alexander P. McMillan, who was acting Senior
Marine Advisor (SMA) during two weeks of Lam Son 719, later dis-
agreed with the contention that orders were frequently disobeyed,
saying, “I can recall no specific instance of this . . . .” Alluding
to the troubled politics of South Vietnam, where military com-
manders were often directly or indirectly enmeshed in politics, the
SMA, Brigadier General Francis W. Tief, then a colonel, years later
noted another reason for the apparent friction between the VNMC
and General Lam: “General Lam constantly felt CMC [Comman-
dant] VNMC was being groomed to relieve him as CG I Corps.
Lieutenant General Khang was extremely careful not to enhance
this feeling.” Colonel John Miller, at the time a major, who ad-
vised the operations section of the VNMC in the combat opera-
tions center at Khe Sanh during the operation, said he saw one
act of disobedience, the VNMC refusal to occupy Co Roc, an im-
posing mountain in Laos overlooking Khe Sanh: “. . . after Colonel
Tief had returned to Khe Sanh and Colonel McMillan had gone
back to Saigon . . . Colonel Lan had pulled all troops off Co Roc
[occupied by less than a platoon], despite General Lam’s direct order
to defend that key terrain feature. Co Roc would have been a death
trap for defending units about brigade strength.” Miller added that
“Lam was in a turbulent emotional state eatly on—after his chief
of staff (and best friend) was killed in a helicopter crash.” BGen
Alexander P. McMillan, Comments on draft ms, 19Apr83; BGen
Francis W. Tief, Comments on draft ms, 13Apr83; Col John G.
Miller, Comments on draft ms, 19Apt83 (Vietnam Comment File).
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result, for some units, was a near rout. The 1st Ar-
mored Brigade, its flank protection prematurely re-
moved, fan into a seties of NVA ambushes on Route
9 in which it lost or abandoned 60 percent of its tanks
and half of its armored personnel carriers before strag-
gling back into South Vietnam. The infantry, Air-
borne, and Marine divisions* under continuous
machine gun, mortar, and artillery fire, managed to
extricate themselves from their positions, but they left
behind many casualties and much equipment, includ-
ing 96 artillery pieces. Recalling the withdrawal of
Vietnamese Marine Cotps units, Major John G. Miller
noted that only the artillery units failed to perform
well under pressure: “The VNMC artillery, which had
grown lax under the benign shooting conditions of
the Delta, was incapable of mastering the intricacies
of computing map data, high-angle fire, etc. That is
one reason the VNMC infantry commanders were
often loath to bring it (artillery fire) closer than 1000
meters to friendlies . . . The infantty battalions were
generally better led and gave a better account of them-
selves.” U.S. aircraft had to attack many of the aban-
doned vehicles and guns to keep them out of enemy
hands. By 6 April, the last South Vietnamese troops
had left Laos.!!

Marine Fixed Wing Air Support and the ASRT

Throughout Lam Son 719, Lieutenant General
Robertson closely followed the progress of the battle.
Robettson, who enjoyed a close working relationship
with General Sutherland, regularly visited both XXIV
Corps Forward and I Corps Headquarters, to confer
with Sutherland and with Lieutenant General Lam on
the offensive as a whole and on III MAF support of
it. The III MAF commander explained that “it was cer-
tainly close enough that I had an interest in it and
in turn, if I'm going to be number two [U.S.] com-
mander [in MR 1], you never know what’s going to

happen . . . .
Early in March, and again eatly in April, Robert-

*Colonel Miller, then at Khe Sanh, recalled the stress caused by
the NVA counterattack: “One brigade commander, Col Thong
(Brigade 147) cracked under the strain and was eased out of his com-
mand. During one 24-hour period, Colonel Lan (the division com-
mander) went into virtual seclusion and Colonel Tief [the Senior
Marine Advisot] was in effect calling the shots and keeping higher
headquarters informed while ttying to coax Lan out of his shell.
We were all perplexed by this unexpected behavior from Lan.” Col
John G. Miller, Comments on draft ms, 19Apr83 (Vietnam Com-
ment File). For more information on VNMC participation in Lam
Son 719 see Chapter 21.
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son temporarily commanded XXIV Corps during
General Sutherland’s absence. Robertson recalled:

.. . I moved in as commander of that Corps and . . .
learned in a hurry that people, they'll work together and
if you're all a bunch of professionals things go well. We never
had any snags when I was commanding. I got full support
from that staff up there. I knew many of them because of
my close relationship with XXIV Corps. There used to be
some surprised looks when there'd be visitors come in . .
. that . . . walked in and [found] a Marine commanding
an Army corps.!?

Beginning on 31 January, jets from the 1st MAW—
A-4Es of VMA-311, A-6As of VMA(AW)-225, and
F-4Bs of VMFA-115—flew repeated missions in sup-
port of the ARVN units in Laos. Like the Navy and
Air Force planes engaged in the operation, the Ma-
rine jets received target assignments from the Seventh
Air Force, which had overall charge of fixed-wing sup-
port for the offensive* During February, 1st MAW air-
craft flew a total of 509 sorties** in support of Lam
Son 719, dropping over 1,180 tons of ordnance.!

Marine pilots flying in support of Lam Son 719 at-
tacked targets rarely encountered up to this point in
the war— enemy tanks. On 27 February, for example,
a flight of A-4E Skyhawks from VMA-311 led by
Colonel Albert C. Pommerenk, commander of
MAG-11, and by the squadron commander, Lieutenant
Colonel Jerome T. Hagen, was diverted from a
preplanned bombing mission to aid the besieged
South Vietnamese defendets of Fire Support Base 31,
eight miles inside Laos. Arriving over the battle area,
the Marine aviators spotted five North Vietnamese
light tanks, Russian-buile PT-76s, moving up to sup-
port infantry who were already attacking the firebase.

*The Seventh Air Force had a Direct Air Support Center (DASC)
located with XXIV Corps Forward Headquarters at Quang Tri. This
DASC received support requests from U.S. liaison officers at the
ARVN division headquarters, which remained in South Vietnam,
and from Air Force forward air controllers (FACs) in the skies over
Laos. The FACs usually had English-speaking Vietnamese soldiers
riding with them —a not always effective attempt to overcome the
language barrier between the units on the ground and the Ameri-
can aircraft overhead. From the Quang Tri DASC, support requests
went to Seventh Air Force Operations, which, under the single-
management system then in effect, ordered missions by aircraft of
all Services. A Seventh Air Force Airborne Battlefield Command
and Control Center (ABCCC), a specially equipped transport plane,
orbited over the battlefield to direct strike aircraft when they reached
the battle area. MACV ComdHist 71, 11, Anx E, pp. 21-22

**A sortie is one mission flown by one aircraft; 1st MAW jets regu-
larly had flown in raids against the Ho Chi Minh Trail before Lam
Son 719. See Chapter 15.
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One tank, on a hilltop, was engaging the defenders
at close range, while four others were climbing the hill
to join it. ARVN artillery silenced the firing tank, and
the Marines dove on the other four PT-76s, which
turned around and started downhill toward a road.
On the road, two of the tanks turned northward and
the other two turned southward. Colonel Pommerenk
released his bombs just ahead of the two southbound
tanks, cratering the road and halting them. Lieutenant
Colonel Hagen then made a bomb run on the tanks.
“They knew I was coming,” he recalled later, “They
raised their cannons and fired at my aircrafe” Hagen’s
bombs wrecked both tanks. The Marines then turned
their attention to the other two PT-76s and destroyed
one. The sole survivor escaped by driving off the road
into the jungle, where the Marines lost sight of it.4

During March and the first part of April, Marine
aircraft continued their support of Lam Son 719. By
the time the last South Vietnamese had left Laos, the
1st MAW jets had flown almost 950 sorties and ex-
pended over 2,600 tons of ordnance, with no loss of
aircraft. They received credit for destroying 5 tanks,
16 trucks, 9 crew-served weapons, 87 bunkers, and 6
ammunition caches, killing 6 enemy soldiers, and
touching off 248 secondary explosions. This Marine
effort, significant though it was, represented only a
small part of the massive allied air support given Lam
Son 719. The US. Air Force, for instance, flew more
than 9,000 tactical sorties during the operation and
dropped over 14,000 tons of ordnance at a cost of seven
aircraft destroyed. B-52s from Guam and Thailand
conducted 615 strikes, and South Vietnamese and Aus-
tralian aircraft also carried out missions in Laos.!s

Besides contributing aircraft to support Lam Son
719, III MAF provided a vital air control facility. Lam
Son 719 took place during the northeast monsoon,
which brought frequent rain and fog to northern
South Vietnam. On most days during the operation,
low-lying fog persisted until noon, and by mid-
afternoon, a mixcure of clouds and dust and smoke
from the fighting veiled the battlefield.'® To conduct
continuous air operations at night and during the bad
weather, the allies relied on a mobile air support ra-
dar team (ASRT), specially developed by the Marine
Cotps for rapid deployment across the beach in an am-
phibious assault. Using the AN-TPQ-10 radar and a
computer system, an ASRT could guide aircraft to an
established target in fog, rain, or darkness*

*For more detail on the ASRT and its operations, see Chaprer 16.
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Courtesy of Col John G. Miller, Jr., USMC (Ret)

An aerial view of the Vietnamese Marine Corps base at Khe Sanb, an 1 Corps forward
operating base looking towards Laos. Co Roc looms in the far background. As in 1968
enemy observers positioned on Co Roc directed artillery fire to disrupt troop concentrations.

As Lam Son 719 began, Marine Air Support Squa-
dron (MASS) 3, a subordinate unit of the 1st MAW,
had three air support radar teams deployed in MR 1,
at Da Nang, FSB Birmingham near Hue, and at
Quang Tri. On 18 February, the Quang Tri ASRT was
directed to prepare for displacement to Khe Sanh,
where it would help support Lam Son 719. The fol-
lowing day, a 1st MAW truck convoy left Da Nang for
Quang Tti to help the team pack its equipment; other
Matines at Khe Sanh selected a site for the ASRT in-
stallation about one-half mile west of the newly re-
opened airfield. From this position, the ASRT, which
could control aircraft anywhere within a 50-mile
radius, could direct strikes throughout the Laotian
battlefield. Preparation of the site for the team’s ar-
rival began on the 20th.

The Quang Tri ASRT was commanded by Captain
Golden C. Kitrkland, Jr., and consisted of Marine ra-
dar technicians from MASS-3 reinforced with commu-
nications personnel and a security platoon from
Headquarters and Headquarters Support Squadron
(H&HS) 18. At 1800 on 22 February, the team received
orders to cease operations and begin movement to Khe
Sanh. The unit had its electronic equipment disman-
tled and packed by 0630 the next morning, when the
first Marine CH-53s atrived to begin aislifting the unit
25 miles westward to its new position. At 1430 the last

load of equipment touched down at Khe Sanh, and
within an hour Captain Kirkland’s Marines had the
system assembled, checked, and functioning. By 1801,
the ASRT was directing Air Force, Navy, and Marine
air strikes. The entire movement, from the order to
pack up at Quang Tri to resumption of operations at
Khe Sanh, had taken less than a day.

From 23 February until 31 March, when it returned
to Quang Tri, the Khe Sanh ASRT remained in cons-
tant operation except for a 10-minute shutdown caused
by a power failure. The team directed 960 sorties by
US., Vietnamese, and Australian planes. After 31
March, the team continued to control strikes in Lam
Son 719* from Quang Tti until the operation ended ?

Marine OV-10As from VMO-2 wete also active dut-
ing Lam Son 719. At the beginning of the operation,
XXIV Corps used these versatile obsetvation craft to
plant 25 strings of electronic sensors* on the ap-
proaches to Khe Sanh. The sensors were used, as others
had been during the 1968 siege, to provide eatly warn-
ing of ground activity and spot targets for the artillery.
On 1 March, the OV-10As planted 10 additional sen-
sor strings to help protect Route 9 within South Viet-
nam. Air Force planes conducted all sensor drops
inside Laos.!®

*For additional detail on sensors and their use, see Chapter 15.
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Marine Helicopters Qver Laos

Of all the Marine aviators who participated in Lam
Son 719, the helicopter pilots and crews of HMH-463
and HML-367 came under the heaviest enemy fire and
played the most indispensable role. Operation Lam
Son 719 was founded on the U.S-developed tactics of
leap-frogging troops and artillery into a series of fire
support bases. Since the South Vietnamese Air Force
could not begin to meet the helicopter requirements
of an operation of this size, the US. Army was ordered
to furnish almost all of the helicopter transport. The
Army, however, possessed few helicopters powerful
enough to lift very heavy loads, such as 14,000-pound
155mm howitzers and 17,000-pound D-4 bulldozers,
into firebases many of which were up to 2,000 feet
above sea level. Furthermore, when the offensive be-
gan, completion of the airfield at Khe Sanh was
delayed, disrupting plans to stock the forward supply
base by flying in cargoes on Air Force C-130s. This
meant that vital supplies, in particular helicopter fuel,
had to be brought in by truck and helicopter, creat-
ing an additional requirement for heavy rotary-wing
freight carriers.1®

While the Army lacked cargo helicopters suited to
the requirements of Lam Son 719, the Marines had
them: the 18 Sikorsky CH-53D Sea Stallions of Lieu-
tenant Colonel Robert R. Leisy’s HMH-463. The
CH-53s, the largest helicopters in the Marine Corps,
had been developed for ship-to-shote movement of
the heaviest equipment. Able to lift external loads of
as much as 18,000 pounds, they routinely moved
155mm howitzers and bulldozers, as well as massive
quantities of supplies and downed smaller helicopters.

Late in January, as planning for Lam Son 719 was
neating completion, XXIV Corps directed III MAF to
support the operation with aircraft from HMH-463,
With Marine helicopters about to be committed, Lieu-
tenant General Robertson and the wing commander,
Major General Armstrong, suggested to Lieutenant
General Sutherland that the Marines also furnish their
own escorting gunships. Robertson later declared that
“this is the way Marines functioned. If we’re going to
send a 53 out there where there’s a lot of fire, we’ll
cover it with our own aircraft . . . 20 Sutherland read-
ily agreed to this proposal. HMI-367, commanded by
Lieutenant Colonel Clifford E. Reese and equipped
with AH-1G Cobra gunships, received the escort as-
signment.

Lieutenant Colonel Leisy at once put his CH-53 pi-
lots and crews to work preparing for the Laotian oper-
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ation. He especially emphasized practice in lifting
heavy loads into and out of high-altitude landing
zones. During the last week of January, eight crews
from HMH-463 spent part of each day picking up a
15,000-pound block of cement, flying it to the
2,000-foot peak of Monkey Mountain, the rugged
peninsula northeast of Da Nang, landing it there, and
then bringing it back to Marble Mountain. After they
had mastered the basic technique, the Marine avia-
tors practiced with 155mm howitzers, the artillery
pieces they were to lift in Laos2!

Actual squadron operations began on 30 January,
when four Sea Stallions hauled heavy equipment for
the 101st Airborne Division to staging areas near
Quang Tri. These flights continued on 31 January and
on 3 and 5 February. On 6 Februaty, as preparations
for the assault into Laos neared completion, eight
CH-53Ds escorted by six AH-1Gs made 34 lifts of
Army guns, supplies, and fuel to Khe Sanh from
Camp Carroll. The following day, the Marines estab-
lished their own forward operating base at Landing
Zone Kilo, two miles south of the Khe Sanh airfield.
At Kilo, helicopters flown up daily from Marble Moun-
tain would land to receive orders and take on cargo
for missions into Laos. On 8 February, eight Sea Stal-
lions made HMH-463’s first out-of-country flight of
the operation. They catried ARVN guns, ammunition,
and engineering equipment from LZ Kilo to Fire Sup-
port Base Hotel, just across the Laotian border. From
then on, the big helicopters ventured daily further and
further into Laos with their loads of howitzers, artillery
rounds, bulldozers, and supplies for new firebases?22

As the offensive continued through February and
into March, Marine helicopter operations fell into a
pattern. Each day at 0800, usually four CH-53Ds and
four AH-1Gs took off from Marble Mountain and flew
to LZ Kilo. There, the pilots were briefed on their as-
signments, picked up cargoes, and took off for Laos.
After each mission, the CH-53Ds and gunships
returned to LZ Kilo to refuel, rearm, and receive new
orders.

The Marine aircraft, like the Army helicopters in-
volved in Lam Son 719, were under the operational
control of the 101st Airborne Division's organic avia-
tion unit, the 101st Combat Aviation Group. The
group headquarters received support requirements
from XXIV Corps and issued mission orders to Army
and Marine helicoptets. At Landing Zone Kilo, Major
Rocco F. Valluzzi, S-1 of HMH-463, was the Marine
Air Coordination Officer. Valluzzi, a veteran of more
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than 200 missions in CH-53s, briefed pilots, main-
tained communications with his helicopters, and
directed Artmy crews in preparing loads for the
CH-53s23

Mission assignments became a matter of dispute be-
tween 11l MAF and XXIV Corps as the operation de-
veloped. Initally, the CH-53s had been brought in
to carry unusually heavy pieces of artillety and equip-
ment, but as the battle expanded, the Marines often
found themselves flying in general support of the
South Vietnamese, hauling all sorts of supplies and
occasionally troops in the face of steadily increasing
enemy antiaircraft fire. The Marines believed that
many of these missions were not urgent enough to re-
quire endangering the valuable heavy helicopters, or
could be carried out by smaller craft. At the request
of Major General Armstrong, Lieutenant General
Robertson, during one of his petiods as acting com-
mander of XXIV Cortps, convinced the Army authori-
ties to make more discriminating use of the CH-53s.
According to Robertson:

... When I straightened it out . . . I talked to my deputy
[at XXIV Cotps] who was an Army major general and a fine
officer. I said, . . . “They have to start using these things
propetly. Let me just phrase it this way. [Would] you peo-
ple in the Army use your helicopter crane for the mission
that this heavy Matine helicopter was being used for know-
ing the amount of money you pay for it and what it's worth?”
He said, “No, we wouldn't” I said, “That’s the same way
you have to look at the CH-53" . . . No problems. The thing
changed immediately . . . 24

As the offensive moved westward into Laos, so did
the Marine helicopters. By late March, the CH-53Ds
and accompanying Cobras were flying as far as FSB
Sophia IT near Tchepone, over 30 miles from the South
Vietnamese border. Working mostly in support of the
ARVN 1st Division, the Sea Stallions armed, supplied,
and reinforced a succession of South Vietnamese fire-
bases. Often, as planned, they lifted bulldozers and
155mm howitzers.

Marine helicopter crews flying into Laos had to con-
tend with inevitable poor visibility and North Viet-
namese fire. As the fighting spread across the
mountains between Tchepone and the South Viet-
namese border, clouds of dust and smoke from the
battle reduced visibility around the fire bases. Rotor
wash from the helicoprters further stirred up and mixed
the man-made fog of battle, which thickened the
monsoon overcast2s

North Vietnamese antiaircraft weapons were many
and well-served. The advancing allied ground troops
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Courtesy of Col John G. Miller, USMC (Ret)
A U.S. Army Boeing Verto! CH-47 resupply helicop-
ter hovers at Khe Sanh, while a2 U.S. Marine advisor
is about to hook up the container to the aircraft.

had overrun or forced removal of most of the heavier
antiaircraft guns, but the NVA had an abundance of
light antiaircraft guns and continually mortared fire-
bases and landing zones. Lieutenant Colonel Thomas
S. Reap, who succeeded Leisy in command of
HMH-463 on 5 March, reported:

Helicopters wete subject to constant . . . NVA small arms
and .50-caliber machine gun fire. Tracers from 23mm an-
tiaircraft guns were visible, and air bursts from 37mm and
57mm guns wete a daily occurence. We even had reports
from ground observers that the choppets were taking direct
fire from tanks.2¢

Marines involved in Lam Son 719 found that the
Army method of controlling helicopters, which was
less centralized than that of the Marine Corps, in-
creased the danger from enemy ground fire. The Army
had no system for rapidly informing its helicopter units
of the location of NVA antiaircraft positions as they



204

were spotted by aerial reconnaissance or by helicop-
ters flying missions. This made it impossible to plan
routes of approach to landing zones to avoid the heav-
iest enemy fire. According to Major General Arm-
strong:

. .. Timely information was simply not available. They
do not have the possibility or the mechanism to exchange
information on what the situation is in a timely fashion.
For example, somebody’s integral helicopters go dashing over
to a place and find it's hotter than hell and seven or eight
of 'em get shot down. Fifteen minutes later, some other pack-
age comes dashing across the same area and the same thing
happens to ‘'em. They do not have a command and control
system for their helicopters . . . 27

In spite of the continuous fire encountered, only
one HMH-463 aircraft was lost during the missions
in Laos. This loss occurred late in the afternoon of 23
Februaty as a flight of four CH-53Ds was lifting
155mm howitzers out of FSB Hotel II. The position,
eight miles inside Laos and south of Route 9, was un-
der heavy North Vietnamese attack, and the South
Vietnamese had decided to evacuate it and establish
another firebase nearby. Enemy machine guns and
mortars were firing at the landing zone as the Marine
helicopters came in. In the fading light, clouds and
smoke restricted the pilots’ view of the area.

While escorting Cobras strafed and rocketed ene-
my gun positions, the helicopters made several trips
in and out of Hotel II, removing a number of howit-
zets. At dusk, as a CH-53D piloted by the flight lead-
er, Major Michael J. Wasko, Jr., the squadron S-3,
hovered to hook on another artillery piece, several mot-
tar shells exploded nearby, damaging the helicopter
and injuring Wasko's copilot. The ctippled CH-53 set-
tled to the ground inside the firebase. Another CH-53,
flown by Captain Robert E Wembheuer, hovered for
several minutes, dangerously exposed in the fire-swept
LZ, while three crew members from Wasko's helicop-
ter attached themselves to its extraction ladder. Then
Wembheuer's craft safely flew off with the rescued Ma-
rines. Major Wasko remained behind to assist the in-
jured copilot, until both men were picked up by an
Army UH-128

The damaged CH-53D remained in the firebase.
Its size and weight prevented it from being lifted out
by another helicopter. On the 25th, Captain Henry
J. Cipolla, a2 maintenance officer with HMH-463, and
Gunnery Sergeant Ronald S. Severson, a flight line
chief, volunteered to go in and inspect the downed
craft. Although the position was under enemy fire,
the two Marines worked their way from a nearby land-
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ing zone to the CH-53D. They found that it could
not be repaired where it was; it had 500-700 shrapnel
holes in rotors, engines, and fuselage and major air-
frame damage. Cipolla and Severson stripped the hulk
of weapons and coding equipment and made their way
back to their landing zone, where they helped evacu-
ate four wounded ARVN soldiers before boarding a
helicopter themselves. Eventually, U.S. air strikes had
to destroy the wreck to keep it out of enemy hands2®

Wasko's was the only Marine aircraft shot down dur-
ing Lam Son 719.* although the squadron later count-
ed a total of over 80 bullet and shrapnel holes in 18
CH-53s. Marines gave much credit for this low rate
of loss to the gunships of HML-367. The AH-1G
Cobras escorted every CH-53 flight into Laos. They
led the transports into the landing zones, spotted
friendly and enemy positions, and then attacked the
NVA antiaircraft guns and mortars with machine guns,
automatic grenade launchers, and 2.75-inch rockets.
When the enemy wete too close to ARVN firebases
to permit actual attacks, the Cobra pilots often made
dummy strafing tuns to distract enemy gunners from
the CH-53Ds, or maneuvered their gunships between
the N'VA positions and the transports. During the
month of Februaty alone, the Cobras expended 847
rockets, 5,605 40mm grenades, and 20,750 rounds of
machine gun ammunition in support of Lam Son 719.
In spite of the dangers of their mission, no Cobras were
shot down during the offensive, although one suffered
electrical system failure over Laos and just managed
to limp back to a safe landing zone3°

Beginning on 2 March, the AH-1Gs of HML-367
were joined by four new Bell AH-1J “Sea Cobra” gun-
ships. These twin-engined helicopters, armed with a
three-barrelled 20mm cannon, as well as machine guns
and rockets, had been sent to Vietnam for combat
evaluation. Temporarily attached to HML-367, the Sea
Cobras regularly escorted the CH-53Ds. Marine avia-
tors welcomed their additional firepower and ap-
preciated the greater safety provided by their two jet
engines. As Major General Armstrong put it, “It made
people feel a hell of a lot better to be flying a twin-

engine Cobra into Laos than a single-engine Cobra
31

*Earlier, on 18 February, another CH-53 exploded in the air and
crashed northeast of Hue/Phu Bai while returning to Marble Moun-
tain from support of Lam Son 719. The entire crew of five and two
passengers were killed. CG 111 MAF msg to CG XXIV Corps, diud
18 Feb 71; 111 MAF Spot Rpt, dtd 18Feb71, both in 111 MAF Jnl
& Msg File, 19-28Feb71.
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Besides the protection offered by the Cobras and
Sea Cobras, the performance of the CH-53Ds them-
selves kept losses down. Majot Myrddyn E. Edwards,
executive officer of HMH-463, declared that “Our big-
gest advantage was the helicopter’s power —we would
get in and out fast’32 The CH-53D demonstrated its
capabilities on 11 March during a movement of
155mm howitzets from Fire Support Base Hotel to
another ARVN FSB four miles away. An aircraft flown
by First Lieutenant Larry J. Larson came in to drop off
supplies and pick up one of the howitzers from the
landing zone. Hotel was 1,500 feet above sea level and
on this occasion wind was gusting to 40-50 miles per
hour. Under enemy fire as usual, Larson hooked up
the howitzer and lifted off. As he did so, a .50 caliber
machine gun bullet hit one of his engines. Larson had
to shut down the damaged engine, but he was stll
able to carry the howitzer to a landing zone 1,000
meters from Hotel, place the artillery piece safely on
the ground, and fly back to Marble Mountain 33

During the last half of March, Marine helicopter
activity in Lam Son 719 declined. The decline occurred
partly because the offensive was nearly ended and be-
cause after 11 March General Robertson insisted that
CH-53s be confined more strictly to heavy lifts. Dur-
ing most of February and the first half of March, four
CH-53s normally made a total of 20-40 lifts per day
from LZ Kilo. Between 11 and 18 March, the daily
number of aircraft was reduced to three and then to
two, making two to seven lifts. Activity increased again
as HMH-463 assisted the ARVN withdrawal. On 23
March, three aircraft made 11 lifts and on 27 March,

A U.S. Army CH-47 helrcopter 1s shown bringing back
from Laos a disabled Huey helicopter, hit by North
Vietnamese gunfire in Operation Lam Son 719.

Courtesy of Col John G. Miller, USMC (Ret)
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the last day of operations in Laos for HMH-463, four
CH-53Ds made 10 lifts34

The CH-53Ds of HMH-463 flew 2,992 sorties in
support of Lam Son 719. They carried over 6,500 tons
of cargo and 2,500 passengets. Demonstrating their
great lift capabilities, the big helicopters placed 15
eight-ton loads, 22 seven-and-one-half-ton loads, 62
seven-ton loads, and 209 six-and-one-half-ton loads
in landing zones above 2,000 feet in altitude. Escort-
ing gunships completed 1,899 sorties. Compared to
the Army’s total of 45,828 helicopter sorties in Laos
and 118,614 in South Vietnam in support of the offen-
sive, with 601 helicopters damaged and 102 destroyed,
the Marine contribution seemed modest; the Marine
helicopters, nevertheless, had furnished a specialized
capability which the other Services could not provide 3

Marine Trucks on Route 9

Within South Vietnam, Route 9 was the principal
supply line for the over 40,000 troops involved in Lam
Son 719. The US. Army Support Command (Da
Nang) established a base suppott area for the offen-
sive near Quang Tii and two forward support areas
(FSAs): FSA-1 at FSB Vandegrift and FSA-2 at Khe
Sanh. These forward bases were to be stocked by air
and by supplies trucked via Route 9. The delay in
opening the Khe Sanh airstrip, besides creating a need
for more helicoptets in the first days of the offensive,
also led to a search for more trucks. Once again, XXIV
Corps turned to III MAF for support.

On 6 February, XXIV Corps directed III MAF to
furnish trucks and heavy-duty forklifts to support Lam
Son 719 for about one week. Not wanting to send a
piecemeal transportation element, Lieutenant General
Robertson decided to send a complete transportation
unit, a reinforced Matine truck company tailored to
petform the mission required by XXIV Corps3®
Robertson explained:

... I'said [to Lieutenant General Sutherland], “You tell
me what your mission is and what you want me to help you
with. I've got the drivers, I've got the organization and we'll
do it for you.” He said, “Great.” So, we discussed the size
of our elements and we ended up giving him a truck com-
pany reinforced. I provided all my people, the organization,
commanding officer and the whole works and we merely
chopped them over to their operation[al] control. . . . This
is the way we functioned when we had elements go in. I
don't believe in piecemealing and I wanted to make sure
that we had Marines in command . . . %7

Late on the Gth, the 1st Marine Division, at the in-
struction of III MAF, selected Company C of the 11th



206

Motot Transport Battalion to support Lam Son 719.
The truck company, commanded by First Lieutenant
Michael A, Humm, was reinforced with Marines from
other truck companies and from the 1st Engineer Bat-
talion, the 1st Shore Party Battalion, Force Logistic
Command, the 1st Marine Division Headquarters Bat-
talion, and the 1st MAW. The company had an assort-
ment of specialized vehicles attached to it, including
low-bed tractor-trailots and 10 heavy-duty forklifts,
each capable of carrying loads of up to 6,000 pounds
over rough terrain38

Company C left Da Nang for Quang Tri at 0500
on 7 February with 46 vehicles and four Marine officers
and 79 enlisted men3® With aerial observers overhead,
the convoy rolled up Route 1 in two segments, or “seri-
als”’ At Phu Bai, halfway to Quang Tii, the convoy’s
Army military police escort diverted the Marine trucks
to Tan My Ramp, a deep-water port east of Hue to
which ships wete bringing supplies for Lam Son 719.
The Marines took on a load of northbound freight and
then headed for Quang Tri, whete they were to join
an Army convoy to finish the trip to FSB Vandegrift,
their base of operations.

Company C reached Quang Tri late on the after-
noon of the 7th. There, Lieutenant Humm reported
to the commander of the 39th U.S. Army Transporta-
tion Battalion, which had operational control of the
Marine unit, and was briefed on his mission. The Army
planned for the Marine truck company to use Van-
degrift (FSA-1) as a freight transfer point. The heavy
low-bed trailor trucks were to make daily runs from
Vandegrift east over the paved portion of Route 9 to
the junction with Route 1 at Dong Ha and then down
to Tan My to pick up cargo from the ships and return.
At Vandegrift, this freight would be loaded on the
company’s M54 medium five-ton trucks. These
smaller, more maneuverable vehicles would make the
haul out to Khe Sanh over the unpaved, hastily im-
proved, section of Route 9. The forklifts initially were
to be sent to Khe Sanh and Vandegrift.

As part of a large Army truck convoy, Company C
left Quang Tri at 2330 and headed westward out Route
9. At 0100 on the 8th, just south of the Rockpile, the
convoy was ambushed. The NVA opened fire, destroy-
ing two Army 5,000-gallon fuel trucks and a gun truck,
killing one soldier, and wounding 10 others. The Ma-
rines, who suffered no losses in either men ot vehi-
cles, helped fight off the enemy, and the convoy
continued on to Vandegrift. The trucks rolled into
FSA-1 at 0730.
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The same day they atrived at Vandegrift, the Ma-
rines of Company C sent out their first truck convoys,
17 vehicles to Khe Sanh and 12 low-bed tractor-trailers
to Tan My. The company quickly established its com-
mand post, troop billets, maintenance atea, and first
aid station, all protected by prepared fighting posi-
tions and barbed wire entanglements. Soon after
settling in at Vandegrift, the company was reinforced
by two Marine 5,000-gallon fuel tankers, sent from Da
Nang to replace the Army tankers destroyed in the am-
bush on Route 9. Recalling the speed with which the
reinforced truck company was organized and dis-
patched from Da Nang to Vandegrift, General Robert-
son said, “you talk about Marines really turning to!
But this is the way we functioned.”°

From 9 to 14 February, Company C daily sent 14
to 20 trucks to Khe Sanh, and, on every day but the
11th, it dispatched 10-12 trucks to Tan My. Each con-
tingent of Marine trucks bound for Khe Sanh travelled
with an Army truck convoy, but in keeping with
General Robertson’s guidance, as a separate unit un-
der a Marine commanding officer responsible to the
Army convoy commander. On their round trips to Tan
My, the tractor-trailers ran as independent Marine
COMvoys.

The Marine truckers encountered frequent enemy
sniping along Route 9 between Vandegrift and Khe
Sanh, as well as rocket and mortar attacks at FSB Van-
degrift. On 10 February, the North Vietnamese fired
15-20 122mm rockets at the firebase, which inflicted
minot damage on several Marine trailers. Six more
rockets exploded near a Khe Sanh-bound convoy the
next day, killing four Army soldiers and wounding one
soldier and one Marine. The Marine, only slightly in-
jured, was Company C’s only casualty of the opera-
tion. Enemy rockets landed near the company area
again on the 13th but did no damage. On the roads,
in spite of frequent sniper and mortar fire, Marine
trucks suffered no combat losses; but two five-ton
M54s were damaged in accidents. Both trucks were
recovered and brought back to Da Nang.

On 14 February, Company C received orders to pre-
pate for return to Il MAE An 11-vehicle relief convoy
from the 11th Motor Transport Battalion left Da Nang
for Vandegrift the same day to bring up additional
heavy fotklifts, as well as wreckets to recover the disa-
bled trucks. This convoy reached Company C late on
the 14th4! At 0930 on the 15th, the company departed
FSB Vandegrift for Da Nang at 1730. During their
short time in Lam Son 719, Company C's trucks drove
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30,717 miles under combat conditions. They carried
1,050 tons of supplies and conducted 15 convoys in
eight days22

When the truck company left, a 13-man forklift
detachment from Company C, 1st Shore Party Bat-
talion, with Captain Merrill T. Morton as officer in
charge, remained at Khe Sanh and Vandegrift. Mor-
ton’s Marines, with 10 forklifts, were reinforced with
two more fotklifts and three Marines, brought up by
the relieving convoy, on the 15th. With their power-
ful machines, especially designed to move freight over
rough ground, the Marines helped the Army’s 26th
Support Group to unload trucks and aircraft at the
two forward supply bases. Initially divided between
Khe Sanh and Vandegrift, the entire detachment was
concentrated at Khe Sanh on 21 February and worked
there through the end of March. In 52 days of activi-
ty, the Marine forklift operators moved over 56,000
tons of supplies.t3

Marine communicators also operated at Khe Sanh
and Vandegrift during Lam Son 719. The Ra-
dio/Supporting Arms Platoon, Communications Com-
pany, Headquarters Battalion, 1st Marine Division had
the mission of keeping both the truck company and
wing elements in contact with their parent headquart-
ers in Da Nang. Because Communications Company
was standing down for redeployment, it was augment-
ed by Marines of Communications Support Compa-
ny. According to the platoon commander of
Radio/Supporting Arms Platoon, First Lieutenant
Ronald C. Hood III, III MAF “wanted a direct Marine-
only link back to the rear . . ., to make sure that Ma-
rine commandets could talk with Marine commanders
over Marine equipment,’ and to assure quick trans-
mission of emergency requests for resupply or equip-
ment replacement.

Throughout the operation, the platoon maintained
a six-man team with two radio jeeps in northern
Quang Tii. A Marine CH-53 flew the radio team and
its equipment to Quang Tri City on 7 February to meet
the Company C truck convoy. The Marines activated
their long-distance radio on the 8th. They operated
from Vandegrift initially, keeping the truck company
in contact with the 11th Motor Transport Battalion CP
and also supplementing the communications of the
road convoys. After the trucks returned to Da Nang,
the radio teams moved to Khe Sanh to better support
1st MAW elements at LZ Kilo. Lieutenant Hood ro-
tated his men in the north periodically, to give all of
them experience in this type of operation. The Ma-
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Courtesy of Capt Chalmers R. Hood, Jr., USMC
A member of the Radio/Supporting Arms Platoon,
Communications Company reinstalls a radio anten-
na that was knocked down by enemy artillery fire.

rine communicatots came under sporadic mortar fire
at Vandegrift; in fact, the enemy mortar units ap-
peared to be adjusting fire on the Marines’ 50-foot
high antennas. According to Lieutenant Hood, who
spent much time with his troops along Route 9, “Ev-
ety time there was some kind of bombardment, you
could see the rounds coming in and out on the an-
tennas”; but the Marine communicators suffered no
casualties or major equipment damage during their
nearly two months in Lam Son 719. On 21 March, they
ceased operations at Khe Sanh and returned to Da
Nang, where their parent battalion was standing down
for redeployment2*

Drversion Off Vinh

When allied commanders began planning for Lam
Son 719 late in 1970, they considered the initiation
of diversionary operations to distract North Viet-
namese attention and, it was hoped, North Viet-
namese forces from the actual objective area. Admiral
John S. McCain, Jr., Commander in Chief, Pacific,
took the initiative in this aspect of the planning. On
31 December, he sent General Abrams a detailed
proposal for an amphibious feint against southern
North Vietnam. McCain suggested that the US. set
up a joint amphibious task force headquarters at Su-
bic Bay in the Philippines and that U.S. and South
Vietnamese forces conduct all the preliminary rehear-
sals, ship and troop movements, reconnaissance, and
even air strikes and shore raids that would precede an
actual invasion. McCain wanted to use both Ameri-
can and Vietnamese air and naval units for this pur-
pose, as well as elements of the Vietnamese Marine
Corps 45
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On 7 January, General Abrams approved the diver-
sion plan, in principle, but declared that he could
spare neither U.S. nor RVNAF forces to carry it out.
McCain, therefore, decided to use the amphibious
ready group of the Seventh Fleet to conduct a more
modest diversion, a simulated helicopter-borne raid
on the North Vietnamese coast by a U.S. Marine bat-
talion *48

The task of conducting the diversion was assigned
to the Seventh Fleet's Amphibious Ready Group
(ARG) Alpha, Task Group (TG) 76.4, and to the 31st
Marine Amphibious Unit (MAU). Until 1969, the
MAU, which consisted of an infantry battalion land-
ing team (BLT) and a composite helicopter squadron,
had been known as the Special Landing Force (SLF)
and regularly employed in operations in South Viet-
nam. With the redeployment to Okinawa of the 3d
Marine Division, from which the BLT was drawn, the
MALU, as it was now designated, could not reenter Viet-
nam without special permission from the Joint Chiefs
of Staff, but it could cruise anywhere on the high seas,
including the seas off the coast of Vietnam**

At the end of January 1971, the 31st MAU, com-
manded by Colonel Lawrence A. Marousek, consist-
ed of Lieutenant Colonel Francis X. Frey’s Battalion
Landing Team 3/9*** and HMM-165, under Lieu-
tenant Colonel Herbert M. Herther. The composite
helicopter squadron contained UH-1Es and CH-53s as
well as its usual CH-46s47

On 1 Februaty, the 31st MAU, then at Subic Bay
in the Philippines, was ordered to embark on the am-
phibious ready group's ships**** and sail for Da

*On 3 Februaty, Lieutenant General Sutherland, the XXIV Corps
Commander, also proposed to MACV an elaborate diversion plan,
again involving amphibious forces; this plan was set aside in favor
of the CincPac plan, which then was already being implemented.
Sutherland msg to Gen Abrams, dtd 3Feb71, and Abrams msg to
Sutherland, did 4Feb71, copies in MCHC.

**For extended discussion of the organization and operations of
the MAU in 1970-1971, see Chapter 21.

***BIT 3/9 was made up of the entire 3d Battalion, 9th Ma-
rines, with the following units attached: Battery F, 2d Battalion,
12th Marines; 1st Platoon, Company D, 3d Reconnaissance Battal-
ion; 2d Platoon, Company B, 1st AmlIrac Battalion; 1st Platoon,
Company A, 3d Shore Party Battalion; 2d Platoon, Company A,
3d Motor Transport Battalion; 2d Platoon, Company B, 3d Tank
Battalion; 3d Platoon, Company A, 3d Engineer Battalion; 2d Pla-
toon, Company B, 3d Medical Battalion; and detachments from
the 3d Service Battalion and 3d Dental Company.

****The vessels of the ARG were: USS Twlare (LKA 112), USS
lwo Jima (LPH-2), USS Cleveland (LPD-7), and USS Westchester
County (LST 1167).
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Nang. The Marines finished loading at 0130 on the
2d and the ships steamed out of Subic Bay at 0800.
While at sea, the task group received its instructions
for the divetsion off North Vietnam. The 31st MAU
and the amphibious ready group staffs began joint
detailed planning for the operation. The ARG arrived
at the Southern Holding Area off Da Nang on the
4thss

From 5-10 February, the task group remained at sea
near Da Nang, preparing for its mission. By the 7th,
the staffs of the 31st MAU and BLT 3/9 had complet-
ed plans for the diversion which was to be a helicopter-
borne raid on the airfield at Vinh, about 150 miles
north of the Demilitatized Zone. The Marines pre-
pared a full operation plan for an attack by two com-
panies of BLT 3/9. The companies were to go ashore
by helicopter, seize and demolish the airfield, and
withdraw to the ships within 24 houts. The operation
order prepared jointly by the Marine and Navy staffs,
included all the usual annexes for air and naval gun-
fite support, communications, logistics, and intelli-
gence and provided elaborate procedures for
withdrawing the raiding companies by boat, if helicop-
ters could not extract them4?

After completing the plans, the MAU conducted
a communications exercise in rehearsing the planned
feint. It also landed 4,000 pounds of explosives and
detonating equipment furnished by III MAF and ar-
ranged with the 1st MAW to furnish Cobra gunships
to reinforce HMM-165 if necessaty. The gunships were
to remain on call at Da Nang, ready to fly on board
the USS Iwo Jima (LPH 2) on short notice50

On 11 February, Task Group 76.4 headed north from
Da Nang into the Gulf of Tonkin. Few of the Marines
on board knew the actual purpose of their mission.
In HMM-165, for example, only the commanding
officer and his executive and operations officers had
been fully briefed on the plan, and even they were
not told that it was a feint until long after sailing. Until
then, Lieutenant Colonel Jon R. Robson, the execu-
tive officer, recalled, “we . . . firmly believed that we
might have to go in and try and take Vinh with a bat-
talion of Marines.” Marines in both the squadron and
the battalion realized that they were preparing for an
amphibious raid of some sort, and as the ships steam-
ed steadily northward hour after hour, they realized
that the objective would be somewhere in North Viet-
nam. Both air and ground Marines, therefore, readied
themselves for their parts of the mission “with all the
fears and anxieties . . . of actually going in and per-
forming the mission as briefed, as little as it was
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briefed.” The BLT issued ammunition and organized
the landing companies into helicopter teams5!

The amphibious task group arrived at a point 50
miles east of Vinh on the 12th. From then through
6 March, in cooperation with two carriers and their
escort vessels, the 31st MAU conducted daily rehear-
sals for the raid while the ships conducted maneuvers
and communications exercises52 Each day, HMM-165's
helicopters went through the motions of loading
troops, without actually emplaning them. Then they
flew in toward the coast to a prearranged point just
outside the 12-mile limit of North Vietnam's territorial
waters where they often descended at the end of their
shoreward run to make the enemy think that they were
going in under the NVA radar screen. At a predeter-
minded check point they reversed course and flew back
to the carrier. Meanwhile, the BIT conducted commu-
nications exercises and shipboard drills, including
familiarization firing.

According to Major William J. Sambito, squadron
operations officer during the diversion:

The actual launching itself was done by putting some of
the [helicopters] on the Cleveland [LPD-7) and the re-
mainder of them came off the LPH. And we had two launch-
ings, or the deck was spotted twice, and we’'d Jaunch and
rendezvous the first wave, and then . . . launch the second
wave and join up with as many planes as we could get off
in two launches and head in, and we’d be under HDC con-
trol, which would give us a time hack, and at the end of
that time unless we'd received further word we'd make a
. . . 180 [degree turn] and just come directly back to the
ships. And we did that once in the morning about eight
o'clock . . . and then . . . some days we did it in the after-
noon also . . . . We’'d try to break up the routine a little
bit to create a little bit more confusion.33

Lieutenant Colonel Robson declared that if the
North Vietnamese “had a Landing Force Manual out
there, they could have seen exactly what we were do-
ing” The ships engaged in the communications and
electronics activity that would have accompanied an
actual assault, and jets from the catriers continually
flew missions as though providing cover for a raid.
Throughout, “we tried everything in the world to make
them think that we were really going to do something
every day we launched.”

The diversion attracted much enemy attention and
caused some troop redeployments. The ships report-
ed increasingly intense surveillance by enemy radar,
and North Vietnamese reconnaissance aircraft fre-
quently probed the task group’s own radar screens.
Toward the end of the operations, the 31st MAU
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received reports the NVA ground formations were
moving northward toward Vinh from the DMZ*

A trawler from the USSR continually shadowed the
American ships. “During a routine man overboard
drill,” recalled Navy Caprain Tracy H. Wilder, com-
mander of the amphibious task group, “a dummy was
thrown overboard from the Iwo Jima. As she circled
to retrieve it, the trawler darted in ahead to investigate.
Upon sighting the dummy, she cleared the area al-
lowing Iwo Jima to complete the exercise.” The trawl-
er later approached the task group to send a “Happy
Washington’s Birthday” blinker message 5

Raid rehearsals continued until 7 March, with no
casualties or unusual incidents. Indeed, Major Sam-
bito remembered the operation as “very boring, very
unexciting, except for the tension that a few of us had.”
BLT 3/9’s Marines had been afloat for 54 days by the
end of February, with only three days ashore at Subic.
The battalion made special efforts to combat boredom
through training activities, a shipboard newsletter, in-
formal talk sessions, competitions, and talent contests.
On the 7th, Task Group 76.4 sailed from the Gulf of
Tonkin for Okinawa, bringing the diversion to an end.

Results of Lam Son 719

The effects of Lam Son 719 on the course of the war
are difficult to assess, as was true of so many opera-
tions in Vietnam. Both sides suffered severely. South
Vietnamese casualties amounted to 1,549 men killed,
5,483 wounded, and 651 missing. U.S. forces involved
in the operation reported 215 killed, 1,149 wounded,
and 38 missing. ARVN equipment losses included 298
vehicles, 54 tanks, 1,516 radios, and 31 bulldozers. Of
the ARVN units most heavily engaged, U.S. advisors
reported after the battle that the Airborne Division
had lost 40 percent of its key officers and NCOs and
that the 1st Armored Brigade was only “marginally
combat effective due to personnel and equipment
shortages.” The Ametican advisors rated the 1st Divi-
sion and the Marine Division more favorably, declat-
ing them still combart effective after withdrawal from
Laos, although these formations, also, had taken se-
vere casualties,

*A propagandistic North Vietnamese history of Lam Son 719, pub-
lished in 1971, took this diversion with apparent seriousness, declar-
ing that “Mention should also be made of the direct participation
of the 7th Fleet, which . . . kept North Vietnam under constant
threat of invasion by several thousand Marines on board American
ships cruising off the Vietnamese shore” From Kbhe Sanh to Che-
pone (Hanoi: Foreign Languages Publishing House, 1971), p. 22.
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According to allied estimates, the North Viet-
namese, who had massed their forces to attack in the
face of superior supporting arms, had lost at least
13,000 soldiers killed. Allied troops claimed to have
captured or destroyed 5,170 individual and 1,963 crew-
served weapons, 2,001 trucks, 106 tanks, and more
than 20,000 tons of ammunition, not counting am-
munition the North Vietnamese had expended in the
fighting. In addition, the enemy had lost about 90,000
gallons of fuel and lubricants and 1,250 tons of food 55

Allied commanders believed that Lam Son 719 had
thrown the enemy off balance strategically. Temporar-
ily, at least, the offensive disrupted the southward
movement of North Vietnamese troops and supplies;
it forced the Communists to commit men and material
to the Laos compaign that otherwise would have gone
to South Vietnam. Rebuilding and restocking of the
base areas between Tchepone and the Vietnamese
border would occupy the enemy for most of the 1971
dry season, thereby assuring postponement of any im-
mediate major offensive, and causing a reduced level
of enemy activity in MR 1 for most of the year.
Prophetically, as it turned out, the MACV command
history for 1971 stated that “Lam Son 719 might even
have forestalled any major offensive until the spring
of 1972.se

In Lam Son 719, for the first time, the South Viet-
namese conducted a multi-division offensive without
the assistance of U.S. advisors; most command and
control responsibility fell upon the ARVN com-
manders and their staffs. While the ARVN perfor-
mance had been uneven, most U.S. commanders
insisted that the overall results gave encouraging evi-
dence that the Vietnamese were learning how to fight
their own war.

VIETNAMIZATION AND REDEPLOYMENT

Lieutenant General Sutherland, the XXIV Corps
commander, acknowledged some major ARVN short-
comings, including “a lack of effective long-range plan-
ning by higher level staffs, a serious disregard for
communications security, a general lack of a sense of
supply discipline, and a failure to delegate authority
to subordinates” Nevertheless, he pointed out that
“without U.S. advisors” and without the possibility of
reinforcement or direct support by U.S. ground com-
bat forces, the ARVN had “carried the war into an ene-
my controlled area, far removed from the familiar
confines of their normal areas of operation . . . ”
Sutherland concluded:

The forces that participated in Lam Son 719 proved that
the Republic of Vietnam possess[es] a viable military organi-
zation that is significantly more capable, cohesive and bet-
ter led than the military organization that existed . . . only
three years ago. The overall results of Lam Son 719 indicate
that Vietnamization is progressing well in MR 1 . . . 57

Even in such optimistic assessments, nevertheless,
U.S. commanders had to acknowledge one disturbing
fact: the ARVN had depended heavily on American
helicopter and fixed-wing air support at every stage
of the Laotian offensive, both to launch the attack in
the first place and then to rescue the South Viet-
namese from the worst consequences of their own mili-
tary deficiencies. The South Vietnamese Armed Forces
had yet to prove that, by themselves, they could defeat
the North Vietnamese Army in a majot conventional
battle. Vietnamization, whatever progress could be
reported, remained an unequal contest between the
slow pace of RVNAF improvement and the inexora-
bly quickening pace of American withdrawal.



